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Video Replay: 39t Annual NC/SC Labor & Employment Law

Program

Tuesday, January 30%-Wednesday, January 31st, 2024

This program qualifies for 10.50 MCLE; 1.0 LEPR; 1.0 SA/MH

Day 1: 6.75 MCLE; 1.0 SA/MH; 5.75 ELL Sp. Credit
Day 2: 3.75 MCLE; 1.0 LEPR; 3.75 ELL Sp. Credit
SC Supreme Commission on CLE Course #: 241636

Tuesday, January 30, 2024

8:15am

8:40 am

8:45-9:45

9:45-10:30

10:30-10:45

10:45-11:45

11:45-1:00

1:00-2:00

2:00-3:00

3:00-3:15

Registration

Welcome and Opening Remarks

Supreme Court Review and Update
Paul E. Smith, Patterson Harkavy LLP, Chapel Hill, NC

Investigations 201- The Importance of Investigations in Employment Litigations
D. Michael Henthorne, Olgetree Deakins Nash Smoak & Stewart, PC, Columbia, SC
B. Shawan Gillians, Santee Cooper, Moncks Corner, SC

Break

Mental Health Awareness for the Employment Law Practitioner April Harris-Britt,
Ph. D., AHB Center for Behavioral Health & Wellness, Durham, NC

Lunch Break (on your own)

Fourth Circuit Update
Sean F. Herrmann, Herrmann & Murphy, PLLC, Charlotte, NC
Florence C. Thompson, Jackson Lewis P.C., Charlotte, NC

Panel: Tips from the Bench

The Honorable L. Patrick Auld, U.S. District Court, Middle District of N.C

The Honorable Molly Cherry, Magistrate Judge, U.S. District Court, District of S.C.
The Honorable Clifton Newman, S.C. Circuit Court

Moderator: Samantha E. Albrecht, Burnette, Shutt & McDaniel PA, Columbia, SC

Break



3:15-4:15 The False Claims Act Case Lurking in Your Employment Dispute Christopher P.
Kenney, Chris Kenney Law, Columbia, SC
Johanna C. Valenzuela, U.S. Attorney’s Office, Columbia, SC

4:15-5:15 Being and Effective Advocate Through a Webcam: Tips for Arguing Remote
The Honorable Catherine C. Eagles, U.S. District Court, Middle District of N.C.
The Honorable Stephanie P. McDonald, S.C. Court of Appeals, Charleston, SC
Richard “Rick” Krenmayer, Stasmayer, Inc. Charleston, SC
Moderator: Andrea L. McDonald, Womble Bond Dickson (US) LLP, Charleston, SC

5:15 Adjourn

Wednesday, January 31, 2024
8:15 Registration

8:45-9:45 Attorney Client Privilege in Employment Law (Ethics)
Virginia M. Wooten, Ogletree Deakins, Charlotte, NC

9:45-10:30 Pending Regulatory Issues Impacting Employment Agreements
Shannon R. Meares, Regional Attorney, NLRB
William J. McMahon, 1V, Constangy Brooks Smith & Prophete, LLP, Winston Salem,

NC
10:30-10:45 Break
10:45-11:45 New Legislation and Its Impact on the Workforce: Overview of the PUMP Act and

the Pregnant Workers Fairness Act

Grant Burnette LeFever, Burnette Shutt & McDaniel, Columbia, SC
Denise Smith Cline, Denise Smith Cline, PLLC, Raleigh, NC
Shannon M. Polvi, Cromer Babb, Porter & Hicks, LLC, Columbia, SC
L. Diane Tindall, Wyrick Robins Yates & Ponton, Raleigh, NC

11:45-12:45 South Carolina State and District Court Update
George A. Reeves lll, Fisher & Phillips, Columbia, SC

12:45 Adjourn



39th Annual NC/SC Labor and
Employment Law Conference

SPEAKER BIOGRAPHIES

(by order of presentation)

Paul E. Smith
Patterson Harkavy LLP, Chapel Hill, NC

Attorney Paul E. Smith is a Partner at Patterson Harkavy. An integral member of the firm’s civil
rights and appellate practice, Paul primarily represents employees, labor unions, and the victims
of police misconduct. He is active in the North Carolina Bar Association Labor and Employment
Section and the North Carolina Advocates for Justice.
Paul has successfully represented individuals and labor unions in private arbitration, the North
Carolina Industrial Commission, State and Federal trial courts, and before the North Carolina
Court of Appeals and North Carolina Supreme Court. In 2019, Governor Roy Cooper appointed him
to the North Carolina Occupational Safety and Health Review Commission, where he currently
serves as Chair.
A native of Kinston, North Carolina, Paul graduated from UNC-Chapel Hill in 2007 and from
Columbia Law School in 2012, where he was a Senator Daniel Patrick Moynihan Fellow and a
James Kent Scholar. While in law school, he worked for the North Carolina ACLU, won Columbia’s
internal moot court competition, and acted as a research assistant for Professor Nathaniel
Persily’s work in election law and redistricting. Before joining Patterson Harkavy he served as a
law clerk to the Honorable N. Carlton Tilley in the Middle District of North Carolina.
Bar Admissions
North Carolina, 2012
U.S. District Court, Middle District of North Carolina, 2012
U.S. District Court, Western District of North Carolina, 2014
U.S. District Court, Eastern District of North Carolina, 2015
U.S. Court of Appeals, Fourth Circuit, 2017
Professional Experience
Patterson Harkavy, LLP, 2013-present
Honorable N. Carlton Tilley, Middle District of North Carolina, Law Clerk, 2012-2013
Education
Columbia Law School, 2012

Senator Daniel Patrick Moynihan Fellow

James Kent Scholar
University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, B.A., 2007
Professional Associations & Memberships
North Carolina Advocates for Justice
North Carolina Bar Association



D. Michael Henthorne
Ogletree Deakins Nash Smoak & Stewart, PC, Columbia, SC

D. Michael Henthorne is a Shareholder with Ogletree, Deakins, Nash, Smoak & Stewart, P.C.
Michael focuses his practice on representing management in employment litigation. A specialist in
employment and labor law as certified by the South Carolina Supreme Court, Michael has litigated
matters involving Title VII, the Americans with Disabilities Act, the Family and Medical Leave Act,
wrongful discharge, defamation, "whistleblower" claims, employment torts, and workplace safety.
Michael has significant trial experience and appears regularly on behalf of employers in federal
and state courts in South Carolina as well as before regulatory and administrative tribunals such
as the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, the Department of Labor, the National Labor
Relations Board, the South Carolina Human Affairs Commission, the South Carolina Department of
Labor, Licensing and Regulation, and the South Carolina Occupational Safety and Health
Administration. Listed in The Best Lawyers in America© (2013- present); America's Leading
Lawyers for Business, Chambers USA (2013-present).

Michael previously served as the Deputy Staff Judge Advocate for the South Carolina State Guard.

D. Shawan Gillians
Santee Cooper, Moncks Corner, SC

B. Shawan Gillians is a transactional lawyer with the South Carolina Public Service Authority
(Santee Cooper) South Carolina's state-owned electric and water utility and has the pleasure of
serving as the company's Director of Sustainability and Associate General Counsel. Shawan has
held various leadership positions with Santee Cooper, serving as the company's Director of Legal
Services and Corporate Secretary. Prior to her recent return to Santee Cooper, Shawan was Of
Counsel with Womble Bond Dickinson (US) LLP. She is a 2004 magna cum laude graduate of
Wofford College where she majored in both Economics and Religion, and went on to receive her
Juris Doctor from The College of William & Mary School of Law as well as a Master of Business
Administration from the Darla Moore School of Business at the University of South Carolina.

April Harris-Britt, Ph.D.
AHB Center for Behavioral Health & Wellness, Durham, NC

Dr. April Harris-Britt is a licensed psychologist practicing in NC and VA. In addition to providing
child, adolescent, adult, and family therapy, Dr. Harris-Britt conducts comprehensive
psychological evaluations and forensic evaluations. She also serves as a Parent Coordinator.
Specific areas of clinical and research expertise include trauma and violence, adoption and
attachment, medically fragile children, divorce transitions, ADHD and learning disabilities, autism
spectrum disorders, the promotion of wellness, and multicultural issues. Dr. Harris-Britt
contributes to research and teaching at the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill and Fielding
Graduate University where she serves as the Lead Faculty for the Forensic Concentration. She
emphasizes a strengths-based, ecological approach within her clinical practice, research, and
teaching pedagogy. Dr. Harris-Britt has served on numerous Boards and Committees for the
American Psychological Association (APA), North Carolina Psychological Association (NCPA), and
the Association for Family and Conciliation Courts (AFCC). She is currently President for the NC
Chapter of AFCC.



Sean F. Herrmann
Herrmann & Murphy, PLLC, Charlotte, NC

Sean is a Partner at Herrmann & Murphy in Charlotte, North Carolina. He has represented workers
in matters involving race, age, sex, pregnancy, disability, religious, and national origin
discrimination; whistleblowing and retaliation; and hostile work environment and sexual
harassment. Sean also works with clients on executive pay, non-compete agreements, severance
negotiations, and false claims act whistleblower matters. Sean is licensed in both North and South
Carolina, and he represents employees throughout both states.

Sean graduated magna cum laude from the University of Illinois College of Law in 2012. Sean has
been named to the Super Lawyers’ Rising Stars list since 2019, and he has received Best Lawyers
in America recognition each year since 2018. In 2023, Best Lawyers recognized Sean as the
“Lawyer of the Year” for Employment Law (individuals) in the Charlotte region. Sean recently
served as Chair of the North Carolina Bar Association’s Labor and Employment Section. He is
currently Membership Co-Chair of the North Carolina Advocates for Justice’s Employment Section,
and he is an active member of the National Employment Lawyers Association.

Florence C. Thompson
Jackson Lewis P.C., Charlotte, NC

Florence represents employers in a broad range of employment-related disputes and litigation in
state and federal court, including claims brought under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, the
Americans with Disabilities Act, the Fair Labor Standards Act, and North Carolina’s Retaliatory
Employment Discrimination Act. Florence cares about each client and their outcomes. With
experience both in litigating and advising, Florence seeks to provide her clients in-depth and
comprehensive advice.

Prior to joining Jackson Lewis, Florence was an associate at a boutique law firm representing and
advising employers and individuals in employment law matters. Florence represented clients in
state and federal courts in matters related to, discrimination, harassment, retaliation, breach of
contract, unfair competition, non-competition and non-solicitation agreements, and wage and
hour violations. She also prepared employment and severance agreements and assisted
businesses with internal investigations and administrative proceedings.

Florence is licensed to practice in North Carolina and South Carolina and is a member of the John
S. Leary Bar Association of Black Attorneys and the Young Black Lawyers of Charlotte.

The Honorable L. Patrick Auld
U.S. District Court, Middle District of N.C.

United States Magistrate Judge L. Patrick Auld grew up in and attended the public schools of
Sumter, South Carolina. He earned a Bachelor of Arts degree in History and Politics from Wake
Forest University and received his law degree from Yale Law School. After law school, Magistrate
Judge Auld spent a year as a law clerk for United States District Judge N. Carlton Tilley, Jr., at the
United States District Court for the Middle District of North Carolina, and another year as a law
clerk for United States Circuit Judge Phyllis A. Kravitch, at the United States Court of Appeals for
the Eleventh Circuit. Magistrate Judge Auld then practiced law with a firm in Atlanta, Georgia,
primarily in the area of media-related litigation, before joining the United States Attorney's Office
for the Middle District of North Carolina in 1998. During his service with that office, Magistrate
Judge Auld prosecuted a wide variety of cases, with an emphasis on fraud offenses and appeals. In
2004, he became Deputy Chief of the Criminal Division and remained in that role until his
appointment to his current position with the United States District Court for the Middle District of

North Carolina in 2009.
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The Honorable Molly Cherry
Magistrate Judge, U.S. District Court, District of S.C.

Molly Cherry was born in Charleston and raised in Newberry, South Carolina. She received a BA
degree in Government and Spanish, magna cum laude, from Wofford College and her Juris Doctor
degree, cum laude, from the University of South Carolina School of Law, where she was a member
of Law Review, the John Belton O’Neal Inn of Court, Order of the Barristers and Order of Wig and
Robe.

After completing law school, Judge Cherry served as a judicial law clerk to the Honorable David C.
Norton, United States District Court in Charleston, South Carolina. She was in private law practice
with the firm of Nexsen Pruet, LLC, from 1996 to 2020, where she was a partner for over 16 years.
While in private practice, Judge Cherry was President of the South Carolina Women Lawyers in
2017, having previously served as Secretary and Treasurer from in 2015 and 2016, respectively.
She was active in the South Carolina Bar in a variety of roles, including as Chair of the Employment
and Labor Law and Torts Insurance Practice Sections. She also served on the Employment and
Labor Law Specialization Board for the South Carolina Bar for several years, including as Chair in
2015 and 2016. From 2017 to 2020, Judge Cherry was on the Board of Directors for the
International Association of Defense Counsel.

Judge Cherry was sworn in as a United States Magistrate Judge for the District of South Carolina on
July 1, 2020.

The Honorable Clifton Newman
S.C. Circuit Court

Judge Clifton B. Newman was born in Kingstree, South Carolina, in 1951, to the late Reverend Dr.
Marion L. Newman, Sr., and Alice Singleton Newman.

He was raised in Greeleyville, South Carolina, where he graduated valedictorian of Williamsburg
County Training School in 1969. His inspiration to pursue a legal career originated while playing
the role of an attorney in a high school play centered around the 1954 school desegregation case
of Brown v. Board of Education.

He received his undergraduate degree from Cleveland State University where he served as the
President of Student Government and a member of Kappa Alpha Psi Fraternity.

While attending Cleveland-Marshall College of Law, he served as Chief Justice of the University
Judiciary - the student court - and worked for the Legal Aid Society representing indigent clients.
Upon receiving his Juris Doctor degree in 1976, he began practicing law in Cleveland, Ohio, where
he formed the partnership of Belcher & Newman. Returning to South Carolina in 1982, Judge
Newman started a private law practice in Columbia and Manning. The Manning office soon
relocated to Kingstree, where the practice flourished. While continuing in private practice, he was
appointed Assistant Solicitor for Williamsburg County in 1983. In 1994, he formed and served as
managing partner of Newman & Sabb, P.A., with offices in Columbia, Kingstree and Lake City. After
24 years as a practicing attorney and 17 years as Assistant Solicitor, he was elected Circuit Court
Judge by the South Carolina General Assembly on May 24, 2000.

Judge Newman received historical preservation awards for his work in restoring historic buildings
in Kingstree and Columbia. Among his numerous accomplishments Judge Newman cites his
designation as Patriarch of the Miles Newman Family as one of his most cherished. He succeeded
his uncles, the late Senator I. DeQuincey Newman and Bishop Ernest W. Newman, as the leader of
his family.

He is a member of I. DeQuincey Newman United Methodist Church where he faithfully serves as
Chairperson of the Administrative Council. He is a member of the Ohio and South Carolina Bar
Associations and is a member of the Executive Board of The I. DeQuincey Newman Institute for
Peace and Social Change. He is married to the former Patricia Blanton of Cleveland, Ohio, and they
have four children - Corwyn, Jocelyn, Kellee, and Brian DeQuincey. Judge Newman enjoys

traveling, spectator sports, and spending time "in the country."
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Christopher P. Kenney
Chris Kenney Law, Columbia, SC

For more than a decade, attorney Chris Kenney has litigated complex disputes at all levels of the
state and federal trial and appellate courts. Kenney’s efforts have helped clients recover millions
of dollars of compensation in death, serious personal injury, and dram shop cases. His work on
civil fraud cases has led to the recovery of tens of millions of dollars by taxpayers and millions of
dollars being paid to whistleblower clients as a reward for coming forward with allegations of
fraud. He has helped achieve excellent results for criminal defendants, including freeing three
clients from incarceration through post-conviction relief (PCR).

Prior to starting Chris Kenney Law in 2023, Kenney worked for Columbia trial lawyer Dick
Harpootlian. He is an adjunct professor teaching civil litigation in the paralegal program at
Midlands Technical College and a part-time assistant solicitor for the First Circuit Solicitor’s Office.
Bar Admissions

South Carolina, 2011

U.S. District Court for the District of South Carolina, 2011

U.S. District Court for the District of Columbia, 2020

U.S. Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit, 2012

U.S. Supreme Court, 2016

Education

Juris Doctor, University of South Carolina (May 2011)

Bachelor of Arts, History (Honors Program) Xavier University, Cincinnati, OH (May 2004)

Johanna C. Valenzuela
U.S. Attorney'’s Office, Columbia, SC

Johanna Catalina Valenzuela is an Assistant U.S. Attorney and Deputy Chief of the Civil Division in
the U.S. Attorney’s Office for the District of South Carolina. She is a member of the University of
South Carolina School of Law’s Young Alumni Council and a mock trial coach at Eau Claire High
School. She has formerly served on the Board of the S.C. Women Lawyer’s Association and the S.C.
Bar’s Board of Governors.

Prior to joining the U.S. Attorney’s Office, Ms. Valenzuela worked as an attorney for the South
Carolina Senate Judiciary Committee and the Judicial Merit Selection Commission. From 2013 to
2016, Ms. Valenzuela was as an Assistant Attorney General at the South Carolina Attorney
General’s Office in the Consumer Protection and Antitrust Section and then a Senior Assistant
Deputy Attorney General in charge of the Post-Conviction Relief Section. From 2011 to 2013, Ms.
Valenzuela worked as an Assistant Solicitor in the Sixteenth Circuit Solicitor’s Office in York, South
Carolina, and, from 2010 to 2011, she served as a law clerk for Federal District Court Judge G. Ross
Anderson, Jr.

Before becoming an attorney, Ms. Valenzuela served in the United States Air Force as an Aircraft
Maintenance Officer. She was stationed in Okinawa, Japan, with a Rescue Helicopter Unit before
being stationed in Fayetteville, North Carolina, where she served as a Maintenance Unit Flight
Commander and as a Section Commander.

Ms. Valenzuela received a Juris Doctor, Magna Cum Laude, from the University of South Carolina
School of Law in 2010. During law school she worked as a Property Tutor and served as a
member on the South Carolina Law Review, on the Moot Court Bar, as co-Vice-President of the Pro
Bono Committee, and as President of Women in Law. She was a member of the Order of the Wig
and Robe and Order of the Coif and was awarded the Bronze Compleat Lawyer Award at
graduation.

A wife and mother (to pets and humans), you can find her cheering on the River Bluff marching
band and hiking or traveling with her family on the weekends.



The Honorable Catherine C. Eagles
U.S. District Court, Middle District of N.C.

Judge Eagles was born in Memphis Tennessee and grew up in Arkansas. She graduated with a B.A.
from Rhodes College (then called Southwestern at Memphis) in 1979 and a ].D. from George
Washington Law School. After law school, she served as a staff law clerk for the United States
Court of Appeals for the Eighth Circuit and as a clerk to Judge J. Smith Henley. After her clerkship,
she worked as an associate and partner at Smith, Helms, Mullis & Moore in Greensboro, North
Carolina. In 1993 she was appointed a Resident Superior Court Judge based in Greensboro. She
was elected to serve the remainder of the term in 1994 and re-elected in 1996 and 2004 to eight
year terms. In 2006 she became the Senior Resident Superior Court judge in Guilford County.

On March 10, 2010, President Barack Obama nominated her to a seat in the Middle District of
North Carolina. She received her commission on December 22, 2010. She is the first female judge
to serve in the Middle District. On August 1, 2023 she became the Chief Judge in the Middle
District.

The Honorable Stephanie P. McDonald
S.C. Court of Appeals

After graduation from the University of South Carolina School of Law, Judge McDonald returned
home to Charleston to practice civil litigation with the law firm of Stuckey and Kobrovsky. She
then worked with Senn, McDonald & Leinbach, where her practice focused on civil litigation and
appellate matters in state and federal courts. In 2011, she was elected to the Circuit Court and in
2014, she was elected to the South Carolina Court of Appeals.

Judge McDonald has been active with the Bar and in her community, serving as an attorney
member of the South Carolina Commission on Judicial Conduct, an Attorney to Assist Disciplinary
Counsel, and a South Carolina Bar Foundation board member. She is a former President of the
Junior League of Charleston, St. Philip’s Church Episcopal Church Women, and Charleston Lawyers
Club. Prior to joining the bench, she served on a number of local boards and commissions in the
Lowcountry, including the City of Charleston Mayor’s Commission for Children, Youth and
Families.

Judge McDonald's proudest achievement is her daughter, Susanne. In her very first role, Susanne
played “Scout” in the Charleston Stage production of “To Kill a Mockingbird” and later attended
the South Carolina Governor's School for the Arts and Humanities. Susanne is a summa cum laude
graduate of the Boston Conservatory at Berklee. She now lives in New York, where she works in
film and theatre.

Richard Krenmayer
Stasmayer, Inc., Charleston, SC

Richard Krenmayer is the Co-Founder and CEO of Stasmayer, Incorporated, a Managed IT and IT
Security company. He attended the University of Massachusetts Dartmouth with his business
partner, David Stasaitis, where they both received a B.S. in Business Information Systems and
started Stasmayer.

As cybersecurity continues to evolve and come to the forefront of everyone’s mind in business,
Rick has given multiple speeches and CLEs to provide a call to action on the subject. He is also a
co-author for the latest edition of the South Carolina BAR’s Paralegal Survival Guide having
written the section on cybersecurity.

In his other life, Rick is a professional songwriter and performer since age 6, enjoys traveling to
new places around the world, being a weather hobbyist, reading lots of books, speaking other
languages and always learning more, all while raising his two sons, who’s interest in machines
dwarfs his own interest in business and technology.
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Andrea “Andi” L. McDonald
Womble Bond Dickinson (US) LLP, Charleston, SC

Andi McDonald is a litigation associate with experience in both state and federal court and in
arbitration. Her practice includes a broad spectrum of commercial disputes with a particular focus
on construction and complex litigation. As an attorney in the firm’s Business Litigation Group,
Andi handles a variety of cases such as construction defect, payment, and contract disputes;
insurance litigation; personal injury and wrongful death; business tort actions; intellectual
property cases; and real property disputes. She is a dedicated client advocate both in and outside
the courtroom, also providing counsel in dispute avoidance, early resolution, and arbitration.

Andi is active in her local and professional community. Through the University of South Carolina
Veterans Legal Clinic, she has assisted veterans with legal matters, including VA claims and
appeals. She is an active member of the South Carolina Bar’s Young Lawyers Division and serves
on the Editorial Board for the ABA Litigation Section’s Litigation News.

Education

J.D., University of South Carolina School of Law

e magna cum laude

e Order of the Coif

e Order of the Wig and Robe

e Associate Editor-in-Chief and Editorial Staff Member, South Carolina Law Review

» Honor Council Chair

e John Belton O’Neall Inn of Court

e CALI Awards: Trial Advocacy, Fourth Circuit Practice, Conflicts of Law, Legal Writing for the
Courts, Professional Responsibility, Property Law

B.A., University of Wisconsin-Oshkosh, Radio-TV-Film & Political Science

e cum laude

Professional & Civic Engagement

e South Carolina Bar

¢ Co-Chair, YLD Make-A-Wish Committee

e American Bar Association

e Litigation Section

e Forum on Construction Law

* Contributing Editor, ABA Litigation Section’s Litigation News

Joshua R. Van Kampen
Van Kampen Law PC, Charlotte, NC

Joshua R. Van Kampen is the founder and leader of Van Kampen Law, PC in Charlotte, North
Carolina.

In 2018, SuperLawyers rated Josh in its “Top 100” attorney list for all of North Carolina and in its
Top 25 attorney list for Charlotte. At 46, Josh is among the youngest attorneys in North Carolina to
receive these recognitions. The road to the SuperLawyers Top Lists started in Chicago, Illinois
where Josh worked as an associate for two nationally recognized employment law defense firms:
Seyfarth Shaw and Franczek Radelet. During his six years as a defense attorney, Josh defended
Fortune 500 companies as well as smaller businesses in age, race, sex, disability, sexual
harassment, traditional labor, and wage and hour litigation. Josh’s defense experience also
included counseling employers on litigation avoidance and sexual harassment training.

In 2004, Josh left a safe and lucrative career as a management-side attorney, to open a practice in
Charlotte devoted exclusively to representing victims of discrimination, sexual harassment,
unequal pay, wrongful discharge, retaliation, and wage and hour violations. It was the best
decision he ever made.
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Prior to forming Van Kampen Law, PC in July 2011, Josh was a partner at two of the premier,
plaintiff-side employment law firms in North Carolina: Fosbinder & Van Kampen, PLLC, and
Patterson Harkavy, LLP.

EDUCATION

Purdue University, B.A. 1993

University of Illinois College of Law, ].D. 1998, magna cum laude

MEMBERSHIPS AND LEADERSHIP POSITIONS

North Carolina Advocates for Justice, Employment Law Section: Past Chairman, Executive
Committee Member and Ethics Chair

North Carolina Bar Association Employment Law Council Executive Committee Member (2012-
2014)

Federal Bar Association - Labor and Employment Section

Law 360’s Employment Law Editorial Advisory Board

Southern Trial Lawyers Association

National Employment Lawyers Association

Virginia M. Wooten

Ogletree Deakins, Charlotte, NC
Virginia is a graduate of Davidson College and the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill law
school. She is currently an attorney with the Ogletree Deakins law firm in Charlotte where she
advises clients on a wide range of employment matters, including the defense of class action
matters, discrimination claims, contract disputes, internal and administrative investigations, and a
wide range of other personnel issues. She has experience defending lawsuits in state and federal
courts as well as arbitrations in various states and jurisdictions.
Virginia is currently serving on the Mecklenburg County Bar Board of Directors and previously
served on the Mecklenburg County Bar Grievance Committee. Recently, she was selected by the
Charlotte Business Journal as one of the 40 Under 40 emerging business leaders exemplifying
professional excellence and community involvement. She has also been recognized by Super
Lawyers as a North Carolina Rising Star and received the NC Lawyers Weekly 2019 Rising Star
Award.

Shannon R. Meares
Regional Attorney, NLRB

Shannon is a transplant from the cornfields of the Midwest. She graduated from the University of
[llinois, Urbana-Champaign in 1997, with a double major in Psychology and Sociology. In 2000,
she graduated from the Washington University in St. Louis School of Law. She began her career
with the NLRB in the Winston-Salem office immediately following graduation. Shannon served as
a Field Attorney for the first 13 years of her career; in 2013 the Region promoted her to
Supervisory Attorney; and most recently in February 2022 she was promoted to Regional
Attorney, the position she holds today.

William “Bill” J. Mc Mahon
Constangy Brooks Smith & Prophete, LLP, Winston-Salem, NC

Bill McMahon is a partner in Constangy’s Winston-Salem office, where he handles a wide range of
employment law matters for publicly-traded and private companies. In addition to litigating
disputes on behalf of employers, Bill regularly advises businesses on how to avoid problems
before they occur. He is Co-Chair of Constangy’s ERISA Litigation Practice Group and also teaches
Employee Benefits & Pension Law (a course he created) at Wake Forest University School of Law,
where he has served as an Adjunct Professor of Law since 2010.
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M. Todd Sullivan
Fitzgerald Hanna & Sullivan, PLLC, Raleigh, NC

Todd has a niche practice focusing on employee departures and defections, including litigation of
injunctions and trial work in non-compete, trade secret misappropriation, employee raiding and
unfair competition cases.

Todd has litigated more than 100 employee defection matters in federal and state trial and
appellate courts and arbitrated employment cases before FINRA, the AAA, and JAMS. Todd served
as lead defense counsel in one of the most significant broker defection cases ever arbitrated before
FINRA and also as lead plaintiff’'s counsel in one of the largest-ever trade secret misappropriation
cases in North Carolina.

Todd has consistently been elected by his peers as a North Carolina Super Lawyer and has been
named by Business North Carolina as one of its Legal Elite, as well as being regularly identified as
one of the Best Lawyers in America for employment litigation. He has co-taught the Pre-Trial
Litigation course at Duke Law School and he writes and presents frequently on
employer/employee disputes involving departures and allegations of unfair competition by
former employees. He has represented a number of lower-paid departed employees pro bono
when they are threatened with non-compete litigation and has been recognized by the North
Carolina Bar Association for his pro bono activities on behalf of non-profit entities.

Todd is a long-time resident of downtown Raleigh and an avid bluegrass music fan. He was
formerly an NCAA Division III lacrosse player and regularly loses money playing golf. He
maintains a home library dedicated to periodicals and original texts of libertarian history and
philosophy.

Prior Experience

Graebe Hanna & Sullivan, PLLC (2012-2021)

Partner in Raleigh-based litigation firm

Womble Carlyle Sandridge & Rice, PLLC (1996-2012)

Associate and Partner in the Business Litigation Group in Raleigh

Education

Cornell Law School, ].D., 1994

Lake Forest College, B.A., magna cum laude, Phi Beta Kappa, 1990

Grant Burnette LeFever
Burnette Shutt & McDaniel, Columbia, SC

Grant Burnette LeFever is an attorney with Burnette Shutt & McDaniel, PA, in Columbia, SC, where
she focuses her legal practice on employment law, including a range of civil rights and
discrimination issues. She also practices family law and education law, including issues involving
Title IX, special education, school discipline and teacher employment issues.

Grant is a 2018 graduate of the University of South Carolina School of Law. Prior to law school,
Grant earned a master’s degree in Southern Studies from the University of Mississippi and a
bachelor’s degree in English and History from Presbyterian College.

Grant has been selected by her peers for inclusion in The Best Lawyers in America: Ones to Watch,
2021 to present, in the fields of labor and employment law, civil rights law, education law, family
law, and litigation. She also has been recognized in Super Lawyers Rising Stars and Legal Elite of
the Midlands. Most recently, Grant was profiled by the National Law Journal as a 2023 Plaintiffs’
Attorneys Trailblazer for her work in Planned Parenthood South Atlantic v. South Carolina.
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Denise Smith Cline
Denise Smith Cline, PLLC, Raleigh, NC

Denise Smith Cline is an employment lawyer, mediator and arbitrator. After more than 20 years of
partnership in large regional firms in North Carolina, Denise started the Law Offices of Denise
Smith Cline, PLLC in 2010. As an advocate for both employers and employees, Denise is regularly
recognized in the Top 50 Women Lawyers in North Carolina, Best Lawyers in America, Top 25
Lawyers in Raleigh by U.S. News. She is member of the “Legal Elite” and a “Super Lawyer.” She is a
fellow in the Litigation Council of America. A certified mediator and arbitrator, she is active on the
panel of neutrals for the American Arbitration Association, the American Health Law Association
and CPR. She serves as Chair of the Civil Service Commissioner for the City of Raleigh and Vice
Chair of the Dispute Resolution Section Council of the North Carolina Bar Association. A native of
Greer, SC, Denise is a graduate of Davidson College and UNC School of Law.

Shannon M. Polvi
Babb, Porter & Hicks, LLC, Columbia, SC

Shannon Polvi’s legal career focuses on advocating for employees in South Carolina. Shannon is an
experienced trial attorney in state and federal courts in South Carolina.

Shannon focuses on client needs throughout the litigation process. Although prepared to
successfully present her client’s case to a jury, Shannon is very aware of the high cost and risks of
employment litigation. Shannon likes to explore the possibility of an early, cost-effective
resolution of the dispute on terms favorable to the client. As such, she has earned a reputation as a
proactive litigator who provides high quality, responsive, and conscientious representation for her
clients.

Her practice focuses on the employee/plaintiff side of employment and labor law with various
employment cases brought before federal, state, administrative, and appellate courts. Shannon
represents individuals in discharge, wage and hour, discrimination, harassment, medical leave,
whistleblower, and denial of benefits litigation (ERISA). Shannon also works with clients on claims
pending before the U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, South Carolina Human
Affairs Commission, South Carolina Department of Employment and Workforce, State Employee
Grievance Committee, Department of Labor, National Labor Relations Board, State Ethics
Commission, Department of Education, Occupational Safety and Health Administration, Securities
and Exchange Commission, Merit Systems Protection Board, and Office of Inspector General.
Within the scope of her practice, Shannon advises employees on severance agreements,
employment contracts, and retirement and benefit issues. Shannon regularly assists physicians
and other professionals with employment contracts, contract modifications, and contract disputes.
She also represents professors with tenure denials, grievances, and employment disputes.
Shannon is admitted to practice law in South Carolina, the United States District Court for the
District of South Carolina, the South Carolina Court of Appeals, and the Federal Circuit Court of
Appeals. Shannon has had oral arguments before the South Carolina Court of Appeals and the
Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals.

Shannon worked with the National Women’s Law Center to help advocate for women facing
pregnancy discrimination in the workplace. One of Shannon’s cases was used in support of the
Pregnant Workers Fairness Act. This bill prohibits employment practices that discriminate against
making reasonable accommodations for qualified employees affected by pregnancy, childbirth, or
related medical conditions.

Shannon is an active member of the South Carolina Association for Justice, South Carolina Women
Lawyers Association, and Legal Network for Gender Equity.

Shannon sets aside time for volunteerism. Shannon is a member of the Richland County Bar
Association’s Public Service Committee, and she regularly volunteers at Transitions Homeless
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Center, where she provides pro bono assistance to homeless men and women in the Midlands
region.

Prior to her employment with CBPH, Shannon clerked at the South Carolina Department of
Consumer Affairs and Mabry Law Firm, LLC. She earned her B.A. from the University of Maryland,
Baltimore County, and her ].D. from the University of South Carolina. Before attending the
University of South Carolina School of Law, Shannon worked in Target retail stores for two years
as an Executive Team Leader, and she was a volunteer teacher in Addis Ababa, Ethiopia.

In her personal time, Shannon travels the world, attends church, and spends quality time with
family and friends.

L. Diane Tindall
Wyrick Robbins Yates & Ponton, Raleigh, NC

Diane’s practice focuses on labor and employment law. She provides clients with representation,
counseling and training on all state and federal employment laws, including Title VII of the Civil
Rights Act, the Age Discrimination in Employment Act, the Americans with Disabilities Act, the
Fair Labor Standards Act, the Family and Medical Leave Act, and state wage and hour laws, as well
as covenants not to compete, trade secrets, wage payment and collection, employment
terminations and severance, policies and handbooks and other issues related to employment.
Diane is a member of the North Carolina Bar Association, a member of the NCBA Women in the
Profession Committee (Chair, 2009-2011) and participated in the NCBA Joint Task Force on
Diversity (2009-2010). She is also a Certified Mediator, North Carolina Civil Superior Court.

Diane is admitted to practice before all federal and state courts in North Carolina, the Fourth
Circuit Court of Appeals and the U.S. Supreme Court, and regularly defends management clients in
proceedings before the state and federal Departments of Labor and the Equal Employment
Opportunity Commission.

Before her law career, Diane was an English professor at North Carolina State University. After law
school, she clerked for former Justice Francis I. Parker on the Supreme Court of N.C. and with Chief
Justice, now retired, Sarah Parker on the N.C. Court of Appeals.

Diane received her B.A. from the College of William and Mary, her M.A. from West Virginia
University, and her J.D., cum laude, from the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill.

Laura J. Wetsch
Winslow Wetsch, PLLC, Raleigh, NC

Laura was born in Fargo, ND, raised in Minot and Bismarck, ND, married a guy from Killdeer, ND,
and graduated from the University of North Dakota School of Law in 1985. After law school she
was a federal law clerk in the District of North Dakota, and then practiced small town law until
1991 when she and her family moved to North Carolina (the other Great North State).

Laura is a member of Winslow Wetsch, PLLC in Raleigh, NC, and is the author of “A Practitioner’s
Guide to North Carolina Employment Law,” and co-author of the North Carolina chapter in the
ABA’s “Employment at Will: A State-By-State Survey.”

She has previously served as the Chair of the NCBA Labor & Employment Law Section, and the
Chair of the NCA] Employment Law Section. She has been named to Best Lawyers in America, N.C.
Super Lawyers and Top 50 Women Lawyers, and N.C. Legal Elite; and was honored to receive the
NCAJ’s Ebbie Award for excellence in advancing the cause of justice.
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R. Michael Elliot
Elliot Morgan Parsonage Law Firm, Charlotte, NC

Michael’s experience relating to clients from diverse backgrounds makes him well suited for
representing his clients across a broad range of legal areas. He practices in the areas of
employment law and family law, and is experienced in criminal law.

Michael has practiced as a public defender in Mecklenburg County and handled hundreds of cases
in district and superior court. He serves as chapter editor of the Sixth edition of the North Carolina
Prima Facie Torts Manual. Michael is a proud “double Tar Heel,” having graduated with honors
from the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill with a bachelor of arts in English and a ].D.
degree.

Areas of Practice

Employment Law

Family Law

Estate Planning

Criminal Defense

Credentials

North Carolina Bar

University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, J.D.

University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, B.A with Honors

Memberships

North Carolina Advocates for Justice

Mecklenburg County Bar Association

Awards/Recognition

North Carolina Super Lawyers

2023 - Employment Litigation: Plaintiff

Daniel C. Lyon
Elliot Morgan Parsonage Law Firm, Charlotte, NC

Daniel practices in the areas of employment and family law with a focus in litigation. Daniel also
practices criminal law, ranging from impaired driving to drug-related offenses.

While at Elon University School of Law, he served as Student Bar Association President and a
member of the Public Interest Law Society. Prior to joining EMP Law, Daniel served as an assistant
public defender with the Mecklenburg County Public Defender’s office. He currently serves as
chapter editor of the Sixth edition of the North Carolina Prima Facie Torts Manual.

Areas of Practice

Employment Law

Family Law

Estate Planning

Criminal Defense

Credentials

North Carolina Bar

Elon University School of Law, ].D.

Elon University, B.A.

Memberships

North Carolina Advocates for Justice

Mecklenburg County Bar Association - Mecklenburg County Family Law Section, Mecklenburg
County Criminal Law - Vice Chair 2014

Awards/Recognition

2023 North Carolina Super Lawyers Rising Stars - Employment Litigation: Plaintiff
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George A. Reeves III
Fisher & Phillips, Columbia, SC

George Reeves is a partner in the Columbia office of Fisher & Phillips. His practice primarily
involves representation of management in employment and labor litigation involving
discrimination, harassment and retaliation under Title VII, the Americans with Disabilities Act
(ADA) and the Age Discrimination in Employment Act (ADEA); wage and hour litigation under the
Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA); and employment litigation under state law for workplace torts
such as defamation, wrongful termination, invasion of privacy, and negligent hiring or supervision.
George also represents employers in audits and investigations by federal and state agencies
investigating or challenging employers’ wage and hour practices and worker misclassification
issues.

George is a frequent presenter on employment and labor issues for local and state Society for
Human Resource Management (SHRM) chapters, chambers of commerce and other professional
organizations. Prior to attending law school, George served in the United States Navy.
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2023 Supreme Court Commentary: Employment Law

Jonathan R. Harkavy

* * *

This article is dedicated to the following for their boundless devotion to family and for
their support of personal dignity, reproductive autonomy and equal rights for women.

To Nahomi Harkavy, my partner in parenting, grand-parenting and legal practice, to
whom I add thanks for editing my articles with patience, encouragement and insight. (I am, of
course, solely responsible for this article's content, tone and errors.) To our daughters, Anne
and Ellen, whose devotion to women's equality and social justice lights the path for our
granddaughters. And, to the memory of my mother, Harriet Louise (Gerber) Harkavy, z'l,
(November 16, 1910 - September 4, 1995). She was a women's rights trailblazer, having
started work as a biochemist in 1932 after graduating from the University of Chicago.
Thereafter, she remained an insistent supporter of women's equality and workplace justice
and an exemplar for the generations that followed her.

The 2022-2023 Term of the Supreme Court of the United States assuredly will rank as a
memorable one, not only for its momentous decisions, but also for the previously unreported
out-of-Court activities of some Justices, namely Clarence Thomas and Samuel Alito. Leaving
judicial propriety and ethics for others to debate elsewhere, this article focuses solely on the
Court's decisions themselves. What these decisions reveal is an unabashed six-Justice
majority, anointed by the Federalist Society and appointed by four Republican Presidents,
exercising judicial power audaciously. A brief litany of some of the term's more notable cases
illustrates this point. The Court --

* permitted a business owner to refuse offering her website design services to gay
couples despite a state ban on sexual orientation discrimination in public businesses; 303
Creative LLC v. Elenis, 600 U.S. ---, 143 S. Ct. --- (2023);

*overturned the federal government's student debt forgiveness program despite its
authorization by Congress; Biden v. Nebraska, 600 U.S. ---, 143 S. Ct. --- (2023);

*rejected race as a permissible determinant of public and private college admissions;
Students for Fair Admissions, Inc. v. President and Fellows of Harvard College, 600 U.S. ---,
143 S. Ct. --- (2023);

*permitted an employer to pursue a tort claim in state court against its employees' union
for strike-related damages despite pre-emption by federal labor law; Glacier Northwest, Inc.
Teamsters Local No. 174,598 U.S. ---, 143 S. Ct. 1404 (2023); and
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*crafted new rules for an employer's required accommodation under Title VII of its
employees' religious practices; Groff' v. DeJoy, 600 U.S. ---, 143 S. Ct. 2279 (2023).

The common denominator of these cases is, as you will see in the body of this article, a
diminished regard for co-equal branches of Government, for State authority and for the Court's
own precedents. Thankfully, however, in one notable case the six-Justice majority did fracture
in a way that rescued our democratic republic from what could have been its virtual extinction.
That case is Moore v. Harper, 600 U.S. ---, 143 S. Ct. --- (2023), in which the Chief Justice
and Justices Kavanaugh and Barrett commendably joined Justices Sotomayor, Kagan and
Jackson in rejecting a brazen - nay, partisan - attempt to impose a regime whereby state
legislatures alone, without any check on their discretion, could displace the control of popular
voting and dictate the outcomes of federal elections. While beyond the scope of this article, that
case is, to say the least, worth the reader's attention.

Focusing more narrowly on this term's employment-related decisions, employees
prevailed in some instances. But, a scorecard view of the term is not its appropriate measure.
Instead, there is plainly visible in the Court's overall treatment of employment issues a majority-
backed agenda to enhance employer prerogatives and stifle employees' collective voice and
agency at the inevitable expense of American workers and their families. As a consequence,
the true takeaway from this term's employment decisions is that the imperatives of equal
opportunity and workplace fairness that Congress has mandated through a web of federal
statutes seem in greater jeopardy today than ever.

Finally, one of this term's most distressing features is the majority's treatment of religion
in American life. As I have expressed in these annual reviews for the past several years, I see
in the Court's decisions a troubling thread of Christian nationalism dressed up in Free Exercise
garb that continues to infuse the opinions of several Justices in the dominant majority. This
insistent creep of Christian creed into the public sphere plainly contravenes the Establishment
Clause and jeopardizes a foundational principle of our democratic republic -- that the United
States of America is a secular nation, not a sectarian one.

In short, looking comprehensively at the Court's treatment of work-related issues, there is
cause for concern about whether our employment laws are being applied as Congress intended
and as justice requires. But, readers, judge for yourselves how the Court dealt with
employment matters as you read the case summaries and commentaries that follow.

Section I of this article summarizes each of the term's employment-related decisions, as
well as a number of non-employment decisions likely to affect the shape and scope of
workplace regulation and worker-management relations. Included are cases not only from the
Court's merits (or argument) docket, but also dissents from denials of certiorari and opinions
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appearing in the Court's orders lists covering filings from the emergency or so-called "shadow
docket." The cases are arranged by broad substantive topics. My own take on each principal
decision is offered in the italicized paragraphs immediately following its case summary. That
personal commentary ranges from the political to the predictive and from the philosophical to
the practical. The aim is to assess the likely impact of these decisions on all stakeholders in the
employment relationship, including working people, business owners, labor organizations and
benefit providers.

Section II is a narrative listing, current as of the date of this article, of grants of certiorari
presenting employment-related issues to be decided in the upcoming October 2023 Term
scheduled to begin on Monday, October 2, 2023. Included are the questions presented by each
granted petition for certiorari, along with a few comments describing the pertinence of the case
to employment law.

Section III concludes this article with additional personal observations about this term's
decisions, as well as the upcoming term's cases to be argued and decided in the midst of what
looks to be a contentious and unpredictable 2024 election season.

I. Decisions of the 2022-2023 Term

The Court's continuing focus on the employment relationship and how the workplace
should be regulated (or more accurately, deregulated) is exemplified by this term's statistics.
Of the 58 decisions reported by the Court this term, 45 of them were civil disputes. Six or
perhaps seven of those civil cases (i.e., 13.3% to 15.5% of the Court's civil decision docket)
are employment-related rulings. That statistic alone illustrates the Court's continuing interest in
labor and employment law. Glancing ahead statistically to the 2023-2024 Term, the Court's
concern with employment issues is assuredly not flagging. Indeed, of the 22 matters currently
on the 2023-2024 argument docket, five cases (i.e., nearly 23%) have some bearing on
employment. See infra, section II.

The principal cases summarized below are, for the most part, disputes directly involving
or affecting employment and the workplace. But, as previously indicated, also included are a
number of cases not directly involving any employment issue that deal with adjective questions
or bear in some less direct way on the employment relationship. Those more indirectly
pertinent cases are typically treated in abbreviated fashion, sometimes without any personal
commentary.
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A. Labor Relations.

Labor lawyers for both unions and management may be quick to point out that, despite
two Supreme Court labor law decisions this term, the real action in this area is at the National
Labor Relations Board ("Board.") Now that the Board has a majority appointed by President
Biden, and its General Counsel is also a Biden appointee, the National Labor Relations Act
("NLRA") is being applied in a way more favorable to employees and Unions (and, arguably,
more closely aligned with Congress' intent in enacting the statute.) Nonetheless, an employer-
friendly Court majority continues to tug in a different direction. Indeed, the first case reviewed
below has potential to transform, if not eviscerate, our labor pre-emption doctrine that has been
a settled aspect of traditional labor law for more than a half-century. Following that case is a
dispute about how to treat an esoteric group of federal civil service employees who work in
both civilian and military roles for State National Guards.

Glacier Northwest, etc. v. Teamsters Local No. 174, 598 U.S. ---, 143 S. Ct. 1404
(2023)

The Court held that the National Labor Relations Act did not preempt an
employer's tort claims alleging that its employees' labor union intentionally
destroyed company property during a labor dispute.

Glacier Northwest, Inc. ("Glacier") sells ready-mix concrete to customers in Washington
State. Each batch of Glacier's concrete is mixed to its customer's specifications. Glacier
combines raw ingredients (cement, sand, aggregate, admixture and water) in a hopper and
transfers the resulting concrete to one of its trucks for prompt delivery. Concrete is highly
perishable, as it begins to harden immediately once it is at rest. Glacier's ready-mix trucks can
preserve the concrete for a limited time in rotating drums on the back of the trucks. If the
concrete stays in the rotating drum for too long, however, it will harden and cause significant
damage to the truck. And, the concrete will also begin to harden right away if the drum stops
revolving.

Teamsters Local 174 ("Union") is the exclusive bargaining representative of Glacier's
truck drivers. After the collective bargaining agreement between Glacier and the Union expired
in the summer of 2017, the parties tried to negotiate a new contract. That had not succeeded by
August 11, 2017. On that morning a Union agent signaled to the drivers for a work stoppage,
purportedly when the Union knew that Glacier was in the midst of mixing and loading
substantial batches of concrete into the ready-mix trucks and making deliveries. Glacier
instructed its drivers to finish the deliveries in progress, but the Union told the drivers to ignore
Glacier's instruction. Of the 16 drivers who had already set out for deliveries and returned
fully loaded, 7 parked their trucks, notified a Glacier representative and took action to protect
their trucks. The remaining 9 drivers abandoned their trucks "without a word to anyone." Slip
Opin., p. 5. Glacier could not leave its concrete in the trucks, but it also could not dump that
concrete at random because of the environmentally sensitive chemicals in the mixture. Over a
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five hour period Glacier's nonstriking employees built special bunkers and offloaded the
concrete from the trucks. While the trucks were spared damage, the concrete in the bunkers
hardened and became useless.

Glacier sued the Union for damages in a Washington state court, claiming that the Union
intentionally destroyed the concrete, thereby amounting to common law conversion and
trespass to chattels. The Union moved to dismiss the tort claims on the ground that the
National Labor Relations Act ("NLRA") preempted them. The Union, relying on San Diego
Bldg. Trades Council v. Garmon, 359 U.S. 236 (1959), claimed that the NLRA at least
arguably protected the drivers' strike conduct and that the State thus had no power to hold the
Union accountable for any of the strike's consequences. The trial court agreed with the Union,
but an intermediate appellate court reversed. The Washington Supreme Court reinstated the
trial court's decision, expressing the view that the NLRA preempted Glacier's tort claims
because any loss of concrete was incidental to a strike arguably protected by federal law.
Glacier's petition for certiorari was granted.

The Court, in an 8 to 1 decision, reversed the Washington Supreme Court and held in a
majority opinion by Justice Barrett (joined by the Chief Justice and Justices Sotomayor, Kagan
and Kavanaugh) that the NLRA did not preempt Glacier's state tort action claiming that the
Union intentionally destroyed company property during a strike. Justices Thomas, Gorsuch
and Alito concurred in the judgment. Justice Jackson dissented.

Justice Barrett's majority opinion, accepting Glacier's allegations as true, first concludes
that the Union did not take "reasonable precautions” to protect Glacier's property from
imminent danger resulting from the drivers' sudden cessation of work. The majority
additionally noted that the Union's manner of conducting its strike was designed to expose
Glacier's bespoke concrete batches to foreseeable and imminent danger of destruction.
Accordingly, the majority concluded that the Union's conduct was not arguably protected by
the NLRA and the state court thus erred in dismissing Glacier's tort claims as preempted.

Justice Barrett first rejects the Union's argument that the right to strike should be
interpreted generously, emphasizing that the right is not absolute and that the Court must
analyze whether the strike exceeded the limits of conduct protected by the NLRA. Second, the
majority also rejected the Union's position that it does not forfeit NLRA protection by striking
when loss of a perishable product is foreseeable. Pointing out that by reporting for duty and
pretending that they would deliver the new batches, the Union effectively prompted the
product's mixing and loading, thus bringing about its eventual destruction, as well as putting
Glacier's trucks in harm's way. Third, while acknowledging that initiating a strike during the
workday and failing to give specific notice to an employer do not themselves make the Union's
conduct unprotected, these actions are relevant considerations in evaluating whether the Union
took reasonable precautions to avoid foreseeable and imminent harm to company property.
Finally, while the majority noted that some drivers took steps to protect their trucks, it found
more pertinent that the strikers affirmatively planned conduct posing a material risk of harm to
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the trucks. Given these circumstances, the majority concluded that the NLRA does not
arguably protect the Union's conduct, as characterized in Justice Barrett's opinion.

Accordingly, the Court reversed the judgment of the Washington Supreme Court and remanded
the case for further proceedings not inconsistent with its majority opinion.

Justice Thomas, joined by Justice Gorsuch, filed an opinion concurring in the Court's
judgment while emphasizing "the oddity of Garmon's broad pre-emptive regime." Opin., p. 1.
Criticizing what he characterizes as the "strange" and "unusual" Garmon doctrine, Justice
Thomas openly invites a re-examination of labor law preemption that would focus on the
NLRA's text and confront what should happen when federal and state law are in logical
contradiction. /bid., p. 4.

Justice Alito, joined by Justices Thomas and Gorsuch, filed an opinion concurring in the
Court's judgment based on precedent limiting Garmon preemption where (as Glacier alleged
here) employees intentionally destroy their employer's property.

Justice Jackson, in a 27-page dissenting opinion, faults the Court for ignoring the
pendency of a Board complaint against Glacier that will determine whether the Union's strike
conduct is arguably protected by the NLRA. In her view the Washington Supreme Court was
correct in suspending state examination of the Union's conduct in deference to a Board
proceeding that had already been tried and was in the midst of final briefing. Justice Jackson
consequently explains in detailed fashion that in addition to impeding the Board's uniform
development of federal labor law, the Court's decision also threatens to erode the right to strike
under the NLRA.

Perhaps the most notable consequence of this decision is neither its outcome for the
employer nor even its application of a fortified "reasonable precaution” limit on Garmon
preemption. Rather, the most startling feature of this case is an unmistakable signal that
several Justices are ready to "re-examine" Garmon more broadly -- a soft euphemism for
abandoning it for a more employer-friendly application of the NLRA.

Justice Jackson's dissent (as well as outside sources) also recounts evidence that the
Court conveniently ignored because Glacier's factual allegations had to be taken as true for
purposes of reviewing the Washington Supreme Court's decision. For instance, according to
the dissent, Glacier's own submissions in state court suggest that the Union did instruct
drivers to return the trucks to Glacier's yard at the onset of the strike and to keep the trucks
and their rotating drums running. Glacier apparently even suggested in state court that the
Union's precautions provided Glacier management and its non-striking employees with
sufficient time to implement how best to prevent both harm to the trucks and loss of the already
mixed concrete. Dissenting Opin., p. 24.
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The dissenting opinion also reveals an arguable basis for the Washington state courts to
dismiss Glacier's tort claims on remand in deference to an ongoing Board case against the
Union for alleged strike misconduct under the NLRA. Shortly after the drivers went on strike
Glacier sent disciplinary letters to some of the drivers. The Union filed an unfair labor
practice charge with the Board claiming that the letters were retaliation for the drivers' strike
conduct. After Glacier filed suit in state court, the Union filed a second charge with the Board
alleging that the lawsuit was further retaliation. Following the Washington Supreme Court's
decision, the Board's regional director filed an administrative complaint against Glacier
asserting that the Union's strike conduct was protected activity under the NLRA. Earlier this
year a Board administrative law judge held a nine-day hearing in which briefing was
completed in late May. In light of the Board's proceeding, Justice Jackson disagrees with the
Court's remand to the Washington Supreme Court for further state law proceedings. Instead,
Justice Jackson asserts that the state courts should stand down and that Glacier's suit should
either be dismissed or, at the very least, the lower court's judgment should be vacated with an
instruction to consider on remand the import of the Board's complaint against Glacier.

Finally, from a political standpoint, this decision impairs the authority of the federal
administrative state in favor of state jurisdiction to protect employers from union conduct.
Justice Thomas makes no bones about his desire to "re-examine" the entire scheme of
Garmon pre-emption. Nor is there much doubt about his willingness to abandon that doctrine
in favor of using state tort laws to challenge union conduct that interferes with employer
prerogatives. From one who writes so volubly about the need to respect exactly what
Congress has enacted, Justice Thomas' proposed abandonment of the Congressionally
mandated NLRA jurisdiction to oversee the workplace is as hypocritical as it is inequitable.

Ohio Adjutant General's Department v. Federal Labor Relations Authority, 598
U.S. ---, 143 S. Ct. --- (2023)

The Court held in a 7 to 2 decision that the Federal Labor Relations Authority
has jurisdiction over a labor dispute involving dual-service technicians who work
in both civilian and military roles for a state National Guard.

Dual-status technicians are federal civil service employees who work in both civilian and
military roles for State National Guards. As civilian employees they organize, administer,
instruct, train and maintain and repair supplies to assist the National Guard. As a condition of
their employment, however, they must maintain membership in the National Guard and wear a
uniform while working. Except when participating in National Guard part-time drills, training
or active-duty deployment, these employees work full time in a civilian capacity and receive
federal civil service pay. The dispute in this case centers on whether the Federal Labor
Relations Authority ("FLRA") has jurisdiction over an unfair labor practices dispute between
the American Federation of Government Employees, Local 3970 ("Union"), which represents
dual-status technicians and their employer, the Ohio Adjutant General, the Ohio Adjutant
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General's Department and the Ohio National Guard (collectively the "Guard").

In 1971 the Guard recognized the Union as the exclusive representative of the Guard's
dual-status technicians under the Federal Service Labor-Management Relations Statute
("FSLMRS.") The Union and the Guard operated under collective bargaining agreements until
expiration of the last agreement in 2014. The parties then adopted a memorandum of
understanding in March of 2016 whereby the Guard promised to abide by certain practices in
the expired bargaining agreement. Later that year, however, the Guard reversed course and
asserted that it was not bound by the FSLMRS or any practices in the former bargaining
agreement. Ultimately the Guard also terminated Union dues deductions for its dual-status
technicians.

The Union filed unfair labor practice charges with the FLRA, whose General Counsel
investigated and issued complaints against the Guard alleging that it had refused to negotiate in
good faith and that its termination of dues deductions interfered with the exercise of worker
rights. The Guard (and its intervenors) argued to an Administrative Law Judge ("ALJ") that it
was not a statutory "agency" and that dual-status technicians are not statutory "employees."
The ALJ ruled that the FLRA had jurisdiction over the Guard, that the technicians had
bargaining rights as statutory employees and that the Guard's repudiation of the bargaining
agreement's practices violated the FSLMRS. It ordered the Guard to bargain with the Union in
good faith and to reinstate the dues withholding. A divided panel of the FLRA adopted the
ALIJ's ruling. The Sixth Circuit denied the Guard's petition for review, holding that the Guard
is an agency subject to the FSLMRS when it employs dual-status technicians, that the
technicians are federal civil service employees with bargaining rights under the FSLMRS and
that the parties' dispute fell within the jurisdiction of the FLRA. The Supreme Court granted
certiorari "to consider whether the FLRA had jurisdiction over this labor dispute under the
[FSLMRS]".

The Court held in a 7 to 2 decision that the FLRA had jurisdiction over this labor dispute
because the Guard acts as a federal agency for purposes of the FSLMRS when it hires and
supervises dual-status technicians serving in their civilian role. Justice Thomas' majority
opinion first finds that when the Guard employs dual-status technicians (who are technically
employed by the Army or Air Force, components of the Department of Defense), it is
exercising the authority of a federal agency. Furthermore, Congress has required the Secretary
of the Army to designate state adjutant generals to employ dual-status technicians, and a 1968
order of the Secretary of the Army did so. Under that former regime, dual-status technicians
were employees of the designee of the Secretary of the Army. Finally, Justice Thomas,
referring to a Mississippi National Guard case, notes that the precursor to the FSLMRS (an
Executive Order) also treated dual-status technicians as federal employees when they were
employed and supervised by state adjutant generals acting as agents of the Army or Air Force.
Accordingly, the Court presumes that the FSLMRS maintained the same coverage that existed
and was approved under the prior regime. In short, the upshot is that the Guard functions as an
agency under the FLSMRS when it employs dual-status technicians, and the FLRA thus has
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jurisdiction over the labor dispute at issue.

Justice Alito, joined by Justice Gorsuch, dissented in an opinion expressing their view
that the FLRA lacks jurisdiction over the Guard because the Court holds only that the Guard
"acts as an agency" and exercises the authority of an agency, but does not actually determine
that it and the adjutant generals are in fact agencies.

* * * *

What the Court left undecided is an issue that could essentially overturn the result here.
The Guard's petition for certiorari had also presented a separate question disputing the
constitutionality of the FLRA's authority to regulate the labor practices of its members who are
not employed in the service of the United States. The grant of certiorari here, however, did not
encompass that constitutional issue. And so, as Justice Thomas explains in a footnote, this
case addresses only the statutory question, and its holding is limited to the unique class of
federal employees hired and supervised by state adjutants general. Slip opin., p. 5, n. 1. Of
course, if the Court were to grant review of the constitutional issue and determine it in the
Guard's favor, the FLRA would have no jurisdiction over the unfair labor practices being
challenged by the Union. For the time being, however, chalk up this decision as a modest
victory for Local 3790 of the AFGE. And, in doing so, you can marvel at the oddity of Justice
Thomas' being the author of a victory for a labor union.

B. Employment Discrimination.

First, no review of this term's cases - employment or otherwise - would be complete
without reference to the so-called Affirmative Action decision, Students for Fair
Admissions, Inc. v. President and Fellows of Harvard College, 600 U.S. ---, 143 S. Ct. ---
(2023). There the Court held in a 6 to 3 ruling that the undergraduate admissions programs at
Harvard College and The University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill violate the Equal
Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. While the Court's college admissions ruling
did not directly concern either public or private employment, commentary by the employment
law bar in the immediate wake of the decision has been virtually unanimous that the Court's
controversial embrace of a race-blind Equal Protection Clause is bound to affect in some way
the meaning of race discrimination in the workplace, particularly in light of the recent push for
diversity and inclusion by many employers. Indeed, already the most activist Justices pushing
"race-blind" theory are seeking to extend the college admissions decision well beyond its
confines. E.g., Thompson v. Henderson, 600 U.S. ---, 143 S. Ct. --- (2023) (Alito, J., joined
by Thomas, J.) (Criticism of Washington Supreme Court's treatment of claim of racial bias in
jury tort award.)

As for the Court's work in the employment discrimination area, there are two full dress
decisions and two opinions in denials of review to cover. In what might otherwise have been a
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pedestrian religious accommodation case, the Court essentially reconfigured the employer's
undue hardship defense under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 ("Title VII"). Aside
from that noteworthy decision, there are employment reverberations from a hotly debated
landmark ruling about a website designer seeking to avoid having to serve gay customers.

Groff v. DeJoy, Postmaster General, 600 U.S. ---, 143 S. Ct. 2279 (2023)

The Court unanimously held that Title VII requires an employer that denies a
religious accommodation to show that the burden of granting an accommodation
would result in substantial increased costs in relation to the conduct of its
particular business.

Gerald Groff is an Evangelical Christian who believes for religious reasons that Sundays
should be devoted to worship and rest and not to secular labor and transportation of worldly
goods. In April of 2012 the United States Postal Service ("USPS") hired Groff as a Rural
Carrier Associate in Quarryville, PA. The job required Groff to assist regular carriers in
delivering mail and at that time did not generally involve Sunday work. In 2013 USPS
contracted with Amazon to facilitate Amazon's Sunday deliveries and in 2016 contracted with
the carriers' union (National Rural Letter Carriers' Association ["NRLCA"]) to agree on how
Sunday and holiday parcel deliveries would be handled. The union agreement specifies the
order in which employees in Groff's position would be called for Sunday work from their
regional hubs (Lancaster, PA for Groff.) The workers in Groff's category required all the
employees in that category to work Sundays on a rotating basis. Groff then sought a transfer
to a small station that did not then make Sunday deliveries.

In March of 2017 Amazon deliveries began at the small station to which Groft had
transferred. With Groff unwilling to work Sundays, USPS arranged for the other employees
(including the station's postmaster) to make Sunday deliveries during the two-month peak
season. During the remainder of the year Groff's Sunday assignments were redistributed to
other employees at the Lancaster hub. Some employees complained about Groff's failing to
take Sunday work on a rotating basis as the NRLCA agreement required, and one of them filed
a grievance. USPS settled the grievance by reaffirming its obligation to rotate Sunday work if
there were insufficient volunteers. When Groff continued to refuse Sunday work, USPS gave
him progressive discipline. In January of 2019 Groff resigned, allegedly because he expected
to be terminated.

Groff sued USPS a few months later. He claimed under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act
of 1964 ("Title VII") that USPS could have accommodated his Sunday religious practice
"without undue hardship on the conduct of [USPS's] business" within the meaning of the
statute. See, 42 U.S.C. 2000e(j). The district court granted USPS's summary judgment
motion, and the Third Circuit affirmed based on a widely held construction of "undue
hardship" in Trans World Airlines v. Hardison, 432 U.S. 63 (1977) holding that an employer
is not required to "bear more than a de minimis cost" to accommodate an employee's religious
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practice. Because exempting Groff from Sunday work imposed on his co-workers, diminished
employee morale and disrupted the workplace and workflow, the panel majority found the de
minimis standard met. The Supreme Court granted Groff's petition for certiorari.

The Court unanimously vacated the Third Circuit's decision, ruling that demonstration of
an undue hardship requires an employer to show that granting an employee's request for
religious accommodation would result in substantial increased costs relating to the conduct of
the employer's particular business. Justice Alito's opinion for the Court first examines at some
length the origin and operation of Title VII's religious accommodation regime, culminating in a
1972 amendment to the statute adopting the undue hardship provision in section 2000e(j).
Next, the opinion reviews in detail the Hardison case, noting especially its original (but later
abandoned) focus on the constitutionality of the 1972 amendment. The Court then explains
how the undue hardship requirement has been applied generously to employers by using the
"de minimis" benchmark, despite only a mere fleeting reference to that standard in Hardison
itself.

Holding that a "more than a de minimis cost" showing does not suffice to establish
"undue hardship," Justice Alito's opinion purports to clarify what is required for that defense.
The opinion says that the Court understands Hardison to mean that "undue hardship" is shown
when a burden is "substantial" in the overall context of an employer's business. That is a fact-
specific inquiry, and the Court leaves further development to the lower courts on remand
instead of crafting any more requirements.

Clarifying further how an undue hardship defense may be established, Justice Alito looks
first to Title VII's text, finding that "undue hardship" means something very different from the
minimal burden that lower courts had been applying since Hardison. Second, Justice Alito
notes that while all parties agree that a minimal showing is not right, an employer must now
show that a particular accommodation would result in "substantial" increased costs in relation
to the conduct of its particular business. In assessing an employer's showing, courts must take
account of all relevant factors and their practical impact in light of the nature, size and operating
cost of that employer. Third, the Court explicitly declines to adopt the body of other statutory
and administrative interpretations suggested by the parties. including guidelines from the EEOC
that are widely respected. Instead, Justice Alito stresses that "undue hardship" means what it
says and that courts should determine this employer defense in the commonsense manner it
would use in applying any such test. Fourth, the Court clarifies that the impact of an
accommodation on co-workers is relevant only to the extent that it affects the conduct of the
employer's business. Justice Alito also stresses that hardship based on employee animosity to
a particular religion or to religion generally or even to the notion of accommodating religious
practice cannot be considered "undue" and cannot supply a defense. Finally, Justice Alito
reminds that Title VII requires accommodation of an employee's religious practice, not merely
an assessment of a particular accommodation. In Groff's case, looking only at forcing other
employees to work overtime is thus insufficient to establish an undue hardship defense, and
other options would have to be considered.
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Having thus "clarified" the Title VII "undue hardship" standard, the Court vacated the
Third Circuit's decision and remanded the case for further proceedings consistent with its
opinion. In doing so, Justice Alito expressly notes that further factual development may be
considered on remand.

Justice Sotomayor, joined by Justice Jackson, filed a short concurring opinion stressing
that the Court made a "wise choice" in not overruling Hardison. And, the concurrence also
reminds that Congress is free to revise the Court's statutory interpretations. Justice Sotomayor
further observes that undue hardship on the "conduct" of an employer's business may include
hardship on a plaintiff's co-workers, noting that for many employers labor is more important to
the conduct of the business than any other factor.

The obvious importance of this decision is its unanimous re-interpretation of Title VII's
"undue hardship" defense. To be sure, the outcome makes that defense a bit more of a
stumbling block for employers. But because the precise components of undue hardship
require a fact-specific determination, the Court leaves that task to the lower courts - with some
additional clarifications, of course. So, for employers and employees alike, the undue
hardship defense is no longer minimal, but its actual contours will vary with the facts of a
particular accommodation. As a consequence of this ruling, therefore, the cause of religious
exercise at the expense of non-discriminatory workplace rules is fortified. The fallout from the
Court's approach may well be chaotic for employers that have to deal with the clash of
religious exercise and non-discriminatory work rules.

Turning to a more troubling point, a respected Court observer has recently noted that
both Hardison and this case involved union agreements. Andrew Strom, "In Groff'v. DeJoy,
the Supreme Court Left a Key Question Unanswered," On Labor (July 18, 2023), accessed on
July 18, 2023 at https.//onlabor.org/in-groff-v-dejoy-the-supreme-court-left-a-key-question-
unanswered/. In Hardison a collective bargaining agreement required preference on the
basis of seniority for weekend days off. In like fashion, USPS' memorandum of understanding
with its employees' union required rotating Sunday work on a rotating basis. And, in
Hardison the Supreme Court held that Title VII did not require ignoring of seniority rights to
accommodate a junior employee's religious practice. Given that holding, how can Title VII
require USPS here to accommodate Groff in disregard of its union agreement to rotate
Sunday work? Separately, as Strom's On Labor essay also notes, the American Postal
Workers Union also filed an amicus brief in Groff's case explaining that the grievance filed by
Groff's co-worker was not based on hostility to Groff's religious practice, but was grounded
on a claim that all workers should be able to enjoy a day of rest. Ibid. In the face of all this,
Justice Alito simply declared that "an accommodation's effect on co-workers may have
ramifications for the conduct of the employer's business.” That vague reference, omitting any
mention of a union agreement, must have prompted Justices Sotomayer and Jackson to stress
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in their concurrence that an accommodation's effect on co-workers can itself constitute an
"undue hardship on the conduct of the employer's business" because of labor's importance to
the conduct of business. In short, the failure to deal explicitly with Hardison's seniority
reference, confront APWU's explanation of Groff's co-worker's grievance and embrace the
concurrence's explanation of hardship on the conduct of USPS' business leaves Justice Alito's
opinion wanting, to say the least.

303 Creative LLC v. Elenis, 600 U.S. ---, 143 S. Ct. --- (2023)

The Court held in a 6 to 3 decision that the First Amendment prohibits Colorado
from forcing a website designer to create expressive designs that convey a message
contrary to the designer's religious beliefs.

Lorie Smith offers website and graphic design, marketing advice and social media
management services to the public in Colorado through her solely owned business, 303
Creative LLC. Smith has a biblical-based belief that same-sex marriages are "false" because the
only true marriages are between one man and one woman. Although 303 Creative has never
sold wedding websites, Smith wants to enter that business because she believes that she is
being "called" to explain the true story of marriage. Smith wants to sell wedding websites to
the public, but not to same-sex couples, and she wants to post a notice on her company's
website announcing that restriction. Because Smith was worried that Colorado would enforce
its public accommodation law (Colorado Anti-Discrimination Act ["CADA"]) to force her to
create wedding websites for gay couples, she sued in federal court to enjoin that prospect.

In district court, Smith and the State stipulated, among other things, that she is willing to
work with all people regardless of their sexual orientation and that she will gladly create custom
graphics and websites for clients of any sexual orientation, although she will not create content
that contradicts biblical truth. The parties also stipulated that her website design services are
expressive and that her creations contribute to messages her business conveys through those
creations. The parties further stipulated that the wedding websites will express her message
celebrating and promoting her view of marriage. The district court, while concluding that
Smith had standing to seek relief concerning her proposed business, denied the relief she
sought. The Tenth Circuit affirmed, concluding that while forcing Smith to create wedding
websites for gay couples may be forcing speech, Colorado's interest in assuring equal access to
publicly available goods and services was a compelling one justifying creation of websites for
all. The Supreme Court granted Smith's petition for certiorari.

The Court decided 6 to 3 to reverse the Tenth Circuit's judgment, holding in an opinion
by Justice Gorsuch, that the First Amendment prohibits Colorado from compelling Smith to
create wedding websites that convey a message contrary to her beliefs. Recounting first a
series of Supreme Court rulings (compelled flag salute, excluding gays from veterans' parade,
and removing gay assistant scoutmaster from Boy Scouts), Justice Gorsuch characterizes
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Smith's position in the same light - i.e., protecting a First Amendment right to speak her own
mind and avoid Government compelled speech. Gorsuch's opinion again posits that Colorado
intends to compel Smith to create websites celebrating marriages she does not believe are true.
While recognizing that public accommodations laws play a vital role in realizing civil rights and
that governments have a compelling interest in eliminating discrimination (including sexual
orientation discrimination), those laws are subject to the First Amendment and cannot compel
market participants to speak in a preferred way. Based on the parties' stipulation that Smith
proposes to sell websites that are expressive, the majority rejects Colorado's claim that it is not
forcing Smith to speak something she does not believe and that it is simply regulating the sale
of a commercial product. Again relying on the parties' stipulation that Smith will work with
gay couples so long as she does not have to create content that violates her beliefs, Justice
Gorsuch rejects Colorado's argument that she is objecting to couples' protected characteristics.
Instead, the majority concludes that Smith would not create expressions for anyone (gay or
otherwise) that would defy any of her beliefs. Accordingly, Justice Gorsuch concludes that the
First Amendment requires tolerance, not coercion and that Colorado cannot apply its public
accommodations law to require Smith to create expressive websites inconstant with her beliefs.
The Court therefore reversed the Tenth Circuit's judgment.

Justice Sotomayor, joined by Justices Kagan and Jackson, dissented in a 38 page opinion
that opens by declaring that the Court, "for the first time in its history, grants a business open to
the public a constitutional right to refuse to serve members of a protected class. . . . [and] that
the company has a right to post a notice that says, 'no [wedding websites] will be sold if they
will be used for gay marriages." The dissent explains at length that the Colorado statute, like
the laws in 45 states, targets conduct, not speech. Its purpose is to assure equal access to
publicly available goods and services and equal dignity in a common market. After recounting
the history of public accommodation and the response of states to discrimination on several
bases, including sexual orientation, Justice Sotomayor reviews the challenges to laws like
Colorado's, finding that the First Amendment provides no exclusion or defense to laws
targeting discriminatory conduct. The dissent then takes direct issue with the Court's "grave
error" of conflating denial of service and protected expression and concludes that in the case of
Lorie Smith the Court "shrinks" from rejecting her claim to a constitutional right to
discriminate. The dissent also reminds that Ms. Smith can publicize and speak freely about her
belief in true marriage and her disagreement with gay marriage, but she cannot offer wedding
websites to the public while refusing them to gay couples. The dissent continues with what it
deems "dispiriting" comparisons to racial exclusion cases, among others. Justice Sotomayer
concludes the dissent by remarking that this is a "sad day in American constitutional law" that
imposes a public indignity on LGBT people. At the same time she reminds that we are not
powerless to do something in the face of the majority's decision: "The meaning of our
Constitution is found not in any law volume, but in the spirit of the people who live under it.
Every business owner in America has a choice whether to live out the values in the
Constitution." Dissenting Opin., p. 38.
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This decision, while couched in terms of the commercial marketplace, has significance
for the American workplace, too. Does the majority's rationale support an employer's right to
disobey generally applicable anti-discrimination laws because of a religious belief that
Muslims, Atheists or Jews should not supervise true Christians or that black employees should
not work next to white employees or that a woman's place is not on the shop floor? In the first
weeks following the Court's June 30, 2023 decision, a wealth of commentary from Court
observers and management attorneys remarking on these and other concerns has already
appeared. E.g., Linda Greenhouse, "Look at What John Roberts and His Court Have
Wrought Over 18 Years," The New York Times, (July 9, 2023). Indeed, during a webinar
sponsored by the National Constitution Center and the Anti-Defamation League on July 13,
2023, one of the presenters remarked that it is hard to find a limiting principle in the Court's
decision. In short, the likelihood that litigation of employment-related claims involving
protected classes will ensue seems pretty high at this point.

Also in the immediate wake of the Court's decision, a disturbing perspective on Lorie
Smith's particular claim has come to light. Without judging what is true, here is a summary of
what has been reported: A writer for The New Republic claims to have uncovered the
possibility that, contrary to the claim in Smith's petition for certiorari on page 5, Lorie Smith
was not asked by a gay couple about creating a wedding website. See, Melissa Gira Grant,
"The Supreme Court Doesn’t Care That the Gay Wedding Website Case Is Based on
Fiction," (The New Republic, June 30, 2023), last accessed July 19, 2023 at https://
newrepublic.com/article/174048/supreme-court-doesnt-care-gay-wedding-website-case-
based-fiction. The magazine reports that Lorie Smith claimed in court filings that she received
an inquiry about building a website from "Stewart,"” whose contact information was included
in the inquiry filed in Smith's suit. Stewart and Mike were supposedly the gay couple Smith
claimed asked her about a website. So, the magazine writer used the contact information in
the filings and telephoned Stewart. He told her that he never made this inquiry, that he would
never support Smith's challenge, that he is not gay and that he has been married to a woman
for more than a decade. Smith's counsel at the Alliance Defending Freedom has called any
suggestion that it fabricated a basis for Smith's case "reprehensible and disgusting,”
according to the magazine writer. 1bid.; see also, S. Levine, "Key Document May Be Fake in
LGBTQ Rights Case Before US Supreme Court," (The Guardian, June 30, 2023), Whether
the Court's decision in this case may ultimately be affected by the reporting of this story,
especially in light of the Court's recent grant of certiorari on the issue of "tester" standing
(Acheson Hotels, v. Laufer, infra, section Il), is entirely unpredictable at this point.

Finally, can there be much doubt that Lorie Smith's claim is actually one grounded on
her religious free exercise instead of freedom of speech, regardless of Justice Gorsuch's
contrived characterization of her case? The majority's clever masquerade of free speech for
free exercise may seem alluring, but the essence of what Lorie Smith and the Alliance
Defending Freedom are trying to accomplish is a religion-based attempt to reverse, or at least
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impair, what the Court has done in the past few decades to protect the rights of gay people and
other protected classes.

Kincaid v. Williams, 600 U.S. ---, 143 S. Ct. --- (2023) (Dissent from Denial of
Certiorari)

The Court denied certiorari as to whether the Americans with Disabilities Act
covers gender dysphoria in a dispute involving a transgender woman.

Justice Alito, joined by Justice Thomas, dissented from the Court's denial of certiorari on
the question of whether gender dysphoria (i.e., psychological distress caused by conflict
between a person's gender identity and their assigned sex at birth) is covered by the definition
of disability in the Americans with Disabilities Act ("ADA"). 42 U.S.C. 12211(b).

Kesha Williams is a transgender woman who was diagnosed with gender dysphoria long
before her incarceration for six months in 2018 at the Fairfax County Adult Detention Center in
northern Virginia. At the time of her incarceration she had been receiving hormone therapy
consistent with her identity as female for 15 years. Williams was originally assigned to the
women’s side of the detention center, but she was later moved to the men’s side of the prison
and required to wear men’s clothing. She contends that she did not consistently receive her
hormone therapy and that she was harassed by prison deputies and male inmates.

After leaving the detention center, Williams sued the Sheriff of Fairfax County, VA (who
operated the center) in federal court, contending that her rights under the ADA had been
violated. The district court dismissed Williams’ case, agreeing with defendant that gender
dysphoria is not a “disability” under the ADA. On appeal, the Fourth Circuit reversed the
district court's ruling, infer alia, that due to "advances in medical understanding" since the
ADA's adoption, gender dysphoria is a recognized disability and is not a "gender identity
disorder" that the ADA excludes from coverage. Accordingly, entities subject to the ADA
must accommodate feelings of stress and discomfort that result from a person's assigned sex.
Judge Quattlebaum dissented from the panel decision and joined five other judges in dissenting
from rehearing the case en banc. The defendant petitioned for certiorari to review the Fourth
Circuit's judgment.

After considering defendant's petition at four consecutive conferences, the Court denied
it. Justice Alito, joined by Justice Thomas, filed an opinion dissenting from the denial of
certiorari. Justice Alito's opinion described the question of ADA coverage for gender
dysphoria as one “of great national importance that calls out for prompt review.” The court of
appeals, he contended, “has effectively invalidated a major provision of the Americans with
Disabilities Act (ADA), and that decision is certain to have far-reaching and highly
controversial effects.” Moreover, he added, the ruling is likely to “raise a host of important and
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sensitive questions regarding such matters as participation in women’s and girls’ sports, access
to single-sex restrooms and housing, the use of traditional pronouns, and the administration of
sex reassignment therapy.”

% % % %

The dissenters make no pretense about their opposition to gender dysphoria coverage
under the ADA. Not only do they question the Fourth Circuit's judgment, but they also
essentially reveal their concerns about transgender participation in women's and girl's sports,
transgender access to single-sex restrooms and housing, the administration of sex
reassignment therapy and even the use of traditional pronouns. Whether the dissenters’
undisguised desire to construe the ADA in a manner that psychiatry no longer recognizes can
draw the necessary votes to overrule a judgments like the one here is uncertain. But what is
certain is that what the dissenters want to do would have a dramatic impact on how the ADA
operates in the workplace. It behooves all employment stakeholders, therefore, to watch for
further developments on this issue in the upcoming term or beyond. In the meantime, in light
of this denial of certiorari, failing to accommodate gender dysphoria in the workplace
certainly puts employers and managers in harm's way under the ADA.

City of Ocala, Florida v. Rojas, 598 U.S. ---, 143 S. Ct. 764 (2023)

The Court denied certiorari on the question of whether atheists who attended a
prayer vigil organized by a municipal police department had standing to contest
religious speech they found offensive.

Following a shooting spree that left several children injured, police in the City of Ocala,
Florida asked community leaders for help in bringing the community together to address its
problems. As a result, the police chief organized a public prayer vigil in which police chaplains
participated. Several atheists who attended sued the City, alleging that the religious themes of
the event violated the Establishment Clause of the First Amendment. The district court granted
summary judgment in favor of the plaintiffs, reasoning that they had standing to contest
religious speech they found offensive and that the vigil violated the Establishment Clause. The
Eleventh Circuit agreed that one plaintiff who chose to attend and actually heard prayers had
standing to complain, but the Circuit vacated the district court's ruling, remanding the case for
reconsideration in light of Kennedy v. Bremerton School Dist., 597 U.S. --- (2022). The
Supreme Court denied plaintiff's petition for certiorari.

Justice Gorsuch, while agreeing with the Court's disposition of this petition, expressed
his firm disagreement with the notion that an offended observer has standing to bring an
Establishment Clause claim. For those observers who are genuinely offended by religious
expression, Justice Gorsuch says they may "avert their eyes" or "pursue a political solution."
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Justice Thomas dissented from the denial of certiorari in an opinion saying that the Court
should have granted review of whether the offended viewers had standing and whether the
lower courts thus lacked jurisdiction. Justice Thomas expressed "serious doubt" about the
legitimacy of the offended observer theory of standing, as it is contrary to precedent and
"warps" the essence of judicial power to address actual injuries, not hurt feelings.

% % % %

The two opinions here push the cause of religious nationalism by indirection. Justices
Gorsuch and Thomas openly seek to preclude observers who are offended by public religious
expression from relying on the Establishment Clause to stop it. Their position that offended
observers lack standing to sue to enforce their First Amendment rights would effectively impair
the internal check and balance of the First Amendment, which says simply: "Congress shall
make no law respecting an establishment of religion, or prohibiting the free exercise thereof. . .
" Whether the no standing device will attract enough votes from others in the six Justice group
bears watching in the upcoming term and beyond.

C. Employee Compensation and Benefits

A bit unusual this term is the absence of retirement and pension fund decisions,
ordinarily a feature of the benefits and compensation area. The two principal cases below,
however, should be of some interest both to regular Court observers as well as practitioners in
the benefits and compensation area.

Helix Energy, etc. v. Hewitt, 598 U.S. 39, 143 S. Ct. 677 (2023)

The Court held in a 6 to 3 decision that an offshore oil rig employee who earned
more than $200,000 annually and whose paychecks are based solely on a daily rate
(without overtime) is not paid on a salary basis and is thus a non-exempt
employee entitled to overtime pay under the Fair Labor Standards Act.

Michael Hewitt was employed from 2015 to 2017 by Helix Energy Solutions Group
("Helix") as a "tool pusher" on an offshore oil rig. He reported to the captain of the rig,
supervised 12 to 14 workers and oversaw various aspects of the rig's operation. Hewitt
worked 28 day hitches with 28 days off between hitches. During each hitch he typically
worked 12 hours every day so that he was working 84 hours per week during each hitch.
Helix paid Hewitt on a daily rate basis with no overtime compensation. His daily rate ranged
from $963 to $1341 per day. Hewitt's paychecks, issued every two weeks, amounted to his
daily rate times the number of days worked during the pay period. Under this scheme, Helix
paid Hewitt over $200,000 annually.

After Helix fired Hewitt for performance issues, Hewitt filed suit against Helix under the
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Fair Labor Standards Act of 1938 ("FLSA") to recover overtime pay for himself and other
employees. Helix responded that Hewitt was an exempt employee under section 213(a)(1) of
the FLSA and the regulations adopted by the Secretary of Labor because he was employed in a
"bona fide executive" capacity and paid on a salary basis. 29 C.F.R. 541.601, ef seq. Hewitt
conceded that his compensation met two of the Secretary's three tests for being an exempt
employee: his compensation met the salary level test and his job responsibilities met the
"duties" test for highly compensated employees. The parties disagreed, however, as to the third
test - whether Hewitt was paid on a "salary basis." The district court agreed with Helix that
Hewitt was paid on a salary basis and granted Helix's motion for summary judgment. The
Fifth Circuit, en banc, concluded that Hewitt was not paid on a salary basis and reversed the
district court's judgment. The 12-judge majority reasoned that a daily rate employee does not
fall within the regulatory coverage of employees paid without regard to days or hours worked.
The 6 remaining judges dissented in two opinions. The Supreme Court granted Helix's petition
for certiorari.

The Court, in a 6 to 3 decision, aftirmed the Fifth Circuit's judgment and held, in an
opinion by Justice Kagan, that Helix did not pay Hewitt on a salary basis under the Secretary's
regulations. Relying on the text and structure of the regulations, Justice Kagan concluded that
Helix failed to persuade that it paid Hewitt on a salary basis under section 602(a) of the
Secretary's regulations. Hewitt was a daily rate worker who was not entitled to be paid a full
salary (i.e., a predetermined amount) for any week in which he worked at all. And, the Court
rejected Helix's argument that receipt of paychecks every two weeks meets the "basis" element
of the exemption. The term "basis" refers to the unit or method of calculating pay, not the
frequency of its distribution.

Looking also at the broader structure of the Secretary's regulations, Justice Kagan's
opinion fortifies its reading of the regulations' text. None of the various ways to meet the
salary basis requirement covers daily rate employees like Hewitt - even highly compensated
ones. The regulatory structure is thus aimed at other employees - highly paid or not - who
were paid at a weekly (or longer) rate. Additionally, the Court rejected Helix's policy
arguments. Not only did Justice Kagan find such arguments inadequate to overcome a clear
textual directive, but their plea that ruling for Hewitt would provide a "windfall" runs counter to
Congress' choice not to impose a simple compensation cap for an exemption. Finally, Helix's
objection based on cost and its complaint about retroactive liability were rejected as having been
considered - and not altered - by Congress for decades.

Justice Gorsuch's brief dissent says that the petition should have been dismissed as
improvidently granted because the salary basis test was not the petition's original focus and
because Helix failed to raise whether the Secretary's regulations are ultra vires the FLSA itself.
(a point Justice Kagan addressed in footnote 2 to the Court's opinion. Slip Opin. p. 7).

Justice Kavanaugh, joined by Justice Alito, dissented in an opinion concluding that
Hewitt was a "bona fide executive" for Helix and thus not entitled to overtime pay. The dissent
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reasons that because Hewitt was guaranteed more than $455 for any week that he worked, he
met the salary basis test for an exemption. And, like Justice Gorsuch, these dissenters agree
that it is an open question whether the Secretary's regulations are consistent with the FLSA
itself.

This decision is more notable for its lineup of Justices and for its outcome than for any
lasting interpretation of the FLSA. For instance, it is a mystery why Justice Thomas did not
join Justice Gorsuch in urging a dismissal for an improvident grant of certiorari. Also
noteworthy is that the Chief Justice and Justice Barrett joined in full the nearly jaunty, but
unyielding, opinion of Justice Kagan favoring a generous application of the FLSA on the side
of an employee already making more than 3200,000 annually. To be sure, 28-day hitches on
an oil rig requiring 12 hours of work every day is no picnic. But, it is still remarkable that the
six-Justice pro-employer majority failed to hold together on behalf of a high-paying employer.
At any rate, this decision can be scored as a win for employees and a warning to employers
about applying the FLSA's overtime provisions to employees paid on a daily rate.

Perhaps as noteworthy as the decision is what the Court did not decide. We now know
that there are at least three votes for granting certiorari on whether the Secretary's salary
basis regulations are consistent with the FLSA itself. It may not be long, therefore, before the
Court has an opportunity to confront that issue squarely.

Mallory v. Norfolk Southern Railway Co., 600 U.S. ---, 143 S. Ct. --- (2023)

The Court held that the Fourteenth Amendment's Due Process Clause does not
prohibit a State from requiring out of state corporations registering to do business
in the State to consent to personal jurisdiction in suits brought there.

Robert Mallory worked for Norfolk Southern Railway Company ("NS") as a freight-car
mechanic for nearly 20 years, first in Ohio and then in Virginia. Mallory left NS and moved to
Pennsylvania before returning to Virginia. During this time he was diagnosed with cancer.
Contending that he was exposed to carcinogens when he sprayed boxcar pipes with asbestos,
handled chemicals in the paint shop and demolished car interiors, he hired Pennsylvania
lawyers who sued NS in Pennsylvania state court under the workers' compensation provisions
of the Federal Employers' Liability Act ("FELA") covering railroad workers. NS responded
that Pennsylvania state courts could not exercise personal jurisdiction over it because Mallory
resided in Virginia when the suit was brought, his complaint claimed that the exposures to
carcinogens were in Virginia and Ohio, and NS was incorporated in Virginia and had its
headquarters there. Mallory countered by pointing out that NS manages 2000 miles of track,
operates 11 rail yards and runs 3 locomotive shops in Pennsylvania and that it registered to do
business there in 1998 because of its Pennsylvania operations. Moreover, when NS registered
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in Pennsylvania, it was required to agree to appear in Pennsylvania courts on "any cause of
action" against it. The Pennsylvania Supreme Court sided with NS, finding that the
Pennsylvania law requiring registered companies to submit to suits in Pennsylvania violated the
Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment.

The United States Supreme Court granted certiorari. The Court vacated the state court
ruling and remanded the case. Justice Gorsuch announced the judgment of the Court, delivered
the opinion of the Court with respect to Parts I and I1I-B, in which Justices Thomas, Alito,
Sotomayor and Jackson joined, and an opinion with respect to Parts II, III-A, and IV, in which
Justices Thomas, Sotomayor and Jackson joined. Justice Jackson filed a concurring opinion.
Justice Alito filed an opinion concurring in part and concurring in the judgment. Justice Barrett,
joined by the Chief Justice and Justices Kagan and Kavanaugh filed a dissenting opinion.

The Court found this case controlled by its decision in Pennsylvania Fire Ins. Co. v.
Gold Issue Mining & Milling Co., 243 U.S. 93 (1917), which held that laws like
Pennsylvania's do not deny a defendant due process of law. It makes no difference that
Mallory no longer lives in Pennsylvania or that his cause of action did not accrue there. The
Court also found that its decisions after Pennsylvania Fire did not implicitly overrule that case.
The state courts here were thus required to apply Pennsylvania Fire and rule for Mallory.

Justice Jackson concurred in the plurality opinion and expressed the view that another
line of decisions also supports Mallory's position. Justice Alito concurred in the judgment, but
noted in his separate concurrence that Pennsylvania's law may be unconstitutional under the
Commerce Clause. Justice Barrett's dissenting opinion would side with NS because the
Court's decisions since Pennsylvania Fire make clear that Pennsylvania could not legitimately
assert personal jurisdiction over NS on Mallory's claims.

This highly truncated coverage of a personal jurisdiction decision is included here only
because it arose in an employment context and, happily for Mallory, sustained his ability as a
former railroad employee to sue his employer for federal workers' compensation benefits
arising out of his employment.

For employment lawyers, this decision may also be regarded as significant for its
upholding of Pennsylvania's regime of foreign corporation registration conditioned on
acceptance of personal jurisdiction on all causes of action against it. For employers caught in
this bind, this decision strips away - but only in part - a due process defense. It is still an open
question (as forcefully put in Justice Alito's opinion) whether this compelled jurisdiction device
may constitutionally be imposed on out-of-state companies doing business in the state where
suit is brought.
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D. Arbitration.

This term's decisions include one significant procedural ruling that protects arbitration
proponents from the burden of parallel court proceedings while the parties fight over whether
their dispute is arbitrable. Although that decision arose outside the employment realm, its
holding is squarely applicable to employment disputes. Another non-employment case deals
with enforcement of a foreign arbitration award in a situation unlikely to affect employment
disputes. The case is briefly described here because of the Court's inclination to permit
American courts to protect the sanctity of arbitration awards generally. Based on these two
decisions, one can easily conclude that the Court's romance with arbitration continues apace.

Coinbase, Inc. v. Bielski, 599 U.S. ---, 143 S. Ct. --- (2023)

The Court held in a 5 to 4 decision that a district court must stay its proceedings
while an interlocutory appeal on the question of arbitrability is ongoing.

Abraham Bielski was a user of Coinbase, an online currency platform. The Coinbase
User Agreement he signed when opening his account provides for dispute resolution through
binding arbitration. Bielski filed a class action on behalf of Coinbase users alleging that
Coinbase had failed to replace funds fraudulently taken from the users' accounts. Coinbase
filed a motion to compel arbitration under its User Agreement. The district court denied the
motion, and Coinbase filed an interlocutory appeal to the Ninth Circuit under section 16(a) of
the Federal Arbitration Act ("FAA"), which authorizes such an appeal from the denial of a
motion to compel arbitration. Coinbase also moved the district court to stay its proceedings
pending resolution of the interlocutory appeal. The district court denied the stay motion, and
the Ninth Circuit likewise declined to stay the district court's proceedings pending appeal. The
Supreme Court granted Bielski's petition for certiorari.

The Court held in a 5 to 4 decision that a district court must stay its proceedings during
the pendency of an interlocutory appeal on the issue of arbitrability. Justice Kavanaugh's
majority opinion notes that the FAA does not say whether district court proceedings must be
stayed pending resolution of an interlocutory appeal. But, the interlocutory appeal provision
was enacted by Congress against a clear background principle based on Court precedent that
interlocutory appeals "divest" district courts of control over aspects of a case having to do with
such an appeal. Griggs v. Provident Consumer Discount Co., 459 U.S. 56 (1982) Declaring
that this Griggs principle resolves this case, Justice Kavanaugh concludes that Bielski's appeal
on whether this case belongs in arbitration or court necessarily involves the entire case and that
the district court must stay its proceedings while the appeal is ongoing.

Justice Kavanaugh explains that this common practice of staying proceedings during an
interlocutory appeal makes common sense by preserving the benefits of arbitration (e.g., less
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intrusive discovery, reduced expense and the like) and by not forcing settlements just to avoid
district court discovery and trial proceedings. The majority also points out that Congress has a
long-standing practice of not saying anything about staying proceedings when it enacts
interlocutory appeal provisions, except when it specifically provides by statute that stays are not
automatic in particular cases. Given this practice based on the Griggs rule, the absence of a
stay provision in the FAA is of no moment. Finally, the majority concludes that Bielski's other
arguments to overcome Griggs are unpersuasive, noting particularly that the result here does
not treat arbitration in a preferred way and that courts of appeals have robust means to prevent
unwarranted delay and deter frivolous interlocutory appeals.

The Court reversed the Ninth Circuit's judgment and remanded the case for further
proceedings consistent with this opinion. In doing so, the Court remarked that it anticipates
that on remand the Ninth Circuit "will proceed with appropriate expedition" in considering the
interlocutory appeal. In a footnote the Court also wrote that its judgment pertains only to
Abraham Bielski and that the writ of certiorari as to the other respondents is dismissed as
improvidently granted.

Justice Jackson, joined fully by Justices Sotomayor and Kagan and as to Parts II - IV by
Justice Thomas, dissented. The dissent expresses disagreement with the Court's imposing a
mandatory stay in place of the traditional discretionary approach. The dissent also criticizes the
Court's concluding that a dispute about one matter (arbitrability) bars district court proceedings
on other matters - such as the merits.

The only crack in the usually cohesive pro-business and pro-arbitration group of six
Justices is a somewhat odd and unexplained dissenting vote by Justice Thomas (who joined 3
of 5 sections in Justice Jackson's dissenting opinion. Absent a separate opinion by Justice
Thomas (who ordinarily is quick to pen his own views), his disagreement with the Court here
remains a bit of a mystery.

Notable in this case is a very pointed dissent by Justice Jackson. Along with her solo
dissent penned with a similar edge in Glacier Northwest, supra, her voice seems to be that of a
new outspoken challenger to the group of six, particularly in cases pitting powerful interests
against workers, consumers and others who believe they are being exploited.

Yegiazaryan, etc. v. Smagin, 599 U.S. ---, 143 S. Ct. --- (2023)
The Court held that a plaintiff alleges a ""domestic injury" for purposes of an
alleged RICO violation arising from confirmation of a foreign arbitration award when

the circumstances surrounding the injury indicate that it arose in the United States.

In briefest summary, Vitaly Smagin, a Russian resident, won an arbitration award in
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London of $84 million in 2014 against Ashot Yegiazaryan (who fled from Russia to a Beverly
Hills, CA mansion in 2010.) The award stemmed from Yegiazaryan's theft of Smagin's shares
in a joint real estate venture in Moscow. Smagin sued in a California federal court to confirm
and enforce the arbitration award. The district court froze Yegiazaryan's California assets,
entered judgment enforcing the award and enjoined him from preventing collection on the
judgment. In the meantime Yegiazaryan, assisted by a California law firm, obtained the
proceeds of a $198 million arbitration award he had won in an unrelated proceeding.
Yegiazaryan sought to avoid the freeze on his assets by concealing and encumbering the newly
obtained funds. Upon learning of the $198 million settlement in the course of Yegiazaryan's
California divorce case, Smagin sued Yegiazaryan under the Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt
Organizations Act ("RICO") for unlawfully frustrating collection of the California judgment
enforcing the original arbitration award. The district court, relying heavily on Smagin's Russian
residency, dismissed his complaint for failure to plead a "domestic injury" under RICO. The
Ninth Circuit reversed, concluding that the RICO injury to Smagin occurred in California.

The Supreme Court in a 6 to 3 decision affirmed the Ninth Circuit's judgment, holding
that for purposes of RICO a plaintiff alleges a domestic injury when the circumstances
surrounding the injury indicate it arose in the United States. Rejecting Yegiazaryan's argument
that Smagin's residency foreclosed his claim, the Court remanded the case for further
proceedings consistent with its opinion. Justice Alito, joined by Justice Thomas in full and
Justice Gorsuch in part, dissented. The dissent criticizes the Court's opinion as unhelpful and
concludes that the writ of certiorari should be dismissed as improvidently granted.

* * * *

The upshot of this decision for purposes here is that a London arbitration award on a
dispute between two Russian citizens about a Russian investment is ultimately determined to
injure the Russian proponent of the award because he sought to confirm and enforce it in
California (where his opponent had fled) and where he had to sue his opponent under RICO
for trying to frustrate collection on the award. Once again, the Court never paused to
question the sanctity of the arbitration itself - a positive signal to arbitration proponents.
Finally, as to this decision's applicability to employment, I suppose it is not out of the question,
given the strength of unions in Europe, that a foreign employment award requiring
enforcement against assets in the United States could result in a justiciable dispute here.

E. Sundry Decisions

The Court decided a False Claims Act ("FCA") dispute that essentially confirms the
Government's unfettered authority to control the prosecution of fraud allegations by
whistleblowing employees as relators in qui tam cases. In the course of doing so, at least three
Justices signaled that the entire qui tam regime may be constitutionally infirm. In a separate qui
tam decision beyond the scope of this article and thus not independently reviewed here, the
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Court ruled that the False Claims Act's scienter requirement refers to a respondents’ knowledge

and subjective beliefs and not to what an objectively reasonable person may have known or
believed. U.S. ex rel. Schutte v. Supervalu Inc., 598 U.S. ---, 143 S. Ct. --- (2023).

Also summarized in truncated fashion are a number of other decisions, including the
discharge of a community bank president by a supervising federal agency and a number of
other opinions that could ultimately affect the employment relationship in some way.

U.S. ex rel. Polansky v. Executive Health, etc., 599 U.S. ---, 143 S. Ct. --- (2023)

The Court held in an 8 to 1 decision that the Government may, after intervening at
any time, move to dismiss a False Claims Act (""FCA") qui tam action over the
relator's objection and that disposition of such a motion should be determined by
the rule generally governing voluntary dismissals.

Jesse Palansky is a doctor who worked for Executive Health Resources, Inc. ("EHR"), a
company that helped hospitals bill the United States for Medicare-covered services. In 2012
Polansky filed a qui tam action against EHR (under seal as the False Claims Act ["FCA"]
requires) alleging that it was enabling its clients to cheat the Government by charging inpatient
rates for what should have been outpatient services. The Government investigated Polansky's
evidence and declined to intervene during the period when the complaint was sealed. After
years of discovery the Government decided that the burdens of litigation outweighed the suit's
potential value, so it filed a motion to dismiss the action over Polansky's objection. The district
court granted the motion, and the Third Circuit affirmed, concluding first, that the Government
had effectively intervened by filing the motion and second, that F. R. Civ. P. 41(a) governing
voluntary dismissals in ordinary cases should govern disposition of the Government's
dismissal motion. The Supreme Court, recognizing circuit splits on both issues, granted
certiorari.

The Court decided 8 to 1 to affirm the Third Circuit's conclusions. Justice Kagan's
opinion for the Court first concludes that despite the relator's objections, the Government may
move to dismiss the case whether or not it has previously intervened. As to the second
question, Rule 41(a) governs disposition of the Government's dismissal motion. A notice of
dismissal will suffice if the defendant (EHR here) has not answered or filed a summary
judgment motion. Where, as in this case, the defendant has filed an answer, dismissal requires
a "court order, on terms that the court considers proper." F. R. Civ. P. 41(a)(2). Agreeing
with the district court that the suit would not vindicate the Government's interests, the
Government may prevail on its motion.

Justice Kavanaugh, joined by Justice Barrett filed a concurring statement joining the

Court's opinion in full, but agreeing with Justice Thomas' dissent that the Court should
consider whether the qui tam device is inconsistent with Article II of the Constitution because
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private relators cannot represent the interests of the United States in litigation.

Justice Thomas dissented, expressing the view that the FCA does not afford the
Government power to dismiss a pending qui tam action after it has declined to intervene. As
noted above, Justice Thomas would vacate the Third Circuit's judgment and remand for
consideration of the serious constitutional questions the defendant has raised about qui tam
suits.

Justice Kagan's opinion for the Court obscures to some extent the Government's
reasons for seeking dismissal of Polansky's qui tam action. Slip Opin., pp 6-7. As
summarized in a commentary when certiorari was granted, "[t]he government investigated
the matter for two years and declined to intervene, but expressly reserved the right to seek
dismissal later. In February 2019, the government declared its intent to seek dismissal but
chose not to do so after consulting with the parties. The government continued to evaluate the
matter and, in August 2019, moved to dismiss under [31 U.S.C.] §3730. The motion cited
“additional developments,” including protecting the government’s interests in responding to
discovery requests, doubts about Polansky’s ability to prove an FCA violation; and litigation
conduct for which the district court had sanctioned Polansky." D. Schweitzer, Nat. Ass'n of
Attorneys General, accessed on July 14, 2023 at www.naag.org/attorney-general-journal/
supreme-court-report-united-states-ex-rel-polansky-v-executive-health-resources-
inc-21-1052/. In terms of the Government's rationale for seeking dismissal, therefore, after
more than two years of oversight and assessment, the prospect of burdensome discovery and
uncertainty about Polansky's ability to prevail seems objectively supportive of dismissal.

Justice Kagan' majority opinion clearly establishes that the Government may seek
dismissal of a qui tam action over the objection of the relator - whether or not the Government
has previously intervened. Only Justice Thomas contests that conclusion. And, there is
likewise agreement by the entire majority that the standards of Rule 41(a)(2) will govern a
district court's disposition of such motions. The true underlying fracture among the Justices is
that Justices Thomas, Kavanaugh and Barrett agree that the very existence of the qui tam
device for an FCA action may well be unconstitutional. That's because Article II of the
Constitution vests execution of the laws in the Executive Branch, not in the hands of a private
relator. Whether a fourth Justice will join to grant a petition for certiorari on this important
aspect of FCA litigation leaves the qui tam device in jeopardy for the time being. As for Dr.
Polansky, his prospect of recovering a share of his employer's alleged ill-gotten gain does not
look promising.

Calcutt v. Fed. Deposit Ins. Corp., 598 U.S. ---, 143 S. Ct. 1317 (2023)

The Court unanimously held per curiam that a reviewing court that determined
the FDIC had applied the wrong standards in an enforcement proceeding
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is required to remand the case to the FDIC instead of reviewing the record and
deciding the case on its own.

Harry C. Calcutt, I1I was the CEO of a Michigan-based community bank. The Federal
Deposit Insurance Corporation ("FDIC"), which insures bank deposits and superintends
community banks, brought an enforcement action against Calcutt for mismanaging a $38
million loan relationship with the bank's largest borrower that ultimately resulted in a default.
After an administrative investigation involving Calcutt and other bank officials, an evidentiary
hearing before an FDIC administrative law judge and review by the FDIC Board, the agency
issued a final decision ordering that Calcutt be removed from office, prohibited from further
banking activities and assessed civil penalties of $125,000. Calcutt sought review of the
agency decision in the Sixth Circuit. That court determined that the FDIC had made two legal
errors in adjudicating Calcutt's case. Instead of remanding the case back to the FDIC, however,
the Sixth Circuit concluded that remand would be wasteful and conducted its own review of the
record. It found that, despite the agency's errors, substantial evidence supported the FDIC's
decision to discharge Calcutt and impose injunctive and monetary penalties on him.

The Supreme Court granted certiorari and, without briefing and argument, ruled per
curiam that SEC v. Chenery Corp., 318 U.S. 80 (1943) and its progeny required the Sixth
Circuit to remand the case to the FDIC after determining that the agency had misapplied the
applicable law to the claims against Calcutt. In short, the Supreme Court reasoned that, absent
exceptional circumstances, remand is necessary to determine on a proper basis whether Calcutt
should be sanctioned and, if so, to what extent. And, the Court remarked that here the FDIC
should not be denied the flexibility in addressing issues in the banking sector, as Congress has
allowed. Accordingly, the Court reversed the Sixth Circuit's judgment and remanded for
further proceedings consistent with the Court's opinion.

* * * *

Whether Calcutt should have been removed and sanctioned for failing to manage the
complicated loan portfolio of his bank's biggest borrower in the wake of the Great Recession
of 2007-2009 is a discretionary judgment Congress has committed to agency determination.
The Court's embrace of this principle dictated its treatment of the Sixth Circuit's error in
summary fashion. For purposes here, a comparison of the protection afforded Calcutt with
the typical employment of CEO's at the will of their employers is informative. In a highly
regulated industry like banking other people's money, additional oversight of management is
what the Court believes Congress intended. Of course, that oversight has more to do with
protection of the public than fairness to employees like Harry Calcutt.

Arellano v. McDonough, Secretary etc., 598 U.S. 1, 143 S. Ct. 543 (2023)

The Court unanimously held that the effective date of a veteran's claim for
disability compensation is not subject to equitable tolling.
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Adolfo Arellano served in the Navy from 1977 to 1981, when he was honorably
discharged. Thirty years later, on June 3, 2011, the Veterans Administration ("VA") received
Arellano's application for disability compensation based on his psychiatric disorders resulting
from trauma he suffered on an aircraft carrier that collided with another ship. The VA regional
office granted benefits from service-connected disabilities effective on the 2011 date. Arellano
appealed to the Board of Veterans' Appeals, arguing that because he had been too ill to know
about these benefits, the regional office should have equitably tolled their effective date to make
the award run from the day after his discharge or, at the latest, January 1, 1982. The Board
denied the appeal, and the Court of Appeals for Veterans' Claims affirmed. The Federal
Circuit, en ban, affirmed, though it split on whether equitable tolling was or should be available
for disability claims.

The Supreme Court granted Arellano's petition for certiorari and affirmed the Federal
Circuit's judgment, holding in an opinion by Justice Barrett that disability claims under 38
U.S.C. 5110(b)(1) are not subject to equitable tolling. The Court's unanimous opinion reasons
that when Congress said that an award's effective date shall not be earlier than the date of filing,
it foreclosed an earlier date for Arellano's claim, as his claim did not fit within any of the stated
exceptions to the default rule of section 5110(a) that an effective date shall not be earlier than
the date of receipt of an application. Ruling that the limited exception in section 5110(b)(1) is
not a simple time limit subject to equitable tolling, the Court concluded that Congress did not
intend that Arellano's claim could be equitably tolled consistent with the statute's text and
structure.

There is little to say about the Court's unanimous, clear and unequivocal construction of
the Veterans disability statute. While Arellano's personal circumstances appear to support an
equitable way to allow his claim because of his psychiatric condition, the Court simply finds
that Congress said in the statute that such an exception was not included among all the other
exceptions to the one-year filing rule. In its most favorable light, perhaps Justice Barrett's
opinion is an invitation for Congress to amend the law so others like Arellano will not be
excluded from coverage.

Health and Hosp. Corp., etc. v. Talevski, 599 U.S. ---, 143 S. Ct. --- (2023)

The Court held in a 7 to 2 decision that the Federal Nursing Home Reform Act
("FNHRA") creates a private right of enforcement under 42 U.S.C. 1983.

This care and discharge dispute under the Federal Nursing Home reform Act between a

county-owned nursing home and one of its residents with dementia has no relationship to
employment law and its facts will not be recounted here. The Court's decision is included here
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solely because the holding is based partly on rejection of an argument that statutes enacted
pursuant to the Constitution's Spending Clause cannot be enforced by means of a private action
under 42 U.S.C. 1983. To the extent, therefore, that Congress enacts any employment-related
statutes pursuant to the Spending Clause, this decision assures that rights under those statutes
may be enforced by a private action under Section 1983.

Justice Jackson's opinion for the majority concludes that the nursing home legislation
here unambiguously confers individual rights on nursing home residents without any intent to
preclude their private enforcement under section 1983. Justice Gorsuch filed a concurring
statement agreeing with the Court's disposition, but noting that the constitutionality of Spending
Clause legislation's application to the States is an issue "lurking" here to be resolved "another
day." Justice Barrett's concurring opinion, joined by the Chief Justice, restates the majority's
reasoning in different terms and expresses the view that courts "must tread carefully before
concluding that Spending Clause statutes may be enforced through section 1983." Justice
Thomas dissented in an opinion declaring that Spending Clause legislation does not "secure"
rights by "law" within the meaning of section 1983. Justice Alito dissented in an opinion
concluding that the remedial scheme of the nursing home legislation here forecloses
enforcement under section 1983.

As noted above, the importance of this case in the employment realm relates to Spending
Clause statutes such as Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972 prohibiting sex
discrimination in schools and the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 prohibiting disability
discrimination. At least for the time being, a majority of the Court supports the notion that
legislation based on the Constitution's Spending Clause can be enforced by a private right of
action under 42 U.S.C. 1983, if the statute unambiguously confers private rights without any
indication of precluding that enforcement.

Axon Enterprise, Inc. v. Fed. Trade Comm., 598 U.S. ---, 143 S. Ct. 890 (2023)

The Court unanimously held that claims arising under 28 U.S.C. 1331 to
challenge a federal agency's structure in district court are not displaced by the
agency's special statutory review scheme.

Axon Enterprise, Inc. and Michelle Cochran were respondents in enforcement actions
brought by the Federal Trade Commission ("FTC") and Securities and Exchange Commission
("SEC") respectively. Each filed suit in district court challenging the constitutionality of the
agency proceeding against them. These suits sought to enjoin determinations by each agency's
own internal administrative proceedings typically involving ALJ decisions followed by federal
court review. Axon and Cochran premised their suits on the district court's ordinary authority
to resolve civil actions arising under the Constitution or laws of the United States as provided
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in 28 U.S.C. 1331.

The district courts dismissed both suits, concluding that each agency's administrative
review scheme displaced district court jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. 1331 over the plaintiff's
claims against the agency. The Ninth Circuit affirmed the district court's ruling in Axon's case
against the FTC, but the Fifth Circuit, en banc, found that Cochrane's claim against the SEC
could proceed because it fell outside the agency's expertise, was wholly collateral to the SEC's
review scheme and would not receive meaningful judicial review on appeal. The Supreme
Court granted certiorari in both cases and ruled unanimously that neither the FTC's nor the
SEC's administrative review scheme displaced a district court's federal question jurisdiction
over claims challenging the agencies' structure or existence.

Justice Kagan's opinion for the Court recognized that Congress may substitute an
alternate review regime for claims against a federal agency and that the Court has permitted
displacement of district court jurisdiction on occasion. In these cases, however, the Court
concluded that Axon's and Cochran's claims were not of the sort that should be subject to
review within the agency. Justice Thomas' separate concurrence agreed that the Court's ruling
was correct, but expressed at length his "grave doubts" about the Constitutional propriety of
vesting administrative agencies with authority to adjudicate private rights subject only to
deferential judicial review. Justice Gorsuch likewise filed a separate concurrence agreeing with
the Court's judgment, but declaring that the grant of district court jurisdiction in 28 U.S.C. 1331
expresses Congress' desire to afford Axon and Cochran an opportunity for a federal court to
determine their claims.

The Court's unanimous decision to bypass federal agency determination of private
claims in favor of federal district courts appears limitless as to its coverage of federal
agencies. What that means as a practical matter is that claims by employees or employers
against federal agencies administering employment statutes (e.g., EEOC, NLRB, OSHA and
the DOL's Wage and Hour Division) may avoid the vagaries and expense of administrative
litigation and go directly to federal court to seek relief. Especially to the extent that challenges
to agency authority at the Board, the EEOC or the Wage and Hour Division may seem
attractive to owners, management, labor or other stakeholders, be on the lookout for these
challenges in federal court in the near term. And, needless to say, this decision certainly
provides a clearer path for those wishing to challenge the administrative state.
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II. Grants of Certiorari for the October 2023 Term

At the time this article was prepared in July of 2023, the Court had granted review in just
24 cases yielding 22 arguments because of two consolidations.

Muldrow v. City of St. Louis, MO
No. 22-193

The question presented is: Does Title VII prohibit discrimination in transfer decisions
absent a separate court determination that the transfer decision caused a significant
disadvantage?

Jatonya Muldrow, a sergeant with the St. Louis, MO police department sued her
employer, alleging sex discrimination when she was involuntarily transferred from the
Intelligence Division to a patrol position because her supervisor wanted to hire a man for her
job. The Eighth Circuit ruled against Muldrow, reasoning that her transfer had not resulted in
any significant employment disadvantage for her. The Supreme Court's grant of certiorari was
limited by the Court to the Title VII question as phrased above.

The case is not yet scheduled for oral argument.

Murray v. UBS Securities, LL.C
No. 22-660

The question presented is: Under the burden-shifting framework that governs [The]
Sarbanes-Oxley [Act of 2002] cases, must a whistleblower prove his employer acted with a
"retaliatory intent" as part of his case in chief, or is the lack of "retaliatory intent" part of the
affirmative defense on which the employer bears the burden of proof?

Trevor Murray was hired by UBS Securities, LLC in April of 2011 as its sole research
strategist servicing its commercial mortgage-backed securities line of business. He was fired
after he complained that he had been pressured to skew his research and reporting contrary to
SEC regulations. Murray filed a whistleblower complaint with the Department of Labor
alleging that his termination violated the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, and when the Department failed
to act, he sued in district court. Upon trial of the case, the jury ruled for Murray and awarded
back pay and compensatory damages. The district court upheld the verdict. On appeal, the
Second Circuit reversed, holding that Murray failed to prove Sarbanes-Oxley discrimination by
showing that UBS had "retaliatory intent" in firing him. The Supreme Court granted certiorari
in light of a circuit conflict.

This case is scheduled for oral argument on October 10, 2023.
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LindKke v. Freed
No. 22-611

The question presented is: Whether a public official's social media activity can constitute
state action only if the official used the account to perform a governmental duty or under the
authority of his or her office.

James Freed became City Manager of Port Huron, MI in 2014, serving as the chief
administrative officer of the City. Freed connected with many of his constituents through
Facebook, a social media platform. He maintained a publicly accessible "page" where he
posted information, including comments about the COVID-19 pandemic. Kevin Lindke, a Port
Huron resident, posted critical comments on Freed's page, and Freed blocked Lindke's accounts
and deleted Lindke's comments. Lindke sued Freed under 42 U.S.C. 1983, alleging that Freed
had violated the First Amendment by blocking his accounts. The district court granted
summary judgment for Freed, concluding that this Facebook activity was not state action. The
Sixth Circuit affirmed, explaining that Freed's actions were not taken under color of law
because they were neither in pursuit of Freed's duties nor his authority under state law. The
Supreme Court granted Lindke's petition for certiorari.

This case has not yet been scheduled for oral argument.

Acheson Hotels, LLC v. Laufer
No. 22-429

The question presented is: Does a self-appointed Americans with Disabilities Act
"tester" have Article III standing to challenge a place of public accommodation's failure to
provide disability accessibility information on its website, even if she lacks any intention of
visiting that place?

Deborah Laufer, a Florida resident, uses a wheelchair and qualifies as "disabled" under
the ADA. A self-proclaimed ADA "tester," Laufer uses the internet to find hotels that do not,
in her view, provide sufficient information about ADA accessibility. Since 2018 she has filed
more than 600 suits, generally targeting small businesses and independent hotels. On
September 24, 2020 Laufer filed seven suits in Maine federal court, one of which was against
Acheson Hotels, LLC, the owner-operator of Coast Village Inn and Cottages in Wells, ME.
Her suit alleged that Acheson's facility violated a regulatory rule requiring hotels to furnish
enough information for disabled individuals to determine accessibility to meet their needs. The
district court dismissed Laufer's suit because, as a "tester" she lacked any plausible injury that
is concrete and imminent. The First Circuit reversed, concluding that Laufer had standing as a
website "tester" to sue to enforce the regulatory rule. The Supreme Court granted Acheson

50



Hotels' petition for certiorari.

In light of what has been written about the gay couple who allegedly wanted to purchase
one of Lorie Smith's wedding website designs in the 303 Creative LLC case, supra, the
question of tester standing may take on particular significance as to the enduring quality of the
Court's decision in Lorie Smith's case.

This case is scheduled for oral argument on October 4, 2023.

Loper Bright Enterprises v. Raimondo
No. 22-451

The question presented is: Whether the Court should overrule Chevron U.S.A., Inc. v.
Natural Resources Defense Council, Inc., 467 U.S. 837 (1984). or at least clarify that statutory
silence concerning controversial powers expressly but narrowly granted elsewhere in the
Magnuson-Stevens Act does not constitute an ambiguity requiring deference to the agency?

The Magnuson-Stevens Act governs fishery management in federal waters and provides
that the National Marine Fisheries Service ("NMFS") may require vessels to carry federal
observers and pay all or portions of their salaries in certain circumstances. Loper Bright
Enterprises and three other family-owned herring fishing vessel operators sued the Secretary of
Commerce and others to set aside industry-funded monitoring in the Atlantic herring fishery.
The district court granted defendant NMFS' motion for summary judgment, concluding that its
analysis is governed by Chevron, U.S.A., Inc. v. Nat. Res. Def. Council, 467 U.S. 837 (1984),
which requires a deferential review of the paid monitoring requirement. The D.C. Circuit
affirmed based on the Chevron framework. The Supreme Court granted the fisheries' petition
for certiorari.

During the pendency of this case Justice Gorsuch dissented from a denial of certiorari in
another case and expressed the hope that the Court would abandon the Chevron doctrine.
Buffington v. McDonough, 598 U.S. ---, 143 S. Ct. --- (2023). If the Court were to overrule
Chevron in Loper Bright, its decision could have a transformational impact on how
employment laws administered by the EEOC, NLRB, OSHA and the Wage and Hour Division
of DOL are applied. Employers have argued for years that deference to these agencies on
application of employment statutes in the workplace has been one-sided and overly solicitous
of employees (such as recent attempts by the Board and the FTC to nullify non-compete and
no-poach agreements. The Court will decide this case with eight Justices, as Justice Jackson is
recused because of her prior service on the D.C. Circuit.

This case is not yet scheduled for oral argument.
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III. Concluding Observations

At the risk of sounding gossipy, let me say a few words about some of the individual
Justices. Most intriguing, perhaps, is the work of Justice Jackson in her first term on the
Court. Her assertive writing certainly provided some entertaining and thoughtful interaction
with her colleagues. Indeed, the lone dissent by Justice Jackson in Glacier Northwest, Inc. v.
Teamsters Local No. 174, supra, is a prime example of her singular approach to judging. Her
thorough disagreement with every other member of the Court about the central role of pre-
emption in enforcing the NLRA as Congress intended looked like the hallmark of a mature
jurist, not a brand new Justice. Apparently, Justice Jackson is also a frequent and persistent
questioner at oral argument. The consequences of Justice Jackson's spirited judicial manner are
also notable. For instance, the repartee between Justice Jackson and Justice Thomas in their
separate opinions in the college admissions affirmative action decision has been widely
reported as a remarkable confrontation between two minority Justices who approach racial
issues from quite differing angles. Given Justice Thomas' employment law background and
Justice Jackson's fearless approach to addressing issues, more back-and-forth between those
two Justices on labor and employment issues may be on the horizon.

Other Justices's opinions were revealing in like fashion. Most notably, the Chief Justice
and Justices Kavanaugh and Barrett voted (thankfully and correctly in my view) with Justices
Sotomayor, Kagan and Jackson to reject the so-called Independent State Legislatures doctrine
when applying the Elections Clause of the Constitution. Moore v. Harper, supra, p. 2. In
several other cases some of the six-Justice conservative bloc declined to join opinions of
Justices Thomas, Alito and Gorsuch (or vice versa.) In particular, Justice Barrett has
demonstrated a ready willingness to express herself in a commendably independent fashion.
E.g., Glacier Northwest, Inc. v. Teamsters Local No. 174, supra, p. 4; Mallory v. Norfolk
Southern Railway Co., supra, p. 20. It will be interesting to observe whether her work with
three other women on the Court will affect her views about employment issues affecting
women. Finally, a quick aside: Before concluding that the six so-called "conservative"
Justices are abandoning the cohesion that has empowered them, remember that this bloc may be
more likely to stand together on labor and employment issues because of their long-term
adherence to the laissez-faire agenda of the business community.

Looking briefly at employment law itself, the Court's pursuit of deregulation of fair
employment laws over the last two decades has captured the attention of many observers, yours
truly included. E.g., J. Harkavy, Deregulating Equal Employment Opportunity (July 12,
2011). (Access at SSRN: https://ssrn.com/abstract=1885186) Now, however, with an
ambitious six-Justice majority comfortable in its third term together, there is a discernible shift
away from mere deregulation to a more audacious attempt to disempower the administrative
state more thoroughly. The recent grant of certiorari in a case seeking to overrule the Chevron
doctrine certainly looks like a pivot from deregulation to disesmpowerment. See, Loper Bright
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Enterprises v. Raimondo, supra, section II. One unspoken caution: Politically speaking, bold
moves against the administrative state may look attractive to a party not in charge of the
Executive Branch right now. Yet, given the vagaries of politics, one has to wonder whether that
1s a winning strategy for a party trying to retake the Presidency (and the consequent authority to
shape the administrative state.)

Without harping more on the First Amendment opinions of several of the six Justices in
the conservative majority, I feel the need to reflect on that majority's overt push to support
public religious exercise in spite of the increasingly secular views of a larger part of the
population. Witness not only this term's landmark case of 303 Creative LLC v. Elenis, supra,
p. 13, but also some Justices' opinions on denials of certiorari in Kincaid v. Williams and City
of Ocala, Florida v. Rojas, supra. My concern is that the creep toward Christian nationalism
seems so insistent on the part of Justices Alito, Thomas and Gorsuch that capturing two
additional votes to establish a sectarian United States - in total disregard of our Constitution and
history - is a frightening prospect, and certainly one that religious minorities should rightly fear.
Perhaps our best hope for individual autonomy lies with citizens themselves instead of Justices:
That is, one hopes that thoughtful employers, unions and employees alike will desist from
religious exercise where it does not belong, while feeling free to practice their faith and pursue
their beliefs in the appropriate places and manner.

Finally, one more critical takeaway from the 2022-2023 term: Elections matter!

So many of this term's decisions, some outside the employment area, painted in bold
relief the profound jurisprudential differences that determined outcomes. Bear in mind that in
the employment area these "outcomes" affect the lives of employees and their families, as well
as the prospects for businesses and their owners. For anyone interested in changing those
outcomes to achieve more just and equitable workplaces in a more productive economy, the
composition of the Court is central to that quest. That is why elections matter when it comes to
who serves on the Supreme Court and gets to make the decisions that count.

Thank you, readers. Stay well and stay engaged as observers of the Supreme Court's
important work.

Jonathan R. Harkavy
July 29, 2023
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Investigations 102: The Importance
of Workplace Investigations in
Employment Litigation
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Agenda

> Understanding the “Why” of Investigations
> So, You're Investigating the Boss...

o “Oh @#S%” Moments in Investigations

o Parallel Investigations: The Federales Knock
o Questions



Understanding the
“Why” of Investigations




Every Employment Case Requires Some
Level of Investigation

“My pay isn’t right.”

“I’'m being treated differently.”
“This isn’t fair. Why wasn’t | promoted?”
“I need to take some time off.”

“I found these union authorization cards on the shop floor.
What should | do with them?”

“There’s been an accident...”



Discover facts

=Witnhesses

= Documents

= Policies and Procedures

" Emails and Text Messages
= Journals or Diaries

= Calendars

= Computer files
= Maps



Find Evidence

- Job descriptions

- Policies and procedures

- Applicant tracking information

- Payroll records

- Benefit summary plan descriptions
- Emails and text messages

- Calendar entries and meeting invites



Reveal Issues or Problems
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Avoid Liability; Gain the Court’s Trust

Plaintiff supervisor (over 60) was terminated for combative behavior

and profane language toward a younger subordinate after failing to
complete an assigned task.

= During an investigation, the employee who was yelled would not
confirm or deny the allegations

= The supervisor denied the incident occurred stating he would
never use profanity with a subordinate.

Fortunately, the investigator did not stop there.



Avoid Liability; Gain the Court’s Trust

The investigator talked to three witnesses that were bystanders. The
witnesses provided a consistent version of events in separate
interviews. Each confirmed the supervisor yelled at the employee
and used profanity.

The Sixth Circuit upheld the trial court’s dismissal on summary
judgment of the supervisor’s age discrimination claim based the
investigation. The court relied on the “honest belief rule” to counter
the supervisor’s statement that the employer’s reason for his
termination was false.



Tell Your Client’s Story

" Prompt response

=" Thorough investigation

= Well documented

= Appropriate and proportionate action
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santee cooper

S0, You're Investigating the Boss...
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No Respecter of Persons P

= Does it really matter who is the subject of the investigation?
— Headline risk

— Increased company exposure
* Pervasiveness and culture issues

— Appearance of bias/pressure to avoid the appearance of bias

= Does it really matter who performs the investigation?
— Practically NOBODY wants to investigate their executive

— Someone who affirmatively wants to investigate their executive is a red
flag

— This will not be your typical investigation
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But You Are Going to Do it santee cooper

= First things first
— What's the anticipated scope
— Who are the likely witnesses
— Who is the designated decision maker

= An external investigator will almost always be the prudent
approach

= The external investigator should be someone other than the
attorney who will be making findings to the decision maker



S

. . Eantee cooper
The Investigation P

= Select an investigator with experience investigating complaints
against executives

— Witnesses will be particularly hesitant to come forward
— Separate the wheat from the chaff
— Facts and observations ONLY

= |f your client is a publicly traded company some level of
disclosure may become necessary

— Either because of the results of the investigation or in response to leaks

— ESG guidelines won’t necessarily require disclosure, but failure to
disclose will likely impact market credibility
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Conclusion Eantee cooper

= Best practices
— Know your expected risks from the outset
— ldentify and establish communication protocols with the decision maker
— Call in external assistance as soon as possible
— Quarantine, quarantine, quarantine
— It's never too early to begin thinking about crisis management
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“Oh @#S%” Moments in
Investigations (DMH)
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A Quick Disclaimer

Things can go sideways regardless of which
side you represent.




When the Plaintiff is Still Employed

The goal is to resolve, and avoid adding to, the dispute, but there can
be complications:

= Strained relationships across the board
= Managers
= Co-workers/peers

= Supervisor’s reluctance to be perceived as retaliatory

" “I’'m bulletproof” attitude
= Resolving the litigation — and what happens after



When the Plaintiff is a “Star” or an
Executive

= A top salesperson or “rainmaker”
*= The EVP

= The Production Manager

= The IT Pro

= The Assistant General Counsel

= Chief Compliance Officer



When the Plaintiff has Your Documents —
and You Didn’t Know It

After receiving Plaintiff’s written discovery responses,
Defendant employer (a health care provider) discovered for
the first time that Plaintiff had printed and removed
confidential, medical records maintained by Defendant
from one of the facilities that Defendant served on
violation of Defendant’s policies.



When the Plaintiff has Your Documents

Defendant notified Plaintiff’s counsel about this issue,
requested that Plaintiff return these documents - and
terminated him. Defendant then moved to exclude the
documents from being used in the case.




When the Plaintiff has Your Documents

The Court (USDC for the Northern District of Georgia) held an
evidentiary hearing.

Plaintiff did not appear at the hearing to testify as to the falsity of
these documents, nor did he present any witnesses.

During the evidentiary hearing, Plaintiff’s attorney stated:

“We didn’t file a response [to Defendant’s motion] because to the
extent that the allegation is that the records at issue are confidential
patient records, there is not really a defense to that. .. We don’t
really disagree with excluding confidential patient records.



When the Plaintiff has Your Documents

The Court’s Order:

The Court hereby GRANTS Defendant’s motion and PROHIBITS
Plaintiff from using, disclosing, or retaining, in any form, those
medical records which Plaintiff obtained without permission.
Specifically, Plaintiff may not refer to, disclose, or retain those
records comprising Defendant’s sealed Exhibit 1, and Plaintiff’s email
attachments. Further, Plaintiff is ORDERED within ten (10) days of
this order to remit any and all forms of these documents to counsel
for Defendant




When the Plaintiff has Your Documents

At his deposition, Plaintiff admitted that he took the medical records
from the Jail to support his claims and disclosed them to his
attorney, the EEOC, and Defendant’s counsel.

He also admitted that he had received training on the confidentiality
of such records.

Plaintiff attempted to redact the patient names, signatures, birth
dates, and jail booking numbers for these records but did so
improperly, such that much of the information was still visible.



When the Defendant’s Key Witness...

" Leaves the Company (and South Carolina).

= Was fired and hates your client.

= |s still employed and hates your client.
" |s Too Busy.

" |s Not Engaged.

" |s Too Engaged.

" Has a “Past.”




When the Defendant’s Key Witness...

Says exactly what you need — and you don’t

believe him or her.




When the Defendant’s Witnhess Says...

o

don’t want to be involved.”

.ll

want a lawyer.”

.Il

don’t remember”

.Il

threw that away.”

= The exact opposite of what he/she told your client
earlier.

" The exact opposite of what you had hoped.
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santee cooper

Parallel Investigations: The Federales Knock
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Eantee cooper
The Scene P

Your good client Susan Barron, Chairman and CEO of Barron
Environmental, has just called you in a frenzy. Some months ago,
Ms. Barron received an EEOC complaint alleging gender
discrimination and retaliation at her largest facility. However, unlike
with claims in the past, it appears the EEOC plans to conduct onsite
Interviews for those who are willing to participate.

Ms. Barron would like to retain you to represent BE. You accept the
engagement and notify the identified investigator of your
representation. The investigator advises you he has several
employees he intends to contact and he will be begin conducting
Interviews on Tuesday (four days from now).
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Eantee cooper
Now what? P

= The Obvious

— Review the complaint and response
— Review the client’s investigation efforts thus far

= For Discussion
— Can you interview the complainant?
— Should you interview the complainant?

= Must Dos

— Conduct your standard investigation
» Well...sorta, kinda

86



S

. Eantee cooper
Delicate Toes P

= Employee obligations to cooperate

— Most employers have some policy on employee cooperation with
Investigations

« But complainants will always require kid gloves and extra precautions

— In a world where there are parallel investigations some concessions may
need to be made

» Perhaps coordinate with EEOC on timing of interviews if the employee is willing to
speak to both investigators

* |t's a good practice to cooperate with EEOC investigator

— This does NOT mean handing over the employer’'s information simply
because you obtained it as a part of your investigation

87



S

. . . Eantee cooper
Communication is Key P

= The easiest lawsuit to defend is the one that doesn’t get filed

— While you shouldn’t hand over your files to the EEOC’s investigator there
may be situations when some additional disclosure is advantageous

— The EEOC is charged with impartially seeking facts surrounding the
allegations. Its job is not that of a prosecutor/solicitor

= |t's never too late to mediate

— If your investigation is indicating some wrongdoing by your client or there
IS otherwise an increased risk of an adverse finding, have that
conversation with your client early on

— It is not necessary to wait until the conclusion of the EEOC'’s
Investigation to move forward with conciliation
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Conclusion antee cooper’

= Best practices
— Cooperate with the EEOC to extent possible

— You are the master of your investigation, and the EEOC is the master of
Its Investigation

— Be mindful of your surroundings when interviewing witnesses
— Take note of your exit points

89



Questions?




South Carolina Bar
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Mental Health Awareness for the
Employment Law Practitioner
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10/12/2023

Mental Health Awareness
for the Employment Law April Harris-Britt, PhD
Practitioner Licensed Psychologist

NC/SC Labor & Employment Law
Conference, Oct. 27-28, Charleston, SC

Goals

* Understand how worker burnout is related to stress and a
lack of mental wellness

* Understand how systematic pandemic stressors impact
workers’ mental health and burnout

* Recognize the stressors that impact employment attorneys’
mental health

* Develop strategies to support and deescalate clients
* [dentify strategies for personal mental and physical wellness
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Worker Mental
Wellness and
Burnout

Five Essentials Centered on the worker voice and equity, these five Essentials

support workplaces as engines of well-being. Each Essential is

for Workplace grounded in two human needs, shared across industries and roles.

Mental Health
& Well-Being

Office of the

U.S. Surgeon General

Protection
from Harm

——\
Leamlng/l

Opportunity
for Growth

Centered on
<]

Worker Voice
and Equity

Accomplishment

Work-Life
Harmony

Mattering
at Work

@

“odo
Tao”

Social Support

Connection
& Community

Belonging

Flexibility
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Occupational Stress: Relationship to Well-Being

 Paradoxical Effect of Challenge

* Both individual and workplace factors contribute to stress
response

* Dysfunctional stress responses are more significantly related
to organizational than individual factors

Definition of Relevant Terms

e Worker Burnout

* Three core dimensions include emotional exhaustion, cognitive
distancing (i.e., depersonalization or cynicism), and reduced personal
accomplishment

* Toxic Workplace

* Commonly involves “a sense of fear” in the workplace, which can stem
from a wide variety of variables

* Mental Health

* “a state of well-being in which every individual realizes his or her own
potential, can cope with the normal stresses of life, can work productively
and fruitfull , and is able to make a contribution to her or his
community.” (WHO, 2022)
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Stress and the
COVID-19
Pandemic

When faced with
unprecedented environmental
threats of harm, how does
the mind and body react?

Threat Characteristics of Pandemic

* Perceptions of threat to ourselves or loved ones

* Experiencing loss

* Witnessing or knowledge about trauma to others

* Trauma is an individual’s response to a deeply
distressing or disturbing experience that overwhelms

their ability to cope.
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In the midst of uncertainty, anxiety, and fear...

* Activation of Fight, Flight, Freeze, or Fawn response

* Some people become more irritable and confrontational

* Some people may be more apt to feel hypervigilant or
anxious even if they never have before.

* Some people cope through escapism or avoidance of
responsibilities, tasks, and pressure

* The fawn response involves immediately moving to try to
please a person to avoid any conflict. People pleasing!

In the midst of uncertainty, anxiety, and fear...

* Activation of Fight, Flight, Freeze, or Fawn response
* Parts of our brain have shut down in order for us to survive

* Feeling somewhat numb and out of touch with our
emotions can be normal

* Others may feel hopeless, become withdrawn, or feel
depressed

There is no “right or wrong” way to feel.

10
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Prefrontal cortex

Decision making, working memory,
self regulatory behaviors: mood, impulses

Helps shut off the stress response

Hippocampus

The Human Brain Under Stress
Three Key Brain Areas Under Investigation

Hippocampus
Memory of daily events; spatial
memory; mood regulation

Helps shut off stress response

Amygdala
Anxiety, fear;
aggression

Turns on stress hormones and
increases heart rate

11

Headache

Our Body Under Stress

Depression

Pounding
Heart

e
» Rapid
Breathing
High Blood

Pressure

J I Ir[the
Liver @
Heartburn 3
@

12
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The Effects of Social Isolation

* Physiological Impacts * Psychological Impacts
* Increased Stress Hormones * Increased risk for depression,
* Neurochemical changes anxiety, and other symptoms
« Brain changes * Increased risk for substance

e Chronic health conditions

Systemic
Pandemic
Impacts
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| COVID-19 Ecological Systems Model

COVID-19 Pandemic | Ch ron osyste m
Public Heal&gg:;fs for COVID StreSSO rS
Limited Commu.nitv |Macr05y5tem
a5 Healthcare Services i 5 \ Str‘esso rs
Social . . ecession
Values AP \ [Exosystem
den At cowres\| Vst Stressors
& School Remote NV, gacklogged |M - t
B [ icrosystem

Closures Work
& Job Loss
Religious StFESSO rS
Service
Virtual PCP Disruption

Friend, Neighbor, & Coworker
Isolation/Conflict

Political
Upheaval

Limited Mental
Health Services

Extended Family
Isolation/Conflicts

Disruption of Customary Practices

15

Macrosystem Stressors that Impact Workers

* Public Health Mitigation Policies

* Political Upheaval
e Economic Inflation and Recession

* Increased Social Divisiveness
* Conflicting values about COVID-19 federal and local government mitigation

policies, vaccines, social distancing, business closures, political ideologies, etc.
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Exo/Microsystem Stressors that Impact
Workers

* Business Closures, Disruptions, and Restructuring
* Unemployment and Underemployment

* Remote Work
* |solation and Conflicts with Coworkers

* School and Childcare Closures
* Increased Parenting Stress

* Shortage of Mental Health Providers

17
Systemic Pandemic Factors Impacting
Oppressed and Disadvantaged Groups
Police & Political Racial Violence di
Systematic Oppression Citizen Killings Movements & & Increased RMa!sT_IIYIe 'a
of Minorities Divisiveness Discrimination aclal frauma
Blighted and Limited COVID-19 Job Loss &
High Crime Healthcare Morbidity &
" s Underemployment
Communities Resources Mortality
18
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Pandemic Impact Mental Health: US Adults

* Increased rates of depression, anxiety, & posttraumatic stress

* 22.8% (57.8 million US adults) with any past-year mental illness, highest rate in
young adults (33.7%; SAMHSA, 2023)

* Increased alcohol and substance abuse

* Nearly half of young adults aged 18 to 25 (45.8% or 15.3 million people) had
either a substance use disorder or any mental illness (SAMHSA, 2023)

* Worsened preexisting conditions
* Widened disparity gaps

Mental

Mental health challenges are Mental health challenges are
near-universal. increasingly the norm.
o reported experiencing at least o of symptoms cumulatively lasted
one symptom of a mental health five months to an entire year.
o condition in the past year. O 80% lasted one month or longer.
201 0% e
Burnout Depression Anxiety
56% 46% 40% lioin [ 4msen @ 24mene [ 67mesne [ St acms [ The soti peer
The way we're working isn't working. Top workplace factors that negatively impacted mental health:
o reported at least one workplace Emotionally Challenges Lack of
84 / factor that negatively impacted @ draining w/ work-life recognition
O iheir mental heaith. work balance
Employees are leaving their jobs Productivity losses are growing.
for their mental health. On average, workers reported performing at
(o) of full-time U.S. workers have left (o) of their full capability in the
a previous roles due, at least in part, o past year when considering
(o] to mental health reasons. their mental health.
This number rises to... Absenteeism is on the rise.
+ 81% of Gen Z respondents On average, due to
+ 68% of Millennial respondents respondents a s mental
+ 32% when considering voluntary departures missed health
Younger workers and historically  These groups tended to be:

s + More likely to report mental health symptoms.
underrepresen‘ted Com{numtles + More negatively impacted by the work environment.
are disproportionately impacted. . wore ikely to have leave jobs for mental health.
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American Psychological Association’s
2023 Work in America Survey

» 77% of Workers Reported Work-Related Stress in Past Month

* 57% of Which Endorsed Psychological Features of Burnout:
* Exhausted emotionally (31%)
* Unmotivated to do very best (26%)
* Wanted to keep to themselves (25%)
* Desired to quit job (23%)
* Lowered productivity (20%)
* Angered or Irritable with customers and coworkers (19%)
* Felt ineffective (18%)

21

APA’s 2023 Work in America Survey

*1in 5 Workers Reported:
* Having a somewhat or very toxic workplace (19%)
* Experiencing mental health harm at work (22%)
* Experiencing harassment at work (22%)
* Witnessing workplace discrimination (22%)
* 15% reported experiencing discrimination

22
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Attorneys’ Mental
Health and
Occupational
Stressors

23
Pre-Pandemic Mental Health Challenges
for Attorneys
Alcohol Depression Stress Anxiety Suicide

36% 28% 23% 19% Top Ten

21-36% qualify as problem  28% report mild or higher 23% report mild or higher 19% report mild or higher Ranked #8 in a study of

drinkers. Higher for men; depression symptoms. stress symptoms. Highest anxiety symptoms. Highest  suicide by occupation. Rate
under 30; private practice Highest for men and solo for women and solo for women and solo is 1.33 times the national
and solo practitioners. practitioners. practitioners. practitioners. norm.

(Krill, Johnson, & Albert, 2016)

24
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Post-Pandemic Work-Related Stressors for

Attorneys
Systemic Disruptions Work-Related Stressors
« Court Closings, Virtual Court, and  * Work-Family Conflict or Work-Life
Delays in Dispute Resolution Balance

* Work Overcommitment or “Overwork”

* Virtual Work Increased Loneliness and
Negatively Impacted Colleague
Relationships

e Remote or Virtual Work

25

Pandemic Impact on Attorneys’ Mental Health

* Due to Burnout or Stress, Nearly Half (46%) of Attorneys are
Considering Leaving the Profession

* Three-Quarters Reported Increased Work Stress
* Suicidal Thoughts 2x More Likely

* 66% Reported the Legal Profession was Detrimental to Mental Health
* Increased Alcohol Use (25.0-35.2%)
* Frequent Depression (28.4%)

26
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Additional Stressors for Employment Lawyers

* Compassion Fatigue

* Vicarious Trauma

* Loss of motivation or interest, fatigue, procrastination,
burnout, etc.

27

Unique Stressors for Employment Lawyers

* Adversarial Practice and Cognitive Dissonance
* Perceived discrimination

* Hypervigilance

* Paranorm Expression

28

105 14



10/12/2023

Strategies for

Addressing Client- > Autonomy Supportive Behaviors
Related Stressors in » Conflict Management Training
Employment Law » De-Escalation Strategies

29

Autonomy Supportive Behaviors

» Taking full account of their perspectives

» Not interrupting

» Affording choices

» Offering information respectfully

» Providing a rationale for recommendations

»Sharing power in decision-making (when appropriate)
» Accepting clients’ decisions.

30
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De-Escalation:
Verbal and
Nonverbal
Communication

() VERBAL COMMUNICATION

Tone + Volume + Rate of speech + Inflectlon of volce = Verbal De-Escalation

Tone: Speak calmly to demonstrate empathy. Instead Of: Say...

Volume: Monitor your volume and avoid raising “Calm down.”

your voice.
“I can't help you.”
Rate of Speech: Slower can be more soothing.

“I know how you feel.”| | understand that you feel...”

Inflection: Be aware of emphasizing words
or syllables as that can negatively affect the
situation.

“Come with me.” “May | speak with you?”

¢  BODY LANGUAGE

Instead Of: Try...

[Sﬁ;gi;gg%igw directly Inifront } Keeping a relaxed and alert stance off to the side of the person
[Pointing your finger ] Keeping your hands down, open, and visible at all times
[Excessive gesturing or pacing ] Using slow, deliberate movements

[Faking a smile ] Maintaining a neutral and attentive facial expression

“l can see that you are upset...”

“l want to help, what can | do?”

31
Additional De-Escalation Strategies
1. Simplify Problems that are Complex
2. Set Expectations that are Realistic
3. Narrate your Assistance Actions or Offer Explanation
4. Provide Options for Resolution
5. Apologize or Express your Reasonable Limits Assisting with
their Case
32
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Advanced De-Escalation Strategies

* Change the Environment

* Separate the Client from Others, then Continue to De-
Escalate

* Implement a Break and Model Self-Care
* Seek External Assistance

33

Strategies for
Improving
Attorneys’
Well Being

34
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A career in law should not
be antagonistic to the full

expression of lawyer’s Reasons to Improve
humanity.” — Patrick Krill, Attorney Well-Being

Stress, Drink Leave study

v’ Good for business
v’ Good for clients
¢ The right thing to do

35
Defining Lawyer Well-Being
A continuous process in which lawyers strive for thriving in each dimension of their lives:
Cultivating personal satisfaction,
sy A pencrussemgasnin, Engaging in conliwous learning and the pursui of

crealtive or intellectually challenging activities that foster

financial stability. OCCUPATIONAL ongoing development; monitoring cognitive wellness.
Developing a sense of
meaningfulness and purpose in all
aspects of life.

|

Recognizing the importance of

emotions. Developing the ability _

to identify and manage our own I

emotions to support mental

health, achieve goals, and Striving for regular physical activity, proper diet

and nulrition, sufficient sleep, and recovery;

inform decision-making.
minimizing the use of addictive substances.

Seeking help for mental health
when needed. Developing a sense ol connection, belonging, Seeking help for physical health when needed.
and a well-devel k while also
COI'III'IbI.III\g o oul groups and communities.
36
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Physical Care

* Prioritize Physical Activity

* Physical exercise improves depression, low
energy, and brain functioning

* Schedule movement breaks
* Prevent eye strain
* Think ergonomics
* Prioritize outdoor time

Strategies for Coping
with Stress by
Developing a New
Mindset

110
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Shifting Mindset: Circles of Control

* Helps with being realistic about
what you can and cannot control

Qutside of
my control

Someone How the
losin: | can control

government
their jol

* If you feel powerless to help

( ot <1t
others, identifying the problems \ Wt matontetaoers
you can and cannot do something
about is helpful :}ﬁ{\/ How

someone with =
COVID-19
will die

* Recognize your power to choose

Inter-Agency Standing Committee (IASC, 2020)

39

Additional Strategies to Calm an Overwhelmed
Nervous System

* Deep Breathing
* Meditation
* Gratitude Practice

* Progressive Muscle Relaxation
* Grounding

40
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Additional Resources for Attorney Wellness

North Carolina Lawyer Assistance Program

704-892-5699 or 919-828-6425
BarCARES of North Carolina

919-659-1453
South Carolina Bar Lawyers Helping Lawyers

1-(855)-321-4384

Institute for Well-Being in Law (2023). https://lawyerwellbeing.net/

41

Thank you

42
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Fourth Circuit
Update

Florence Thompson
Jackson Lewis P.C.

Sean Herrmann
Herrmann & Murphy, PLLC



UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE FOURTH CIRCUIT MAKE-UP

Current Composition
° Biden Nominee: Judge Toby J. Heytens (Va) and Judge DeAndrea Gist Benjamin (SC)

®  Trump Nominees: Judge Julius N. Richardson (SC), Judge A. Marvin Quattlebaum (SC),
and Judge Allison Jones Rushing (NC)

®  Obama Nominees: Judge James Andrew Wynn (NC), Judge Albert Diaz (NC), Judge
Stephanie D. Thacker (WVa), and Judge Pamela A. Harris (Md)

®  G.W. Bush Nominee: Judge G. Steven Agee (Va)
¢  Clinton Nominees: Judge Robert B. King (WVa), Chief Judge Roger L. Gregory (Va)
®  G.H.W. Bush Nominee: Judge Paul V. Niemeyer

®  Reagan Nominees: Judge J. Harvie Wilkinson 111 (Va)

Senior Status

®  Senior Judge William B. Traxler, Jr—August 31, 2018

®  Senior Judge Barbara Milano Keenan (Va)—August 31, 2021
®  Senior Judge Henry F. Floyd (SC)—December 31, 2021

®  Senior Judge Diana Gribbon Motz (Md)—September 30, 2022

New Judge: Judge DeAndrea Gist Benjamin (Judge Floyd’s Seat)
®  South Carolina Circuit Court for the fifth district, 2011
®  September 6, 2022: Nomination sent to Senate

®  February 9, 2023: nomination confirmed; Sworn into office on February 21, 2023.

Pending Nomination/Vacancy

®  Judge Motz’s seat remains vacant
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CASES TO KNOW FROM THE LAST YEAR

Balderson v. Lincare Inc., 62 F.4th 156 (4th Cir. 2023)

116

The Court reversed the Southern District of West Virginia’s judgment in the employee’s
favor.

Judge Niemeyer wrote the published opinion.

The company terminated the employee, alleging she had violated its “Corporate Health
Care Law Compliance Program” and “Code of Conduct.”

The employee argued a male coworker engaged in similar conduct and only received a
written warning.

At a bench trial, the district court found for the employee and awarded her $30,141 in
compensatory damages and $120,000 in punitive damages.

In reaching this decision, the court found the male coworker was a proper comparator and
the company’s termination explanation was pretext for unlawful sex discrimination.

The Fourth Circuit reversed, finding (1) the district court misapplied Reeves, and (2) it
incorrectly credited the identified male as a proper comparator.

Judge Niemeyer used a pretext-plus standard in the Reeves discussion, which is not the law.
The Court says it isn’t doing anything unusual here:

®  “The Court thus recognized that while there will be cases in which the ‘trier of fact
[can] infer the ultimate fact of discrimination’ from the combination of the plaintiff's
prima facie case and ‘the factfinder’s disbelief of the reasons put forward by the
defendant,” . . ., it does not follow that ‘such a showing by the plaintiff will always
be adequate to sustain a factfinder’s finding of liability,” . . . Instead, the Court
observed, there will ‘certainly . . . be instances where, although the plaintiff has
established a prima facie case and set forth sufficient evidence to reject the
defendant's explanation, no rational factfinder could conclude that the action was
discriminatory.”” (cleaned up) (emphasis in original).

®  The Court said the district court erred because it automatically found for the
employee because she met her McDonnell Douglas burden shifting standard.

® But that’s not what happened at the district court:



®  Thedistrict court engaged in a lengthy weighing of evidence on the male
comparator.

®  The fact-finder made credibility determinations.

®  “Ms. Balderson has proved a prima facie case of disparate treatment and
discrimination. Because it finds Lincare's proffered reason for termination was
pretextual, the Court may infer the ultimate fact of sex discrimination.”

° “Having considered the testimony and exhibits presented at trial and being
fully apprised of the parties' respective positions, the Court finds by a
preponderance of the evidence that the disparate treatment between Ms.
Balderson and Mr. Brady was a result of discriminatory animus.”

° Balderson v. Lincare Inc., No. 2:19-CV-00666, 2021 WL 2322827, at *4
(S.D.W. Va. June 7, 2021), rev'd, 62 F.4th 156 (4th Cir. 2023) (cleaned up)
(emphasis added).

®  Buton appeal, the Court did its own, lengthy, weighing of the evidence. It made its
own credibiltiy determinations.

®  Judge Niemeyer said, “Balderson presented no evidence, explicit or implied, that
would allow a factfinder to find that sex played any role in Lincare's decision to
terminate her employment.”

®  Extremely dangerous view of “evidence.”

®  “Evidence is relevant if: (a) it has any tendency to make a fact more or
less probable than it would be without the evidence; and (b) the fact is of
consequence in determining the action.” Fed. R. Evid. 401.

®  There was plenty of evidence upon which a fact finder could find
discriminatory animus.

®  This was pretext-plus case even if the Court didn’t call it that—e.g., “[n]Jo one
ever made any gender-related comments directed at [her]”

° Comparator discussion:

®  “Notonly was the record bare of evidence that Balderson's sex played a role in her
termination, the district court clearly erred in finding, as the core of its cursory
analysis, that the two employees ‘circumstances were ‘nearly indistinguishable.

299
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®  “While Brady and Balderson engaged in similar conduct in providing ‘leading’
information to physicians, it is just not the case that the ‘only difference’ between
them was sex.”

®  Thedistrict court’s standard: “Ms. Balderson must show that Mr. Brady is similar to
her ‘in all relevant respects.””

®  Then, the district court spent three long paragraphs diving into the evidence—
same decision-maker; comparator testified the two were “co-workers” and their
duties overlapped; same duties relevant to the discharge; subject to same policy
at issue; same core conduct, etc.

®  The district court made credibility determinations—*Lincare's attempt to
distinguish the two by characterizing Mr. Brady's conduct as providing
‘examples’ IS merely semantics.”

®  The Court used a much stricter similarly situated standard, and substituted its own
credibility determinations to find there was no proper comparator here.

Nat'l Lab. Rels. Bd. v. Pain Relief Centers P.A., No. 22-1366, 2023 WL 5380323, 2023 U.S.
App. LEXIS 22068 (4th Cir. Aug. 22, 2023)

®  The Court granted the NLRB’s application for enforcement against the employer.

®  Judge Harris wrote the majority opinion, in which Judge Wilkinson joined. Judge
Wilkinson wrote a concurring opinion, and Judge Richardson wrote an opinion dissenting
in part and concurring in part.

®  The employees alleged that the practice violated the National Labor Relations Act.
Specifically, they alleged (1) the practice unlawfully interrogated them in a manner that
unlawfully chilled collective action, and (2) the Practice wrongfully discharged them for
concerted protected activity.

®  In Spring 2020 Medical Assistants became frustrated with the Conniver Practice Manager’s
treatment of them. Some alleged she was belittling, disrespectful, and bullying. They felt
their jobs were threatened by her. The Medical Assistants raised their concerns with a nurse
practitioner and discussed their complaints as a group.

®  Things came to a head in May 2020. First, the Nurse Practitioner confronted the Practice
Manager about the Medical Assistants’ complaints about her. The Nurse Practitioner let her
know that the Medical Assistants were uncomfortable raising their complaints to her
themselves. Cromer became furious and yelled and cursed at Edwards.
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Cromer then held a mandatory meeting with all of the Medical Assistants where she
berated them for disrespecting her and talking behind her back. She demand that any
complaints they may have be made right then and there. The next day there was another
disagreement between Edwards and Cromer, which resulted in Cromer telling Edwards to
go home.

Edwards told Cromer she would leave. However, she said she would do so with the
Medical Assistants with her—*“Let’s go; let’s roll out, girls.” According to Cromer,
Edwards and the Medical Assistants quit. But the ALJ rejected that testimony as “lacking
credibility.” Instead, the ALJ credited testimony from multiple witnesses that Cromer
pointed at each Medical Assistant and yelled, “['Y]ou're fired, you're fired, you're fired,
you're fired.” The Medical Assistants and Edwards left.

Edwards and the four Medical Assistants filed separate unfair-labor-practice NLRB
charges. The NLRB issued a single complaint against the Company.

The ALJ found: (1) Cromer unlawfully interrogated employees about activity protected by
the NLRA,; and (2) the Practice unlawfully discharged Edwards and the four Medical
Assistants.

The 4th Circuit affirmed:

®  Termination:
®  Straightforward—the Practice argued Edwards and the Medical Assistants quit.
®  The evidence showed they did not quit.

® Interrogation:

®  “Questioning employees—even about concerted activity protected by Section 7
of the Act—is not per se unlawful, but it will ‘rise to the level” of a Section
8(a)(1) violation ‘if it is coercive in nature.” . . . And conduct is coercive for
purposes of Section 8(a)(1) if it ‘can have a deterrent effect on protected
activity’— that is, if it might “chill[ ]' the exercise of Section 7 rights.” (Cleaned

up).

®  Wilkinson concurrence: “While my friend in dissent rightly emphasizes the
speech values that a supervisor possesses in questioning, it will not do to
overlook the speech values Congress sought to protect in Section 7. That
provision allows collective action and communication among employees
without the need for workers to go through all the formal steps necessary to
form a union.”



®  Judge Richardson Dissent:

®  “Our test for whether questioning is coercive enough to violate § 158(a)(1) must
be read alongside § 158(c). . . . That provision largely codifies an employer's
First Amendment rights, NLRB v. Gissel Packing Co., 395 U.S. 575, 617
(1969), ensuring that she can question her employees as long as those questions
do not contain any ‘threat of reprisal,” § 158(c). So an employer's questioning
can be an unfair labor practice—in other words, can be unlawfully ‘coercive’—
only if the employer threatens the employee with retaliation for engaging in a
protected activity.”

®  Because there was no direct threat of reprisal, Judge Richardson would have
ruled different on the interrogation issue.

Brown v. Bratton, No. 21-1998, 2022 WL 17336572, 2022 U.S. App. LEXIS 33041 (4th Cir.
Nov. 30, 2022)
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The Court affirmed District of Maryland decision granting the employer’s summary
judgment motion.

Unpublished per curiam opinion.

The employee sued the employer and alleged, among other claims, a racially hostile
environment in violation of Title VII.

In finding for the employer, the district court did not find sufficient evidence that the
harassment was severe or pervasive. It also found there was no basis for imputing liability
to the employer.

The Court agreed.

“To survive summary judgment on his hostile work environment claims pursuant to Title
VII, 42 U.S.C. § 1981 and the MFEPA Appellant ‘must show that there is (1) unwelcome
conduct; (2) that is based on [his] . . . race; (3) which is sufficiently severe or pervasive to
alter [his] conditions of employment and to create an abusive work environment; and (4)
which is imputable to the employer.’”

®  “[W]e agree with the district court that Appellant easily satisfied his burden based on
multiple instances where Appellant voiced objection to the conduct he experienced.”

®  We turn next to an analysis of whether the unwelcome conduct was “because of”
Appellant's race.


https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000546&cite=42USCAS1981&originatingDoc=Ic236ade0712711eda4a5a313e68857ad&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&ppcid=d0a710865fb74e019d581be9ccf1e1f7&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)
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“The district court determined that, apart from the racially charged remarks
made by Peach and Eastland, Appellant failed to show the unwelcome conduct
was based on his race. Specifically, the district court found Appellant ‘failed to
carry his burden in establishing that, because of his race, [Appellant] (1) was
not offered overtime opportunities ...; (2) was not promoted to the MEO 11
position; (3) was forced to work with unsafe equipment; (4) was directed to
singlehandedly complete dangerous tasks ordinarily reserved for two people;
and (5) received his work assignments last.””

“Nevertheless, the district court properly determined that certain statements
were racially motivated. The district court concluded that Peach's March 9,
2016 comment that ‘if my daughter ever dated . . . a n***** [I] would kill him’,
J.A. 91, and Eastland's September 29, 2016 remark that he ‘didn't want to be
around black people,’ id. at 133-34 constitute the sort of direct proof of
discrimination necessary to satisfy the second element of a hostile work
environment claim for purposes of summary judgment. We agree.”

On the “because of race” analysis, the Court heavily weighed that the employee
did not hear the overtly racist comments first-hand.

The Court also refused to link the overtly racist comments to the other
treatment, which was not racist on its face.

On severe: “In evaluating severity, we look to the language utilized. On two
occasions Peach utilized the N-word, which we have expressly held ‘is pure
anathema to African-Americans.’ . . . ‘Perhaps no single act can more quickly
alter the conditions of employment and create an abusive working environment
than the use of an unambiguously racial epithet ... by a supervisor in the
presence of his subordinates.” . . . We acknowledged even ‘an isolated incident
of harassment can amount to discriminatory changes in the terms and conditions
of employment, if that incident is extremely serious.’ . . . However, we have
also recognized that ‘a single act of harassment may not be actionable on its
own.” ... And the ‘mere utterance of an . . . epithet which engenders offensive
feelings in an employee[ ] does not sufficiently affect the conditions of
employment to implicate Title VIL.”

On pervasive: “As to frequency, over the course of nearly five years working
for the County, Appellant points to three admissible statements constituting
unwelcome conduct based on race: (1) Peach's March 9, 2016 comment; (2)
Peach's second separate use of the N-word; and (3) Eastland's 2017 statement.”

® However, the Court limited this to overtly racist comments and ignored
other harassing behavior, as discussed above.



®  The Court also found that the harassment could not be imputed to the employer.

®  “Asoutlined above, upon Appellant's reporting, the County verbally
reprimanded Peach causing the alleged discriminatory comments to
cease.”

®  “Additionally, the record clearly demonstrates that Appellant had the
ability to report Eastland's behavior—as he previously reported their
communication issues—but failed to take advantage of this preventative or
corrective opportunity. Therefore, we conclude liability may not be
imputed to the County.”

Palmer v. Liberty Univ., Inc., No. 21-2390, 2023 U.S. App. LEXIS 16635, 2023 WL 4281845
(4th Cir. 2023)
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The Court affirmed and dismissed/vacated the Western District of Virginia’s decision to
grant the employer’s motion for summary judgment and agreed that the employee failed to
produce sufficient evidence of age-based discrimination

Judge King wrote the published opinion.

The plaintiff was a teacher at Liberty University, a Christian higher education institution in
Lynchburg, Virginia, whose teaching contract was not renewed for the 2018-19 school
year.

The plaintiff claimed that she presented both direct and circumstantial evidence of age-
based discrimination.

“Direct evidence of age discrimination has been described in the employer/employee
context as evidence that the employer ‘announced, or admitted, or otherwise unmistakably
indicated that age was a determining factor.””

®  The plaintiff’s evidence of direct evidence:

®  The resistant-to-change comment: Dean said in an email to the Provost that the
plaintiff would “have great difficulty with any changes, and this would most
likely exacerbate negative student experience.”

®  The first retirement comment: The Department Chair sent the Dean “a
document identifying [the plaintiff] as ‘Retiring’ for the 2018-19 school year, as
opposed to indicating a ‘Non-Renewal.’”
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®  The second retirement comment: The Provost said “he would consider
characterizing [the plaintiff’s] forthcoming nonrenewal as a ‘retirement,” but
only if [the plaintiff] brought up an issue of retirement in response to the
nonrenewal.”

The Court agreed with the Fifth and Sixth Circuit who have both concluded “mere
comments or inquiries about retirement — without more — fail to constitute direct
evidence of discrimination.” “We agree with and adopt that well-reasoned
proposition. As applied to the facts here, neither the first nor the second retirement
comments amount to direct evidence of age-based discrimination that is attributable
to Liberty.”

®  The comments weren’t presented to the plaintiff but were made during internal
deliberations about how to handle the nonrenewal. Also, they were devoid of
any references to the plaintiff’s age.

®  “Asthe Seventh Circuit explained, ‘the possibility of retirement was raised by
[the employer] only in order to spare [the employee] the embarrassment of
being terminated.””” Here, the Dean and Provost “contemplated retirement as an
option if [the plaintiff] brought up that issue as an alternative to non-renewal.”

The resistant-to-change comment was also not connected to the plaintiff’s age.

The plaintiff’s claim based on circumstantial evidence also failed because she was not
performing her “job duties at a level that met the employer’s legitimate expectations at the
time.”

The plaintiff argued that her 2016 promotion demonstrates that she had adequate
performance at the time of her 2018 nonrenewal. However, her nonrenewal was based
partially on her failure to develop technology or digital art skills.

As the district court recognized, “Liberty has put forward substantial evidence
documented repeated attempts to prompt [the plaintiff] to develop a digital art
skillset.” And the plaintiff “failed to explain why her performance in October 2016
means that she was performing adequately at the time of her nonrenewal — which
was in April 2018.”

The plaintiff also argued that in Sempowich v. Tactile Systems Technology the Court
“concluded that a plaintiff-employee — who had been repeatedly rated by her
employer as a high-performing employee — was satisfying the employer’s legitimate
expectations at the time of an adverse employment action.”



®*  “Ifan employer genuinely believed that one of its employees was performing
poorly on metrics the employer perceives as critical...it seems likely that it
would at the very least not rate the employee’s performance highly or give her
awards, a salary raise, or an equity grant.”

° Here, the plaintiff “was simply not meeting Liberty’s technology-related
expectations up and until the time of her 2018 nonrenewal. Unlike Sempowich,
the lone accolade that [the plaintiff] can point to — her October 2016 promotion
— was bestowed upon her more than a year before her nonrenewal.”

®  Moreover, the plaintiff failed to show that her age was the but-for cause of her
nonrenewal. The comments she characterized as evidence “were made subsequent to
the Chair and the Dean having resolved not to renew her teaching contract for the
2018-19 school year.”

®  Liberty cross-appealed to get the Court to decide whether Palmer was a minister under the
First Amendment’s ministerial exception, but the Court declined under the constitutional
avoidance doctrine.

® Concurrence by Motz:

®  The concurrence was solely to address that this is not a case where the ministerial
exception would apply.

° Liberty had previously moved for summary judgment asserting that the ministerial
exception bars the plaintiff’s ADEA lawsuit alleging that the plaintiff qualified as a
minister under the legal principles established by the Supreme Court.

®  The Supreme Court explicitly endorsed the ministerial exception to certain
antidiscrimination lawsuits between an employee and employer in 2012 in Hosanna-
Tabor Evangelical Lutheran Church & School v. Equal Employment Opportunity
Commission, 565 U.S. 171 (2012) and further defined the exception in Our Lady of
Guadalupe School v. Morrissey-Berru, 140 S. Ct. 2049 (2020).

®  These cases clarify that “the ministerial exception can apply even when the
employee, in addition to performing religious functions has substantial secular
responsibilities.”

®  “[T]he ministerial exception does not apply to everyone employed by a religious
entity.”

®  “When determining whether an employee of a religious entity qualifies for the
ministerial exception, we must examine all the ‘circumstances of her employment,’
training our focus on ‘what [the] employee does.’”
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®  “[O]ne important factor in determining the ministerial exception’s applicability
is whether an employee provides religious instruction — and it is not one that
should be lightly disregarded.” The plaintiff did not.

®  The employee must also be a “key employee[] for the purposes of the schools’
religious mission.” The plaintiff “did not instruct her students on the
significance of various religious sacraments...was not required to install
religious displays in her classroom, and she was not expected to attend religious
education courses or accompany her students to religious services.” She was
also not required to report to a religious leader.

“An employee does not shed her right to be free from workplace discrimination
simply because she believes in God, prays at work, and is employed by a religious
entity. Absent clear guidance from the Supreme Court, | cannot agree with a view of
the ministerial exception so capacious that it entirely erodes vital antidiscrimination
protections for scores of workers throughout the United States.”

Concurrence by Richardson:

The “First Amendment’s ‘ministerial exception’ bars Palmer’s suit. Though Palmer
did not perform formal religious instruction, her job description required her to
integrate a ‘Biblical worldview’ into her teaching. And Palmer admits to regularly
praying with students, indeed starting her classes with a psalm or prayer.
Accordingly, Liberty viewed her as an official ‘messenger’ of its faith. Under the
Supreme Court’s recent precedent, Palmer thus qualified as a ‘minister.””

Resendiz v. Exxon Mobil Corp., 72 F.4th 623 (4th Cir. 2023)

125

The Court affirmed the Eastern District of North Carolina’s decision to grant the
employer’s motion to dismiss plaintiff’s Section 1981 claim alleging that the employer’s
policy was facially discriminatory.

Judge Richardson wrote the published opinion.

The plaintiff was a Deferred Action for Childhood Arrival (DACA) program recipient.
Because he had arrived in the U.S. as a minor, his deportation status was deferred.
However, deferred-action status only granted him permission to stay in the United States
and apply for temporary work authorization.

He attended North Carolina State University. The plaintiff applied for an internship and
received an offer after his interview which was explicitly contingent upon, inter alia,
permanent work authorization to work in the United States, supported by proper
documentation.



® AsaDACA recipient, the plaintiff only had temporary work authorization, and Human
Resources instructed him to answer ‘Yes’ to the question on the application asking if he
would require sponsorship for a visa or employment authorization.

® The plaintiff’s offer was revoked because he did not have permanent work
authorization.

®  Tosurvive a motion to dismiss, the plaintiff: (1) “must establish that § 1981 contains an
implied private right of action for alienage discrimination” and (2) “plausibly allege that
ExxonMobil intentionally discriminated against him on the basis of alienage.” The Court
ultimately held (1) Section 1981 does contain a private right of action for alienage
discrimination, but (2) the plaintiff failed to plausibly allege the employer intentionally
discriminated against him based on alienage.

° Section 1981 does contain a private right of action for alienage discrimination

® While the Supreme Court has expanded Section 1981’s protections and implied a
private right of action, “it has not yet held that it encompasses alienage-based
discrimination.” However, the Fourth Circuit has.

® Duanev. GIECO, 37 F.3d 1036, 1038-41 (4th Cir. 1994) held that Section 1981
protects aliens and that the private right of action reaches alienage-based
discrimination

®  GIECO refused to sell Duane a home-insurance policy because he was not a
U.S. citizen. “After tracing 8 1981’s origins back to the Civil Rights Act of
1866, we concluded that the law protects aliens from such discrimination and
extended the implied right of action.”

®  The Court rejected the employer’s attempts to draw a distinction between Duane
who was a lawfully-admitted permanent resident alien and the plaintiff who is
not lawfully admitted.

®  “[Alliens [are] protected without limiting that protection to lawfully
admitted aliens.”

®  “This is consistent with Supreme Court precedent that certain legal
protections extend to aliens, whether legally present or not.”

d The plaintiff failed to plausibly allege the employer intentionally discriminated against him
based on alienage
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® Section 1981 “can be violated only by purposeful discrimination,” “is limited to
conduct motivated by a discriminatory purpose,” and “does not extend to a policy
with only a discriminatory impact.”

® The plaintiff could have (but did not) alleged intentional discrimination under Section
1981 by

(1) alleging that the policy expressly distinguishes between employees based on
a protected characteristic — that it blatantly tells aliens they need not apply

(2) arguing that the policy distinguishes between employees based on a proxy
for a protected characteristic — alleging that requiring permanent work
authorization is an irrational way to choose employes and qualifies as a proxy
for alienage

(3) allege facts apart from the policy’s terms that allow an inference of
discriminatory motive against the employee’s protected trait.

® Instead he argued that “ExxonMobil intentionally discriminated against him because its
policy—though not barring aliens—relies on alienage” and points to Bostock v.
Clayton County, 140 S. Ct. 1731 (2020).
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In Bostock, the Supreme Court used an example to show how an employer’s
policy can “inescapably intend[]” to rely on a protected characteristic without
naming that characteristic.

“An employer with a no-homosexuals policy imposes different outcomes on
employees based purely on their sex, a protected characteristic. That policy can
be pursued only by reference to sex: a man who is attracted to a man is fired but
a woman who is attracted to a man is not. Said differently, there is a trait
(attraction to men) that the employer tolerates in women but not in men. This,
Bostock tells us, is intentional discrimination based on sex.”

“So, when an employer imposes a policy that leads to different outcomes
between otherwise identical employees based purely on the employees’
protected characteristic, we know the employer intentionally discriminates
based on that characteristic.”

“To figure out whether we’re faced with such a policy, we ‘change one thing at
a time’—specifically, the employee’s protected trait — ‘and see if the outcome
changes.’”



®  Here, the Bostock analysis does not work because the plaintiff would need
to allege that aside from his protected trait he is “materially identical” to
another employee who is treated differently.

®  The plaintiff would need to be changed to a citizen who still possessed
only temporary work authorization and then compare the outcomes, but
that category—citizens with temporary work authorization—does not
exist.

®  “And there is nothing in the complaint suggesting that ExxonMobil would
have been willing to hire a citizen if, hypothetically, he did not have
permanent work authorization.”

®  The employer hired the plaintiff despite knowing he was an alien, so its policy
doesn’t facially screen out all aliens. “Maybe the impact of ExxonMobil’s policy
requiring permanent work authorization is felt only by aliens. But discriminatory
impact alone does not suffice. The discrimination must be intentional.”

®  “Asthe Supreme Court explained, it is not enough for one’s status to relate to a
protected class ‘in some vague sense’ or for discrimination based on the status
to have ‘some disparate impact’ on the protected class.”

DiCocco v. Garland, 52 F.4h 588 (4th Cir. 2022)

e The Court reversed and remanded the Eastern District of Virginia’s decision to grant the U.S.
Attorney General’s motion to dismiss.

e Judge Richardson wrote the published opinion.

e The plaintiff sued the U.S. Attorney General because she failed a physical-fitness test that
was a condition of her federal employment at the Bureau of Prisons (“BOP”’) and was told to
either retake the test, resign, or be fired.

e The district court dismissed the complaint for lack of Article 111 standing, finding that her
resignation did not constitute an adverse employment action and therefore could not serve as
the basis for a Title VIl or Age Discrimination in Employment Act claim. Specifically, the
plaintiff “had not suffered an injury in fact traceable to the BOP’s actions because the facts in
her complaint did not constitute an ‘adverse employment action’ under Title VII or the
ADEA.”

e After being hired with the BOP at the Federal Correctional Complex in Petersburg, Virginia,
the plaintiff (a psychiatrist), like all new employees, had to take and pass a fitness test. She
failed on her first try. Under BOP policy, she could retake the test within 24 hours. She
declined due to fear that she would be unable to pass because she was exhausted. She was
informed that unless she resigned, her employment with BOP would be terminated for failure
to pass the test within the required times.
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e “A plaintiff has Article 11l standing if she (1) suffers an injury in fact that is (2) fairly
traceable to the challenged conduct and (3) likely to be redressed if the court rules in her
favor.” The government brought a facial challenge stating that the complaint “fails to allege
facts upon which subject matter jurisdiction can be based.”

e The Court found that the district court improperly conflated the threshold standing question
with the merits of her claims. “Standing does not turn on whether a plaintiff has definitively
stated a valid cause of action.”

e  “Avalid claim for relief is not a prerequisite for standing.”

e The plaintiff adequately plead an injury in fact — she was injured by a loss of
employment and the resulting loss of wages and other benefits.

e To plead causation the alleged injury must be “fairly...trace[able] to the challenged
action of the defendant, and not...th[e] result [of]the independent action of some third
party not before the court.” The allegations did not show that the plaintiff
independently caused her own injuries.

e The choice to resign did not defeat standing. The complaint alleged “that the
BOP’s ultimatum, which followed from the allegedly discriminatory policy,
was the but-for cause of her injuries.”

e The government did not dispute that the plaintiff’s injury would likely be redressed
by a favorable decision.

e “The government at first asked that we affirm the district court on tow alternative grounds
should we reject the district court’s standing analysis: (1) absence of a disparate-impact cause
of action falling under the ADEA’s sovereign immunity waiver, and (2) failure to state a
claim under Title VII. We decline to address those arguments now.”

Rogers v. Tug Hill Operating, LLC, 76 F.4th 279 (4th Cir. 2023)

®  The Court reversed and remanded the Northern District of West Virginia decision on the
motion to intervene and the employer’s motion to dismiss.

¢  Judge Niemeyer wrote the published opinion.

®  The plaintiff sued an oil and gas exploration and production company, “Tug Hill,” for
improperly classifying him as an independent contractor under the Fair Labor Standards
Act and for overtime pay.
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Tug Hill moved to dismiss and compel arbitration. There was an arbitration agreement
between the plaintiff and “RigUp” a third-party company that connects skilled workers
with oil and gas companies for a fee. The agreement said it was only related to a dispute
between the plaintiff and Rig Up and Rig Up would not be a party to disputes between
Rogers and Tug Hill. RigUp moved to intervene.

The district court granted the motion to intervene and the motion to dismiss.
The arbitration agreement said, in relevant part:

¢  After RigUp helped match the plaintiff with a company, he and that company would
“solely negotiate and determine... when and where [he would] perform [p]rojects” and
that “[a]ny interactions or disputes between [him] and a Company [would be] solely
between [him] and that Company.”

® “RigUp...shall have no liability, obligation or responsibility for any interaction
between you and any Company.”

¢ “RIGUP WILL NOT BE A PARTY TO DISPUTES OR NEGOTIATONS OF
DISPUTES, BETWEEN YOU AND COMPANIES.”

® The plaintiff would “indemnify and old the RigUp Parties and Company harmless from
and against all losses, damages, liabilities,...actions, [and] judgments...arising out of or
resulting from” several occurrences, one of which was ““a determination by a court or
agency that [Rogers] [was] an employee of RigUp or a Company.”

® “In the interest of resolving disputes between you and RigUp in the most expedient and
cost effective manner, you and RigUp agree that every dispute arising in connection
with these Terms will be resolved by binding arbitration... This agreement to arbitrate
disputes includes all claims arising out of or relating to any aspect of these Terms...”

RigUp moved to intervene “as of right” pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 24(a)(2) or “by
permission” pursuant to Rule 24(b)(1)(B). It argued that intervention was warranted so that
it could “represent...[its] unique interest in preserving its business model by protecting the
independent-contractor status of the workers it serves.” In addition, if the plaintiff
prevailed, it might have some liability as a potential indemnitor under a contract it had with
Tug Hill.

The initial question for the Court was whether a court or an arbitrator must decide whether
Tug Hill can enforce the arbitration clause in a contract between Rogers and RigUp
because of the delegation provision.
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The Court cited Arthur Andersen LLP v. Carlisle, 556 U.S. 624 (2009) which makes it
clear that “a court, not an arbitrator...must initially decide whether a nonparty to an
arbitration agreement is entitled to enforce it.”

® “Tug Hill fails to address the contractual source of the arbitrator’s authority.”

® “[I]tis plain that [the plaintiff] agreed to arbitrate issues — including threshold issues
— arising between him and RigUP. But he did not enter into any agreement that
allows an arbitrator to decide whether a third party like Tug Hill has rights under the
arbitration agreement.”

® “[T]he fact that Tug Hill itself was not itself a party to the arbitration agreement does
not categorically mean that Tug Hill is ineligible to obtain relief from the district
court under the FAA...But it does mean that, as a precondition to granting Tug Hill
the right to enforce any portion of an arbitration clause to which it was not a party, the
district court was required, when that right was challenged, to determine whether ‘the
relevant state contract law allow[ed] [Tug Hill] to enforce [that] agreement,’ S0 as to
ensure that the FAA’s terms ‘are fulfilled.””

Thus, the Court concluded the district court erred in granting Tug Hill’s motion to compel
arbitration without first resolving whether, as a matter of state contract law, Tug Hill was
authorized to enforce the arbitration agreement between RigUp and the plaintiff.

¢ Citing Newman v. Plains All Am. Pipeline, L.P., 23 F.4th 393, 398-99 (5th Cir. 2022)
and CCC Intelligent Solutions Inc. v. Tractable Inc., 36 F.4th 721, 723-24 (7th Cir.
2022) with similar holdings.

® But see Becker v. Delek US Energy Inc., 39 F.4th 351, 355-56 (6th Cir. 2022) (holding
that the question of whether a third party could enforce a delegation provision in an
arbitration clause was for the arbitrator not the court).

The Court looked state contract law to determine whether Tug Hill could enforce the
agreement as a third-party beneficiary. (The Court did not decide on whether Texas or
West Virginia law applies because they agree with respect to the third-party beneficiary
issue.)

¢ Both states apply a presumption against finding that a contract confers third-party
beneficiary status. Parties must have intended to secure a benefit to a third party.

® The “Agreement between [the plaintiff] and RigUp contains no provision stating
specifically that it was entered into for the sole benefit of Tug Hill or directly for its
benefit.” In fact, the Agreement states it purpose “was to govern only the legal
relationship between RigUp and [the plaintiff].”



® Iltalso anticipated that the plaintiff and Tug Hill would have to negotiate
separately to determine when and where the plaintiff would perform its job
duties.

° It expressly disclaimed any responsibility for any interaction between the
plaintiff and ug Hill and said that “[a]ny interactions or disputes between [the
plaintiff] and [Tug Hill] are solely between [the plaintiff] and [Tug Hill].”

° It also said that RigUp “will not be a party to disputes or negotiations of
disputes, between” the plaintiff and Tug Hill.

®  “Finally, and perhaps most tellingly, the arbitration clause itself limits its
applicability to disputes between [the plaintiff] and RigUp.”

®  Thus, this precluded any conclusion that the Agreement was entered into solely or
directly for the benefit of Tug Hill

The Court also held that the district court abused its discretion in granting RigUp’s motion
to intervene “because it failed to recognize, as [the plaintiff] specifically argued, that
‘RigUp contractually disclaimed any right to be [a] party to...disputes’ like this one.”

Hannah v. UPS, 72 F.4th 630 (4th Cir. 2023)
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The Court affirmed the decision from the Southern District of West Virginia granting the
employer’s motion for summary judgment.

Judge Niemeyer wrote the published opinion.

The employee, a package delivery driver, sued her employer, UPS for violation of the
Americans with Disabilities Act alleging that UPS’s refusal to provide him with the
accommodations he requested violated his rights under the ADA.

The district court concluded, as a matter of law, that the employee failed to demonstrate he
requested a reasonable accommodation hat would allow him to perform the essential
functions of his job, as required by the ADA.

The employee injured his hip and buttocks and requested to either drive in a smaller truck,
with a softer suspension, or be assigned to an “inside job.”

® The employee drove a truck that was 600 cubic feet, which had a stiff suspension. This
made for a rough ride and aggravated the employee’s injury.
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® He requested a better padded seat, which UPS accommodated. He was then cleared to
return to work so long as he avoided prolonged sitting.

® He requested a vehicle with a capacity of 300 to 400 cubic feet which would have a
softer suspension.

®  Under the collective bargaining agreement with the union, (1) delivery routes
are determined based on seniority and (2) drivers cannot work more than 9.5
hours per day.

®  For the employee’s delivery route, a smaller vehicle would be insufficient to
complete the route. The employee would have had to (1) give part of his rote to
another driver or (2) complete the route in multiple trips

®  There were no “inside job” openings at the time, but UPS said it would consider
him for any such opening when it occurred.

®  While he was denied the specific accommodation he requested, UPS allowed him to
retain his job and take leave without pay until he could return to work.

To establish a prima facie case under the ADA, the employee must show “(1) that he was
an individual who had a disability within the meaning of the statute; (2) that the employer
had notice of his disability; (3) that with reasonable accommodation he could perform the
essential functions of the position; and (4) that the employer refused to make such
accommodations.”

“In carrying out the burden of establishing a reasonable accommodation in the context of a
workplace governed by a collective bargaining agreement, the employee must show either
that the requested accommodation would not violate the agreement that some ‘special
circumstances’ exist that nonetheless make ‘the requested accommodation...reasonable on
the particular facts.””

®  To grant the employees requested accommodation, UPS would have had to violate
the collective bargaining agreement. They either would need to adjust another
driver’s delivery route to take on part of the employee’s route, or have the employee
work over 9.5 hours.

®  The employee “provided no solution to these problems arising form his request to be
given a smaller truck or van.”

®  The employee also did not address whether the proposed accommodation required
alteration of the essential functions of the jobs he had previously occupied.



®  The Court determined that when the employee bid on the route, “the essential
functions of the job of driving that route were so defined.” The employees “requested
accommodation for a smaller truck or van fails to give the appropriate consideration
to UPS’s requirements for his job; he fails to demonstrate that he can, with his
requested accommodation, ‘perform the essential functions of the employment
position’ that he held before his injury.”

Additionally, UPS accommodated the employee, just not in the way the employee wanted.
“While a period of unpaid leave might not always be a reasonable accommodation, such
leave may be reasonable where the disability that interferes with an employee’s capacity to
complete assigned tasks is temporary and there is reason to believe that a leave of absence
will provide a period during which the employee will be able to recover and return to
work.”

®  During the leave of absence, the employee “received treatment, and, when he felt
ready, he returned to full-time employment as a UPS package delivery driver. That
[the employee] would have preferred to be accommodated in some other way does
not support a claim of discrimination under the ADA.”

Though the employee contended there were factual disputes about whether he would have
been able to complete his route with the requested vehicle, the Court determined the
dispute was actually whether the requested van could handle all packages for delivery on
his route.

®  The employee did not dispute that UPS selected a 600-cubic-foot truck because the
truck was necessary for the packages on the route and said that UPS did not try to see
if the smaller van would work. However, his own affidavit submitted without
sufficient factual basis to support that the smaller truck could handle all the packages
was not sufficient to create a material issue of fact.

Finally, the employee claimed UPS did not engage in the interactive process. However,
there were at least three discussions with UPS about the requests. The Court determined
that the employee failed to state “what additional interaction he believes was required or
what additional discussions he and UPS representatives could have had with each other that
could have made a difference.”

Polak v. Virginia Dep’t of Env’t Quality, 57 F.4th 426 (4th Cir. 2023)
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The Court affirmed the decision from the Eastern District of Virginia granting the
employer’s motion for summary judgment.

Judge Niemeyer wrote the published opinion.



®  The employee sued the employer under the Equal Pay Act alleging that she was paid lower
than her male counterpart.

®  Thedistrict court found that although the two employees held the same job description,
there were differences explained by factors other than sex that accounted for the differing
pay. Effectively, the male counterpart was not a proper comparator because he did not hold
a virtually identical job.

®  Under the EPA, the plaintiff “must make an initial (i.e., prima facie) showing of three
elements: (1) the [employer] paid higher wages to an employee of the opposite sex who (2)
performed equal work on jobs requiring equal skill, effort, and responsibility (3) under
similar working conditions.”

®  The appeal focuses on the prima facie claim — the requirement that the employee establish
that she and her comparator, “performed ‘equal work’ on jobs requiring ‘equal skill, effort,
and responsibility.””

° Having the same title and general responsibility is not enough. Employees must rely on
more than “broad generalities” especially “where the work is an exercise in intellectual
creativity that can be judged only according to intricate, field-specific, and often subjective
criteria.”

®  While both employees had the job title of “coastal planners,” had the same supervisor,
worked closely together, and collaborated on issues, this was not enough to establish that
they were sufficient comparators.

® They had different responsibilities involving projects and requesting grants.

® The employees’ supervisor testified that the male comparator employee had expertise in
coastal hazards, sea level rise, and shoreline erosion. The plaintiff employee did not
have the same “kind of background or experience” in those topics.

® Their supervisor further testified that the male comparator “was responsible for
‘facilitating implementation of the... Section 309 Coastal Hazards Strategy, including
annual grants and projects of special merit.”” The plaintiff employee was “not
qualified” to perform that responsibility.

® The record also showed that the plaintiff employee carried out duties that the
comparator did not have. “She managed certain grant...and helped ‘implement the
Section 309 Cumulative Secondary impacts strategies.” She also organized a statewide
summit.
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Based on plaintiff’s understanding of what the comparator male employee did, she stated
her declaration that she and the male comparator “filled ‘complementary’ roles while
having ‘equal’ duties and ‘essentially the same job.””” However, she could not and did not
“have full comparative knowledge of both [her comparator’s] job and hers, as they each
performed their work simultaneously in different contexts and on distinct projects to which
each were assigned.”

Their supervisor testified that because of the male comparator’s “background and
experience, [he] was doing different and more complex assignments than those given to”
plaintiff. The comparator male employee “worked on more challenging issues” because he
had more experience and “handled more different and complex grant application
assignments.”

Because plaintiff “did not have the same vantage point as [their supervisor, she] could not
assess the differences in [the male comparator’s] work to which [the supervisor] testified,
nor could she assess the relative complexity of his work.”

Carrerav. E.M.D. Sales Inc., 75 F.4th 345 (4th Cir. 2023)
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The Court affirmed the District of Maryland decision made after a nine-day bench trial.
Judge Harris wrote the published opinion.

Three employees sued the employer, under the Fair Labor Standards Act alleging that
employees were improperly identified as exempt under the “outside sales” exemption and
improperly denied overtime pay.

The district court found that the employees were owed overtime pay because the employer
failed to prove by “clear and convincing evidence” that the employees met the “outside
sales” exemption. The district court granted liquidated damages for the employees but
found that the employer’s actions were not willful; therefore it applied the standard two-
year statute of limitations.

The Court affirmed the district court’s judgment in all respects.

An outside salesman is defined by the DOL as an employee whose primary duty is making
sales and who customarily and regularly works away from employer’s place of business
performing that primary duty.

The primary question was whether it was the “primary duty” of the employees to make
sales.
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Relying on Shockley v. City of Newport News, 977 F.2d 18, 21 (4th Cir. 1993), plaintiffs
argued that the employer’s burden of proof to show that the exemption applies is by clear
and convincing evidence.

Relying on Encino Motorcars, LLC v. Navarro, 138 S. Ct. 1134 (2018), defendants argued
that the employer’s burden of proof to show that the exemption applies is by a
preponderance of the evidence.

The Court disagreed with defendants finding that Encino Motorcars is a case about
statutory interpretation where the Supreme Court “rejected a canon of construction
calling for a narrow interpretation of the FLSA’s exemptions, and argued for a lower
‘preponderance of the evidence standard.’”

“[T]hat is distinct from the question of what burden of proof an employer bears in
proving the facts of its case — here, what EMD’s employees actually do on the job, and
whether they can make sales at the independent stores where they spend most of their
time.”

Therefore precedent dictated that it follow the Fourth Circuit’s “clear and convincing”
evidence standard established in Shockley for determining whether an employer has
proved an exemption.

In determining liquidated damages, “only if an employer can ‘show to the satisfaction of
the court’ that he acted in ‘good faith’ or had ‘reasonable grounds’ for believing he was in
compliance with the FLSA may the court, ‘in its sound discretion,” deny liquidated
damages.” The Court could only overturn the decision if there was an abuse of discretion —
there was not.

The district court granted liquidated damages based on the CEO’s testimony that the
employer failed to investigate what daily tasks the employees engaged in and lacked
actual knowledge of their job responsibilities.

The lack of investigation was sufficient to show that the employer did not act in good
faith but not sufficient to show a willful violation of the action, which would extend the
statute of limitations.

Willfulness requires a showing that the employer “either knew or showed reckless
disregard for the matter of whether its conduct was prohibited by the FLSA.”

®  “[D]efendants acted unreasonably but not willfully in violating the FLSA. [The
CEQ], the district court concluded, was “impermissibly but credibly
uninformed” on the application of the FLSA to her sales representatives; her
failure to inform herself was negligent, but it did not amount to reckless or
willful misbehavior.”
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“Finally, to the extent the parties each argue that the district court’s findings as
to good faith and reasonableness (for liquidated damages) and willfulness (for
the limitations period are in conflict, they are mistaken. To be sure, a finding
that a defendant did not act willfully in violating the FLSA might support a
determination that the defendant acted reasonable and in good faith, see, e.g.,
Roy v. County of Lexington, 141 F.3d 533, 548 (4th Cir. 1998), and, of course,
the opposite is also true. But the two need not go hand in hand. It can be the
case both that an employer was unable to show an objectively reasonable basis
for its pay practices and that the employer did not intentionally or recklessly
underpay.”
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Grassley on
the qui tam
DIroVISIoN

"One of the smartest things Congress has ever done is to
empower whistleblowers to help the government combat
fraud. They get results. Without whistleblowers, the government
simply does not have the capability to identify and prosecute the
ever-expanding and creative schemes to bilk the taxpayers. That
is not rhetoric. That is history.
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3x damages + penalties
31 USC § 3729(a)(1).

15-30% relator bounty

Id. § 3730(a)(1)-(2).
Damages

2x damages for retaliation
Id. § 3730(h).

Attorneys’ fees & costs
Id. § 3730(d)(1)-(2) & (h).




Anti-Kickback Statute
(AKS),
42 U.S.C.81320-7b

eCriminalizes the knowing/willful
offer, payment, solicitation, or
receipt of remuneration to induce
something reimbursable by a
federal health insurance program.

e Remuneration means any
kickback, bribe, or rebate, direct or

indirect, overt or covert, cash or in
kind.

PRESS RELEASE

Court Enters $487 Million Judgment Against
Precision Lens and Owner Paul Ehlen for Paying
Kickbacks to Doctors in Violation of the False Claims
Act

Monday, May 15, 2023 For Immediate Release

Share ‘ 3 U.S. Attorney's Office, District of Minnesota

ST. PAUL, Minn.-U.S. District Judge Wilhelmina M. Wright has entered a judgment against Defendants Cameron-Ehlen Group, Inc.
dba Precision Lens and its owner Paul Ehlen in the amount of $487,048,705.13.

On February 27, 2023, a federal civil jury concluded that the Defendants violated the False Claims Act and the Anti-Kickback
Statute by paying kickbacks to ophthalmic surgeons to induce their use of the Defendants’ products in cataract surgeries
reimbursed by Medicare. The jury found that 64,575 false claims were submitted to Medicare due to the Defendants’ conduct,
which resulted in $43,694,641.71 in damages to Medicare.

Under the False Claims Act (FCA), a person or entity found to have violated the FCA is liable to the United States Government for
a minimum civil penalty of $5,000 per false claim and three times the amount of damages sustained by the Government. In this
matter, the amount included $358,445,780 in statutory penalties and an additional $131,083,925.13 in trebled damages, resulting
in a total amount of $489,529,705.13, less $2,481,000 in proceeds from a previous settlement with Sightpath Medical.



31 U.S.C.3

3729(a)(1)

Liability (paraphrased) for:

(A) knowingly presenting or causing to be presented a false/fraudulent claim;

(B) knowingly makes, uses, or causes to be made or used, a false record or statement material
to a false or fraudulent claim;

(C) conspires to commit a violation of these subparagraphs;

(D) Knowingly causing the return of less government property or money than due;

(E) Defrauding the government by making or delivering a receipt concerning property used or to
be used by the government without knowing whether the receipt is true;

(F) knowingly buying or receiving public property from a government officer, member of the
armed forces, or employee who lacks authority to sell or pledge the property;

(G) knowingly making/using/causing a false record or statement material to an obligation to
pay/transmit money/property to the Government, or knowingly concealing/improperly avoiding/
decreasing an obligation to convey money/property to the government.



Liability

“The False Claims Act is intended to reach all types of
fraud, without qualification, that might result in
financial loss to the Government. The Court has
consistently refused to accept a rigid, restrictive
reading. The False Claims Act reaches beyond claims
which might be legally enforced, to all fraudulent
attempts to cause the Government to pay out sums of
money. Thus, any time a false statement is made in a
transaction involving a call on the U.S.

fisc, False Claims Act liability may attach.”

Harrison v. Westinghouse Savannah River Co., 176 F.3d 776, 788 (4th Cir.

1999) (quotations, brackets, and ellipses omitted, emphasis added, quoting
United States v. Neifert-White Co., 390 U.S. 228, 232-33 (1968)).
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PRESS RELEASE

Booz Allen Agrees to Pay $377.45
Million to Settle False Claims Act
Allegations

Friday, July 21, 2023 For Immediate Release

Office of Public Affairs

Share »

Booz Allen Hamilton Holding Corporation has agreed to pay the United States $377,4!
resolve allegations that it violated the False Claims Act by improperly billing commere
international costs to its government contracts. Booz Allen, which is headquartered in
Virginia, provides a range of management, consulting, and engineering services to the
government, as well as commercial and international customers.
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First to file

In this case, back before this Court for a third

time, we consider
of a relator’s action that was

brought while related actions were pending, even

and the relator’'s complaint has been amended,
albeit without mention of the related actions. We
conclude that it does.

Carter, 866 F3d at 202.

866 F.3d 199
United States Court of Appeals, Fourth Circuit.

UNITED STATES EX REL. Benjamin
CARTER, Plaintiff-Appellant,
V.
HALLIBURTON CO.; Kellogg Brown & Root
Services, Inc.; Service Employees International

Inc.; KBR, Inc., Defendants-Appellees.
Chamber of Commerce of the United States
of America, Amicus Supporting Appellees.

No. 16-1262

|
Argued: March 22, 2017

|
Decided: July 31, 2017




Pleading with specificity

However, the SAC fails to allege how, or
even whether, the bills for these fraudulent
services were presented to the government
and how or even whether the government
paid United for the services.

particularly where, as the SAC itself alleges,
United is three levels removed from the Air
Force, which contracts directly with Boeing.

Grant, 912 F3d at 198.

912 F.3d 190
United States Court of Appeals, Fourth Circuit.

UNITED STATES EX REL. David
GRANT, Plaintiff — Appellant,
V.
UNITED AIRLINES INC., Defendant — Appellee.

No. 17-2151

|
Argued: September 27, 2018

Decided: December 26, 2018




Falsity

FACTUALLY FALSE LEGALLY FALSE



Falsity

O 0O

FACTUALLY LEGALLY
FALSE FALSE

Express

O



General
contracting

eee < 'm @& beta.sam.gov ¢ (4] ]

E= An official website of the United States government Here's how you know v

Authoritative site for Assistance Listings, Wage Determinations, and Contract Oppor

-!ﬂ.!.D!‘SAM?th%)V ol A signin

SETFEENTEFE B B P TR |
‘ Welcome

This will be the official U.S. government website for people who make, receive, and manage federal
, | awards.

Official U.S.
Government
Website

What Can | Do
Here?

Contracting

Contract Data
9 Reports (FPDS




Legal falsity:
express false certification

Plaintiff-Relators allege ..., Fencon
and Carolina Wrecking knowingly
agreed to present to the Government
statements seeking payment
with

prevailing wage requirements, and did
make such presentments, which were
false, in order to bring about payment
from the Government

to plead a
claim for conspiracy to defraud the
Government.

Carolina Wrecking, 2019 WL 1777964, at *2.

2019 WL 1777964
Only the Westlaw citation is currently available.
United States District Court, D.
South Carolina, Charleston Division.

UNITED STATES of America, ex rel. Willie
Cooley and Frank Rawlinson, Plaintiffs,
V.

CAROLINA WRECKING, INC., Charles Dowey,
individually, and Fencon, Inc., Defendants.

Civil Action No.: 2:17-0276-RMG

|
Signed 04/22/2019

|
Filed 04/23/2019




Legal falsity:
implied false certification

Guns that do not shoot are as
material to the Government'’s decision
to pay as guards that cannot shoot
straight.

Triple Canopy. Inc., 857 F.3d 178-79 (quoting Universal Health,
136 S.Ct. at 2001-02).

857 F.3d 174
United States Court of Appeals, Fourth Circuit.

UNITED STATES of America,
Intervenor/Plaintiff—Appellant,
and
United States ex rel. Omar Badr, Plaintiff,
V.
TRIPLE CANOPY, INC., Defendant—Appellee.

United States ex rel. Omar

Badr, Plaintiff—-Appellant,
V.

Triple Canopy, Inc., Defendant—Appellee.

No. 13-2190, No. 13-2191

|
Argued: January 26, 2017

I
Decided: May 16, 2017
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Higher
education and
federal grants

PRESS RELEASE

California University To Pay $225,000 For Allegedly
Violating Ban On Incentive Compensation

Tuesday, October 20, 2020 For Inmediate Release

U.S. Attorney's Office, District of South Carolina
Share | >

Title IV of the Higher Educa

compensating s C

securing stu ir:nt r:mollr‘r‘uent. The incentiv tu g

that serve the financial interests of the recruiter mthn:l thdn thr.: t:du:,atu::unal needs of the student.



Knowledge

To take advantage of the favorable return
offered by the program, Oberg claims that
between 2002 and 2006, PHEAA submitted
false claims for SAP subsidies by

from non-tax-
exempt bonds into tax-exempt bonds. In
doing so, PHEAA converted lower-interest
floating-rate loans into loans that
guaranteed a 9.5 percent return. This
translated into millions of dollars in
additional revenue for PHEAA.

Oberg, 912 F3d at 735.

912 F.3d 731
United States Court of Appeals, Fourth Circuit.

UNITED STATES EX REL., Jon
H. OBERG, Plaintiff-Appellant,
V.

PENNSYLVANIA HIGHER EDUCATION
ASSISTANCE AGENCY, Defendant—Appellee,
and
Nelnet, Inc.; Kentucky Higher Education Student
Loan Corp.; SLM Corporation; Panhandle
Plains Higher Education Authority; Brazos
Group; Arkansas Student Loan Authority;
Education Loans Inc/SD; Southwest Student
Services Corporation; Brazos Higher Education

Service Corporation; Brazos Higher Education
Authority, Inc.; Nelnet Education Loan Funding,
Inc.; Panhandle-Plains Management and

Servicing Corporation; Student Loan Finance
Corporation; Education Loans Inc.; Vermont
Student Assistance Corporation, Defendants.

No. 18-1028

I
Argued: October 31, 2018

I
Decided: January 8, 2019




Detense verdict; atfirmed

FCA claims require a relator to show only that the
defendant of its
actions, rather than specific intent to defraud. As
the district court correctly explained: ‘It doesn't
really make any difference whether they were
operating well or not well or whatever. The only
issue in this case is: Did they commit fraud and
file a false claim?’ .. In any event, whether
PHEAA's management had

of limited relevance, making any
error harmless.

Oberg, 912 F.3d at 735-36 (citation omitted).

912 F.3d 731
United States Court of Appeals, Fourth Circuit.

UNITED STATES EX REL., Jon
H. OBERG, Plaintiff-Appellant,
V.

PENNSYLVANIA HIGHER EDUCATION
ASSISTANCE AGENCY, Defendant—Appellee,
and
Nelnet, Inc.; Kentucky Higher Education Student
Loan Corp.; SLM Corporation; Panhandle
Plains Higher Education Authority; Brazos
Group; Arkansas Student Loan Authority;
Education Loans Inc/SD; Southwest Student
Services Corporation; Brazos Higher Education
Service Corporation; Brazos Higher Education
Authority, Inc.; Nelnet Education Loan Funding,
Inc.; Panhandle-Plains Management and
Servicing Corporation; Student Loan Finance
Corporation; Education Loans Inc.; Vermont
Student Assistance Corporation, Defendants.

No. 18-1028

I
Argued: October 31, 2018

I
Decided: January 8, 2019




Kickback
and Stark
Law claims




The Stark Law, 42 U.S.C. § 1395nn

13.  In addition to submitting an interim claim, CMS also requires Medicare provider

‘ G e n e ra l b/' fe d era [ h e a [t h | n S U ra n C e hospitals to submit an annual “Hospital Cost Report” on form CMS-2552. The Hospital Cost
p rOg ra m S p rO h | b |t S e lf‘ | nte re Sted Report is a final claim by a provider in which a provider declares its annual Medicare

r— e -F e r— r— a l S reimbursement to the fiscal intermediary for items and services provided to Medicare beneficiaries
that year. See 42 U.S.C. § 1395g(a); 42 C.F.R. § 413.20; see also 42 C.F.R. § 405.1801(b)(1).
Medicare relies on the Hospital Cost Report to determine whether the provider is entitled to more

*Numerous, complicated exceptions

reimbursement than already received through interim payments, or whether the provider has been

t h at e C l | p S e t h e r- U le overpaid and must reimburse Medicare. 42 C.F.R. §§ 405.1803, 413.60 & 413.64(f)(1).
14.  Each Hospital Cost Report contains an express certification that must be signed by
o E . 9 y E m p [Oye e re fe rra l Mman d ate the provider’s chief administrator or designee. The Hospital Cost Report Certification warns
: : : providers that:
might be permissible so long as
, MISREPRESENTATION OR FALSIFICATION OF ANY INFORMATION
CONTAINED IN THIS COST REPORT MAY BE PUNISHABLE BY
C O m p e n S at | O n d O e S n Ot \/a ry b a S e d CRIMINAL, CIVIL AND ADMINISTRATIVE ACTION, FINE AND/OR
IMPRISONMENT UNDER FEDERAL LAW. FURTHERMORE, IF SERVICES
O n \/O lu m e O r \/a [U e IDENTIFIED IN THIS REPORT WERE PROVIDED OR PROCURED

THROUGH THE PAYMENT DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY OF A KICKBACK
OR WERE OTHERWISE ILLEGAL, CRIMINAL, CIVIL AND
ADMINISTRATIVE ACTION, FINES AND/OR IMPRISONMENT MAY
RESULT.




Anti-Kickback Statute (AKS),
42 U.S.C. 8 1320-7b

13.  In addition to submitting an interim claim, CMS also requires Medicare provider

¢ C rl m | n a ll Z e S th e kn O\Nl n 9 / \Nl l“:u l hospitals to submit an annual “Hospital Cost Report” on form CMS-2552. The Hospital Cost

Report is a final claim by a provider in which a provider declares its annual Medicare

offer, payment, solicitation, or

reimbursement to the fiscal intermediary for items and services provided to Medicare beneficiaries

rece | pt O]C remune rati on to | N d uce that year. See 42 U.S.C. § 1395g(a); 42 C.E.R. § 413.20; see also 42 C.E.R. § 405.1801(b)(1).
Medicare relies on the Hospital Cost Report to determine whether the provider is entitled to more
S O m et h | n 9 re | m b U r S a b le by a fe d e ra l reimbursement than already received through interim payments, or whether the provider has been

overpaid and must reimburse Medicare. 42 C.F.R. §§ 405.1803, 413.60 & 413.64(f)(1).

health insurance program.

14.  Each Hospital Cost Report contains an express certification that must be signed by

the provider’s chief administrator or designee. The Hospital Cost Report Certification warns

* Remuneration means any kickback, provider

, , \ \ MISREPRESENTATION OR FALSIFICATION OF ANY INFORMATION
CONTAINED IN THIS COST REPORT MAY BE PUNISHABLE BY

b rl b e' O r re b ate’ dl re Ct O r | n dl reCtl CRIMINAL, CIVIL AND ADMINISTRATIVE ACTION, FINE AND/OR
IMPRISONMENT UNDER FEDERAL LAW. FURTHERMORE, IF SERVICES

B . IDENTIFIED IN THIS REPORT WERE PROVIDED OR PROCURED

O\/e rt O r C O\/e rt, C a S h O r | n |< | n d . THROUGH THE PAYMENT DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY OF A KICKBACK
OR WERE OTHERWISE ILLEGAL, CRIMINAL, CIVIL AND

ADMINISTRATIVE ACTION, FINES AND/OR IMPRISONMENT MAY
RESULT.




PRESS RELEASE

Philips Subsidiary to Pay Over $24 Million for
Alleged False Claims Caused by Respironics for
Respiratory-Related Medical Equipment

Friday, September 2, 2022 For Immediate Release

‘ U.S. Attorney's Office, District of South Carolina
Share ?

WASHINGTON -Philips RS Morth America LLC, formerly known as Respironics Inc., a manufacturer of durable medical equipment
(DME) based in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, has agreed to pay over $24 million to resolve False Claims Act allegations that it misled
federal health care programs by paying kickbacks to DME suppliers. The affected programs were Medicare, Medicaid and
TRICARE, which is the health care program for active military and their families.

Healthcare

& Kickbacks




PRESS RELEASE

Electronic Health Records Vendor Cybersecurity

NextGen Healthcare Inc. to Pay $31
Million to Settle False Claims Act &

Allegations H o alth(}are
Technology

Share | > Office of Public Affairs

MextGen Healthcare Inc. (NextGen), an electronic health record (EHR) technology vendor, has
agreed to pay $31 million to resolve allegations that NextGen violated the False Claims Act
(FCA) by misrepresenting the capabilities of certain versions of its EHR software and providing
unlawful remuneration to its users to induce them to recommend NextGen's software.



Legal falsity:
Materality

In the [PPACA], Congress provided that a
claim that includes items or services resulting
from a violation of [the AKS] constitutes a
false or fraudulent claim. .. Although the
provision that a claim is false and fraudulent if
it results from an AKS violation does not
explicitly state that the AKS violation is
material to the Government's payment
decision, the only reasonable inference is that

... Further,
the Court holds that AKS compliance was per
se material even before the PPACA.

2017 WL 6015574
Only the Westlaw citation is currently available.
United States District Court, D.
South Carolina, Beaufort Division.

UNITED STATES of America, et al., Plaintiffs,

ex rel. Scarlett Lutz, et al., Plaintiffs-Relators,

V.
BERKELEY HEARTLAB, INC.,, et al., Defendants.

Civil Action No. 9:14-230-RMG

|
Signed 12/04/2017

Berkeley Heartlab, 2017 WL at *1-2 (quotations and citations
omitted).
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Legal falsity:
implied false certification

The parties do not appear to dispute
that

to the
Government's decision to pay a claim
for the service. Indeed, the relevant
Government agencies lack discretion to
reimburse laboratory tests they know
to be medically unnecessary.

Berkeley Heartlab, 2017 WL at *3.

2017 WL 6015574
Only the Westlaw citation is currently available.
United States District Court, D.
South Carolina, Beaufort Division.

UNITED STATES of America, et al., Plaintiffs,

ex rel. Scarlett Lutz, et al., Plaintiffs-Relators,

V.
BERKELEY HEARTLAB, INC.,, et al., Defendants.

Civil Action No. 9:14-230-RMG

|
Signed 12/04/2017




FCA procedure

First to file bar, 31 US.C. § 3030(b)(5)
Public disclosure bar, id. § 3730(e)(4)(A)
The qui tam seal, id. § 3730(b)(2)

Intervention/declination, id. §
3730(c)(2)(D)(4)

Government control/approval, id. 3§
3730(c)(2)(A).



Qui tam procedure

Because a pro se plaintiff cannot
represent the Government's interest in
a qui tam suit, we affirm the district

court’s dismissal order.

Wojcicki, 947 F.3d at 241.

947 F.3d 240
United States Court of Appeals, Fourth Circuit.

Joseph Edward WOJCICKI, Plaintiff - Appellant,
V.
SCANA/SCE&G, Defendants — Appellees.

United States of America, Amicus Curiae.

No. 17-2045

|
Argued: September 20, 2019

Decided: January 14, 2020




Government control:
dismissal over relator’s objection

Plaintiff asserts that dismissal will
further its interest in preserving
scarce resources by avoiding the time
and expense necessary to monitor
this action. .. As Relator has put forth
no evidence that Plaintiff’s decision is
‘fraudulent, arbitrary and capricious,
or illegal,” dismissal is appropriate.

Stovall, 2018 WL 3756888, at *3.

2018 WL 3756888
Only the Westlaw citation is currently available.

United States District Court, D.
South Carolina, Columbia Division.

UNITED STATES of America, Plaintiff,
EX REL. Vincent J. STOVALL, Plaintiff-Relator,

V.
WEBSTER UNIVERSITY, Defendant.

C/ANo. 3:15-cv-03530-DCC

I
Signed 08/08/2018




Analyzing a Relator’s Case

*Meet all the elements
= Federal dollars?

"Government priorities
"Patient harm
"Government resources (U.S. Attorney’s Office and agents)

=Public disclosure/Relator’s knowledge




PRESS RELEASE An alyZing a

Victory Automotive Group Inc. Agrees )
to Pay $9 Million to Settle False Claims Relator’s Case

Act Allegations Relating to Paycheck
Protection Program Loan

Existing priorities:

= Healthcare (Healthcare
Technology)

u Contracting and procurement
Wednesday, October 11, 2023 For Immediate Release

Share ‘ N Office of Public Affairs New enforcement priorities:

= Fraud in pandemic relief programs

= Cybersecurity requirements in
Port Richey, Florida-based automotive management company Victory Automotive Group Inc. government contracts and grants
(VAG) has agreed to pay $9 million to resolve allegations that it violated the False Claims Act
(FCA) by knowingly providing false information in support of a Paycheck Protection Program
(PPP) loan forgiveness application it submitted.



Filing a qui tam?
As to the disclosure statement, do . . .

=Serve both AG and USAO
*Provide a list of relevant witnesses

"Raise key issues with the assigned AUSA early




Filing a qui tam? Do not . . .

=\/iolate the seal

=Continue to investigate on United States’ behalf,
including trying to obtain documents or information
from the defendant or witnesses

=Send the Government privileged documents




CHRIS
KENNEY

Johanna C. Valenzuela
Assistant U.S. Attorney
District of South Carolina

803 -546—3695 Office: (803) 929-3122
cpk@chriskenney.law Email: Johanna, Valenzuela@usdoj.gov
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Being an Effective Advocate Through a Webcam:
Tips for Arguing Remote
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South Carolina Bar

Continuing Legal Education Division

Attorney Client Privilege in Employment Law

180



Joshua Van Kampen, Van Kampen Law

Virginia M. Wooten, Ogletree Deakins
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Road Map

Rules of Professional Responsibility
Basics of Attorney Client Privilege

» Special Considerations for In
House Counsel

Basics of Work Product Privilege
Privileges in Practice
» Intake Forms

» Investigation Notes and
Documents

» Privilege Logs

» Privilege Assertions as to
Preservation and Discovery Due
Diligence






Rule 3.4 Fairness

to Opposing Part
and Counsel




Truthfulness to Others and
Tribunals

» Rule 3.3 Candor to Tribunal: A lawyer shall
not knowingly: make a false statement of
material fact or law or fail to correct a false
statement of material fact or law . . . or,
offer evidence the lawyer knows to be false.

» Rule 4.1 Truthfulness to Others: In the
course of representing a client, a lawyer
shall not knowingly make a false statement
of material fact or law to a third person.




Practice Pointer - Cite to Rule 3.4 in
Instructions

»Duty of Defense Counsel Under the North Carolina Rules of Professional Responsibility. Rule
3.4 of the North Carolina Rules of Professional Responsibility prohibits attorneys from
unlawfully obstructing another party's access to evidence or unlawfully altering, destroying, or
concealing a document or other material having potential evidentiary value. Lawyers are also
prohibited from counseling or assisting their clients from undertaking any such acts. Lawyers,
not just clients, are further required to conduct a reasonably diligent search for responsive
documents and information sought by legally proper discovery requests. Accordingly, a lawyer
cannot ethically rely on his/her client to conduct a reasonably diligent search or assume the
client has not withheld documents. North Carolina Rules of Professional Responsibility requ1re
the attorney to look behind and confirm the client’s responses are compliant. The lawyer’s
oversight role is particularly important with respect to the review of electronically stored
information. Keyword searches are sought in these discovery requests and should be
conducted, or at the very least, reviewed by a third-party vendor or defense counsel.




WILLIAM E. BUFALINO
ATTORNEY AT LAW




Attorney-Client Privilege Basics

» Attorney Client Privilege: the belief tha
only “full and frank” communications
between attorney and client allow the
attorney to provide the best counsel...
benefits out-weighing the risks of truth-
finding posed by barring full disclosure
in court. In re Death of Miller, 357 N.C.
316, 329 (2003).

It rests on presumption that an
attorney can only render accurate
advice if the client fully and truthfully
discloses relevant facts.

188




Attorney-Client Privilege Basics

» For the attorney-client privilege to apply, the
communication must be:

» Between an attorney and a client
» Confidential
» Made for purpose of securing legal advice

» Made outside the presence of a third
party
» Not otherwise be waived

189




Hypothetical

» The Company’s CFO receives a spreadsheet from the

» The Company’s GC is among those copied, but the GC

>

190

CEO regarding a property valuation. The CFO forwards
it to a co-employee with several questions and
comments and copies several other executives, who
also comment and chime in.

provided no input or instructions on this issue and is
not specifically addressed in the CFO’s
communication.

IS THE EMAIL COMMUNICATION PRIVILEGED?



Waiver of the Attorney-Client
Privilege

» How can the privilege be waived?
» Disclosures to third parties

» Disclosure to corporate employees who do
not have a “need to know”

» Disclosure outside the company
» Exceptions for unauthorized disclosures

» Response to governmental investigation

» Response to auditor or accountant inquiry

» Insurance renewals

» Audit responses




Waiver of the Attorney-Client
Privilege

» When a lawyer receives a writing
that was mistakenly sent or
produced by the opposing lawyer or
party, he or she should promptly
alert the opponent so that the
opponent can take measures to
protect the client. N.C. Rules of
Prof’l Conduct R. 4.4(b).




Attorney-Client
Privilege Basics

» What is NOT protected by the attorney-client
privilege:

» Factual information

»What about a report from in-house
counsel reflecting the status of
litigation that also contains factual
information?

» Providing “business” advice instead of
legal advice

» The fact that a meeting occurred and the
general subject matter of the meeting

» Crime/Fraud exception

193




Presumption with Outside Counsel: Communications
between a corporation and its outside counsel are presumed
privileged and made to seek legal advice.

Roles of In-House Counsel: Can serve multiple functions
within the corporation, including legal and business, and
sometimes business only.

No In-House Counsel Presumption: the same presumption
that exists for communications vylth outside counsel does not
extend to communications with in-house counsel.




Dual Purpose Communications

» What if you have business and legal advice in one
communication — what happens?

»  Courts primarily use two different tests:

» A significant purpose test (also known as a primary
purpose test)

» The primary purpose test

» Earlier this year, the Supreme Court was set to make a
decision that would have produced uniformity across the
courts.
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The Primary Purpose:
communication is
privileged if the
primary purpose is to
obtain or provide legal
advice.

A Significant Purpose:
communication is
privileged if one of its
significant purposes is
providing or obtaining
legal advice.




Work-Product
Doctrine Basics

» Protects documents and tangible
things that are:

» Produced by an attorney or
party representative; and

» Made in anticipation of
litigation




Fed. R. Civ. P. 26(b)(3) codifies the common law
work product doctrine. It protects from
discovery documents and tangible things that
are prepared in anticipation of litigation or for
trial by or for another party or its
representative (including the other party’s
attorney, consultant, surety, indemnitor, insurer,
or agent). FED. R. CIV. P. 26(b)(3)(A).



Work Product Doctrine Basics

“In anticipation of litigation” consists

of two related concepts:

e Temporal: document must be prepared before
and in anticipation of, or during, litigation.

e Motivational: document must be prepared for
litigation and not some other purpose.

Is qualified, not an absolute privilege
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Question 1

» Is the intake form or pre-consult paperwork submitted to
counsel by a prospective client protected and non-
discoverable?

» Easy Scenario:
» Yes, if the potential client becomes an actual client

» NCRPR Rule 1.6 Confidentiality of Information

» (a) A lawyer shall not reveal information acquired
during the professional relationship with a client
unless the client gives informed consent, the
disclosure is impliedly authorized in order to carry out
the representation or the disclosure is permitted by
paragraph (b).




Common Law Privilege:

Protects communications with prospective clients
who engage in confidential communications with
lawyers who have invited such communications
and who explicitly or implicitly agree to keep them
confidential even if the prospective clients did not
retain the lawyers.

NCRPR 1.18: Duties of confidentiality to
Prospective Clients




203

Even when no client-lawyer relationship ensues, a lawyer who has learned information
from a prospective client shall not use or reveal that information . ..

A “prospective client” is a person who “consults with a lawyer about the possibility of
forming a client-lawyer relationship”

“Whether communications, including written, oral, or electronic communications,
constitute a consultation depends on the circumstances.”

The touchstone — did the client have a
“consult”?



204

A person who has a virtual or in person consult is a potential client — lawyer cannot disclose
the intake form if subpoenaed.

If no live consult,

A person who “unilaterally” submits information and documents to law firm (i.e., not
responding to law firm advertising or solicitation for submission on website) is not a
potential client, lawyer may produce records if subpoenaed.

If a lawyer’s website contains “clear and reasonably understandable warnings and
cautionary statements” and a live consultation does not ultimately occur, then submission
of intake form will likely not qualify person as “prospective client” and lawyer may produce
records if subpoenaed.

Lawyer website does not contain “clear and reasonably understandable warnings and
cautionary statements” and live consultation does not ultimately occur, then person
submitting intake form is protected as “prospective client” and lawyer may not produce
records if subpoenaed.
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Defense Counsel:

Discovery request: Identify all plaintiff firms you submitted intake forms or
information/documents to, and whether you had a consultation.

If no consultation occurred, examine firm website/intake form for disclaimer
disavowing confidentiality of process.

If disclaimer exists, subpoena law firm for intake form or seek to compel from
client and send RFP to client.

If no disclaimer or if website promises confidentiality of intake, drop it.

Plaintiff’s Counsel:

Use reverse disclaimer on your website to protect potential client intakes - Van
Kampen law: “If you are a potential client, please complete our Intake Form
for faster service. All information on this form is strictly confidential.
However, the mere submission of this form does not create an attorney-client
relationship.”



Are internal investigation documents created in anticipation of
litigation but not at the direction of counsel privileged?

Fed. R. Civ. P. 26(b)(3)(A) makes it clear that documents
produced by non-attorneys may also enjoy work product
privilege: (A) Documents and Tangible Things. Ordinarily, a
party may not discover documents and tangible things that
are prepared in anticipation of litigation or for trial by or for
another party or its representative (including the other
party's attorney, consultant, surety, indemnitor, insurer, or
agent).
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BUT:

If attorney is not involved, then it can be difficult to show
documents were actually prepared in anticipation of litigation
and require protection.

Materials prepared in the ordinary course of business or
pursuant to regulatory requirements or for other non-litigation
purposes are not documents prepared in anticipation of
litigation within the meaning of Rule 26(b)(3). See Nat'l Union
Fire Ins. Co. of Pittsburgh, Pa. v. Murray Sheet Metal Co., 967
F.2d 980, 984 (4th Cir. 1992) (citing Goosman v. A. Duie Pyle, Inc.,
320 F.2d 45, 52 (4th Cir.1963).
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Additionally, if the documents do not contain the mental
impressions, conclusions, opinions, or legal theories of an
attorney or other representative of a party concerning the
litigation, then they may be discoverable if the party
seeking the discovery "shows that it has substantial need
for the materials to prepare its case and cannot, without
undue hardship, obtain their substantial equivalent by other
means" Fed. R. Civ. P. 26(b)(3)(A)(ii).



Hypothetical

» VP of HR calls a meeting with the local HR Manager and a
supervisor to discuss performance concerns with an employee.

» The company’s GC is also invited to the meeting and the meeting
invite states, “for the purpose of legal advice.”

» Prior to the meeting, the VP of HR prepares a memorandum
outlining the timeline of the employee’s performance concerns.

» The VP of HR distributes the memorandum at the meeting.
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Hypothetical (continued)

» At the meeting, the GC makes small revisions to the memorandum
and adds one sentence concluding that the employee’s termination
would be considered “lawful.”

» After the meeting, the VP of HR revises the memorandum to
incorporate the GC’s edits and sends it back to the GC and notes,
“Please see the attached with your requested revisions.”

» The VP of HR marks the email “Privileged and Confidential.”
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Hypothetical (Questions)

» Are communications at the meeting privileged?

» The mere fact that in-house counsel is present at a meeting
does not shield otherwise unprivileged communications from
disclosure. See Neuder v. Battelle Pac. Nw. Nat. Lab'y, 194
F.R.D. 289, 293 (D.D.C. 2000).

» If the true intent of the meeting was to have the GC provide
legal guidance and the particular communications in the
meeting revolved around that need, then there would be a
stronger argument that the meeting was privileged.

» The fact that the GC’s invite to the meeting noted “legal
advice” is helpful to that argument and to clarify the intent of
the parties.
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Hypothetical (Questions)

» Are communications at the meeting privileged?

» If the intent of the meeting was simply to review the timeline
of the employee’s misconduct, that would not necessarily be
privileged and would be considered more business advice.

» Under the two different tests courts might view this meeting
in two different ways. Is the primary purpose truly to obtain
legal advice? Maybe not, thus no privilege. On the other hand,
a significant purpose test could hold differently. Part of the
significant purpose of the meeting was to obtain legal advice
and guidance about the termination, that could provide a
shield for the communications.
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Hypothetical (Questions)

» Is this memorandum privileged?

» If the GC was simply editing the facts or making small grammar
changes - that is not going to turn this memorandum into something
that is privileged.

» The addition of the sentence that notes the termination would be
“lawful” does not automatically transform this whole document into a
privileged document.

» The fact that the VP wrote “privileged and confidential” on the email
does not automatically make it privileged.

» The GC did not draft it and did not request it. The VP drafted it and
prepared it.

» If the facts were different, and the GC prepared the memorandum
and provided a legal analysis of the termination at the request of the
VP, that would lean heavily towards a privileged communication
especially with the significant purpose test.
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Practice Pointers

» Plaintiff Attorneys:
» Investigate and examine the purpose of communications.

» Investigate whether Defendant had adequate notice of potential claim
at the time document was created.

» Examine whether the type of investigation is nhormally done by
company when similar situation occurs.

» Defense Attorneys:

» Advise client to get legal counsel involved before initiating
investigation.

» Advise client to keep legal and business advice separate. When not
possible to keep separate, the best thing to do is make clear in a
communication when something is legal advice, when someone has
requested legal advice, and/or that the purpose of the
communication is legal advice.
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Must a party provide a privilege log?

requires that a party withholding information
“describe the nature of the documents, communications, or tangible
things not produced or disclosed—and do so in a manner that, without
revealing information itself privileged or protected, will enable other
parties to assess the claim.”

Most courts and some local rules require a privilege log.

Consequences for not providing . . . waiver

Kotsias v. CMCII, LLC, No. 1:15 CV 242, 2016 WL 6841080, at *2 (W.D.N.C. Nov. 21, 2016) (“’A
party simply cannot claim privilege and refuse to provide a privilege log; indeed, some
courts have found that doing so results in waiver of the privilege.””)

See Herbalife Int'l, Inc. v. St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co., No. 5:05CV41, 2006 WL 2715164, at
*4 (N.D.W.Va. Sept. 22, 2006) (“Failure to timely produce a privilege log or the production
of an inadequate privilege log may constitute waiver of any asserted privileges.”);
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https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000600&cite=USFRCPR26&originatingDoc=I41741f46e11b11dfb5fdfcf739be147c&refType=RB&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&ppcid=e2933ea714fe4c199619543e29f1753e&contextData=(sc.DocLink)#co_pp_980300006a160

What is required to be disclosed in a
privilege log?

Bates number and cross reference to respective RFP

Type of document (e.g., memo, email, notes), number of pages, if there are
attachments

Date
All participants/recipients (including names of attorney(s))
General description to permit analysis of privilege standard

It is the general description where the ethics danger lies. Rule 3.1 prohibits
lawyers from failing to disclose relevant evidence or unlawfully obstruct access
to evidence. Assume judge will conduct in camera review implicating
truthfulness to tribunal.
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Hypothetical - What if an email chain discusses Plaintiff’s termination and
disciplinary action issued to a peer or complaint made against supervisor that
was subject to a relevance objection?

Yes - must identify other personnel matters on two grounds: (i) they were withheld
documents based on an objection generally and (ii) D would otherwise assert
privilege as to the document.

Hypothetical - If privilege is only asserted as to portion or HR Director’s
notebook and remainder of notes of the day are non-privileged, should non-
privileged portion of notes be produced along with privilege log?

Yes - the privilege log does not replace the requirement to produce document
containing non-privileged information.



Always produce privilege log with initial
discovery responses to avoid waiver
argument, especially plaintiff’s lawyer
who will want “their side of the street
clean” when filing a motion to compel.

Avoid vague entries which will beget
motions to compel and in camera review.

Assume court will conduct in camera
review and ask:

Will the judge think | hid or
concealed necessary detail in the
description?

Did | withhold non-privileged
information or content in the
document prompting judge to say,
“why wasn’t this produced with
redaction for attorney client
content?”







About steps to preserve evidence

Document Preservation Letters generally
protected in absence of spoliation concerns

But steps taken by client to preserve
evidence even if directed by counsel are
not privileged.

Cannot instruct not to answer about client’s
actions to preserve or search for evidence.
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Plaintiff
Conduct 30b6 deposition about preservation efforts and search for responsive documents

“eBay stands for the proposition that the steps taken by a client to implement a litigation hold are

discoverable, without any showing of need, loss of ESI, or otherwise. Quite simply, those steps are
both relevant and unprivileged. As noted, however, the eBay court did not, on the facts presented,
permit discovery of counsel's litigation hold instructions to the client."

The Honorable Paul W. Grimm et. al., Discovery About Discovery: Does the Attorney-Client Privilege
Protect All Attorney-Client Communications Relating to the Preservation of Potentially Relevant
Information?, 37 U. Balt. L. Rev. 413, 427 (2008).

Issue litigation hold letters to clients in every case / put in fee agreement.
Defendant

Don’t put legal advice or analysis in litigation hold letters
Produce litigation hold letters that:
Are helpful to protect other attorney-client communications

Obtain Plaintiff stipulation production of preservation letter does not waive privilege as to other
comms.
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KEY FEATURES AND LINKS REGARDING FTC PROPOSED RULE BANNING EMPLOYMENT-BASED
NONCOMPETE COVENANTS.

Key Features:

The proposed rule’s reach is extensive and would supercede all contrary state law. If the proposed rule is
ultimately adopted, it would prohibit employers from requiring non-competes from employees and
independent contractors, and the prohibition would extend to all contract provisions that create "de
facto" non-compete clauses; e.g., any other contractual clause that may have the "effect" of prohibiting
workers from seeking or accepting other employment.

For example, a broadly worded NDA that has the "effect" of limiting a worker's mobility could also be
banned as could some existing training repayment arrangements and liquidated damages provisions that
require a departed employee to make a payment to their former employer in connection with their
election to compete in the contractually prohibited area.

The rule, if adopted, applies retroactively. Should the rule be enacted in its current form, not only would
preexisting non-compete agreements become unenforceable, but the rule would also require employers
to proactively rescind the non-compete, e.g.., to tell individual employees that such provisions are no
longer valid and have become void as a matter of law.

"Sale-of-business" noncompetes are granted an exception, but the exception only applies where the
individual has at least 25% ownership in the business. Nonsolicitation of customers and employees
provisions are not affected by the proposed rule.

Key Links Regarding the Proposed Rule and FTC Statements and Analysis:

(1) https://www.ftc.gov/news-events/news/press-releases/2023/01/ftc-proposes-rule-ban-
noncompete-clauses-which-hurt-workers-harm-competition

(2) https://www.ftc.gov/legal-library/browse/federal-register-notices/non-compete-clause-
rulemaking

(3) https://www.ftc.gov/legal-library/browse/cases-proceedings/public-statements/statement-
chair-lina-m-khan-joined-commissioners-slaughter-bedoya-concerning-notice-proposed

(4) https://www.ftc.gov/legal-library/browse/cases-proceedings/public-statements/statement-
commissioners-rebecca-kelly-slaughter-alvaro-m-bedoya-concerning-notice-proposed

(5) https://www.ftc.gov/legal-library/browse/cases-proceedings/public-statements/dissenting-
statement-commissioner-christine-s-wilson-concerning-notice-proposed-rulemaking-non

Potential Legal Challenges to the FTC’s Currently Proposed Rule

In the words of the FTC’s own dissenting member, “the NPRM is vulnerable to meritorious challenges
that (1) the Commission lacks authority to engage in “unfair methods of competition” rulemaking, (2)
the major questions doctrine addressed in West Virginia v. EPA applies, and the Commission lacks clear
Congressional authorization to undertake this initiative; and (3) assuming the agency does possess the
authority to engage in this rulemaking, it is an impermissible delegation of legislative authority under the
non-delegation doctrine, particularly because the Commission has replaced the consumer welfare
standard with one of multiple goals.” January 5 Statement of FTC Commissioner Christine S. Wilson
(emphasis supplied).
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What is the status of the proposed rule currently?

The FTC received approximately 27,000 comments during the public comment period that ended in April
of 2023. It has been reported that the FTC delayed its plan to formally vote to on a final rule until April
2024. ltis unclear whether the initially published proposed rule will be modified, potentially requiring a
new notice of potential rulemaking and public comment process.
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NOTICE: This opinion is subject to formal revision before publication in the
bound volumes of NLRB decisions. Readers are requested to notify the Ex-
ecutive Secretary, National Labor Relations Board, Washington, D.C.
20570, of any typographical or other formal errors so that corrections can
be included in the bound volumes.

McLaren Macomb and Local 40 RN Staff Council,

Office and Professional Employees, Internation-
al Union (OPEIU), AFL-CIO. Case 07-CA-

263041
February 21, 2023
DECISION AND ORDER
BY CHAIRMAN MCFERRAN AND MEMBERS KAPLAN,
WILCOX AND PROUTY

On August 31, 2021, Administrative Law Judge Rob-
ert A. Ringler issued the attached decision. The Re-
spondent filed exceptions and a supporting brief, and the
General Counsel filed an answering brief. The General
Counsel filed exceptions and a supporting brief, and the
Respondent filed an answering brief. The Charging Par-
ty filed an answering brief in support of the General
Counsel’s exceptions and in opposition to the Respond-
ent’s exceptions.

The National Labor Relations Board has considered
the decision and the record in light of the exceptions and
briefs and has decided to affirm the judge’s rulings, find-
ings, and conclusions only to the extent consistent with
this Decision and Order.!

The main issue presented is whether the Respondent
violated Section 8(a)(1) of the National Labor Relations
Act (Act) by offering a severance agreement to 11 bar-
gaining unit employees it permanently furloughed. The
agreement broadly prohibited them from making state-
ments that could disparage or harm the image of the Re-
spondent and further prohibited them from disclosing the
terms of the agreement. Agreements that contain broad
proscriptions on employee exercise of Section 7 rights
have long been held unlawful because they purport to
create an enforceable legal obligation to forfeit those

' We shall modify the judge’s recommended Order to conform to
the violations found, to the Board’s standard remedial language, and in
accordance with our decisions in Paragon Systems, Inc., 371 NLRB
No. 104 (2022), and Cascades Containerboard Packaging—Niagara,
370 NLRB No. 76 (2021), as modified in 371 NLRB No. 25 (2021). In
accordance with our decision in Thryv, Inc., 372 NLRB No. 22 (2022),
we have also amended the make-whole remedy and modified the
judge's recommended order to provide that the Respondent shall also
compensate the employees for any other direct or foreseeable pecuniary
harms incurred as a result of the unlawful furloughs, including reasona-
ble search-for-work and interim employment expenses, if any, regard-
less of whether these expenses exceed interim earnings. Compensation
for these harms shall be calculated separately from taxable net backpay,
with interest at the rate prescribed in New Horizons, 283 NLRB 1173
(1987), compounded daily as prescribed in Kentucky River Medical
Center, 356 NLRB 6 (2010). We shall substitute a new notice to con-
form to the Order as modified.

372 NLRB No. 58
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rights. Proffers of such agreements to employee have
also been held to be unlawfully coercive. The Board in
Baylor University Medical Center* and IGT d/b/a Inter-
national Game Technolog)® teversed this long-settled
precedent and replaced it with a test that fails to recog-
nize that unlawful provisions in a severance agreement
proffered to employees have a reasonable tendency to
interfere with, restrain, or coerce the exercise of employ-
ee rights under Section 7 of the Act. We accordingly
overrule Baylor and IGT and, upon careful analysis of
the terms of the nondisparagement and confidentiality
provisions at issue here, we find them to be unlawful,
and thus find the severance agreement proffered to em-
ployees unlawful.

L

The Respondent operates a hospital in Mt. Clemens,
Michigan, where it employs approximately 2300 em-
ployees. After an election on August 28, 2019, the
Board certified Local 40 RN Staff Council, Office of
Professional Employees International Union (OPEIU),
AFL-CIO (Union) as the exclusive collective-bargaining
representative of a unit of approximately 350 of the Re-
spondent’s service employees. Following the onset of
the Coronavirus Disease 2019 (Covid-19) pandemic in
March 2020,* the government issued regulations prohib-
iting the Respondent from performing elective and out-
patient procedures and from allowing nonessential em-
ployees to work inside the hospital. The Respondent
then terminated its outpatient services, admitted only
trauma, emergency, and Covid-19 patients, and tempo-
rarily furloughed 11 bargaining unit employees because
they were deemed nonessential employees.’ In June, the
Respondent permanently furloughed those 11 employees®
and contemporaneously presented each of them with a
“Severance Agreement, Waiver and Release” that offered
to pay differing severance amounts to each furloughed
employee if they signed the agreement. All 11 employ-
ees signed the agreement. The agreement required the
subject employee to release the Respondent from any
claims arising out of their employment or termination of
employment. The agreement further contained the fol-
lowing provisions broadly prohibiting disparagement of

2 369 NLRB No. 43 (2020).

3 370 NLRB No. 50 (2020).

4 All subsequent dates are in 2020.

5 The 11 employees primarily greeted patients and visitors in the
welcome area of the surgery center. The temporary furloughs are not
alleged to be unlawful.

¢ The permanently furloughed employees are Roxane Baker,
Shanon Chapp, Susan Debruyn, Amy LaFore, Mona Mathews, Brenda
Reaves, Patrina Russo, Linda Taylor, Tameshia Smith, Charles Step-
nitz, and Mary Valentino. No party disputes that their employment
with the Respondent permanently ended in June.
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the Respondent and requiring confidentiality about the
terms of the agreement:

6. Confidentiality Agreement. The Employee
acknowledges that the terms of this Agreement are
confidential and agrees not to disclose them to any
third person, other than spouse, or as necessary to
professional advisors for the purposes of obtaining
legal counsel or tax advice, or unless legally com-
pelled to do so by a court or administrative agency
of competent jurisdiction.

7. Non-Disclosure. At all times hereafter, the
Employee promises and agrees not to disclose in-
formation, knowledge or materials of a confidential,
privileged, or proprietary nature of which the Em-
ployee has or had knowledge of, or involvement
with, by reason of the Employee’s employment. At
all times hereafter, the Employee agrees not to make
statements to Employer’s employees or to the gen-
eral public which could disparage or harm the image
of Employer, its parent and affiliated entities and
their officers, directors, employees, agents and rep-
resentatives.

The agreement provided for substantial monetary and in-
junctive sanctions against the employee in the event the
nondisparagement and confidentiality proscriptions were
breached:

8. Injunctive Relief. In the event that Employee
violates the provisions of paragraphs 6 or 7, the Em-
ployer is hereby authorized and shall have the right
to seek and obtain injunctive relief in any court of
competent jurisdiction. If Employee individually or
by his/her attorneys or representative(s) shall violate
the provisions of paragraph 6 or 7, Employee shall
pay Employer actual damages, and any costs and at-
torney fees that are occasioned by the violation of
these paragraphs.

The Respondent neither gave the Union notice that it
was permanently furloughing the 11 employees nor an
opportunity to bargain regarding that decision and its
effects. The Respondent also did not give the Union
notice that it presented the severance agreement to the
employees, nor did it include the Union in its discussions
with the employees regarding their permanent furloughs
and the severance agreement. Thus, the Respondent en-
tirely bypassed and excluded the Union from the signifi-
cant workplace events here: employees’ permanent job
loss and eligibility for severance benefits.
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1I.

The judge found, and we agree for the reasons set forth
in his decision, that the Respondent violated Section
8(a)(5) and (1) of the Act by permanently furloughing
the 11 employees without first notifying the Union and
giving it an opportunity to bargain about the furlough
decision and its effects. The judge properly found that
the Respondent had not met its burden under RBE Elec-
tronics of S.D., Inc.” of establishing an economic exigen-
cy compelling prompt action that excused its failure to
satisfy its bargaining obligation.? We further agree with
the judge’s finding, as set forth in his decision, that the
Respondent violated Section 8(a)(5) and (1) of the Act
by communicating and directly dealing with the 11 em-
ployees to enter into the severance agreement, while en-
tirely bypassing and excluding the Union. However, for
the reasons set forth below, we reverse the judge’s find-
ing under Baylor and IGT that the Respondent did not
violate Section 8(a)(1) of the Act by proffering the sever-
ance agreement to the permanently furloughed employ-
ees.

III.
The gravamen of the General Counsel’s amended
complaint is that the nondisparagement and confidentiali-

ty provisions of the severance agreement unlawfully re-
strain and coerce the furloughed employees in the exer-

7 320 NLRB 80, 81 (1995). See Bottom Line Enterprises, 302
NLRB 373, 374 (1991), enfd. mem. sub nom. Master Window Clean-
ing, Inc. v. NLRB, 15 F.3d 1087 (9th Cir. 1994).

8 While we recognize, as did the judge, that the Covid-19 pandemic
presented a significant crisis in the health care industry, the Respondent
has simply failed to carry its heavy burden under RBE Electronics. The
Respondent argues that “there can be no genuine dispute” that it was
“losing business and suffering a financial decline” during the Covid-19
pandemic. As the judge explained, however, the Respondent failed to
adduce even a single balance sheet or financial statement establishing a
major economic effect on it from the pandemic. Further, the Respond-
ent’s reliance on governmental restrictions on its operations that were
imposed in March is insufficient to establish economic exigency.
While the Respondent responded to those restrictions by temporarily
furloughing the 11 employees in March, it has failed to show that con-
ditions had changed in June in such a manner that required it to imme-
diately permanently furlough them at that time without bargaining with
the Union. Port Printing AD & Specialties, 351 NLRB 1269 (2007),
enfd. 589 F.3d 812 (5th Cir. 2009), relied on by the Respondent, is
inapposite. The employer’s failure there to bargain over layoffs was
excused under the economic exigency exception because of an immedi-
ate, mandatory, citywide evacuation order due to an impending hurri-
cane. Such patent evidence of an unexpected shutdown resulting in
forced layoffs is lacking here.

Because no party has excepted to the applicability of RBE Electron-
ics, and because the Respondent has failed to show economic exigency
under RBE, we find it unnecessary to pass on whether the economic
exigency defense is available to an employer who—as here—was test-
ing the validity of the union certification by refusing generally to rec-
ognize and bargain with the union at the time it acted unilaterally. See
Thesis Painting, Inc., 365 NLRB No. 142, slip op. at 1 fn. 2 (2017).
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cise of their Section 7 rights.® Applying Baylor and IGT,
the judge found these provisions to be lawful, and thus
concluded that the severance agreement was lawful and
that the proffer of the agreement to the furloughed em-
ployees was lawful. The General Counsel excepts to the
dismissal and argues, among other things, that the Board
should overrule Baylor and IGT. We agree.

Until Baylor, when faced with an allegation that a sev-
erance agreement violated the Act, Board precedent fo-
cused on the language of the severance agreement to
determine whether proffering the agreement had a rea-
sonable tendency to interfere with, restrain, or coerce
employees’ exercise of their Section 7 rights.!® For ex-
ample, in Metro Networks, the Board specifically ana-
lyzed the nonassistance and nondisclosure provisions of
the severance agreement at issue and found that “the
plain language of the severance agreement would prohib-
it [employee] Brocklehurst from cooperating with the
Board in important aspects of the investigation and litiga-
tion of unfair labor practice charges.” 336 NLRB at 67.
The Board accordingly concluded that the proffer of the
severance agreement to Brocklehurst was unlawful. 1d.,
at 65—67. In Clark Distribution Systems, the Board like-

® The amended complaint alleges that the two provisions threatened
employees with the loss of benefits described in the severance agree-
ment and that the Respondent thereby has been interfering with, re-
straining, and coercing employees in the exercise of the rights guaran-
teed them in Sec. 7 of the Act in violation of Sec. 8(a)(1) of the Act.
We disagree with our colleague’s assertion that the General Counsel
litigated the case on a “different theory” than whether the proffer of the
agreements was, as our colleague phrases it, “merely coercive.” In both
her post-hearing brief and her brief in support of exceptions, the Gen-
eral Counsel asserted that, “[i]n determining whether an employer has
violated the Act through interference, restraint, and coercion under Sec.
8(a)(1), one must apply the Board’s well-established objective test,
which depends on ‘whether the employer engaged in conduct which, it
may reasonably be said, tends to interfere with the free exercise of
employee rights under the Act,”” and that “[t]he test of whether a
statement is unlawful is whether the words could reasonably be con-
strued as coercive, whether or not that is the only reasonable construc-
tion.” (Citations omitted.) Thus, the Respondent has at all times been
on notice that the coerciveness of the provisions was under considera-
tion, the parties fully and fairly litigated the issue, and there is no mean-
ingful difference between the complaint allegations and the violations
found. See, e.g., Standard-Coosa-Thatcher Carpet Yarn Div., Inc. v.
NLRB, 691 F.2d 1133, 1136 fn. 3 (4th Cir. 1982) (rejecting employer’s
argument of improper variance between allegation that employer un-
lawfully threatened loss of benefits and finding that employer unlawful-
ly promised benefits where benefits contingent on same employee
action and issue fully litigated), cert. denied 460 U.S. 1083 (1983). We
agree with the General Counsel that the proffer of the severance agree-
ments unlawfully threatened employees with the loss of the severance
benefits by conditioning the receipt of those benefits on acceptance of
unlawfully coercive terms.

10 See, e.g., Shamrock Foods Co., 366 NLRB No. 117 (2018), enfd.
779 Fed. Appx. 752 (D.C. Cir. 2019); Clark Distribution Systems, 336
NLRB 747 (2001); Metro Networks, 336 NLRB 63 (2001); Phillips
Pipe Line Co., 302 NLRB 732 (1991).
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wise carefully scrutinized the language of the confidenti-
ality provision contained in the severance agreement
offered to employees. The Board found that the lan-
guage of the provision prohibited employees from partic-
ipating in the Board’s investigative process, and thus,
that the proffer of the severance agreement was unlawful.
336 NLRB at 748-749. More recently, in Shamrock
Foods Co., the Board found that a separation agreement
proffered to an employee that contained confidentiality
and non-disparagement provisions was unlawful. The
Board, citing and analyzing the specific language of the
provisions, found the agreement unlawful because the
provisions “broadly required” the employee to whom it
was proffered “to waive certain Sec[tion] 7 rights.” Spe-
cifically, the separation agreement prevented him from
assisting his former co-workers, disclosing information
to the Board, and making disparaging remarks which
could be detrimental to the employer. 366 NLRB No.
117, slip op. at 3 fn. 12.

In none of these cases was the presence of additional
unlawful conduct by the employer necessary to find that
the plain language of the agreement violated the Act.!!
Rather, the Board treated the legality of a severance
agreement provision as an entirely independent issue.
What mattered was whether the agreement, on its face,
restricted the exercise of statutory rights.!?

In Baylor, the Board abandoned examination and anal-
ysis of the severance agreement at issue. Baylor shifted
focus instead to the circumstances under which the
agreement was presented to employees. The Baylor
Board held that the Respondent did not violate the Act by
the “mere proffer” of a severance agreement that re-

" In Shamrock Foods, the Board found that the employer had unlaw-
fully discharged the employee to whom it offered the unlawful separa-
tion agreement, but the maintenance of the agreement was an inde-
pendent violation of Sec. 8(a)(1), separately found and separately rem-
edied, that was based entirely on the provisions of the agreement that
would have required the employee to waive Sec. 7 rights. 366 NLRB
No. 117, slip op. at 2-3 & fn. 12. In Clark Distribution Systems, the
Board’s finding that the confidentiality provision in the severance
agreement was unlawful on its face was entirely separate from the issue
of whether the employees who signed the agreement had been unlaw-
fully terminated. See id. at 749-750 (examining terminations). In Met-
ro Networks, severance agreements were found unlawful based on the
terms of the agreement, independent of the discharge allegations in the
case. 336 NLRB at 66—67. Indeed, the Metro Networks Board observed
that an employer’s restriction on the exercise of a discharged employ-
ee’s Sec. 7 rights may be found unlawful even where the Board does
“not address the question of whether the discharge was unlawful.” Id. at
66 (footnote omitted).

12 Thus, in Phillips Pipe Line Co., the Board examined the facial
language of the severance agreement at issue, and found “it clear from
the language of the release itself” that it did not unlawfully waive the
employees’ right of access to the Board. 302 NLRB at 732-733. It was
immaterial that the Board dismissed an additional unfair labor practice
allegation. Id.
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quired the signer to agree not to “pursue, assist, or partic-
ipate in any [c]laim” against Baylor and to keep a broad
swath of information confidential. Baylor, supra, slip op.
at 1. The Board reasoned that the agreement was not
mandatory, pertained exclusively to post-employment
activities and, therefore, had no impact on terms and
conditions of employment, and there was no allegation
that anyone offered the agreement had been unlawfully
discharged or that the agreement was proffered under
circumstances that would tend to infringe on Section 7
rights. Id., slip op. at 1-2. The Baylor Board overruled
prior decisions to the extent they held to the contrary:

Clark Distribution Systems is overruled to the extent it
holds that it is invariably unlawful to offer employees a
severance agreement that includes a nonassistance
clause. Instead, the holding of Clark is limited to the
fact pattern that case presents, where an employer of-
fers such an agreement to one or more employees it has
discharged in violation of the Act. And Metro Net-
works, supra, and Shamrock Foods, supra, are also lim-
ited accordingly.

369 NLRB No. 143, slip op. at 2 fn. 6.

Only a few months later, in /GT, the Board again dis-
missed an allegation that the respondent maintained an
unlawful nondisparagement provision in the severance
agreement it offered to separated employees. The provi-
sion required the signer to agree not to “disparate or dis-
credit IGT or any of its affiliates, officers, directors and
employees.” IGT, supra, slip op. at 1. Citing Baylor, the
Board again reasoned that the agreement was “entirely
voluntary, does not affect pay or benefits that were estab-
lished as terms of employment, and has not been prof-
fered coercively.” 1d., slip op. at 2.!* The IGT Board
underscored that Baylor had “overruled” Shamrock
Foods, Clark Distribution Systems, and Metro Net-
works.'

13 Then-Member McFerran, dissenting in /GT, argued that the Bay-
lor Board had wrongly broken with precedent and “ignore[d] the coer-
cive potential that is inherent in any agreement requiring workers not to
engage in protected concerted activity, if they wish to receive the bene-
fits of the agreement.” IGT, 370 NLRB No. 50, slip op. at 3. She
asserted that “[e]ven a broad voluntary waiver of statutory rights un-
dermines the public purposes of the Act, which depend on the freedom
of all employees to engage in Section 7 activity, and to support each
other in doing so,” and that Sec. 7 rights do not depend on the existence
of an employment relationship and have long been held to extend to
former employees. Id., slip op. at 5.

4 See IGT, slip. op. at 2, fn. 8 (“the Board overruled those cases to
the extent they suggested it is ‘invariably unlawful to offer employees a
severance agreement that includes a nonassistance clause’ or other
similar prohibitions,” quoting Baylor, slip op. at 2 fn. 6 (emphasis
added in IGT).
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As discussed below, Baylor and IGT are flawed in
multiple respects. We therefore overrule both decisions
and return to the prior, well-established principle that a
severance agreement is unlawful if its terms have a rea-
sonable tendency to interfere with, restrain, or coerce
employees in the exercise of their Section 7 rights, and
that employers' proffer of such agreements to employees
is unlawful. In making that determination we will exam-
ine, as pre-Baylor precedent did, the language of the
agreement, including whether any relinquishment of Sec-
tion 7 rights is narrowly tailored.

Notably absent from either Baylor or IGT was any
analysis of the specific language in the challenged provi-
sions of the severance agreements. That is because, un-
der those decisions, an employer’s mere proffer to em-
ployees of a severance agreement with unlawful provi-
sions cannot be unlawful. Under Baylor, coercive lan-
guage cannot have a reasonable tendency to coerce em-
ployees unless it is also proffered in circumstances
deemed coercive, independent of the agreement itself.
See IGT, slip op. at 2; Baylor, slip op. at 1-2. In this
respect the Baylor Board “entirely failed to consider an
important aspect of the problem,” making its decision
arbitrary under the Supreme Court’s standard in Motor
Vehicle Manufacturers Assn. v. State Farm Auto Mutual
Insurance Co., 463 U.S. 29, 43 (1983).

The Baylor test arbitrarily adopts a two-factor analysis
for finding that a severance agreement violates Section
8(a)(1) of the Act. First, it requires the employer proffer-
ing the severance agreement to have discharged its recip-
ient in violation of the Act, or committed another unfair
labor practice discriminating against employees under
the Act.!® Baylor thus held that absent such unlawful

15 Baylor rejected the allegation that the proffer of the agreement
there was unlawful because “[t]he complaint does not allege that . . .
anyone . . . offered th[e] agreement was unlawfully discharged for
conduct protected by the Act, or that the Respondent’s proffers were
made under any circumstances that would tend to infringe on the sepa-
rating employees’ exercise of their own Section 7 rights or those of
coworkers.” Baylor, supra, slip op. at 2 (footnotes omitted). Similarly,
Baylor concluded that the proffer of the agreement was lawful because
“the complaint does not allege that the Respondent has violated the Act
in any way other than by offering the severance agreements them-
selves”) (emphasis in original). Id., slip op. at 2, fn. 6.

The Board majority in /GT further held that only certain unfair labor
practices will suffice to find a violation under Baylor: violations which
“support a finding that the Respondent has discriminated against em-
ployees for engaging in Sec. 7 activity.” See /G7T, slip op. at 2 fn. 7
(quoting Baylor, slip op. at 2. fn. 6). As the /GT majority held,
“[a]lthough we found in our original decision that the Respondent
unlawfully refused to bargain over a subcontracting decision and
threatened employees, during bargaining, with a loss of overtime, such
violations do not support a finding that the Respondent has discriminat-
ed against employees for engaging in Sec. 7 activity.” /GT, slip op. at 2
fn. 7.
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coercive circumstances, an employer is entirely free to
proffer any provision, even a facially unlawful one. The
Board did not explain what legitimate employer interest
is served by permitting that step, which reasonably could
result in the employee’s acceptance of the agreement
(and its unlawful provisions) and, in turn, the employee’s
decision not to violate the agreement by exercising Sec-
tion 7 rights. Nor did the Board offer a persuasive reason
to find that an agreement with an unlawful provision has
no reasonable tendency to coerce employees unless the
employer has a proclivity to violate the Act otherwise or
has violated the Act or infringed on employees’ Section
7 rights while carrying out actions surrounding the provi-
sion of the severance agreement. The presence of such
exacerbating circumstances certainly enhances the coer-
cive potential of the severance agreement. But the ab-
sence of such behavior does not and cannot eliminate the
potential chilling effect of an unlawful severance agree-
ment on the exercise of Section 7 rights. And yet, the
standard set by Baylor does nothing to protect employees
confronted with patently coercive severance agreements,
if their employer has not otherwise violated the Act.'®

Second, the Baylor test is incorrectly premised on the
contention that employer animus towards the exercise of
Section 7 rights is a relevant component of an allegation
that provisions of a severance agreement violate Section
8(a)(1) of the Act. The Board in Baylor justified its re-
fusal to find a violation of the Act on grounds that
“[t]here is no reason to believe that the Respondent har-
bors animus against Sec. 7 activity, let alone that it is
willing to terminate employees who engage in it. Under
these circumstances, the offer of a severance agreement
does not reasonably tend to interfere with the free exer-
cise of employee rights under the Act[.]”) (emphasis in
original). 369 NLRB No. 43, slip op. at 2, fn. 6. The IGT
majority made the same finding.!”

16 The dissent maintains that objectively coercive circumstances oth-
er than unlawful discharges or other discriminatory unfair labor prac-
tices are sufficient to find unlawful the proffer of a severance agree-
ment under Baylor and IGT. However, neither Baylor nor IGT identi-
fies such other circumstances. Nor does the dissent. In any event, this
is beside the point. The key point is that the absence of additional
objectively coercive misconduct by the employer external to the sever-
ance agreements does not ameliorate the reasonable tendency of an
unlawful provision in a severance agreement to coerce employees in
their exercise of their Sec. 7 rights.

17 See IGT, slip op. at 2 (finding the proffer of the agreement lawful
because “this case does not involve 8(a)(3) allegations or evidence of
other unlawful discrimination”). Animus against Sec. 7 activity is a
long-established required component to find unlawful discrimination
under Sec. 8(a)(3) of the Act. See, e.g., Constellium Rolled Products
Ravenswood, LLC, 371 NLRB No. 16, slip op. 2-3 (2021), enfd. 45
F.4th 234 (D.C. Cir. 2022).
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But whether an employer harbors animus against Sec-
tion 7 activity is irrelevant to the long-established objec-
tive test for determining whether Section 8(a)(1) of the
Act is violated. “It is well settled that the test of interfer-
ence, restraint, and coercion under Section 8(a) (1) of the
Act does not turn on the employer's motive or on whether
the coercion succeeded or failed. The test is whether the
employer engaged in conduct which, it may reasonably
be said, tends to interfere with the free exercise of em-
ployee rights under the Act.” American Freightways
Co., Inc., 124 NLRB 146, 147 (1959). Consistent with
Section 8(a)(1) law generally, evaluation of the tendency
of a severance agreement to coerce (and therefore its
lawfulness) does not involve inquiring, as did the Board
in Baylor and IGT, whether employer animus surrounds
or infects the circumstances surrounding the offer of the
severance agreement. The Baylor Board offered no justi-
fication for its consideration of animus and discrimina-
tion apart from the terms of the severance agreement,
which altered the long-established construction of Sec-
tion 8(a)(1) of the Act.'®

Indeed, neither Baylor nor the /GT majority attempted
to articulate any policy considerations that would justify
its severely constricted view of Section 7 rights. The
IGT majority reasons that because some employee waiv-
ers of Section 7 rights are permissible, no waivers can be
facially unlawful, but this is a non sequitur. Whether or
not employees view employer documents through the
prism of Section 7 rights (a proposition questioned by the
IGT majority), the Board must do so when the General
Counsel issues a complaint alleging that a severance
agreement violates employee Section 7 rights. Because
both Baylor and the /GT majority fail this test, we over-
rule them.

Iv.

Baylor and the IGT majority ignore well-established
precedent concerning waiver of employee rights. The
Board does not write on a clean slate regarding employee
waiver of Section 7 rights via a severance agreement.
There is a backdrop of nearly a century of settled law that
employees may not broadly waive their rights under the
NLRA." Agreements between employers and employ-
ees that restrict employees from engaging in activity pro-
tected by the Act,?’ or from filing unfair labor practice

'8 The dissent’s assertion that Baylor does not suggest that an em-
ployer must exhibit animus in order for the Board to find the proffer of
a severance agreement unlawful cannot be squared with Baylor’s con-
sideration and focus on animus and related discrimination.

19 National Licorice Co. v. NLRB, 309 U.S. 350, 360-361 (1940).

20 See M & M Affordable Plumbing, Inc., 362 NLRB 1303, 1308
(2015) (“Since the enactment of the Norris-LaGuardia Act (29 U.S.C.
§101 et seq.) in 1932, all variations of the yellow dog contract have
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charges with the Board, assisting other employees in
doing so, or assisting the Board’s investigative process,?!
have been consistently deemed unlawful. The “future
rights of employees as well as the rights of the public
may not be traded away” in a manner which requires
“forebearance from future charges and concerted activi-
ties.”?>  This broad proscription underscores that the
Board acts in a public capacity to protect public rights to
give effect to the declared public policy of the Act. See
National Licorice Co. v. NLRB, supra, 309 U.S. at 362-
364.%

The broad scope and the wide protection afforded em-
ployees by Section 7 of the Act bear repeating. “It is
axiomatic that discussing terms and conditions of em-
ployment with coworkers lies at the heart of protected
Section 7 activity.” St. Margaret Mercy Healthcare Cen-
ters, 350 NLRB 203, 205 (2007), enfd. 519 F.3d 373 (7th
Cir. 2008). Section 7 rights are not limited to discussions
with coworkers, as they do not depend on the existence
of an employment relationship between the employee
and the employer,?* and the Board has repeatedly af-
firmed that such rights extend to former employees.?® It
is further long-established that Section 7 protections ex-
tend to employee efforts to improve terms and conditions
of employment or otherwise improve their lot as employ-
ees through channels outside the immediate employee-
employer relationship. See Eastex, Inc. v. NLRB, 437
U.S. 556, 565 (1978). These channels include adminis-
trative, judicial, legislative, and political forums,?® news-
papers,?’” the media,?® social media,”” and communica-

been deemed invalid and unenforceable, including ‘[a]ny promise by a
statutory employee to refrain from union activity.” Barrow Utilities &
Electric, 308 NLRB 4, 11 fn. 5 (1992).”).

2l See, e.g., Shamrock Foods Co., supra, 366 NLRB No. 117, slip
op. at 2-3 & fn. 12; Ishikawa Gasket America, 337 NLRB 175, 175—
176 (2001), affd. 354 F.3d 534 (6th Cir. —2004); Clark Distribution
Systems, supra, 336 NLRB at 748749; Metro Networks, supra, 336
NLRB at 64-67; Mandel Security Bureau, 202 NLRB 117, 119 (1973).

22 Mandel Security Bureau, supra, at 119.

23 See Robinson Freight Lines, 117 NLRB 1483, 1485 (1957) (the
Board's power to prevent unfair labor practices “is to be performed in
the public interest and not in vindication of private rights”).

24 The Act confers Sec. 7 rights on statutory employees. Sec. 2(3) of
the Act provides in relevant part that “[t]he term ‘employee’ shall in-
clude any employee, and shall not be limited to the employees of a
particular employer.”

25 See Waco, Inc., 273 NLRB 746, 747 fn. 8 (1984); Little Rock
Crate & Basket Co., 227 NLRB 1406, 1406 (1977); Briggs Manufac-
turing Co., 75 NLRB 569, 570 (1947). See, e.g., Cedars-Sinai Medical
Center, 368 NLRB No. 83, slip op. at 8 fn. 7 (2019).

26 See Eastex, Inc. v. NLRB, supra, 437 U.S. at 565 (“Congress knew
well enough that labor's cause often is advanced on fronts other than
collective bargaining and grievance settlement within the immediate
employment context.”).

27 See Hacienda de Salud-Espanola, 317 NLRB 962, 966 (1995).

28 See Tesla, Inc., 370 NLRB No. 101, slip op. at 4 (2021).
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tions to the public that are part of and related to an ongo-
ing labor dispute.’® Accordingly, Section 7 affords pro-
tection for employees who engage in communications
with a wide range of third parties in circumstances where
the communication is related to an ongoing labor dispute
and when the communication is not so disloyal, reckless,
or maliciously untrue to lose the Act's protection. See
NLRB v. Electrical Workers Local 1229 (Jefferson
Standard Broadcasting Co.), 346 U.S. 464, 477 (1953).3!

The Board is tasked with safeguarding the integrity of
its processes for employees exercising their Section 7
rights.3?  “Congress has made it clear that it wishes all
persons with information about [unfair labor] practices to
be completely free from coercion against reporting them
to the Board.” Nash v. Florida Industrial Comm'n, 389
U.S. 235, 238 (1967). “This complete freedom is neces-
sary . . . ‘to prevent the Board's channels of information
from being dried up by employer intimidation of pro-
spective complainants and witnesses.”” NLRB v. Scrive-
ner, 405 U.S. 117, 122 (1972), quoting John Hancock
Mut. Life Ins. Co. v. NLRB, 191 F.2d 483, 485 (1951).
“It is also consistent with the fact that the Board does not
initiate its own proceedings; implementation is depend-
ent ‘upon the initiative of individual persons.”” NLRB v.
Scrivener, 405 U.S at 122, quoting Nash v. Florida In-
dustrial Comm'n, supra, 389 U.S. at 238. The Board’s
“‘ability to secure vindication of rights protected by the
Act depends in large measure upon the ability of its
agents to investigate charges fully to obtain relevant in-
formation and supporting statements from individu-
als[,]’”” and “such investigations often rely heavily on the
voluntary assistance of individuals in providing infor-
mation.” Metro Networks, supra, 336 NLRB at 67, quot-
ing Certain-Teed Products, 147 NLRB 1517, 1519-1520
(1964) and citing NLRB v. Scrivener, supra, 405 U.S at
122.

It is through the lens of this broad grant of rights and
the Board’s duty to protect them that the Board scrutiniz-

2 See Triple Play Sports Bar & Grille, 361 NLRB 308, 308-309
(2014), affd. 629 Fed.Appx. 33 (2d Cir. 2015).

30 See, e.g., Valley Hospital Medical Center, 351 NLRB 1250, 1252
(2007), enfd. sub nom. Nevada Service Employees, Local 1107 v.
NLRB, 358 Fed. Appx. 783 (9th Cir. 2009); Allied Aviation Service Co.
of New Jersey, Inc., 248 NLRB 229, 230-231 (1980), enfd. mem. 636
F.2d 1210 (3d Cir. 1980).

31 The definition of “labor dispute” under Sec. 2(9) of the Act, is it-
self broad, and includes “any controversy concerning terms, tenure, or
conditions of employment . . . regardless of whether the disputants
stand in the proximate relation of employer and employee.” (Emphasis
supplied.)

32 Metro Networks, supra, 336 NLRB at 66. See Filmation Associ-
ates, 227 NLRB 1721, 1721 (1977) (“[T]he duty to preserve the
Board's processes from abuse is a function of th[e] Board and may not
be delegated to the parties”).
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es a severance agreement containing provisions alleged
to violate Section 8(a)(1) of the Act. Inherent in any
proffered severance agreement requiring workers not to
engage in protected concerted activity is the coercive
potential of the overly broad surrender of NLRA rights if
they wish to receive the benefits of the agreement.
Accordingly, we return to the approach followed by
Board precedent before Baylor, and hold that an employ-
er violates Section 8(a)(1) of the Act when it proffers a
severance agreement with provisions that would restrict
employees’ exercise of their NLRA rights.>* Such an
agreement has a reasonable tendency to restrain, coerce,
or interfere with the exercise of Section 7 rights by em-
ployees, regardless of the surrounding circumstances.
Certainly such surrounding circumstances may en-
hance the reasonable tendency of the severance agree-
ment to coerce employees, but that tendency does not
depend on them.*> Where an agreement unlawfully con-
ditions receipt of severance benefits on the forfeiture of
statutory rights, the mere proffer of the agreement itself
violates the Act, because it has a reasonable tendency to
interfere with or restrain the prospective exercise of Sec-
tion 7 rights, both by the separating employee and those
who remain employed.’® Whether the employee accepts

33 This is what happened in Clark Distribution. An employee signed
a severance agreement, found unlawful by the Board, in which he
promised not to “assist in the prosecution of any claims . . . against the
company.” When the employee was contacted by a Board agent in the
course of an unfair labor practice investigation, he subsequently refused
to assist a Board agent’s investigation, expressing fear that he would
lose his severance pay under the agreement and be sued by the employ-
er. 336 NLRB at 748.

34 See, e.g., Shamrock Foods Co., supra, 366 NLRB No. 117; Clark
Distribution Systems, supra, 336 NLRB 747; Metro Networks, supra,
336 NLRB 63; Phillips Pipe Line Co., supra, 302 NLRB 732.

The Board applies Independent Stave, 287 NLRB 740 (1987), when
analyzing the validity of a severance agreement presented as a defense
to Board liability. See A.S.V., Inc., 366 NLRB No. 162 (2018); BP
Amoco Chemical-Chocolate Bayou, 351 NLRB 614 (2007); Webco
Industries, 334 NLRB 608 (2001), enfd. 90 Fed.Appx. 276 (10th Cir.
2003); Hughes Christenson Co., 317 NLRB 633 (1995), enf. denied on
other grounds 101 F.3d 28 (5th Cir. 1996). However, where, as here,
specific provisions of the proffered severance agreement are alleged to
be unlawful, the Board analyzes the provisions under the traditional
Sec. 8(a)(1) objective test, entirely apart from Independent Stave. See
A.S.V., Inc., supra, slip op. at 3 (“Separate from the application of Inde-
pendent Stave, the judge also properly found . . . that several of the
requirements imposed by the severance agreement would reasonably
tend to chill statutorily protected activity, and that the agreements were
unenforceable on that independent ground.”). Under either analytical
approach, the Board will not endorse an agreement containing unlawful
provisions that are at odds with the Act or the Board’s policies. See
Metro Networks, supra, 336 NLRB at 66 fn. 17.

35 See fn. 11, supra.

36 The Board must carefully scrutinize proffered separation agree-
ments that require the waiver of statutory rights because of the high
potential for coercion in these circumstances. When an agreement is
proffered as the quid pro quo for receiving severance benefits, it is
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the agreement is immaterial. As the Board explained in
Metro Networks, the employer’s “proffer of the sever-
ance agreement . . . constitutes an attempt to deter [the
employee] from assisting the Board” and the employee’s
“conduct in not signing the agreement [did] not render
the [employer’s] conduct lawful.” 336 NLRB at 67 fn.

20 (empbhasis in original).37 If the law were to the contra-
ry, it would create an incentive for employers to proffer
severance agreements with unlawful provisions to em-
ployees. Only if the employee signed the agreement,
subjected herself to its unlawful requirements, and then
came to the Board would the Board be able to address
the situation, belatedly. No policy of the Act is served
by creating this obstacle to the effective protection of
Section 7 rights. In fact, under established standards, no
showing of actual coercion is required to prove a viola-
tion of Section 8(a)(1) of the Act. Rather, it is the high
potential that coercive terms in separation agreements
may chill the exercise of Section 7 rights that dictates the
Board’s traditional approach of viewing severance
agreements requiring the forfeiture of Section 7 rights—
whether accepted or merely proffered—as unlawful un-
less narrowly tailored.*®

V.

Examining the language of the severance agreement
here, we conclude that the nondisparagement and confi-
dentiality provisions interfere with, restrain, or coerce
employees’ exercise of Section 7 rights. Because the
agreement conditioned the receipt of severance benefits
on the employees’ acceptance of those unlawful provi-
sions, we find that the Respondent’s proffer of the

generally on a take-it-or-leave-it basis and occurs at a time when an
employee is particularly vulnerable and unlikely to seek to vary the
terms of the agreement.

37 Similarly, in Shamrock Foods, supra, the respondent’s presenta-
tion of a separation agreement to a discharged employee, which he was
not required to sign and did not sign, violated Sec. 8(a)(1) of the Act
because terms of the agreement “broadly required [the employee] to
waive certain Sec[tion] 7 rights.” 366 NLRB No. 117, slip op. at 2-3 &
fn. 12. In Clark Distribution, supra, the Board adopted the judge’s
finding that the respondent had violated Sec. 8(a)(1) “by conditioning
acceptance of [a] severance package on a requirement that employees
not participate in the Board’s investigative process.” 336 NLRB at
748. As the judge’s decision adopted by the Board explained, the Gen-
eral Counsel had “allege[d] that the terms of the severance agreement
violated Section 8(a)(1).” Id. at 761. The judge agreed, explaining that
the agreement was “an overbroad restriction of the [statutory] rights of
employees.” Id. at 762. It was the offer that was unlawful.

3% We are not called on in this case to define today the meaning of a
“narrowly tailored” forfeiture of Sec. 7 rights in a severance agreement,
but we note that prior decisions have approved severance agreements
where the releases waived only the signing employee’s right to pursue
employment claims and only as to claims arising as of the date of the
agreement. See Hughes Christensen Co., supra, 317 NLRB 633; and
First National Supermarkets, supra, 302 NLRB 727.
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agreement to employees violated Section 8(a)(1) of the
Act.

The nondisparagement provision on its face substan-
tially interferes with employees’ Section 7 rights. Public
statements by employees about the workplace are central
to the exercise of employee rights under the Act>® Yet
the broad provision at issue here prohibits the employee
from making any “statements to [the] Employer’s em-
ployees or to the general public which could disparage or
harm the image of [the] Employer”—including, it would
seem, any statement asserting that the Respondent had
violated the Act (as by, for example, proffering a settle-
ment agreement with unlawful provisions). This far-
reaching proscription—which is not even limited to mat-
ters regarding past employment with the Respondent—
provides no definition of disparagement that cabins that
term to its well-established NLRA definition under
NLRB v. Electrical Workers Local 1229 (Jefferson
Standard Broadcasting Co.), supra, 346 U.S. at 477.
Instead, the comprehensive ban would encompass em-
ployee conduct regarding any labor issue, dispute, or
term and condition of employment of the Respondent.
As we explained above, however, employee critique of
employer policy pursuant to the clear right under the Act
to publicize labor disputes is subject only to the require-
ment that employees' communications not be so “disloy-
al, reckless or maliciously untrue as to lose the Act's pro-
tection.” Emarco, Inc., 284 NLRB 832, 833 (1987).4

Further, the ban expansively applies to statements not
only toward the Respondent but also to “its parents and
affiliated entities and their officers, directors, employees,
agents and representatives.” The provision further has
no temporal limitation but applies “[a]t all times hereaf-
ter.” The end result is a sweepingly broad bar that has a
clear chilling tendency on the exercise of Section 7 rights
by the subject employee. This chilling tendency extends
to efforts to assist fellow employees, which would in-
clude future cooperation with the Board’s investigation
and litigation of unfair labor practices with regard to any
matter arising under the NLRA at any time in the future,
for fear of violating the severance agreement’s general
proscription against disparagement and incurring its very
significant sanctions. The same chilling tendency would
extend to efforts by furloughed employees to raise or
assist complaints about the Respondent with their former

39 See Valley Hospital Medical Center, supra, 351 NLRB at 1252.

40 See Valley Hospital Medical Center, 351 NLRB at 1252 (“To lose
the Act's protection as an act of disloyalty, an employee's public criti-
cism of an employer must evidence a malicious motive” or be “mali-
ciously untrue, i.e., if they are made with knowledge of their falsity or
with reckless disregard for their truth or falsity”) (internal citation
omitted).
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coworkers, the Union, the Board, any other government
agency, the media, or almost anyone else.*! In sum, it
places a broad restriction on employee protected Section
7 conduct.*?> We accordingly find that the proffer of the
nondisparagement provision violates Section 8(a)(1) of
the Act.®

Our scrutiny of the confidentiality provision of the
severance agreement leads to the same conclusion. The
provision broadly prohibits the subject employee from
disclosing the terms of the agreement “to any third per-
son.” (Emphasis supplied.)** The employee is thus pre-
cluded from disclosing even the existence of an unlawful
provision contained in the agreement. This proscription
would reasonably tend to coerce the employee from fil-
ing an unfair labor practice charge or assisting a Board
investigation into the Respondent’s use of the severance
agreement, including the nondisparagement provision.
Such a broad surrender of Section 7 rights contravenes
established public policy that all persons with knowledge
of unfair labor practices should be free from coercion in
cooperating with the Board.** The confidentiality provi-
sion has an impermissible chilling tendency on the Sec-
tion 7 rights of all employees because it bars the subject
employee from providing information to the Board con-
cerning the Respondent’s unlawful interference with oth-
er employees’ statutory rights. See Metro Networks,
supra, 336 NLRB at 67.

4l We observe that the nondisparagement provision left unexamined
by the Board in /GT is substantially identical to the instant provision in
its extreme circumscription of employee Sec. 7 rights:

You will not disparage or discredit IGT or any of its affiliates, offic-
ers, directors and employees. You will forfeit any right to receive the
payments or benefits described in Section 3 if you engage in deliberate
conduct or make any public statements detrimental to the business or
reputation of IGT. [See 370 NLRB No. 50, slip op. at 7.]

42 See Shamrock Foods Co., supra, 366 NLRB No. 117, slip op. at 2-
3 & fn.12, and slip op. at 29 (Board adopted judge’s finding that
agreement was unlawful because it broadly prohibited “mak[ing] any
disparaging remarks or tak[ing] any action now, or at any time in the
future, which could be detrimental” to the employer).

43 Comparing our scrutiny of the nondisparagement provision here to
the analysis performed in /G7 brings into sharp relief the insufficiency
of the Baylor test to protect employees’ Sec. 7 rights. In /G7, the
Board did not offer a flawed interpretation of the challenged nondispar-
agement provision of the agreement---instead, the Board’s analysis did
not evaluate the provision at all. In the absence of any evaluation of the
provision for its coercive potential, the Board’s conclusion in /G7T that
the employee’s “free will to accept or decline” such a severance agree-
ment is not “in any way restricted” simply begs the statutory question.
See IGT, 370 NLRB No. 50, slip op. at 2 fn. 6.

4 The only exceptions are disclosure to spouse, for obtaining legal
counsel or tax advice, or if compelled to do so by a court or administra-
tive agency.

45 1t effectively occasions the same deterrent effect as the explicit
non-assistance provision found unlawful in Clark Distribution, supra,
336 NLRB at 748-749.
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The confidentiality provision would also prohibit the
subject employee from discussing the terms of the sever-
ance agreement with his former coworkers who could
find themselves in a similar predicament facing the deci-
sion whether to accept a severance agreement. In this
manner, the confidentiality provision impairs the rights
of the subject employee’s former coworkers to call upon
him for support in comparable circumstances. Addition-
ally encompassed by the confidentiality provision is dis-
cussion with the Union concerning the terms of the
agreement, or such discussion with a union representing
employees where the subject employee may gain subse-
quent employment, or alternatively seek to participate in
organizing, or discussion with future co-workers.*® A
severance agreement is unlawful if it precludes an em-
ployee from assisting coworkers with workplace issues
concerning their employer, and from communicating
with others, including a union, and the Board, about his
employment. Id. Conditioning the benefits under a sev-
erance agreement on the forfeiture of statutory rights
plainly has a reasonable tendency to interfere with, re-
strain, or coerce the exercise of those rights. unless it is
narrowly tailored to respect the range of those rights.
Our review of the agreement here plainly shows that not
to be the case.*’ We accordingly find that the proffer of
the confidentiality provision violates Section 8(a)(1) of
the Act.*8

46 See Central Hardware Co. v. NLRB, 407 U.S. 539, 543 (1972)
(the guarantee of Sec. 7 “includes both the right of union officials to
discuss organization with employees, and the right of employees to
discuss organization among themselves”).

47 An employer can have no legitimate interest in maintaining a fa-
cially unlawful provision in a severance agreement, much less an inter-
est that somehow outweighs the Sec. 7 rights of employees.

4 We overrule Shamrock Foods Co. and S. Freedman & Sons to the
extent they are inconsistent with our decision today. In Shamrock
Foods, the Board found lawful a confidentiality provision that broadly
prohibited disclosing “to anyone” the terms of the separation agreement
in which the provision was contained, with extremely limited excep-
tions. See 366 NLRB No. 117, slip op. at 3 fn. 12. That provision,
which is substantially similar to the challenged provision here, likewise
bars the subject employee from providing information to the Board and
communicating with or assisting other employees or a union about such
matters. In S. Freedman & Sons, the Board found lawful a broadly
worded confidentiality provision in a settlement agreement that pre-
vented “any disclosure” of the agreement, and “arguabl[y] . . . af-
fect[ed] [the employee’s] right to assist other employees with future
claims (in his capacity as a shop steward).” 364 NLRB 1203, 1204
(2016), enfd. 713 Fed. Appx. 152 (4th Cir. 2017). The provision at
issue in S. Freedman likewise impaired the Sec. 7 rights of the subject
employee to the same extent and in the same fashion as in the instant
case and in Shamrock Foods. (Then-Member McFerran dissented in
Shamrock Foods and S. Freedman & Sons and would have found the
respective provisions unlawful.)
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VL.

Our main disagreement with the dissent’s adherence to
Baylor and IGT is the refusal in those cases to analyze
the terms of the severance agreements which are the very
subject of the alleged unlawful proffer to recipient em-
ployees. The dissent instead focuses solely on other sur-
rounding circumstances as the sole determinant of
whether the severance agreement’s proffer is unlawful.

The dissent asserts that Baylor and IGT are not contra-
ry to long-standing Board precedent analyzing the legali-
ty of severance agreements. However, as we have ex-
plained above, Board precedent from Phillips Pipe Line
in 1991, to Clark Distribution Systems and Metro Net-
works in 2001, through Shamrock Foods in 2018, all
carefully scrutinized the language of the severance
agreements to determine whether their proffer to em-
ployees was unlawful. Thus, contrary to our dissenting
colleague’s assertion otherwise, the case law clearly
shows that Baylor and IGT are at odds with long-
standing Board precedent.

Our dissenting colleague attempts to justify the depar-
ture from this long-standing precedent by contending that
the outcome in those pre-Baylor pre-IGT cases turned on
the presence of unlawful conduct in addition to the prof-
fer of the severance agreement at issue. To the contrary,
none of the cases we have cited link the analysis of—in
the words of Metro Networks—the “plain language” of
the severance agreement to the presence or absence of
additional unlawful conduct or other circumstances, as
we have explained above in full. Rather, the analysis of
the lawfulness of the proffer of the severance agreement
in these cases was entirely independent of the Board’s
consideration of other alleged unfair labor practices. See
Shamrock Foods Co., 366 NLRB No. 117; Clark Distri-
bution Systems, 336 NLRB 747; Metro Networks, 336
NLRB 63; Phillips Pipe Line Co., 302 NLRB 732. %

The dissent erroneously contends that the holdings of
Baylor and IGT were limited to severance agreements
with “facially neutral” provisions. However, that term
appears nowhere in either Baylor or IGT. Neither of

49 Our dissenting colleague maintains that Baylor and IGT did not, in
fact, overturn long-standing case precedent analyzing the language of
the proffered severance agreement at issue. But it is clear that those
cases did overrule prior precedent, as we have set forth above. Moreo-
ver, Baylor and IGT mischaracterized that prior precedent as suggesting
that the presence of a non-assistance clause or similar prohibitions in a
proffered severance agreement “invariably” was unlawful. IG7, slip
op. at 2 fn. 9; Baylor, slip op. at 2 fn. 6. To the contrary, under the
case-law, after careful analysis of the language of the provisions at
issue, the proffer of the agreement might be found lawful (like in Phil-
lips Pipe Line) or unlawful (like in Clark Distribution Systems). There-
fore, the dissent errs in claiming that our position—which returns to
that precedent—would find unlawful the proffer of any provision “that
could possibly be interpreted as interfering with Section 7 rights."
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those cases made any distinction among the types of pro-
visions that might be the subject of an unlawful profter.
They did not, and, of course, could not, because they
never examined the language of the provisions.

Our dissenting colleague further seeks to distance him-
self from the limitations Baylor and IGT placed on the
types of unfair labor practices that would warrant finding
a proffer unlawful. The /GT majority found that an un-
lawful refusal to bargain over a subcontracting deci-
sion—a violation of Section 8(a)(5)—and an unlawful
threatening of employees with a loss of overtime—a vio-
lation of Section 8(a)(1)—were insufficient to find an
unlawful proffer, holding “such violations do not support
a finding that the Respondent has discriminated against
employees for engaging in Sec[tion] 7 activity.” IGT, slip
op. at 2 fn. 7. That our dissenting colleague in the instant
case is willing to find an unlawful proffer based on the
Section 8(a)(5) direct dealing violation does not make
our analysis of /GT and Baylor erroneous. As we ex-
plained above, Baylor and IGT would find a violation
only where the proffer was made to an unlawfully dis-
charged employee, or where the respondent has discrimi-
nated against employees—findings that require a show-
ing of animus directed toward Section 7 activity.>°

Finally, the dissent claims our analysis of the provi-
sions of the severance agreement proffered to the em-
ployees in this case is erroneous because it is a work-
rules analysis. We have not applied a work rules analy-
sis here. We have applied long-standing precedent ana-
lyzing severance agreements.*!

In sum, our decision today overrules Baylor and IGT,
restores prior law embodied in cases like Clark Distribu-
tion Systems which examine the facial language of prof-
fered severance agreement, and finds the proffer of the

30 See Baylor, slip op. at 2 and fn. 6; IGT, slip op. at 2. However,
Baylor failed to define its reference to undefined “other circumstances”
which might provide the basis for finding an unlawful proffer.

S'While we agree with our dissenting colleague that terms in a sever-
ance agreement are not work rules, he misses the mark in asserting that
severance agreements are “inherently less coercive” than facially neu-
tral work rules. Overbroad work rules may coerce employees to forego
Sec. 7 activity for fear of discipline or discharge. Severance agree-
ments, on the other hand, may coerce the loss of Sec. 7 rights by requir-
ing their forfeiture to obtain offered benefits, at a particularly vulnera-
ble time when the employee is already facing job loss. The mainte-
nance of an unlawful work rule and the proffer of a severance agree-
ment containing unlawful provisions are both coercive, then, though for
different reasons, and our analysis does not turn on a comparison be-
tween the two. As explained above, the coercion in an unlawful sever-
ance agreement is inherent in the agreement itself, which purports to
condition benefits on the legal forfeiture of Sec. 7 rights. A broad
voluntary waiver of statutory rights undermines the public purposes of
the Act, which depend on the freedom of all employees to engage in
Sec. 7 activity, to support each other in doing so, and to assist the
Board in vindicating employee rights under the Act.
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severance agreement unlawful in this case because the
language itself restricts Section 7 rights, without regard
to the commission of additional unfair labor practices or
other external circumstances. That the dissent declines
to pass on the lawfulness of the facial language here,
finding it “not necessary to decide the case,” entirely
ignores that under Baylor and IGT, the Board will never
have occasion to analyze the language of a proffered
severance agreement. Contrary to the dissent, our hold-
ing today overruling that approach is not dicta, but a re-
turn to a principled analysis of the proffer of severance
agreements to employees who reasonably may be con-
cerned with their Section 7 rights.>?

VIL

Baylor granted employers carte blanche to offer em-
ployees severance agreement that include unlawful pro-
visions. That cannot be correct under the Act, a statute
designed to protect employees in the exercise of their
rights. For all the reasons explained above, the Board’s
approach in Baylor must be abandoned.

ORDER

The National Labor Relations Board orders that the
Respondent, McLaren Macomb, Mount Clemens, Michi-
gan, its officers, agents, successors, and assigns, shall

1. Cease and desist from

(a) Furloughing bargaining unit employees in the fol-
lowing appropriate collective-bargaining unit without
first notifying the Union and giving it an opportunity to
bargain over the decision and its effects:

INCLUDED: All full-time and regular part-time bed
control specialists; administrative assistants, imaging
assistants; clerical associate-1s; clerical associate-2s;
gift shop clerks; clinical care systems coordinators; of-
fice coordinators; dispatchers; couriers; EEG techs; op-
erators; patient liaison meta bariatric; schedulers; surgi-
cal boarders; surgical supply specialists; cardiographic
techs; critical care techs; lab assistants; perioperative
techs; pharmacy tech-Is; pharmacy tech-2s; patient ac-
cess representative-1s; patient access representative-2s;
patient access representative-3s; patient experience rep-
resentatives; respiratory equipment techs; staffing co-
ordinators; patient bed sitter-2s; patient safety coordina-
tors and systems specialists.

32 We accordingly do not decide this case under Baylor and IGT.
We do observe that our dissenting colleague finds that even under
Baylor the severance agreement in this case would not survive legal
scrutiny. With this we agree. The severance agreement was part and
parcel of the Respondent’s unlawful permanent furlough of the 11
employees, and was the product of its unlawful direct dealing with
those employees soliciting them to sign the agreement, and entirely
bypassing the Union.
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EXCLUDED: All biomedical tech-Is; biomedical
tech-2s; biomedical tech- 3s; Accountant II; cardiovas-
cular invasive specialist reg; case manager RN; clinical
information specialist; clinical pharmacy specialist;
clinical specialty coordinator; computer tomography
techno; coordinated emergency preparedness; comput-
er tomography techno lead; clinical transformation spe-
cialist; coordinated metabolic bariatric; coordinated
surgical board; cytotechnologist; educator diabetes RN;
educator patient care services; educator patient care
service lead; executive assistant; executive assistant
senior; exercise physiologist; imaging services instruc-
tor; infection preventionist; laboratory marketing rep;
lactation consultant; librarian; mammography techno;
mammography techno lead; marketing communication
specialist; medical staff credentialing specialist; media
relations specialist; medical laboratory tech; medical
assistant; MRI technologist; MTQIP clinical reviewer;
medical technologist; nurse extern; nurse intern; nucle-
ar medicine technologist; nurse navigator breast health;
nurse practitioner 3 specialty; OB technician II; occu-
pational therapist; pathologist assistant; pharmacist;
pharmacist lead; pharmacy buyer; pharmacy intern;
physical therapist; physical therapist assistant; physical
therapist assistant lead; physician liaison; poly-
somnographic technologist; polysomnographic tech-
nologist lead; preadmission testing techs; program
managers; clinical risk patient safety; quality improve-
ment specialist; radiology technologist; RN first assis-
tant; respiratory intern; respiratory therapist reg; respir-
atory reg lead; social worker MSW; sonographer; so-
nographer cardiac; sonographer cardiac lead; sonog-
rapher lead; sonographer vascular reg; special proce-
dure technologist; speech language pathologist; surgi-
cal tech; trauma data analyst; trauma performance IMP
specialist; utilization review AP specialist RN; utiliza-
tion review specialist; all other employees, managerial
employees, temporary employees, contracted employ-
ees, confidential employees, guards and supervisors as
defined in the Act.

(b) Bypassing the Union as the exclusive collective-
bargaining representative of the bargaining unit de-
scribed above by directly dealing with employees regard-
ing their terms and conditions of employment.

(c) Presenting the permanently furloughed employees
with a severance agreement prohibiting them from mak-
ing “statements to [the Respondent’s] employees or to
the general public which could disparage or harm the
image of Employer, its parent and affiliated entities and
their officers, directors, employees, agents and represent-
atives.”
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(d) Presenting the permanently furloughed employees
with a severance agreement prohibiting them from dis-
closing the terms of the severance agreement “to any
third person, other than spouse, or as necessary to profes-
sional advisors for the purposes of obtaining legal coun-
sel or tax advice, or unless legally compelled to do so by
a court or administrative agency of competent jurisdic-
tion.”

(e) In any like or related manner interfering with, re-
straining, or coercing employees in the exercise of the
rights guaranteed them by Section 7 of the Act.

2. Take the following affirmative action necessary to
effectuate the policies of the Act.

(a) Before implementing any changes in wages, hours,
or other terms and conditions of employment of unit em-
ployees, notify and, on request, bargain with the Union
as the exclusive collective-bargaining representative of
employees in the bargaining unit described above.

(b) On request, bargain with the Union concerning its
decision to permanently furlough unit employees and the
effects of that decision.

(c) Rescind the permanent furloughs that were unilat-
erally implemented in June 2020.

(d) Within 14 days from the date of this Order, offer
Roxanne Baker, Shanon Chapp, Susan DeBruyn, Amy
LaFore, Mona Matthews, Brenda Reaves, Patrina Russo,
Tameshia Smith, Charles Stepnitz, Linda Taylor, and
Mary Valentino full reinstatement to their former jobs or,
if those jobs no longer exist, to substantially equivalent
positions, without prejudice to their seniority or any oth-
er rights or privileges previously enjoyed.

(e) Make Roxanne Baker, Shanon Chapp, Susan
DeBruyn, Amy LaFore, Mona Matthews, Brenda
Reaves, Patrina Russo, Tameshia Smith, Charles Step-
nitz, Linda Taylor and Mary Valentino whole for any
loss of earnings and other benefits, and for any other
direct or foreseeable pecuniary harms suffered as a result
of their unlawful furloughs in the manner set forth in the
remedy section of the judge's decision as amended in this
decision.

(f) Compensate Roxanne Baker, Shanon Chapp, Susan
DeBruyn, Amy LaFore, Mona Matthews, Brenda
Reaves, Patrina Russo, Tameshia Smith, Charles Step-
nitz, Linda Taylor, and Mary Valentino for the adverse
tax consequences, if any, of receiving lump-sum backpay
awards, and file with the Regional Director for Region 7,
within 21 days of the date the amount of backpay is
fixed, either by agreement or Board order, a report allo-
cating the backpay awards to the appropriate calendar
years for each employee.

(g) File with the Regional Director for Region 7, with-
in 21 days of the date the amount of backpay is fixed by
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agreement or Board order or such additional time as the
Regional Director may allow for good cause shown, a
copy of Roxanne Baker’s, Shanon Chapp’s, Susan
DeBruyn’s, Amy LaFore’s, Mona Matthews’, Brenda
Reaves’, Patrina Russo’s, Tameshia Smith’s, Charles
Stepnitz’s, Linda Taylor’s, and Mary Valentino’s corre-
sponding W-2 forms reflecting the backpay award.

(h) Within 14 days from the date of this Order, re-
move from its files any reference to the unlawful perma-
nent furlough of Roxanne Baker, Shanon Chapp, Susan
DeBruyn, Amy LaFore, Mona Matthews, Brenda
Reaves, Patrina Russo, Tameshia Smith, Charles Step-
nitz, Linda Taylor, and Mary Valentino, and within 3
days thereafter notify them in writing that this has been
done and that the furloughs will not be used against them
in any way.

(i) Preserve and, within 14 days of a request, or such
additional time as the Regional Director may allow for
good cause shown, provide at a reasonable place desig-
nated by the Board or its agents, all payroll records, so-
cial security payment records, timecards, personnel rec-
ords and reports, and all other records, including an elec-
tronic copy of such records if stored in electronic form,
necessary to analyze the amount of backpay due under
the terms of this Order.

(j) Post at its facility in Mount Clemens, Michigan,
copies of the attached notice marked “Appendix.” Cop-
ies of the notice, on forms provided by the Regional Di-
rector for Region 7, after being signed by the Respond-
ent’s authorized representative, shall be posted by the
Respondent and maintained for 60 consecutive days in
conspicuous places, including all places where notices to
employees are customarily posted. In addition to physi-
cal posting of paper notices, notices shall be distributed
electronically, such as by email, posting on an intranet or
an internet site, and/or other electronic means, if the Re-
spondent customarily communicates with its employees
by such means. Reasonable steps shall be taken by the
Respondent to ensure that the notice is not altered, de-
faced, or covered by any other material. If the Respond-
ent has gone out of business or closed the facility in-
volved in these proceedings, the Respondent shall dupli-
cate and mail, at its own expense, a copy of the notice to
all current employees and former employees employed
by the Respondent at any time since June 10, 2020.33

I the facility involved in these proceedings is open and staffed by
a substantial complement of employees, the notice must be posted
within 14 days after service by the Region. If the facility involved in
these proceedings is closed or not staffed by a substantial complement
of employees due to the Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) pan-
demic, the notice must be posted within 14 days after the facility reo-
pens and a substantial complement of employees have returned to
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(k) Within 21 days after service by the Region, file
with the Regional Director for Region 7 a sworn certifi-
cation of a responsible official on a form provided by the
Region attesting to the steps that the Respondents have

taken to comply.
Dated, Washington, D.C. February 21, 2023

Lauren McFerran, Chairman
Gwynne A. Wilcox, Member
David M. Prouty, Member

(SEAL) NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD

MEMBER KAPLAN, dissenting in part.

The Respondent, without giving the Union notice and
an opportunity to bargain, permanently furloughed 11
employees while they were already on an unchallenged
temporary furlough and, excluding the Union, directly
dealt with them to enter into severance agreements. 1|
agree with my colleagues that the Respondent’s conduct
in these regards violated Section 8(a)(5) and (1).! I also
agree with my colleagues and the General Counsel that,
in light of this unlawful conduct, the Respondent’s offer-
ing the severance agreements containing the non-
disparagement and confidentiality provisions was unlaw-
ful under Baylor University Medical Center, 369 NLRB
No. 43 (2020), and IGT d/b/a International Game Tech-
nology, 370 NLRB No. 50 (2020). Despite the fact that

work. If, while closed or not staffed by a substantial complement of
employees due to the pandemic, the Respondent is communicating with
its employees by electronic means, the notice must also be posted by
such electronic means within 14 days after service by the Region. If
the notice to be physically posted was posted electronically more than
60 days before physical posting of the notice, the notice shall state at
the bottom that “This notice is the same notice previously [sent or
posted] electronically on [date].” If this Order is enforced by a judg-
ment of a United States court of appeals, the words in the notice read-
ing “Posted by Order of the National Labor Relations Board” shall read
“Posted Pursuant to a Judgment of the United States Court of Appeals
Enforcing an Order of the National Labor Relations Board.”

! In remedying the unlawful furloughs, unlike my colleagues, 1
would require the Respondent to compensate the affected employees
for other pecuniary harms only insofar as the losses were directly
caused by the furloughs, or indirectly caused by the furloughs where
the causal link between the loss and the unfair labor practice is suffi-
ciently clear, consistent with my partial dissent in Thryv, Inc., 372
NLRB No. 22 (2022).
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extent law is sufficient to resolve this matter, my col-
leagues take this opportunity, not raised by the General
Counsel until her Brief in Support of Exceptions to the
Board, to address circumstances not present in this case
and overrule the sound law of Baylor and IGT. On this
aspect of their decision, I dissent.

The Board Should Retain the Analysis Set Forth
in Baylor and IGT

In Baylor and IGT, the Board addressed whether the
mere proffer by an employer of severance agreements
containing non-disparagement, non-assistance, and con-
fidentiality provisions interfere with, restrain, or coerce
employees in the exercise of their rights under the Act.
The Board concluded that, absent outside circumstances
that could render the proffers coercive, the mere action of
offering these agreements to former employees does not
constitute a violation of the Act. See IGT, 370 NLRB
No. 50, slip op. at 2; Baylor, 369 NLRB No. 43, slip op.
at 1-2.

The Board’s analysis in these cases centered on several
factors. First, the Board considered whether that the
General Counsel was alleging that the severance agree-
ment itself was unlawful.? Baylor, 369 NLRB No. 43,
slip. op at 1. Next, the Board concluded that because
severance agreements were not analogous to work rules,
the analysis for interpreting facially neutral work rules
under Boeing® was not applicable.* In so finding, the
Board reasoned that employees’ decision whether or not
to accept severance benefits in these circumstances was
entirely voluntary, absent evidence of separate unlawful
conduct on the part of the Respondent that would render

2 Unlike in Baylor and IGT, the General Counsel alleged that the
terms of the severance agreement were unlawful here. What the Gen-
eral Counsel did not allege throughout litigation before the administra-
tive law judge, however, is that the mere proffer of the severance
agreement in the absence of any other coercive conduct violated the
Act. Nor did the General Counsel have reason to make such an argu-
ment, as my colleagues and I agree that even under Baylor and /GT, the
unlawful circumstance under which the Respondent proffered the
agreements renders that action unlawful.

Again, because this case does not involve a scenario in which an
employer is presenting a severance agreement in a context where it has
never exhibited any proclivity to violate the Act, it was not necessary
for my colleagues to reach to address such contexts in deciding this
case, my colleagues’ holding insofar as it would apply in such contexts
is dicta.

3 Boeing Co., 365 NLRB No. 154 (2017).

4 My colleagues correctly note that the holdings in Baylor and IGT
were not expressly limited to “facially neutral” severance agreements—
i.e., those containing provisions that did not expressly prohibit Sec. 7
activity but rather could be interpreted as unlawfully overbroad. Where
my colleagues err, however, is asserting that Baylor unquestionably
applies to facially unlawful provisions. The Board has not yet been
faced with a case presenting those facts, nor need I address that scenar-
io here where the severance agreement at issue is facially neutral.
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the proffers unlawful. /GT, 370 NLRB No. 50, slip op.
at 2; Baylor, 369 NLRB slip. op at 2 & fn. 6 (“There is
no reason to believe that the [r]espondent harbors animus
against Sec. 7 activities,” let alone that it would retaliate
against employees who exercised those rights.) The
Board also recognized that, in the absence of any prior
instance in which the employer had attempted to interfere
with, restrain, or coerce employees in the exercise of
their Section 7 rights, there would be no reason for an
employee to believe that the employer would invoke the
agreement in response to the employee’s exercise of her
Section 7 rights. This is particularly so given the
Board’s recognition that employees do not “view every
employer document through the prism of Section 7.”
IGT, 370 NLRB No. 50, slip op. at 2 fn. 8 (quoting L.A4.
Specialty Produce Co., 368 NLRB No. 93, slip op. at 2
(2019) (citing T-Mobile USA, Inc. v. NLRB, 865 F.3d
265, 271 (5th Cir. 2017))). Finally, the Board reasoned
that, unlike agreements pertaining to employees’ former
terms and conditions of employment, severance agree-
ments do not, nor do they have the potential to, affect
employees’ pay or benefits or any other terms of em-
ployment that were in place before the employees were
discharged. See /GT, 370 NLRB No. 50, slip op. at 2;
Baylor, 369 NLRB No. 43, slip op. at 1-2. Consistent
with my prior votes in Baylor and IGT, I find that this is
the proper standard to apply in deciding whether an em-
ployer’s mere proffer of voluntary severance agreements
violates the Act.

My Colleagues’ Justification for Overruling Baylor and
IGT Is Based on an Incorrect, or Speculative,
Interpretation of those Cases

My colleagues’ decision that Baylor and IGT must be
overruled is based on a few fundamental misunderstand-
ings of the Board’s holdings in in Baylor and IGT.

To begin, my colleagues repeatedly assert that Baylor
and /GT must be reversed because they were in conflict
with “long-standing precedent.” However, none of the
cases cited by my colleagues involved the circumstances
at issue in Baylor and IGT; to the contrary, in the three
cases they cite where the Board found that an employer
violated the Act by proffering a severance agreement, the
employer had engaged in unlawful conduct in addition to
the proffering of the severance agreement at issue.’ Ac-
cordingly, under Baylor and IGT, the proffering of those

5 The other two cases cited by my colleagues as the “long-settled
precedent” in this area are clearly distinguishable. See Phillips Pipe
Line Co., 302 NLRB 732, 732-733 (1991) (finding that the employer
did not violate the Act by proffering a voluntary severance agreement
that did not restrict Sec. 7 rights); First National Supermarkets, 302
NLRB 727, 731 (1991) (involving the settlement of a grievance over
vacation pay allegedly accrued during the employee’s employment).
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severance agreements would still be unlawful. See
Shamrock Foods Co., 366 NLRB No. 117, slip op. at 3
fn. 12 (2018) (finding maintenance of separation agree-
ment unlawful because, among other reasons, the em-
ployee had been unlawfully discharged), enfd. 779 Fed.
Appx. 752 (D.C. Cir. 2019) (per curium); Metro Net-
works, 336 NLRB 63, 6667 (2001) (same); Clark Dis-
tribution Systems, 336 NLRB No. 117 (finding employer
that committed additional violations of the Act unlawful-
ly conditioned severance benefits on an agreement not to
participate in Board processes). As a result, far from
running counter to “long-settled precedent,” Baylor and
IGT did not overturn the decisions in those cases, but
merely declined to continue to apply the overbroad hold-
ings contained therein to cases involving a significantly
different factual scenario.

Next, the majority erroneously asserts that the Baylor
and /GT decisions require an unlawful discharge or other
unfair labor practices for the proffer to be a violation. As
explained above, however, the standard set forth in Bay-
lor and IGT examines if there are circumstances external
to a severance agreement that render its proffer objective-
ly coercive. Unlawful discharges or other unfair labor
practices occurring before the severance agreement cer-
tainly would be the most likely scenario for finding such
an agreement unlawful under Baylor, but the standard is
not limited in such a way. And nowhere is there any
suggestion that an employer must exhibit animus against
Section 7 activity for there to be a violation.® To the
contrary, in the instant case, I am finding that the 8(a)(5)
and (1) direct-dealing violation committed by the Re-
spondent—a violation that does not require a finding of
animus—is sufficient to create an atmosphere in which
the Respondent’s proffer of the settlement agreements
was objectively coercive.

But regardless, the majority’s position that an employ-
er’s intent is not relevant to determining whether a rea-
sonable employee would be coerced under the Act miss-
es the point. Baylor and IGT have nothing to do with an
employer’s intent. Rather, the entire issue is evaluating
whether a reasonable employee would find that the prof-
fer of the settlement agreement would interfere with,
retrain, or coerce them in the exercise of their Section 7
rights. And, as the majority concedes, the presence of
prior conduct suggesting a proclivity to violate the Act
would affect the way in which employees would interpret
the severance agreement.

¢ The Baylor decision referenced animus in considering the sur-
rounding circumstances of the severance agreements’ proffer. The
Board did not, as my colleagues assert, “focus on animus as a signifi-
cant factor under the Baylor test.” The Board’s decision in /G7, that
applied Baylor, did not even mention animus.
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Second, the majority writes from the puzzling assump-
tion that because, in their view, the provisions in the sev-
erance agreements are themselves facially unlawful, Bay-
lor and IGT were absurdly deciding whether the proffer
of unlawful provisions was unlawful. This is not the
case. Neither Baylor nor IGT analyzed the severance
agreements at issue in those cases as if they were equiva-
lent to work rules. My colleagues’ analysis searching for
coercion in the facial overbreadth of specific severance-
agreement provisions is indistinguishable from a work-
rules analysis. But, as the Board found in Baylor and
IGT, facially neutral severance agreements are inherently
less coercive than facially neutral work rules and warrant
a different analysis looking at whether the circumstances
of the proffer were coercive rather than analyzing the
language itself.’

Finally, my colleagues repeatedly state that the hold-
ings in Baylor and IGT established that “an employer is
entirely free to proffer any provision, even a facially un-
lawful one” and “granted employers carte blanche to
offer employees severance agreements that include un-
lawful provisions.” With respect, although my col-
leagues may speculate about the breadth of the holding in
those cases, the Board has never applied those cases to
find facially unlawful severance agreement provisions
lawful. In both Baylor and IGT, the severance agree-
ments at issue were facially neutral. Indeed, in /GT, the
Board expressly addressed this concern, noting that a
work rule containing identical language to that contained
in the severance agreement had been found lawful in
another case. I/GT, 370 NLRB No. 50, slip. op. at 2 fn.8
(citing Motor City Pawn Brokers Inc., 369 NLRB No.
132, slip op. at 5-7 (2020)). My colleagues’ assertion
that a future Board would apply Baylor and IGT to find
that employers may lawfully proffer severance agree-
ments that specifically and expressly require the waiver
of Section 7 rights is pure speculation. And pure specu-
lation does not provide a reasonable justification for
overruling Board precedent.?

7 To the extent my colleagues are taking the position that provisions
of voluntary severance agreements cannot be considered facially neu-
tral like mandatory work rules can be, their approach is nothing short of
arbitrary. Mandatory work rules that can cause employees to lose their
jobs cannot reasonably be regarded as less coercive than agreements
that offer a benefit not arising from their former employment to em-
ployees who no longer work for the employer.

8 My colleagues’ reliance on this speculation is especially ironic
given that, under their standard, an employer’s proffer of any severance
agreement containing any term that could possibly be interpreted as
interfering with Sec. 7 rights would be per se unlawful, without regard
for whether a reasonable employee would interpret the term at issue as
coercive in the context of either the severance agreement as a whole or
their former employer’s history in response to activity protected by the
Act.
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The Majority’s Justification for Finding a Violation in
this Case Contains Additional Errors

Even assuming that the act of proffering a facially neu-
tral, totally voluntary severance agreement should be
analyzed by the same standards as the maintenance of
facially neutral work rules, my colleagues arbitrarily fail
to apply current Board law in analyzing the severance
agreements at issue in this case.” The current standard
for evaluating whether facially neutral work rules are
unlawful is set forth in Boeing Co., 365 NLRB No. 154
(2017), and LA Specialty Produce Co., 368 NLRB No.
93 (2019). Rather than apply these decisions, my col-
leagues’ analysis appears to be implicitly based on the
standard set forth in Lutheran Heritage Village-Livonia,
343 NLRB 646 (2004), which considers whether there is
any potential interference with Section 7 rights rather
than balancing a rule’s tendency to interfere with Section
7 rights against the legitimate interests supporting the
rule. Although my colleagues have signaled their inten-
tion to reverse Boeing and LA Specialty in the Notice and
Invitation to File Briefs in Stericycle, Inc., 371 NLRB
No. 48 (2022), they must apply current Board law until
such time as those cases are overruled. Under Boeing
and LA Specialty, it is clear that the non-disparagement
and confidentiality provisions in the severance agree-
ments at issue would be lawful to maintain. See Medic
Ambulance Service, Inc., 370 NLRB No. 65, slip op. at
2-3 (2021) (confidentiality rule lawful); Motor City
Pawn Brokers Inc., 369 NLRB No. 132, slip op. at 5-7
(2020) (nondisparagement rule lawful).

Furthermore, throughout most of their decision, my
colleagues analyze this case by determining whether the
Respondent’s proffer of the severance agreements was
merely coercive. But, despite my colleagues’ protesta-
tions to the contrary, the General Counsel litigated this
case on a different theory—that the severance agree-
ments constituted an unlawful threat. The allegations in
the Amended Complaint state that the Respondent vio-
lated the Act because it “threatened its employees with
loss of benefits described in permanent furlough agree-
ments.” (Emphasis added.) And, in her brief in support
of exceptions, the General Counsel continued to assert
that the Respondent violated the Act by threatening its
employees with the loss of benefits set forth in the sever-
ance agreement.

But clearly there was no threat here. Former employ-
ees were presented with a facially neutral severance
agreement and informed that it was entirely their choice

° Because the question whether the Respondent’s proffer of the sev-
erance agreement was unlawful based solely on the language of the
settlement agreement is not necessary to decide the case, I decline to
pass on that question.
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whether or not to sign. There is no evidence that the
Respondent indicated that any term and condition of em-
ployment would be affected based on any employee’s
decision whether or not to sign the agreement. Accord-
ingly, the mere proffer of the agreement did not consti-
tute a threat to take action against protected Section 7
activity; rather it indicated that, should an employee
choose to sign the agreement, they would have to abide
by the facially neutral terms of the agreement. !

CONCLUSION

Baylor and IGT were sound, pragmatic decisions fully
consistent with the Act, and my colleagues have failed to
establish sufficient grounds for overturning those deci-
sions. Contrary to my colleagues’ assertions, the hold-
ings in Baylor and IGT did not conflict with “long-
standing precedent.” None of the cases cited by my col-
leagues found that an employer, never having suggested
any proclivity to violate the Act, violated the Act by
proffering a severance agreement that could possibly be
interpreted as limiting Section 7 rights. Indeed, the in-
stant case does not present those circumstances. Never-
theless, my colleagues have used this case to overrule
extant law that was consistent with finding the violation
in this case in order to change the law, in effect, for cases
not involving the facts presented in this case. Not only
does this new standard go beyond what is necessary to
decide this case but, for the reasons I have discussed, my
colleagues’ finding of a threat violation under this new
standard is neither correct under Board law nor con-
sistent with the General Counsel’s complaint and litiga-
tion of this matter. Accordingly, I must respectfully dis-
sent from this aspect of my colleagues’ decision.

Dated, Washington, D.C. February 21, 2023

Marvin E. Kaplan, Member

NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD

10 My colleagues, seeming to recognize that the Respondent’s prof-
fer of the severance agreement did not constitute an unlawful threat,
“correct” the General Counsel’s theory of the case and find the viola-
tion on a different basis. Although of course it is preferable not to
make the General Counsel’s case for her, the Board can be justified in
taking such action when otherwise it would not be able to enforce a
violation of the Act. Here, however, there is no such problem; the
Board is already finding that the Respondent’s proffer of the severance
agreement was unlawful under Baylor and /GT. Under such circum-
stances, I do not believe that it is in the Board’s best interest, as a neu-
tral decisionmaker, to find the violation here under a different theory
than that proffered by the General Counsel.
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APPENDIX

NOTICE TO EMPLOYEES
POSTED BY ORDER OF THE
NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD
An Agency of the United States Government

The National Labor Relations Board has found that we
violated Federal labor law and has ordered us to post and
obey this notice.

FEDERAL LAW GIVES YOU THE RIGHT TO

Form, join, or assist a union

Choose representatives to bargain with us on
your behalf

Act together with other employees for your bene-
fit and protection

Choose not to engage in any of these protected
activities.

WE WILL NOT furlough our bargaining unit employees
in the following appropriate collective-bargaining unit
without first notifying the Union and giving it an oppor-
tunity to bargain over the decision and its effects:

INCLUDED: All full-time and regular part-time bed
control specialists; administrative assistants, imaging
assistants; clerical associate-1s; clerical associate-2s;
gift shop clerks; clinical care systems coordinators; of-
fice coordinators; dispatchers; couriers; EEG techs; op-
erators; patient liaison meta bariatric; schedulers; surgi-
cal boarders; surgical supply specialists; cardiographic
techs; critical care techs; lab assistants; perioperative
techs; pharmacy tech-Is; pharmacy tech-2s; patient ac-
cess representative-1s; patient access representative-2s;
patient access representative-3s; patient experience rep-
resentatives; respiratory equipment techs; staffing co-
ordinators; patient bed sitter-2s; patient safety coordina-
tors and systems specialists.

EXCLUDED: All biomedical tech-Is; biomedical
tech-2s; biomedical tech- 3s; Accountant II; cardiovas-
cular invasive specialist reg; case manager RN; clinical
information specialist; clinical pharmacy specialist;
clinical specialty coordinator; computer tomography
techno; coordinated emergency preparedness; comput-
er tomography techno lead; clinical transformation spe-
cialist; coordinated metabolic bariatric; coordinated
surgical board; cytotechnologist; educator diabetes RN;
educator patient care services; educator patient care
service lead; executive assistant; executive assistant
senior; exercise physiologist; imaging services instruc-
tor; infection preventionist; laboratory marketing rep;
lactation consultant; librarian; mammography techno;
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mammography techno lead; marketing communication
specialist; medical staff credentialing specialist; media
relations specialist; medical laboratory tech; medical
assistant; MRI technologist; MTQIP clinical reviewer;
medical technologist; nurse extern; nurse intern; nucle-
ar medicine technologist; nurse navigator breast health;
nurse practitioner 3 specialty; OB technician II; occu-
pational therapist; pathologist assistant; pharmacist;
pharmacist lead; pharmacy buyer; pharmacy intern;
physical therapist; physical therapist assistant; physical
therapist assistant lead; physician liaison; poly-
somnographic technologist; polysomnographic tech-
nologist lead; preadmission testing techs; program
managers; clinical risk patient safety; quality improve-
ment specialist; radiology technologist; RN first assis-
tant; respiratory intern; respiratory therapist reg; respir-
atory reg lead; social worker MSW; sonographer; so-
nographer cardiac; sonographer cardiac lead; sonog-
rapher lead; sonographer vascular reg; special proce-
dure technologist; speech language pathologist; surgi-
cal tech; trauma data analyst; trauma performance IMP
specialist; utilization review AP specialist RN; utiliza-
tion review specialist; all other employees, managerial
employees, temporary employees, contracted employ-
ees, confidential employees, guards and supervisors as
defined in the Act.

WE WILL NOT bypass the Union as the exclusive col-
lective-bargaining representative of the bargaining unit
described above by directly dealing with our employees
regarding their terms and conditions of employment.

WE WILL NOT present our permanently furloughed em-
ployees with a severance agreement containing an unlaw-
ful nondisparagement provision prohibiting them from
making “statements to [our] employees or to the general
public which could disparage or harm the image of Em-
ployer, its parent and affiliated entities and their officers,
directors, employees, agents and representatives.”

WE WILL NOT present our permanently furloughed em-
ployees with a severance agreement containing an unlaw-
ful confidentiality provision prohibiting them from dis-
closing the terms of the severance agreement “to any
third person, other than spouse, or as necessary to profes-
sional advisors for the purposes of obtaining legal coun-
sel or tax advice, or unless legally compelled to do so by
a court or administrative agency of competent jurisdic-
tion.”

WE WILL NOT in any like or related manner interfere
with, restrain, or coerce you in the exercise of the rights
listed above.

WE WILL, before implementing any changes in wages,
hours, or other terms and conditions of employment of
unit employees, notify and, on request, bargain with the
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Union as the exclusive collective-bargaining representa-
tive of our employees in the bargaining unit described
above.

WE WILL, on request of the Union, bargain with it con-
cerning our decision to permanently furlough unit em-
ployees and the effects of that decision.

WE WILL rescind the permanent furloughs that were
unilaterally implemented in June 2020.

WE WILL, within 14 days from the date of the Board’s
Order, offer Roxanne Baker, Shanon Chapp, Susan
DeBruyn, Amy LaFore, Mona Matthews, Brenda
Reaves, Patrina Russo, Tameshia Smith, Charles Step-
nitz, Linda Taylor, and Mary Valentino full reinstate-
ment to their former jobs or, if those jobs no longer exist,
to substantially equivalent positions, without prejudice to
their seniority or any other rights or privileges previously
enjoyed.

WE WILL make Roxanne Baker, Shanon Chapp, Susan
DeBruyn, Amy LaFore, Mona Matthews, Brenda
Reaves, Patrina Russo, Tameshia Smith, Charles Step-
nitz, Linda Taylor, and Mary Valentino whole for any
loss of earnings and other benefits resulting from their
permanent furlough, less any net interim earnings, plus
interest, and WE WILL make these employees whole for
any other direct or foreseeable pecuniary harms suffered
as a result of the unlawful layoffs, including reasonable
search-for-work and interim employment expenses, plus
interest.

WE WILL compensate Roxanne Baker, Shanon Chapp,
Susan DeBruyn, Amy LaFore, Mona Matthews, Brenda
Reaves, Patrina Russo, Tameshia Smith, Charles Step-
nitz, Linda Taylor, and Mary Valentino for the adverse
tax consequences, if any, of receiving lump-sum backpay
awards, and WE WILL file with the Regional Director for
Region 7, within 21 days of the date the amount of back-
pay is fixed, either by agreement or Board order, a report
allocating the backpay awards to the appropriate calendar
years for each employee.

WE WILL file with the Regional Director for Region 7,
within 21 days of the date the amount of backpay is fixed
either by agreement or Board Order, or such additional
time as the Regional Director may allow for good cause
shown, a copy of Roxanne Baker’s, Shanon Chapp’s,
Susan DeBruyn’s, Amy LaFore’s, Mona Matthews’,
Brenda Reaves’, Patrina Russo’s, Tameshia Smith’s,
Charles Stepnitz’s, Linda Taylor’s, and Mary Valentino’s
corresponding W-2 forms reflecting the backpay awards

WE WILL, within 14 days from the date of the Board’s
Order, remove from our files any reference to the unlaw-
ful permanent furloughs of Roxanne Baker, Shanon
Chapp, Susan DeBruyn, Amy LaFore, Mona Matthews,
Brenda Reaves, Patrina Russo, Tameshia Smith, Charles
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Stepnitz, Linda Taylor, and Mary Valentino, and WE
WILL, within 3 days thereafter, notify each of them in
writing that this has been done and that the permanent
furloughs will not be used against them in any way.

MCLAREN MACOMB

The Board’s decision can be found at
www.nlrb.gov/case/07-CA-263041 or by using the QR
code below. Alternatively, you can obtain a copy of the
decision from the Executive Secretary, National Labor
Relations Board, 1015 Half Street, S.E., Washington,
D.C. 20570, or by calling (202) 273-1940.

Larry Smith, Esq., for the General Counsel.

Dennis M. Devaney and Brian D. Shekell, Esqs. (Clark Hill
PLC), for the Respondent.

Scott A. Brooks, Esq. (Gregory, Moore, Brooks & Clark, PC),
for the Charging Party.

DECISION
STATEMENT OF THE CASE

ROBERT A. RINGLER, Administrative Law Judge. This case
was heard on June 21, 2021. The complaint alleged, inter alia,
that McLaren Macomb (McLaren) violated: §8(a)(1) by having
employees sign furlough agreements containing confidentiality
and non-disclosure provisions; and §8(a)(5) by directly dealing
with employees over their furloughs and failing to give Local
40, RN Staff Council, Office and Professional Employees In-
ternational Union (the Union) notice or a chance to bargain
over the furloughs. On the record, I make the following

FINDINGS OF FAcT!
1. JURISDICTION

McLaren provides inpatient and outpatient medical care.
Annually, it derives gross revenues exceeding $250,000, and
purchases and receives at its Michigan hospital goods exceed-
ing $5000 directly from outside of Michigan. It is, as a result,
engaged in commerce under §2(2), (6), and (7) of the Act. The
Union is a §2(5) labor organization.

II. UNFAIR LABOR PRACTICES
A. Unionization at McLaren

On August 28, 2019, these McLaren employees voted to un-

! Unless otherwise stated, factual findings arise from joint exhibits,
stipulations, and undisputed evidence.
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ionize (the Unit):

INCLUDED: All full-time and regular part-time bed control
specialists; administrative assistants, imaging assistants; cleri-
cal associate-1s; clerical associate-2s; gift shop clerks; clinical
care systems coordinators; office coordinators; dispatchers;
couriers; EEG techs; operators; patient liaison meta bariatric;
schedulers; surgical boarders; surgical supply specialists; car-
diographic techs; critical care techs; lab assistants; periopera-
tive techs; pharmacy tech-Is; pharmacy tech-2s; patient access
representative-1s; patient access representative-2s; patient ac-
cess representative-3s; patient experience representatives; res-
piratory equipment techs; staffing coordinators; patient bed
sitter-2s; patient safety coordinators and systems specialists.

EXCLUDED: All biomedical tech-Is; biomedical tech-2s;
biomedical tech- 3s; Accountant II; cardiovascular invasive
specialist reg; case manager RN; clinical information special-
ist; clinical pharmacy specialist; clinical specialty coordinator;
computer tomography techno; coordinated emergency pre-
paredness; computer tomography techno lead; clinical trans-
formation specialist; coordinated metabolic bariatric; coordi-
nated surgical board; cytotechnologist; educator diabetes RN;
educator patient care services; educator patient care service
lead; executive assistant; executive assistant senior; exercise
physiologist; imaging services instructor; infection preven-
tionist; laboratory marketing rep; lactation consultant; librari-
an; mammography techno; mammography techno lead; mar-
keting communication specialist; medical staff credentialing
specialist; media relations specialist; medical laboratory tech;
medical assistant; MRI technologist; MTQIP clinical review-
er; medical technologist; nurse extern; nurse intern; nuclear
medicine technologist; nurse navigator breast health; nurse
practitioner 3 specialty; OB technician II; occupational thera-
pist; pathologist assistant; pharmacist; pharmacist lead; phar-
macy buyer; pharmacy intern; physical therapist; physical
therapist assistant; physical therapist assistant lead; physician
liaison; polysomnographic technologist; polysomnographic
technologist lead; preadmission testing techs; program man-
agers; clinical risk patient safety; quality improvement spe-
cialist; radiology technologist; RN first assistant; respiratory
intern; respiratory therapist reg; respiratory reg lead; social
worker MSW; sonographer; sonographer cardiac; sonog-
rapher cardiac lead; sonographer lead; sonographer vascular
reg; special procedure technologist; speech language
pathologist; surgical tech; trauma data analyst; trauma per-
formance IMP specialist; utilization review AP specialist RN;
utilization review specialist; all other employees, managerial
employees, temporary employees, contracted employees, con-
fidential employees, guards and supervisors as defined in the
Act.

On December 9, 2019, the Board certified the Union as the

Unit’s exclusive collective-bargaining representative. The par-

ties are presently negotiating a first contract for the Unit.

B. Furloughs

In June and July 2020, McLaren approached several Unit
employees about their selection for permanent furloughs. The
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Union was neither notified nor included in these discussions.
These Unit employees (the furloughed workers) consequently
signed Severance Agreement, Waiver and Release agreements
terminating their tenure (the severance agreements):

Employee Date Severance | Exhibit
Amount

Roxanne Baker | July 24, | $1,892.38 | GC Exh. 2
2020

Shanon Chapp July 24, | $6,941.45 | GC Exh. 3
2020

Susan DeBruyn | June 10, | $2,263.52 | GC Exh. 4
2020

Amy LaFore July 27, | $2,005.51 | GC Exh. 5
2020

Mona Matthews | July 31, | $2,284.85 | GC Exh. 6
2020

Brenda Reaves June 10, | $5,140.80 | GC Exh.7
2020

Patrina Russo July 21, | $928.80 GC Exh. 8
2020

Tameshia Smith | July 29, | $3,783.48 | GC Exh. 9
2020

Charles Stepnitz | July 30, | $2,043.55 | GC Exh. 10
2020

Linda Taylor July 29, | $288 GC Exh. 11
2020

Mary Valentino | July 25, | $1,676.23 | GC Exh. 12
2020

The severance agreements contained these confidentiality
and non-disparagement clauses, which have been alleged to be
unlawful:

6. Confidentiality Agreement. The Employee acknowl-
edges that the ... Agreement ... [is] confidential and agrees

not to disclose ... [it] to any third person, other than spouse,
or as necessary to professional advisors for the purposes of
obtaining legal counsel or tax advice, or unless legally com-
pelled to do so by a court or administrative agency of compe-
tent jurisdiction.

7. Non-Disclosure. ... [Tlhe Employee ... agrees not to
disclose information, knowledge or materials of a confiden-
tial, privileged, or proprietary nature of which the Employee
has or had knowledge of, or involvement with, by reason of
the Employee's employment. At all times hereafter, the Em-
ployee agrees not to make statements to Employer's employ-
ees or to the general public which could disparage or harm the
image of Employer ....
(GC Exhs. 2-12))

Laura Gibbard, Regional Vice-President of Human Re-
sources, credibly indicated that the COVID-19 pandemic began
severely impacting McLaren’s operations in March 2020, when
the hospital terminated its outpatient services and began solely
admitting trauma, emergency and COVID-19 patients. This
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prompted McLaren to decide to permanently furlough its non-
essential staff in June 2020, including the furloughed Unit em-
ployees at issue herein. She described a crisis scenario at that
time, which required the hospital to simultaneously juggle a
COVID-stricken staff, a PPE shortage, a shutdown of its non-
essential services, a dramatic expansion of in-patient COVID
services, and increased mortalities associated with COVID.
McLaren applied its Severance Pay and Benefits Related to
Workforce Reduction policy to the furlough (GC Exh. 15), and
its Reduction in Force policy (R. Exh. 2).

Vice-President Gibbard contended that COVID-19 created
exigent circumstances, which excused McLaren from discuss-
ing the furloughs with the Union. She added that, to date, the
Union has never sought bargaining over the furloughs or raised
it during contract negotiations.

III. ANALYSIS
A. 8(a)(1) Allegations

The confidentiality and non-disclosure provisions in McLar-
en’s severance agreements were lawful. In Baylor University
Medical Center, 369 NLRB No. 43 (2020), the Board held that
the employer lawfully included confidentiality and non-
disclosure provisions in separation agreements, where the
agreements provided severance monies and benefits that the
affected employees would not have otherwise received. In mak-
ing this finding, the Board noted that the severance agreements
were voluntary, the confidentiality and non-disclosure provi-
sions only applied to postemployment activities, and an em-
ployee’s decision to enter into a separation agreement had no
impact on their receipt of previously accrued benefits. Id.; see
also International Game Technology, 370 NLRB No. 50, slip
op. at 2 (2020) (finding that a separation agreement containing
a non-disparagement was valid, where the employee’s entry
was voluntary, previously vested benefits were unaffected and
the “case does not involve 8(a)(3) allegations or evidence of
other unlawful discrimination, nor is there evidence that the
Respondent proffered the Agreement under circumstances that
would reasonably tend to interfere with the separating employ-
ees’ ... Section 7 rights or those of their coworkers.”).

The confidentiality and non-disclosure provisions in McLar-
en’s severance agreements were lawful. The agreements were
voluntary, only offered to separated workers, and did not im-
pact their previously accrued benefits. This case also does not
involve “[§]8(a)(3) allegations” or other circumstances interfer-
ing §7 rights as cited by International Game Technology.

B. 8(a)(5) Allegations
1. Permanent furloughs

McLaren violated §8(a)(5), when it unilaterally offered fur-
lough agreements to Unit employees without giving the Union
notice or an opportunity to bargain. It is well established that
furloughs and layoffs are mandatory subjects of bargaining,
which require notice and bargaining. See, e.g., Thesis Painting,
Inc., 365 NLRB No. 142, slip op. at 1 (2017); Eugene lovine,
Inc., 353 NLRB 400 (2008), reaffirmed 356 NLRB 1056
(2011), affd. 371 Fed. Appx. 167 (2d Cir. 2010), vacated on
other grounds 562 U.S. 956 (2010); Tri-Tech Services, Inc., 340
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NLRB 894, 894 (2003).2 Additionally, because the parties had
not reached an impasse in their first contract bargaining,
McLaren cannot defend its actions on this basis. It, thus, must
show that its unilateral furloughs were somehow privileged.
Fresno Bee, 339 NLRB 1214, 1214 (2003).

McLaren’s actions were not privileged by the COVID-19
pandemic. It is well-settled that bargaining is excused only
where “extraordinary” and “unforeseen” events “having a ma-
jor economic effect” demand that a business “take immediate
action.” RBE Electronics of S.D., 320 NLRB 80, 81 (1995),
quoting Hankins Lumber Co., 316 NLRB 837, 838 (1995); see
also Ardit Co., 364 NLRB 1836, 1840 (2016). For example, in
Ardit Co., the Board found that unilateral layoffs were not justi-
fied even though the company “lost a major contract” after a
stop-work order and “its bid for another contract was unsuc-
cessful.” 364 NLRB 1836, 1840. Moreover, the Board has
found that adverse business circumstances such as “loss of
significant accounts or contracts” and “operation at a competi-
tive disadvantage” are insufficient to obviate a bargaining obli-
gation, unless the evidence establishes “a dire financial emer-
gency.” RBE Electronics of S.D., 320 NLRB at 81, citing Fa-
rina Corp., 310 NLRB 318, 321 (1993) (loss of a customer
account); Triple A Fire Protection, 315 NLRB 409, 414, 418
(1994), enf'd. 136 F.3d 727 (11th Cir. 1998).

McLaren failed to establish that its actions were privileged.
It failed to show that the unforeseen events associated with the
COVID-19 pandemic had a “major economic effect,” which
required immediate action. Although it demonstrated that
COVID-19 presented a horrendous crisis that required it to
temporarily divert its health care resources and encounter sev-
eral difficult and unexpected social and operational changes, it
failed to show that this turbulence caused a “major economic
effect” requiring the immediate layoff of a dozen Unit workers
from a workforce of 2300 employees. McLaren failed to offer a
single balance sheet or other financial statement, which sup-
ported its contention that economic necessity privileged an
immediate furlough. In addition, it is hard to imagine that this
very tiny, isolated Unit furlough would have provided a sizea-
ble economic impact to a large hospital. Lastly, the fact that
McLaren found time to bargain with the Union over the first
collective-bargaining agreement and simultaneously handle
other labor relations duties suggests that it could have found a
narrow window to engage in pre-decision bargaining over these
permanent furloughs. In sum, it failed to show that it was ex-
cused from bargaining over these furloughs.

2. Direct dealing

McLaren violated §8(a)(5), when it engaged in direct dealing
with Unit employees in connection with the furloughs. An em-
ployer engages in direct dealing when: it communicates directly

2 Even though McLaren’s decision was dually based upon the
COVID-19 pandemic and the economics of eliminating non-clinical
personnel, the Board has held that even decisions that are partially
motivated by economic reasons remain mandatory subjects of bargain-
ing. See, e.g., Pan-American Grain Co., 351 NLRB 1412, 1413-1414
(2007) (layoffs due to both economic reasons and automation were a
mandatory subject of bargaining).
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with union-represented employees; its discussion was to estab-
lish or change wages, hours, and terms and conditions of em-
ployment or to undercut the union's role in bargaining; and the
communication was made to the exclusion of the union. E/
Paso Electric Co., 355 NLRB 544, 545 (2010). In this case,
McLaren communicated directly with the furloughed Unit
workers over their separations (i.e., which were mandatory
bargaining topics) to the exclusion of the Union; this constitut-
ed direct dealing.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1. McLaren is an employer engaged in commerce within the
meaning of §2(2), (6), and (7) of the Act.

2. The Union is a §2(5) labor organization.

3. At all material times, the Union has been the designated
bargaining representative of McLaren’s employees in the fol-
lowing appropriate bargaining unit:

INCLUDED: All full-time and regular part-time bed control
specialists; administrative assistants, imaging assistants; cleri-
cal associate-1s; clerical associate-2s; gift shop clerks; clinical
care systems coordinators; office coordinators; dispatchers;
couriers; EEG techs; operators; patient liaison meta bariatric;
schedulers; surgical boarders; surgical supply specialists; car-
diographic techs; critical care techs; lab assistants; periopera-
tive techs; pharmacy tech-Is; pharmacy tech-2s; patient access
representative-1s; patient access representative-2s; patient ac-
cess representative-3s; patient experience representatives; res-
piratory equipment techs; staffing coordinators; patient bed
sitter-2s; patient safety coordinators and systems specialists.

EXCLUDED: All biomedical tech-Is; biomedical tech-2s;
biomedical tech- 3s; Accountant II; cardiovascular invasive
specialist reg; case manager RN; clinical information special-
ist; clinical pharmacy specialist; clinical specialty coordinator;
computer tomography techno; coordinated emergency pre-
paredness; computer tomography techno lead; clinical trans-
formation specialist; coordinated metabolic bariatric; coordi-
nated surgical board; cytotechnologist; educator diabetes RN;
educator patient care services; educator patient care service
lead; executive assistant; executive assistant senior; exercise
physiologist; imaging services instructor; infection preven-
tionist; laboratory marketing rep; lactation consultant; librari-
an; mammography techno; mammography techno lead; mar-
keting communication specialist; medical staff credentialing
specialist; media relations specialist; medical laboratory tech;
medical assistant; MRI technologist; MTQIP clinical review-
er; medical technologist; nurse extern; nurse intern; nuclear
medicine technologist; nurse navigator breast health; nurse
practitioner 3 specialty; OB technician II; occupational thera-
pist; pathologist assistant; pharmacist; pharmacist lead; phar-
macy buyer; pharmacy intern; physical therapist; physical
therapist assistant; physical therapist assistant lead; physician
liaison; polysomnographic technologist; polysomnographic
technologist lead; preadmission testing techs; program man-
agers; clinical risk patient safety; quality improvement spe-
cialist; radiology technologist; RN first assistant; respiratory
intern; respiratory therapist reg; respiratory reg lead; social
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worker MSW; sonographer; sonographer cardiac; sonog-
rapher cardiac lead; sonographer lead; sonographer vascular
reg; special procedure technologist; speech language
pathologist; surgical tech; trauma data analyst; trauma per-
formance IMP specialist; utilization review AP specialist RN;
utilization review specialist; all other employees, managerial
employees, temporary employees, contracted employees, con-
fidential employees, guards and supervisors as defined in the
Act.

4. Between June and July 2020, McLaren violated §8(a)(5)
by permanently furloughing Unit employees without first noti-
fying the Union and giving it an opportunity to bargain about
its furlough decision and its effects.

5. Between June and July 2020, McLaren violated §8(a)(5)
by bypassing the Union and dealing directly with Unit employ-
ees by soliciting them to enter into furlough agreements.

6. These unfair labor practices affect commerce within the
meaning of §2(6) and (7).

REMEDY

Having found that McLaren committed unfair labor practic-
es, it must be ordered to cease and desist and to take certain
affirmative action designed to effectuate the policies of the Act.
Specifically, having found that McLaren violated §8(a)(5) by
permanently furloughing Unit employees without first notifying
the Union and giving it an opportunity to bargain, it shall offer
affected Unit employees full reinstatement to their former jobs
or, if such jobs no longer exist, to substantially equivalent posi-
tions, without prejudice to their seniority or any other rights or
privileges previously enjoyed, and make them whole for any
loss of earnings and other benefits suffered as a result of their
unilateral furloughs. Backpay shall be computed in accordance
with F.W. Woolworth Co., 90 NLRB 289 (1950), with interest
at the rate prescribed in New Horizons, 283 NLRB 1173
(1987), compounded daily as prescribed in Kentucky River
Medical Center, 356 NLRB 6 (2010). In addition, McLaren
shall compensate the furloughed workers for any adverse tax
consequences of receiving a lump-sum backpay award, and file
with the Regional Director for Region 7, within 21 days of the
date the amount of backpay is fixed, either by agreement or
Board Order, a report allocating the backpay award to the ap-
propriate calendar years. AdvoServ of New Jersey, Inc., 363
NLRB 1324 (2016). In accordance with King Soopers, Inc., 364
NLRB 1153 (2016), enfd. 859 F.3d 23 (D.C. Cir. 2017),
McLaren shall compensate the furloughed workers for their
search-for-work and interim employment expenses regardless
of whether those expenses exceed interim earnings. Search-for-
work and interim employment expenses shall be calculated
separately from taxable net backpay, with interest at the rate
prescribed in New Horizons, supra, compounded daily as pre-
scribed in Kentucky River Medical Center, supra. McLaren
shall remove from its files all references to the unlawful fur-
loughs and notify the affected workers in writing that this has
been done and they will not be used against them in any way. It
shall also post a notice under J. Picini Flooring, 356 NLRB 11
(2010).

On these findings of fact and conclusions of law, and on the
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entire record, I issue the following recommended?
ORDER

McLaren Macomb, Mount Clemens, Michigan, its officers,
agents, successors, and assigns, shall

1. Cease and desist from

(a) Permanently furloughing bargaining unit employees in
the following appropriate collective bargaining unit without
first notifying the Union, as the exclusive collective-bargaining
representative of these employees, and without affording the
Union a chance to bargaining over this decision and its effects:

INCLUDED: All full-time and regular part-time bed control
specialists; administrative assistants, imaging assistants; cleri-
cal associate-1s; clerical associate-2s; gift shop clerks; clinical
care systems coordinators; office coordinators; dispatchers;
couriers; EEG techs; operators; patient liaison meta bariatric;
schedulers; surgical boarders; surgical supply specialists; car-
diographic techs; critical care techs; lab assistants; periopera-
tive techs; pharmacy tech-Is; pharmacy tech-2s; patient access
representative-1s; patient access representative-2s; patient ac-
cess representative-3s; patient experience representatives; res-
piratory equipment techs; staffing coordinators; patient bed
sitter-2s; patient safety coordinators and systems specialists.

EXCLUDED: All biomedical tech-Is; biomedical tech-2s;
biomedical tech- 3s; Accountant II; cardiovascular invasive
specialist reg; case manager RN; clinical information special-
ist; clinical pharmacy specialist; clinical specialty coordinator;
computer tomography techno; coordinated emergency pre-
paredness; computer tomography techno lead; clinical trans-
formation specialist; coordinated metabolic bariatric; coordi-
nated surgical board; cytotechnologist; educator diabetes RN;
educator patient care services; educator patient care service
lead; executive assistant; executive assistant senior; exercise
physiologist; imaging services instructor; infection preven-
tionist; laboratory marketing rep; lactation consultant; librari-
an; mammography techno; mammography techno lead; mar-
keting communication specialist; medical staff credentialing
specialist; media relations specialist; medical laboratory tech;
medical assistant; MRI technologist; MTQIP clinical review-
er; medical technologist; nurse extern; nurse intern; nuclear
medicine technologist; nurse navigator breast health; nurse
practitioner 3 specialty; OB technician II; occupational thera-
pist; pathologist assistant; pharmacist; pharmacist lead; phar-
macy buyer; pharmacy intern; physical therapist; physical
therapist assistant; physical therapist assistant lead; physician
liaison; polysomnographic technologist; polysomnographic
technologist lead; preadmission testing techs; program man-
agers; clinical risk patient safety; quality improvement spe-
cialist; radiology technologist; RN first assistant; respiratory
intern; respiratory therapist reg; respiratory reg lead; social
worker MSW; sonographer; sonographer cardiac; sonog-

3 If no exceptions are filed as provided by §102.46 of the Board’s
Rules and Regulations, the findings, conclusions, and recommended
Order shall, as provided in §102.48 of the Rules, be adopted by the
Board and all objections to them shall be deemed waived for all pur-
poses.

245

rapher cardiac lead; sonographer lead; sonographer vascular
reg; special procedure technologist; speech language
pathologist; surgical tech; trauma data analyst; trauma per-
formance IMP specialist; utilization review AP specialist RN;
utilization review specialist; all other employees, managerial
employees, temporary employees, contracted employees, con-
fidential employees, guards and supervisors as defined in the
Act.

(b) Bypassing the Union as the exclusive collective bargain-
ing representative of the Unit described above by dealing di-
rectly with employees by soliciting them to enter into individu-
al furlough agreements.

(c) In any like or related manner interfering with, restrain-
ing, or coercing employees in the exercise of the rights guaran-
teed by §7 of the Act.

2. Take the following affirmative action necessary to effec-
tuate the Act’s policies.

(a) Before implementing any changes in wages, hours, or
other terms and conditions of employment of employees in the
Unit described above, notify and, on request, bargain with the
Union as the exclusive collective-bargaining representative of
these employees.

(b) On request, bargain with the Union concerning its deci-
sion to furlough Unit employees and the effects of that deci-
sion.

(c) Rescind the Unit furloughs that were unilaterally imple-
mented in June and July 2020.

(d) Offer full reinstatement to furloughed employees
Roxanne Baker, Shanon Chapp, Susan DeBruyn, Amy LaFore,
Mona Matthews, Brenda Reaves, Patrina Russo, Tameshia
Smith, Charles Stepnitz, Linda Taylor and Mary Valentino to
their former jobs or, if those jobs no longer exist, to substantial-
ly equivalent positions, without prejudice to their seniority or
any other rights or privileges.

(e) Make the furloughed employees whole for any loss of
earnings and other benefits caused by their unlawful furloughs
in the manner set forth in the remedy section of this decision.

(f) Remove from its files any reference to the unlawful fur-
loughs and within 3 days thereafter, notify the furloughed em-
ployees in writing that this has been done and that the furloughs
will not be used against them in any way.

(g) Compensate the furloughed employees for their search-
for-work and interim employment expenses regardless of
whether those expenses exceed their interim earnings.

(h) File a report with the Social Security Administration al-
locating backpay for the furloughed employees to the appropri-
ate calendar quarters.

(1) Compensate the furloughed employees for the adverse
tax consequences, if any, of receiving lump-sum back awards,
and file with the Regional Director for Region 7, within 21
days of the date the amount of backpay is fixed, either by
agreement or Board order, a report allocating the backpay
award to the appropriate calendar year for each employee.

(j) Within 14 days after service by the Region, post at its
Mount Clemens, Michigan facility copies of the attached notice



22 DECISIONS OF THE NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD

marked “Appendix.”* Copies of the notice, on forms provided
by the Regional Director for Region 7, after being signed by the
Respondent’s authorized representative, shall be posted by the
Respondent and maintained for 60 consecutive days in con-
spicuous places, including all places where notices to employ-
ees are customarily posted. In addition to physical posting of
paper notices, notices shall be distributed electronically, such as
by email, posting on an intranet or an internet site, and/or other
electronic means, if the Respondent customarily communicates
with its employees by such means. Reasonable steps shall be
taken by the Respondent to ensure that the notices are not al-
tered, defaced, or covered by any other material. If the Re-
spondent has gone out of business or closed the facility in-
volved in these proceedings, the Respondent shall duplicate and
mail, at its own expense, a copy of the notice to all current em-
ployees and former employees employed by the Respondent at
any time since June 10, 2020.

(k) Within 21 days after service by the Region, file with the
Regional Director for Region 7 a sworn certification of a re-
sponsible official on a form provided by the Region attesting to
the steps the Respondent has taken to comply.

Dated Washington, D.C. August 31, 2021

APPENDIX

NOTICE TO EMPLOYEES
POSTED BY ORDER OF THE
NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD
An Agency of the United States Government

The National Labor Relations Board has found that we violated
Federal labor law and has ordered us to post and obey this no-
tice.

FEDERAL LAW GIVES YOU THE RIGHT TO

Form, join, or assist a union

Choose representatives to bargain with us on your be-
half

Act together with other employees for your benefit and
protection

Choose not to engage in any of these protected activi-
ties.

WE WILL NOT furlough our Unit employees in the following
appropriate bargaining unit without first giving Local 40, RN
Staftf Council, Office and Professional Employees International
Union (the Union) an opportunity to bargain over our decision
and its effects:

INCLUDED: All full-time and regular part-time bed control
specialists; administrative assistants, imaging assistants; cleri-
cal associate-1s; clerical associate-2s; gift shop clerks; clinical
care systems coordinators; office coordinators; dispatchers;

4 If this Order is enforced by a judgment of a United States Court of
Appeals, the words in the notice reading “Posted by Order of the Na-
tional Labor Relations Board” shall read “Posted Pursuant to a Judg-
ment of the United States Court of Appeals Enforcing an Order of the
National Labor Relations Board.”
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couriers; EEG techs; operators; patient liaison meta bariatric;
schedulers; surgical boarders; surgical supply specialists; car-
diographic techs; critical care techs; lab assistants; periopera-
tive techs; pharmacy tech-Is; pharmacy tech-2s; patient access
representative-1s; patient access representative-2s; patient ac-
cess representative-3s; patient experience representatives; res-
piratory equipment techs; staffing coordinators; patient bed
sitter-2s; patient safety coordinators and systems specialists.

EXCLUDED: All biomedical tech-Is; biomedical tech-2s;
biomedical tech- 3s; Accountant II; cardiovascular invasive
specialist reg; case manager RN; clinical information special-
ist; clinical pharmacy specialist; clinical specialty coordinator;
computer tomography techno; coordinated emergency pre-
paredness; computer tomography techno lead; clinical trans-
formation specialist; coordinated metabolic bariatric; coordi-
nated surgical board; cytotechnologist; educator diabetes RN;
educator patient care services; educator patient care service
lead; executive assistant; executive assistant senior; exercise
physiologist; imaging services instructor; infection preven-
tionist; laboratory marketing rep; lactation consultant; librari-
an; mammography techno; mammography techno lead; mar-
keting communication specialist; medical staff credentialing
specialist; media relations specialist; medical laboratory tech;
medical assistant; MRI technologist; MTQIP clinical review-
er; medical technologist; nurse extern; nurse intern; nuclear
medicine technologist; nurse navigator breast health; nurse
practitioner 3 specialty; OB technician II; occupational thera-
pist; pathologist assistant; pharmacist; pharmacist lead; phar-
macy buyer; pharmacy intern; physical therapist; physical
therapist assistant; physical therapist assistant lead; physician
liaison; polysomnographic technologist; polysomnographic
technologist lead; preadmission testing techs; program man-
agers; clinical risk patient safety; quality improvement spe-
cialist; radiology technologist; RN first assistant; respiratory
intern; respiratory therapist reg; respiratory reg lead; social
worker MSW; sonographer; sonographer cardiac; sonog-
rapher cardiac lead; sonographer lead; sonographer vascular
reg; special procedure technologist; speech language
pathologist; surgical tech; trauma data analyst; trauma per-
formance IMP specialist; utilization review AP specialist RN;
utilization review specialist; all other employees, managerial
employees, temporary employees, contracted employees, con-
fidential employees, guards and supervisors as defined in the
Act.

WE WILL NOT bypass the Union as the exclusive collective
bargaining representative of the above-described Unit by solic-
iting employees to enter into furlough agreements.

WE WILL NOT in any like or related manner interfere with, re-
strain or coerce you in the exercise of the rights guaranteed you
by Section 7 of the Act.

WE WILL, before implementing any changes in wages, hours,
or other terms and conditions of Unit employees, notify and, on
request, bargain with the Union as their exclusive collective-
bargaining representative.

WE WILL, on request, bargain with the Union concerning our
decision to furlough Unit employees and the effects of that
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decision.

WE WILL rescind the furloughs of our Unit employees that
were unilaterally implemented in June and July 2020.

WE wiLL offer full reinstatement to furloughed employees
Roxanne Baker, Shanon Chapp, Susan DeBruyn, Amy LaFore,
Mona Matthews, Brenda Reaves, Patrina Russo, Tameshia
Smith, Charles Stepnitz, Linda Taylor, and Mary Valentino to
their former jobs or, if those jobs no longer exist, to substantial-
ly equivalent positions, without prejudice to their seniority or
any other rights or privileges.

WE WILL make the furloughed employees whole for any loss
of earnings and other benefits resulting from their furloughs,
less any net interim earnings, plus interest, and WE WILL also
make them whole for their reasonable search-for-work and
interim employment expenses, plus interest, regardless of
whether those expenses exceed their interim earnings.

WE WILL compensate the furloughed employees for the ad-
verse tax consequences, if any, of receiving lump-sum backpay
awards, and WE WILL file with the Regional Director for Region
7, within 21 days of the date the amount of backpay is fixed,
either by agreement or Board Order, a report allocating the
backpay awards to the appropriate calendar years for each em-
ployee.

WE WILL remove from our files any reference to the unlawful
furloughs and within 3 days thereafter, notify the furloughed
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employees in writing that this has been done and that their fur-
loughs will not be used against them in any way.

WE WILL remove from our files any reference to these fur-
loughs, and WE wiLL, within 3 days thereafter, notify each of
the furloughed employees in writing that this has been done and
that the furloughs will not be used against them in any way.

MCLAREN MACOMB

The Administrative Law Judge’s decision can be found at
www.nlrb.gov/case/07-CA-263041 or by using the QR code
below. Alternatively, you can obtain a copy of the decision
from the Executive Secretary, National Labor Relations Board,
1015 Half Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20570, or by calling
(202) 273-1940.




OFFICE OF THE GENERAL COUNSEL

MEMORANDUM GC 23-05 March 22, 2023
TO: All Regional Directors, Officers-In-Charge,
and Resident Officers
FROM: Jennifer A. Abruzzo, General Counsel
RE: Guidance in Response to Inquiries about the McLaren Macomb Decision

On February 21, 2023, the Board issued McLaren Macomb, 372 NLRB No. 58, returning
to longstanding precedent holding that employers violate the National Labor Relations
Act (NLRA or Act) when they offer employees severance agreements that require
employees to broadly waive their rights under the Act. Specifically, the Board held that
where a severance agreement unlawfully conditions receipt of severance benefits on the
forfeiture of statutory rights, the mere proffer of the agreement itself violates Section
8(a)(1) of the Act because it has a reasonable tendency to interfere with or restrain the
prospective exercise of those rights - both by the separating employee and those who
remain employed. | am issuing this Memo to assist Regions in responding to inquiries
from workers, employers, labor organizations, and the public about implications stemming
from that case.

The severance agreement at issue in the case contained overly broad non-
disparagement and confidentiality clauses that tend to interfere with, restrain or coerce
employees’ exercise of Section 7 rights. Specifically, the non-disclosure provision
contained a non-disparagement clause that advised the employees that they are
prohibited from making statements that could disparage or harm the image of the
employer, its parent and affiliates, and their officers, directors, employees, agents and
representatives. And, the confidentiality clause advised employees that they are
prohibited from disclosing the terms of the agreement to anyone, except for a spouse or
professional advisor, unless compelled by law to do so. The severance agreement
included monetary and injunctive sanctions for breach of these provisions.’

The Agency acts in a public capacity to protect public rights in order to effectuate the
Congressionally-mandated public policy of the Act.? The underlying Board policy and
purpose depends on employees’ freedom to engage in Section 7 rights and to assist each
other and access the Agency. And, the future rights of employees as well as the rights
of the public may not be traded away in a manner which requires forbearance from future

" Notably, the employees’ collective bargaining representative, OPEIU, was not provided with notice nor
included in discussions about the permanent furloughs and related severance agreement, thus the
employer was found to have violated Section 8(a)(5) of the Act.

2 National Licorice Co. v. NLRB, 309 US 350, 362-64 (1940).
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charges and concerted activities.® Thus, the Board determined, based on a plethora of
nearly a century of settled law, that employees may not broadly waive their rights under
the Act, and that agreements between employers and employees that restrict employees
from engaging in activity protected by the Act or from filing unfair labor practice (ULP)
charges with the Agency, helping other employees in doing so, or assisting during the
Agency’s investigatory process are unlawful.

In so finding, the Board overruled Baylor University Medical Center, 369 NLRB No. 43
(2020) and IGT, 370 NLRB No. 50 (2020), which were wrongly premised on the notion
that a showing of animus and additional coercive or otherwise unlawful conduct by the
employer independent of the plain, overly broad language of the severance agreement
was required in order to find a violation related to the severance agreement. As the Board
noted, while the presence of additional violations would enhance the coercive potential of
the severance agreement, the absence of such conduct does not and cannot eliminate
the potential chilling effect of an unlawful severance agreement.

With that context in mind, | offer responses to some inquiries below:

Are severance agreements now banned?

No. In fact, prior Board decisions approved severance agreements where the releases
waived only the signing employee’s right to pursue employment claims and only as to
claims arising as of the date of the agreement.* Thus, lawful severance agreements may
continue to be proffered, maintained, and enforced if they do not have overly broad
provisions that affect the rights of employees to engage with one another to improve their
lot as employees. This includes the rights of employees to extend those efforts to
channels outside the immediate employee-employer relationship, such as through
accessing the Board, their union, judicial or administrative or legislative forums, the media
or other third parties.

Why should the circumstances surrounding the proffer not necessarily matter?

Surrounding circumstances do not matter when objectively analyzing whether a provision
is facially lawful or not. And, in fact, in footnote 47 of the decision, the Board specifically
said that an employer can have no legitimate interest in maintaining a facially unlawful
provision in a severance agreement, much less an interest that somehow outweighs the
Section 7 rights of employees.

3 Mandel Security Bureau, 202 NLRB 117, 119 (1993).

4 Hughes Christensen Co., 317 NLRB 633 (1995), enf. denied on other grounds 101 F.3d 28 (5th Cir. 1996)
(severance agreement was found lawful after an examination of the facial language led to the determination
that it did not unlawfully waive the employee’s right of access to the Board); First National Supermarkets,
302 NLRB 727 (1991); Philips Pipe Line Co., 302 NLRB 732 (1991).
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What if an employee does not sign the severance agreement?

Whether or not the employee actually signed the severance agreement is irrelevant for
purposes of finding a violation of the Act since the proffer itself inherently coerces
employees by conditioning severance benefits on the waiver of statutory rights such as
the right to engage in future protected concerted activities and the right to file or assist in
the investigation and prosecution of charges with the Board. That the employee did not
sign the agreement does not render the employer’s conduct lawful.®

Are severance agreements issued to supervisors beyond the scope of this decision?

While supervisors are generally not protected by the Act, under Parker-Robb Chevrolet,®
the Act does protect a supervisor who is retaliated against, such as being fired, because
they are refusing to act on their employer’s behalf in committing an unfair labor practice
against employees, in other words, they are refusing to violate the NLRA per their
employer’s directives. So, not only would it be violative for an employer to retaliate
against a supervisor who refuses to proffer an unlawfully overbroad severance
agreement, but | believe that an employer who proffers a severance agreement to a
supervisor in connection with Parker-Robb Chevrolet-related conduct, such as preventing
the supervisor from participating in a Board proceeding, could also be unlawful.

Does the decision have retroactive effect, such that it may invalidate agreements entered
into prior to February 21, 2023, or would a violation only be considered if an employer
attempts to enforce a previously-entered into agreement?

Board cases are presumed to be applied retroactively and this decision has retroactive
application. If the Board determined that there was manifest injustice requiring
prospective application, it would have so advised. Further, | believe that, while an
unlawful proffer of a severance agreement may be subject to the six-month statute of
limitation language under Section 10(b), maintaining and/or enforcing a previously-
entered severance agreement with unlawful provisions that restrict the exercise of Section
7 rights continues to be a violation and a charge alleging such beyond the Section 10(b)
period would not be time-barred. | would note that Regions have settled cases involving
severance agreements which had unlawfully broad terms that chilled the exercise of
Section 7 rights by requiring the employer to notify its former employees that the
overbroad provisions in their severance agreements no longer applied.

Would the entire severance agreement be null and void if there is just one overbroad
provision?

While it is necessary to review the facts of each and every case in the first instance,
Regions generally make decisions based solely on the unlawful provisions and would

5 Metro Networks, 336 NLRB 63, 67, fn. 20 (2001); Shamrock Foods, 366 NLRB No. 117, slip op. at 2-3 &
fn. 23 (2018), enfd. 779 Fed. Appx. 752 (D.C. Cir. 2019).

6 262 NLRB 402 (1982), enfd. sub. nom. Automobile Salesmen Union v. NLRB, 711 F.2d 383 (D.C. Cir.
1983).
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seek to have those voided out as opposed to the entire agreement, regardless of whether
there is a severability clause or not. As mentioned previously, we have obtained
settlement agreements doing just that. Relatedly, while it may not cure a technical
violation of an unlawful proffer, employers should consider remedying such violations now
by contacting employees subject to severance agreements with overly broad provisions
and advising them that the provisions are null and void and that they will not seek to
enforce the agreements or pursue any penalties, monetary or otherwise, for breaches of
those unlawful provisions. That conduct could form the basis for consideration of a merit
dismissal if a meritorious charge solely alleging an unlawful proffer is filed.

Why are former employees entitled to the same protections under the NLRA as current
employees?

The Board in this case confirmed that former employees are entitled to the same
protections under the Act based on the statutory language of Section 2(3), which states
that “the term ‘employee’ shall include any employee, and shall not be limited to the
employees of a particular employer.” The Board reiterated that Section 7 rights are not
limited to discussions with coworkers, as they do not depend on the existence of an
employment relationship between the employee and the employer.” In addition, former
employees can play an important role in providing evidence to the NLRB and otherwise
sharing information about the working conditions they experienced, in a way that
constitutes both mutual aid and protection.

What is the role of the Board with respect to the rights of parties to make private
contracts?

Per its Congressional mandate to address the inequality of bargaining power between
employees, who do not possess full freedom of association or actual liberty of contract,
and their employers, the Board must act in a public capacity to protect public rights to
effectuate the public policy of the Act. Thus, the Board in this case correctly noted that
the future rights of employees as well as the rights of the public may not be waived in a
way that precludes future exercise of Section 7 rights, including engaging in protected
concerted activities and accessing the Agency.

What if employees themselves request broad confidentiality and/or non-disparagement
clauses?

In that unlikely scenario, | would reiterate that the Board protects public rights that cannot
be waived in a manner that prevents future exercise of those rights regardless of who
initially raised the issue.®

7 Cedars-Sinai Medical Center, 368 NLRB No. 83, slip op. at 8 fn. 7 (2019); Waco, Inc., 273 NLRB 746,
747 fn. 8 (1984); Little Rock Crate & Basket Co., 227 NLRB 1406 (1977); Briggs Manufacturing Co., 75
NLRB 569, 570 (1947).

8 Based on the same reasoning, unions could not lawfully waive these rights on behalf of employees.
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Is OM 07-27, which addresses acceptable terms in non-Board settlement agreements,
still in full force and effect?

Yes. OM 07-27 is consistent with the McLaren Macomb decision. It provides guidance
on, among other things, non-Board settlement agreements, which include: waivers of the
right to file NLRB charges on future unfair labor practices and on future employment;
waivers of the right to assist other employees in the investigation and trial of NLRB cases;
narrowly-tailored confidentiality clauses® and clauses that prohibit an employee from
engaging in non-defamatory talk about the employer; and unduly harsh penalties for
breach of the agreement.

How does this decision affect other employer communications with employees, such as
pre-employment or offer letters?

Based on extant Board law, overly broad provisions in any employer communication to
employees that tend to interfere with, restrain or coerce employees’ exercise of Section
7 rights would be unlawful if not narrowly tailored to address a special circumstance
justifying the impingement on workers’ rights.

Are there ever confidentiality provisions in a severance agreement that could be found
lawful?

Confidentiality clauses that are narrowly-tailored to restrict the dissemination of
proprietary or trade secret information for a period of time based on legitimate business
justifications may be considered lawful. See note 9, supra. However, confidentiality
clauses that have a chilling effect that precludes employees from assisting others about
workplace issues and/or from communicating with the Agency, a union, legal forums, the
media or other third parties are unlawful.

Are there ever non-disparagement provisions in a severance agreement that could be
found lawful?

It is critical to remember that public statements by employees about the workplace are
central to the exercise of employees’ rights under the Act. In McLaren Macomb, the Board
referenced NLRB v. Electrical Workers Local 1229 (Jefferson Standard Broadcasting
Co.), 346 U.S. 464 (1953) and Valley Hospital Medical Center, 351 NLRB 1250, 1252
(2007), enfd. sub. nom. Nevada Service Employees, Local 1107 v. NLRB, 358 Fed. Appx.
783 (9th Cir. 2009), when finding an overly broad non-disparagement ban that
encompassed all disputes, terms and conditions, and issues, without a temporal limitation
and with application to parents and affiliates and their officers, representatives,
employees, directors and agents. Thus, a narrowly-tailored, justified, non-disparagement
provision that is limited to employee statements about the employer that meet the

® McLaren Macomb allows for narrowly-tailored provisions, and | believe that approving a withdrawal
request when a non-Board settlement has a confidentiality clause only with regard to non-disclosure of the
financial terms comports with the Board’s decision, would not typically interfere with the exercise of Section
7 rights, and promotes quick resolution of labor disputes.
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definition of defamation as being maliciously untrue, such that they are made with
knowledge of their falsity or with reckless disregard for their truth or falsity, may be found
lawful.

Would a “savings clause” or disclaimer save overbroad provisions in a severance
agreement?

While specific savings clause or disclaimer language may be useful to resolve ambiguity
over vague terms, they would not necessarily cure overly broad provisions. The employer
may still be liable for any mixed or inconsistent messages provided to employees that
could impede the exercise of Section 7 rights. As noted in my Stericycle brief to the Board
regarding employer rules, | asked it to formulate a model prophylactic statement of rights,
which affirmatively and specifically sets out employee statutory rights and explains that
no rule should be interpreted as restricting those rights, that employers may—at their
option—include in handbooks in a predominant way to mitigate the potential coercive
impact of workplace rules on the exercise of Section 7 rights and simplify compliance,
which could also easily apply to severance agreements.'® | noted that the description of
statutory rights should focus on Section 7 activities that are of primary importance toward
the fulfillment of the Act’s purposes, commonly engaged in by employees (particularly in
non-union workplaces, since they do not have union representatives available to bargain
over rules and guide employees as to their rights), and likely to be chilled by overbroad
rules, and provided suggested model language for inclusion to make it clear to employees
that they had rights to engage in: (1) organizing a union to negotiate with their employer
concerning their wages, hours, and other terms and conditions of employment; (2)
forming, joining, or assisting a union, such as by sharing employee contact information;
(3) talking about or soliciting for a union during non-work time, such as before or after
work or during break times, or distributing union literature during non-work time, in non-
work areas, such as parking lots or break rooms; (4) discussing wages and other working
conditions with co-workers or a union; (5) taking action with one or more co-workers to
improve working conditions by, among other means, raising work-related complaints
directly with the employer or with a government agency, or seeking help from a union; (6)
striking and picketing, depending on its purpose and means; (7) taking photographs or
other recordings in the workplace, together with co-workers, to document or improve
working conditions, except where an overriding employer interest is present; (8) wearing
union hats, buttons, t-shirts, and pins in the workplace, except under special
circumstances; and (9) choosing not to engage in any of these activities.

Are there other provisions typically contained in severance-related agreements that you
view as problematic?

Confidentiality, non-disclosure and non-disparagement provisions are certainly prevalent
terms. However, | believe that some other provisions that are included in some severance
agreements might interfere with employees’ exercise of Section 7 rights, such as: non-

0 This example does not mean that substantive work rules law must apply when determining whether
certain provisions contained in severance agreements are lawful. See Shamrock Foods Co., 366 NLRB
No. 117 (2018), slip op. at 3, n.12.
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compete clauses; no solicitation clauses; no poaching clauses; broad liability releases
and covenants not to sue that may go beyond the employer and/or may go beyond
employment claims and matters as of the effective date of the agreement; cooperation
requirements involving any current or future investigation or proceeding involving the
employer as that affects an employee’s right to refrain under Section 7, such as if the
employee was asked to testify against co-workers that the employee assisted with filing
a ULP charge.

As always, thank you for all you do for our Agency and the public we serve. | hope this
memo provides useful guidance to you in addressing questions about the McLaren
Macomb decision. Should you receive other inquiries about the decision that are not
addressed in this memo, please contact the Division of Advice.

Is/
JAA.
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OFFICE OF THE GENERAL COUNSEL

MEMORANDUM GC 23-08 May 30, 2023

TO: All Regional Directors, Officers-in-Charge,
and Resident Officers

FROM: Jennifer A. Abruzzo, General Counsel

SUBJECT: Non-Compete Agreements that Violate the National Labor Relations Act

In workplaces across America, many employers are requiring their employees to
sign non-compete agreements to obtain or keep their jobs, or as part of severance
agreements.’ Generally speaking, non-compete agreements between employers and
employees prohibit employees from accepting certain types of jobs and operating certain
types of businesses after the end of their employment. As explained below, such
agreements interfere with employees’ exercise of rights under Section 7 of the National
Labor Relations Act (the Act or NLRA). Except in limited circumstances, | believe the
proffer, maintenance, and enforcement of such agreements violate Section 8(a)(1) of the
Act.

Section 7 protects employees’ “right to self-organization, to form, join, or assist
labor organizations, to bargain collectively through representatives of their own choosing,
and to engage in other concerted activities for the purpose of collective bargaining or
other mutual aid or protection.”? It is an unfair labor practice in violation of Section 8(a)(1)
for an employer “to interfere with, restrain, or coerce employees in the exercise of the
rights guaranteed in [S]ection 7.”3 Under the standard | have urged the Board to adopt in
Stericycle, Inc.,* a provision in an employment agreement violates Section 8(a)(1) if it
reasonably tends to chill employees in the exercise of Section 7 rights unless it is narrowly

! See Evan P. Starr et al., Noncompete Agreements in the US Labor Force, 64 J. Law & Econ.
53, 60, 64 (2021) (estimating that approximately 18.1 percent of American workers—roughly 28
million individuals—are subject to a non-compete agreement, including approximately 13.3
percent of workers earning less than $40,000 per year). See generally U.S. Gov't Accountability
Off., GAO-23-103785, Noncompete Agreements: Use Is Widespread to Protect Business’ Stated
Interests, Restricts Job Mobility, and May Affect Wages (2023).

229 U.S.C. § 157. Section 7 also generally protects employees’ right to refrain from such activity.
See id.

3 1d. § 158(a)(1).

4 See General Counsel’'s March 7, 2022 Brief to the Board, Stericycle, Inc., Cases 04-CA-137660
et al.
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tailored to address special circumstances justifying the infringement on employee rights.®
The Board already applies a similar standard to provisions in severance agreements.®
And, it is no defense that employees contractually agreed to any infringement on their
Section 7 rights because employees cannot waive those rights in individual contracts.”

Non-compete provisions are overbroad, that is, they reasonably tend to chill
employees in the exercise of Section 7 rights, when the provisions could reasonably be
construed by employees to deny them the ability to quit or change jobs by cutting off their
access to other employment opportunities that they are qualified for based on their
experience, aptitudes, and preferences as to type and location of work. Generally
speaking, this denial of access to employment opportunities chills employees from
engaging in Section 7 activity because: employees know that they will have greater
difficulty replacing their lost income if they are discharged for exercising their statutory
rights to organize and act together to improve working conditions;® employees’ bargaining
power is undermined in the context of lockouts, strikes, and other labor disputes;® and,
an employer’s former employees are unlikely to reunite at a local competitor’s workplace,
and, thus be unable to leverage their prior relationships—and the communication and
solidarity engendered thereby—to encourage each other to exercise their rights to
improve working conditions in their new workplace.

5 See Minteq International, Inc., 364 NLRB 721, 727 (2016), enforced, 855 F.3d 329 (D.C. Cir.
2017).

6 See McLaren Macomb, 372 NLRB No. 58, slip op. at 4, 7 (2023) (a severance agreement “is
unlawful if its terms have a reasonable tendency to interfere with, restrain, or coerce employees
in the exercise of their Section 7 rights” unless any relinquishment of those rights is “narrowly
tailored”); Guidance in Response to Inquiries About the McLaren Macomb Decision,
Memorandum GC 23-05 (Mar. 22, 2023). Although the general analysis in this memorandum is
based on the standard | proposed in Stericycle, | believe that under the McLaren Macomb
standard the same principles apply to non-compete provisions in severance agreements.

7 See McLaren Macomb, 372 NLRB No. 58, slip op. at 5-6 (“The ‘future rights of employees as
well as the rights of the public may not be traded away’ in a manner which requires ‘forbearance
from future . . . concerted activities.” (quoting Mandel Security Bureau, 202 NLRB 117, 119
(1973))) (collecting cases).

8 See Minteq, 364 NLRB at 727 (unilaterally adopted work rule stating that employees, who were
covered by a collective-bargaining agreement that included protection from discipline and
discharge without “just cause,” were “employee[s]-at-will” had “a reasonable tendency to
discourage employees from engaging in” protected activity “for fear that they could be discharged
without the contractual ‘just cause’ protection”).

% See id. at 723 n.11 (in determining that non-compete provisions are mandatory subjects of
bargaining, “recogniz[ing] the serious impact on employees of [a non-compete provision] if, for
example, employees . . . were locked out by the [employer] during a labor dispute,” because the
provision prohibits employees from replacing lost income by performing the type of work they had
been performing for the employer).
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In addition, non-compete provisions that could reasonably be construed by
employees to deny them the ability to quit or change jobs by cutting access to other
employment opportunities chill employees from engaging in five specific types of activity
protected under Section 7 of the Act.

First, they chill employees from concertedly threatening to resign to demand better
working conditions.'® Specifically, they discourage such threats because employees
would view the threats as futile given their lack of access to other employment
opportunities and because employees could reasonably fear retaliatory legal action for
threatening to breach their agreements, even though such legal action would likely violate
the Act."!

Second, they chill employees from carrying out concerted threats to resign or
otherwise concertedly resigning to secure improved working conditions. Although extant
Board law does not unequivocally recognize a Section 7 right of employees to concertedly
resign from employment,’? such a right follows logically from settled Board law, Section
7 principles, and the Act’s purposes.'? It is also consistent with the U.S. Constitution and
other federal laws.' Accordingly, | will urge the Board to limit decisions inconsistent with
that right to their facts or overrule them.

0 See, e.g., Morgan Corp., 371 NLRB No. 142, slip op. at 3-4 (2022) (employee who complained
to supervisor about coworker’s raise and said that he and two other coworkers were threatening
to quit because of it was engaged in protected concerted advocacy for higher wages).

" See generally Ashford TRS Nickel, LLC, 366 NLRB No. 6, slip op. at 3-7 (2018) (lawsuit
targeting Section 7-protected consumer boycott violated Section 8(a)(1)).

2 See, e.g., Crescent Wharf & Warehouse Co., 104 NLRB 860, 861-62 (1953) (voluntary
resignation, by letter, of six employees dissatisfied with their employer’s refusal to increase their
wages was unprotected where there was “no basis for inferring that the letter was a device
selected by the . . . employees to enforce demands upon [the employer]”).

13 See, e.g., QIC Corp., 212 NLRB 63, 68 (1974) (employees’ seeking employment at competitor
of their employer was protected where “[tlhe employees were bound by no contract to remain with
the [employer] and, as a result, were free at any time they wished to exercise economic self-help
and seek better paying jobs”).

4 See, e.g., Pollock v. Williams, 322 U.S. 4, 17-18 (1944) (explaining that the Thirteenth
Amendment was meant to maintain a system of “completely free and voluntary labor” and that
the “right to change employers” is the “defense against oppressive hours, pay, working
conditions, or treatment”). See generally Non-Compete Clause Rule, 88 Fed. Reg. 3482, 3504
(proposed Jan. 19, 2023) (“FTC Proposed Non-Compete Rule”) (non-compete clauses, which
burden the ability to quit by forcing workers to either remain in their current job or take an action
that would likely affect their livelihood, are exploitative and coercive at the time of the worker’s
potential departure from their job) and https./www.ftc.gov/news-events/news/press-
releases/2023/01/ftc-cracks-down-companies-impose-harmful-noncompete-restrictions-
thousands-workers; Antitrust Div. of the U.S. Dep’t of Just., Comment on FTC Proposed Non-
Compete Rule at 2-3 (Apr. 19, 2023), https://www.justice.gov/atr/page/file/1580551/download
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Third, they chill employees from concertedly seeking or accepting employment
with a local competitor to obtain better working conditions.'® Such protected activity would
also include a lone employee’s acceptance of a job as a logical outgrowth of earlier
protected concerted activity.

Fourth, they chill employees from soliciting their co-workers to go work for a local
competitor as part of a broader course of protected concerted activity.'”” They do so
because employees cannot act on the solicitation without breaching the agreements and
because potential solicitors could reasonably fear retaliatory legal action for soliciting co-
workers to breach their agreements, even though such legal action would likely violate
the Act."8

Finally, they chill employees from seeking employment, at least in part, to
specifically engage in protected activity with other workers at an employer’s workplace.'®
In this regard, they effectively limit employees from the kind of mobility required to be able
to engage in some particular forms of this activity, such as union organizing, which may
involve obtaining work with multiple employers in a specific trade and geographic region.

Thus, in my view, the proffer, maintenance, and enforcement of a non-compete
provision that reasonably tends to chill employees from engaging in Section 7 activity as
described above violate Section 8(a)(1) unless the provision is narrowly tailored to special
circumstances justifying the infringement on employee rights. In this regard, a desire to
avoid competition from a former employee is not a legitimate business interest that could
support a special circumstances defense.?° Additionally, in my opinion, business interests

(“Antitrust Div. Comment”) (explaining that since at least 1414, the law has looked with
skepticism on restraints on workers’ future employment).

'S See, e.g., Laurus Technical Institute, 360 NLRB 1155, 1164-66 (2014) (employee’s inquiry with
competitor about job opportunities on behalf of coworkers was protected concerted activity and
not unprotected “disloyalty”).

16 Cf. Liberty Mutual Insurance Co., 235 NLRB 1387, 1387-88 (1978) (where employer unlawfully
discharged employee in violation of Section 8(a)(3) and (1), employee thereafter formed
competing enterprise in apparent violation of non-compete agreement, and employer sued to
enforce the agreement, Board ordered the employer to reimburse employee’s legal defense
costs), enforcement denied on other grounds, 592 F.2d 595 (1st Cir. 1979).

7 See, e.g., M.J. Mechanical Services, 325 NLRB 1098, 1098, 1106 (1998) (union organizers
were protected in telling their coworkers about the benefits of belonging to a union and referring
them to the union hall, even where it caused one employee to join the union, which then assigned
the employee to work for a union contractor), enforced mem., 194 F.3d 174 (D.C. Cir. 1999).

'8 See generally Ashford TRS Nickel, 366 NLRB No. 6, slip op. at 3-7.

9 See, e.g., M. J. Mechanical Services, 324 NLRB 812, 812-14 (1997), enforced mem., 172 F.3d
920 (D.C. Cir. 1998).

20 See Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 188 cmt. b (1981) (post-employment restraint on
competition “must usually be justified on the ground that the employer has a legitimate interest in
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in retaining employees or protecting special investments in training employees are
unlikely to ever justify an overbroad non-compete provision because U.S. law generally
protects employee mobility,?! and employers may protect training investments by less
restrictive means, for example, by offering a longevity bonus. | note that employers’
legitimate business interest in protecting proprietary or trade secret information can be
addressed by narrowly tailored workplace agreements that protect those interests.

It is unlikely an employer’s justification would be considered reasonable in common
situations where overbroad non-compete provisions are imposed on low-wage or middle-
wage workers who lack access to trade secrets or other protectible interests, or in states
where non-compete provisions are unenforceable. For example, in a recent case |
authorized issuance of a complaint alleging unlawful maintenance of an overbroad non-
compete provision, to which the employer had subjected low-wage employees, where
there was no evidence of a legitimate business interest justifying the provision. The
provision prohibited the employees from, until two years after the end of their employment
with the employer, “enter[ing] the employment of any . . . business directly engaged” in
the business of the employer in the entire state.

Notwithstanding the above, not all non-compete agreements necessarily violate
the NLRA.22 Some non-compete agreements may not violate the Act because employees
could not reasonably construe the agreements to prohibit their acceptance of employment
relationships subject to the Act’s protection,?? for example, provisions that clearly restrict
only individuals’ managerial or ownership interests in a competing business, or true

restraining the employee from appropriating valuable trade information and customer
relationships to which he has had access in the course of his employment”); see also, e.g., Hasty
v. Rent-A-Driver, Inc., 671 SW.2d 471, 473 (Tenn. 1984) (to enforce non-compete agreement,
employer must show “special facts present over and above ordinary competition” that would
otherwise give former employee “an unfair advantage in future competition with the employer”).

21 See supra note 14.

22 Non-compete agreements that do not violate the Act may violate other federal laws. See, e.g.,
U.S. v. Am. Tobacco Co., 221 U.S. 106, 181-83 (1911) (tobacco companies’ collective
practices, including “constantly recurring” use of non-compete provisions, violated the Sherman
Act); FTC Proposed Non-Compete Rule, 88 Fed. Reg. at 3482 (proposing rule that would make
non-compete agreements an unlawful “unfair method of competition”) and
https.//www.ftc.gov/news-events/news/press-releases/2023/01/ftc-cracks-down-companies-
impose-harmful-noncompete-restrictions-thousands-workers; Antitrust Div. Comment, supra
note 14, at 3 (citing challenges the Division has brought to anticompetitive employment
practices such as the use of non-compete clauses).

3 See Harrah’s Lake Tahoe Resort, 307 NLRB 182, 182 (1992) (employee’s advocacy for
proposal that employee stock option plan buy 50 percent of stock of employer’s parent corporation
was unprotected where proposal would not have advanced employees’ interests as employees
but rather their interests as “entrepreneurs, owners, and managers”).
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independent-contractor relationships.?* Moreover, there may be circumstances in which
a narrowly tailored non-compete agreement’s infringement on employee rights is justified
by special circumstances.

In conclusion, Regions should submit to Advice cases involving non-compete
provisions that are arguably unlawful under the analysis summarized herein, as well as
arguably meritorious special circumstances defenses. In appropriate circumstances,
Regions should seek make-whole relief for employees who, because of their employer’s
unlawful maintenance of an overbroad non-compete provision, can demonstrate that they
lost opportunities for other employment, even absent additional conduct by the employer
to enforce the provision. In this regard, Regions should seek evidence of the impact of
overbroad non-compete agreements on employees and, where applicable, present at trial
evidence of any adverse consequences, including specific employment opportunities
employees lost because of the agreements.?°

Please direct any questions about this memorandum to Advice.

Is/
JAA.

24 A non-compete provision prohibiting independent-contractor relationships may, however,
violate Section 8(a)(1) in the context of industries where employees are commonly misclassified
as independent contractors. Regions should submit to the Division of Advice (“Advice”) any cases
where a non-compete agreement would chill Section 7 activity by effectively prohibiting
employment relationships even though nominally prohibiting only independent-contractor
relationships.

% As you know, | am committed to an interagency approach to restrictions on the exercise of
employee rights, including limits to workers’ job mobility. Last year, the NLRB entered into
memoranda of understanding with the Federal Trade Commission and the Department of
Justice’s Antitrust Division, both of which have addressed the anticompetitive effects of non-
compete agreements. Regions should alert the Division of Operations-Management about cases
involving non-compete agreements that could potentially violate laws enforced by the FTC and
the Antitrust Division for possible referral to those agencies.
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New Legislation and Its Impact on the Workforce:
Overview of the PUMP Act and the Pregnhant
Workers Fairness Act

Grant Burnette LeFever, Burnette Shutt & McDaniel, Columbia, SC
Denise Smith Cline, Denise Smith Cline, PLLC, Raleigh, NC
Shannon M. Polvi, Cromer Babb, Porter & Hicks, LLC, Columbia, SC
L. Diane Tindall, Wyrick Robbins Yates & Ponton, Raleigh, NC

Employers Take Note: Pregnant Workers Fairness Act Takes Effect This Summer
April 18, 2023 — By: L. Diane Tindall

https://www.wyrick.com/news-insights/employers-take-note-pregnant-workers-fairness-
act-takes-effect-this-summer

Department of Labor Fact Sheet #73: FLSA Protections
January 2023

https://www.dol.gov/agencies/whd/fact-sheets/73-flsa-break-time-nursing-mothers

The Pregnant Workers Fairness Act

https://www.eeoc.gov/statutes/pregnant-workers-fairness-act

What You Should Know About the Pregnant Workers Fairness Act from the EEOC

https://www.eeoc.gov/wysk/what-you-should-know-about-pregnant-workers-fairness-
act
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(3) prioritize the collection of plankton samples and data
tha(lit inform the conservation of North Atlantic right whales;
an

(4) to the extent practicable, coordinate with the Govern-
ment of Canada to develop a transboundary understanding
of plankton abundance and distribution.

(c) AUTHORIZATION OF APPROPRIATIONS.—To carry out this sec-
tion there is authorized to be appropriated to the Secretary of
Commerce $300,000 for each of fiscal years 2023 through 2032,
which shall be derived from existing funds otherwise appropriated
to the Secretary.

DIVISION KK—PUMP FOR NURSING
MOTHERS ACT

SEC. 101. SHORT TITLE.

This division may be cited as the “Providing Urgent Maternal
Protections for Nursing Mothers Act” or the “PUMP for Nursing
Mothers Act”.

SEC. 102. BREASTFEEDING ACCOMMODATIONS IN THE WORKPLACE.

(a) EXPANDING EMPLOYEE ACCESS TO BREAK TIME AND SPACE.—
The Fair Labor Standards Act of 1938 (29 U.S.C. 201 et seq.)
is amended—

(1) in section 7 (29 U.S.C. 207), by striking subsection

(r); and

(2) by inserting after section 18C (29 U.S.C. 218¢) the
following:

“SEC. 18D. BREASTFEEDING ACCOMMODATIONS IN THE WORKPLACE.

“(a) IN GENERAL.—An employer shall provide—

“(1) a reasonable break time for an employee to express
breast milk for such employee’s nursing child for 1 year after
the child’s birth each time such employee has need to express
the milk; and

“(2) a place, other than a bathroom, that is shielded from
view and free from intrusion from coworkers and the public,
which may be used by an employee to express breast milk.
“(b) COMPENSATION.—

“(1) IN GENERAL.—Subject to paragraph (2), an employer
shall not be required to compensate an employee receiving
reasonable break time under subsection (a)(1) for any time
spent during the workday for such purpose unless otherwise
required by Federal or State law or municipal ordinance.

“(2) RELIEF FROM DUTIES.—Break time provided under sub-
section (a)(1) shall be considered hours worked if the employee
is not completely relieved from duty during the entirety of
such break.

“(c) EXEMPTION FOR SMALL EMPLOYERS.—An employer that
employs less than 50 employees shall not be subject to the require-
ments of this section, if such requirements would impose an undue
hardship by causing the employer significant difficulty or expense
when considered in relation to the size, financial resources, nature,
or structure of the employer’s business.

“(d) EXEMPTION FOR CREWMEMBERS OF AIR CARRIERS.—
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“(1) IN GENERAL.—An employer that is an air carrier shall
not be subject to the requirements of this section with respect
to an employee of such air carrier who is a crewmember

“(2) DEFINITIONS.—In this subsection:

“(A) AIR CARRIER.—The term ‘air carrier’ has the
meaning given such term in section 40102 of title 49,
United States Code.

“(B) CREWMEMBER.—The term ‘crewmember’ has the
meaning given such term in section 1.1 of title 14, Code
of Federal Regulations (or successor regulations).

“(e) APPLICABILITY TO RAIL CARRIERS.—

“(1) IN GENERAL.—Except as provided in paragraph (2),
an employer that is a rail carrier shall be subject to the require-
ments of this section.

“(2) CERTAIN EMPLOYEES.—An employer that is a rail car-
rier shall be subject to the requirements of this section with
respect to an employee of such rail carrier who is a member
of a train crew involved in the movement of a locomotive
or rolling stock or who is an employee who maintains the
right of way, provided that compliance with the requirements
of this section does not—

“(A) require the employer to incur significant expense,
such as through the addition of such a member of a train
crew in response to providing a break described in sub-
section (a)(1) to another such member of a train crew,
removal or retrofitting of seats, or the modification or retro-
fitting of a locomotive or rolling stock; or

“(B) result in unsafe conditions for an individual who
is an employee who maintains the right of way.

“(3) SIGNIFICANT EXPENSE.—For purposes of paragraph
(2)(A), it shall not be considered a significant expense to modify
or retrofit a locomotive or rolling stock by installing a curtain
or other screening protection.

“(4) DEFINITIONS.—In this subsection:

“(A) EMPLOYEE WHO MAINTAINS THE RIGHT OF WAY.—
The term ‘employee who maintains the right of way’ means
an employee who is a safety-related railroad employee
described in section 20102(4)(C) of title 49, United States

e.
“(B) RAIL CARRIER.—The term ‘rail carrier’ means an

employer described in section 13(b)(2).

“C) TrRAIN CREW.—The term ‘train crew’ has the
meaning given such term as used in chapter II of subtitle

B of title 49, Code of Federal Regulations (or successor

regulations).

“(f) APPLICABILITY TO MOTORCOACH SERVICES OPERATORS.—

“(1) IN GENERAL.—Except as provided in paragraph (2),
an employer that is a motorcoach services operator shall be
subject to the requirements of this section.

“(2) EMPLOYEES WHO ARE INVOLVED IN THE MOVEMENT OF
A MOTORCOACH.—An employer that is a motorcoach services
operator shall be subject to the requirements of this section
with respect to an employee of such motorcoach services oper-
ator who is involved in the movement of a motorcoach provided
that compliance with the requirements of this section does
not—
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“(A) require the employer to incur significant expense,
such as through the removal or retrofitting of seats, the
modification or retrofitting of a motorcoach, or unscheduled
stops; or

“(B) result in unsafe conditions for an employee of
a motorcoach services operator or a passenger of a motor-
coach.

“(3) SIGNIFICANT EXPENSE.—For purposes of paragraph
(2)(A), it shall not be considered a significant expense—

“(A) to modify or retrofit a motorcoach by installing
a curtain or other screening protection if an employee
requests such a curtain or other screening protection; or

“B) for an employee to use scheduled stop time to
express breast milk.

“(4) DEFINITIONS.—In this subsection:

“(A) MOTORCOACH; MOTORCOACH SERVICES.—The terms
‘motorcoach’ and ‘motorcoach services’” have the meanings
given the terms in section 32702 of the Motorcoach
Enhanced Safety Act of 2012 (49 U.S.C. 31136 note).

“(B) MOTORCOACH SERVICES OPERATOR.—The term
‘motorcoach services operator’ means an entity that offers
motorcoach services.

“(g) NOTIFICATION PRIOR TO COMMENCEMENT OF ACTION.—

1) IN GENERAL.—Except as provided in paragraph (2),
before commencing an action under section 16(b) for a violation
of subsection (a)(2), an employee shall—

“(A) notify the employer of such employee of the failure
to provide the place described in such subsection; and

“(B) provide the employer with 10 days after such
notification to come into compliance with such subsection
with respect to the employee.

“(2) EXCEPTIONS.—Paragraph (1) shall not apply in a case
in which—

“(A) the employee has been discharged because the
employee—

“i) has made a request for the break time or
place described in subsection (a); or

“(ii) has opposed any employer conduct related to
this section; or

“(B) the employer has indicated that the employer has
no intention of providing the place described in subsection
(a)(2).

“(h) INTERACTION WITH STATE AND FEDERAL LAW.—

“(1) LAWS PROVIDING GREATER PROTECTION.—Nothing in
this section shall preempt a State law or municipal ordinance
that provides greater protections to employees than the protec-
tions provided for under this section.

“(2) NO EFFECT ON TITLE 49 PREEMPTION.—This section
shall have no effect on the preemption of a State law or munic-
ipal ordinance that is preempted under subtitle IV, V, or VII
of title 49, United States Code.”.

(b) CLARIFYING REMEDIES.—The Fair Labor Standards Act of

1938 (29 U.S.C. 201 et seq.) is amended—

(1) in section 15(a) (29 U.S.C. 215(a))—

(A) by stnkmg the period at the end of paragraph
(5) and inserting

(B) by adding at the end the following:
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“(6) to violate any of the provisions of section 18D.”; and
(2) in section 16(b) (29 U.S.C. 216(b)), by striking “15(a)(3)”
each place the term appears and inserting “15(a)(3) or 18D”.
(c) AUTHORIZING EMPLOYEES TO TEMPORARILY OBSCURE THE
FIELD OF VIEW OF AN IMAGE RECORDING DEVICE ON A LOCOMOTIVE
OR ROLLING STOCK WHILE EXPRESSING BREAST MILK.—Section
20168(f) of title 49, United States Code, is amended—
(1) by striking “A railroad carrier” and inserting the fol-
lowing:
“(1) IN GENERAL.—Except as provided in paragraph (2),
a railroad carrier”; and
(2) by adding at the end the following:
“(2) TEMPORARILY OBSCURING FIELD OF VIEW OF AN IMAGE
RECORDING DEVICE WHILE EXPRESSING BREAST MILK.—

“(A) IN GENERAL.—For purposes of expressing breast
milk, an employee may temporarily obscure the field of
view of an image recording device required under this
section if the passenger train on which such device is
installed is not in motion.

“(B) RESUMING OPERATION.—The crew of a passenger
train on which an image recording device has been obscured
pursuant to subparagraph (A) shall ensure that such image
recording device is no longer obscured immediately after
the employee has finished expressing breast milk and
before resuming operation of the passenger train.”.

SEC. 103. EFFECTIVE DATE.

(a) EXPANDING ACCESS.—The amendments made by section
102(a) shall take effect on the date of enactment of this Act.

(b) REMEDIES AND CLARIFICATION.—The amendments made by
section 102(b) shall take effect on the date that is 120 days after
the date of enactment of this Act.

(c) AUTHORIZING EMPLOYEES TO TEMPORARILY OBSCURE THE
FIELD OF VIEW OF AN IMAGE RECORDING DEVICE ON A LOCOMOTIVE
OR ROLLING STOCK WHILE EXPRESSING BREAST MILK.—The amend-
ments made by section 102(c) shall take effect on the date of
enactment of this Act.

(d) APPLICATION OF LAW TO EMPLOYEES OF RAIL CARRIERS.—

(1) IN GENERAL.—Section 18D of the Fair Labor Standards
Act of 1938 (as added by section 102(a)) shall not apply to
employees who are members of a train crew involved in the
movement of a locomotive or rolling stock or who are employees
who maintain the right of way of an employer that is a rail
carrier until the date that is 3 years after the date of enactment
of this Act.
(2) DEFINITIONS.—In this subsection:
(A) EMPLOYEE; EMPLOYER.—The terms “employee” and
“employer” have the meanings given such terms in section
3 of the Fair Labor Standards Act of 1938 (29 U.S.C.
203).
(B) EMPLOYEES WHO MAINTAINS THE RIGHT OF WAY;
RAIL CARRIER; TRAIN CREW.—The terms “employee who
maintains the right of way”, “rail carrier”, and “train crew”
have the meanings given such terms in section 18D(e)(4)
of the Fair Labor Standards Act of 1938, as added by
section 102(a).
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(e) APPLICATION OF LAW TO EMPLOYEES OF MOTORCOACH SERV-
ICES OPERATORS.—

(1) IN GENERAL.—Section 18D of the Fair Labor Standards

Act of 1938 (as added by section 102(a)) shall not apply to

employees who are involved in the movement of a motorcoach

of an employer that is a motorcoach services operator until

Kle date that is 3 years after the date of enactment of this

ct.

(2) DEFINITIONS.—In this subsection:

(A) EMPLOYEE; EMPLOYER.—The terms “employee” and

“employer” have the meanings given such terms in section

3 of the Fair Labor Standards Act of 1938 (29 U.S.C.
203)

(B) MOTORCOACH; MOTORCOACH SERVICES OPERATOR.—
The terms “motorcoach” and “motorcoach services operator”
have the meanings given such terms in section 18D(f)(4)
of the Fair Labor Standards Act of 1938, as added by
section 102(a).

DIVISION LL—STATE, LOCAL, TRIBAL,
AND TERRITORIAL FISCAL RECOV-
ERY, INFRASTRUCTURE, AND DIS-
ASTER RELIEF FLEXIBILITY

SEC. 101. SHORT TITLE.

This division may be cited as the “State, Local, Tribal, and
Territorial Fiscal Recovery, Infrastructure, and Disaster Relief
Flexibility Act”.

SEC. 102. AUTHORITY TO USE CORONAVIRUS RELIEF FUNDS FOR
INFRASTRUCTURE PROJECTS.

(a) IN GENERAL.—Title VI of the Social Security Act (42 U.S.C.
801 et seq.), as amended by section 40909 of the Infrastructure
Investment and Jobs Act, is amended—

(1) in section 602—
(A) in subsection (a)(1), by inserting “(except as pro-
vided in subsection (¢)(5))” after “December 31, 2024”; and
(B) in subsection (¢)—

(i) in paragraph (1)—

(I) in the matter preceding subparagraph (A),
by striking “paragraph (3)” and inserting “para-

graphs (3), (4), and (5)”;

(II) by amending subparagraph (C) to read
as follows:
“C) for the provision of government services up to
an amount equal to the greater of—

“(i) the amount of the reduction in revenue of
such State, territory, or Tribal government due to the
COVID-19 public health emergency relative to reve-
nues collected in the most recent full fiscal year of
the State, territory, or Tribal government prior to the
emergency; or

“(ii) $10,000,000;”;

(III) in subparagraph (D), by striking the
period at the end and inserting “; or”; and
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Statutes!?

S.L. 2023-138 - “An Act to ...(VI) Prohibit Local Governments From Entering Nondisclosure
Agreements In Order to Restrict Access to Public Records... and (VII) Establish Employee
Classification and Compensation Exemptions for the Utilities Commission and Public Staff” (eff.
10/10/23, over governor’s veto) — adds nuclear energy to list of “Clean Energy” sources, extends
deadline for closing specific Duke Energy plants to 12/31/2035, allows for nongovernmental
control of public enterprises if approved by Local Government Commission for Local
Governments after local public hearing, prohibits any political subdivision of the State from
entering into a nondisclosure agreement that restricts access to public records, any agreement re
nondisclosure of confidential information is a public record unless existence of contract is deemed
confidential under State law; provides that Utilities Commission employees are exempt from
classification and compensation rules under State H.R. Commission except for rules re hours and
days of work, vacation and sick leave, promotion and transfer, and prohibition of incentive pay
programs —same re “Public Staff” under NCGS 62-15

S.L. 2023-137 - “An Act to Provide Further Regulatory Relief to the Citizens of North Carolina” (eff.
10/10/23 over governor’s veto) -- among other things, at p. 27 amends NCGS 95-25.14 to exempt
minor league baseball players employed under a collective bargaining agreement from minimum
wage/OT and record-keeping requirements under NCGS 95-25.3, -25.4, and -25.15(b), where the
CBA covers wages, hours of work, and working conditions. At p. 38 adds provisions prohibiting
discrimination, discharge, demotion or other adverse employment action by any employee
against an employee because he/she is a member of the NC Wing-Civil Air Patrol or has absences
related to that membership that do not exceed 7 consecutive days at a time or 14 scheduled
workdays per year — not require to pay salary or wages during absences except for paid leave that
is otherwise available to employee

S.L. 2023-135 — “An Act to Require the Protection and Advocacy Agency for N.D. to Report Its
Actions Regarding Its Impact on Persons With Disabilities” (eff. 10/3/23, without governor’s
signature) -- requires that the North Carolina Protection and Advocacy Agency report twice a year
to the House and Senate Appropriations Committees on HHS on its efforts to advocate for persons
with disabilities, and annually to the Joint Legislative Oversight Committee on HHS — including
specific examples of how it reduced barriers to employment, enabled independent living, and
increased post-secondary education opportunities for persons with disabilities.

S.L. 2023-134 — “An Act to Make Base Budget Appropriations for Current Operations of State
Agencies, Departments, and Institutions” (2023 Budget Bill) (eff. 9/22/23 without governor’s
signature) — among other things,

1 All Session Laws are available at https://www.ncleg.gov/Laws/SessionLaws.
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(a) raises retirement age for appellate judges to 76 (p. 414);

(b) clarifies that any action facially challenging validity of act of General Assembly must be
transferred to Wake County superior court and eliminates provision dealing with judicial
review of redistricting (p. 422);

(c) eliminates requirement that three judges appointed by the Chief Justice to the panel
hearing the case come from different regions of the state, and adds requirement that no
member of panel can be former member of General Assembly (p. 423);

(d) amends N.C.Gen.Stat. § 7A-30 to eliminate appeal of right to the Supreme Court from
a Court of Appeals decision where there is a dissent (p. 425);

(e) allows any judge to carry a concealed handgun in any courthouse when they are there
for work, if they have a concealed handgun permit (p. 438);

(f) creates new State Bar Review Committee comprised of political appointees to review
and revise the grievance review process, including rules and processes (pp. 537-538);

(g) raised annual State Bar membership fee from max of $300 to max of $325 (p. 538)

S.L. 2023-111 - “An Act to Prohibit Gender Transition Procedures for Minors” (eff. 8/16/23, over
governor’s veto) - creates new NCGS §§ 90-21.150 et seq.:

(a) prohibits any physician from performing or providing any gender transition
procedures for minors (under age 18), without parental consent AND specific physician
diagnoses re genetic or biochemical disorders or treatment required for unrelated
illnesses/injuries;

(b) includes prohibitions on cross-sex hormonal treatment, puberty-blocking drugs,
surgery,

(c) allows physician and/or employer to decline such treatment;

(d) imposes mandatory revocation of medical license to practice for violation, and

(e) creates civil cause of action by minor or minor’s parents against medical
professional and/or their employer — SOL the later of 4 years from discovery, or minor’s
25% birthday,

(f) voids any contractual waiver of liability between medical professional and their
employer.

S.L. 2023-109 — “An Act to Protect Opportunities for Women and Girls in Athletics” (eff. 8/16/23,
over governor’s veto) -- requires that public, charter and private middle and high school teams,
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as well as community colleges, public and private colleges and universities in North Carolina, place
students on teams according to their “biological sex,” (“reproductive biology and genetics at
birth”), and allows a civil cause of action by

(a) a student deprived of athletic opportunity or “likely to suffer from any direct or
indirect harm” as a result of violation of these provisions, or who is retaliated against for
reporting violations; and/or

(b) the school/college/university, its representatives or employees who suffer direct
or indirect harm as a result of complying with this statute.

2-year SOL, injunctive relief, declaratory relief, actual damages (emotional distress), attys’
fees and costs available — State Board of Education to monitor schools for compliance and
report schools to Joint Legislative Education Oversight Committee.

S.L. 2023-106 — “Parental Bill of Rights” — (eff. 8/16/23, over governor’s veto) -- State employee
who encourages, coerces, or attempts to encourage or coerce child to withhold information from
parent may be subject to disciplinary action, parents may request “parental concern hearing”
with State Board of Education, and may bring an action for declaratory and/or injunctive relief as
well as attorneys’ fees and costs — prohibits any health care provider and health care facility from
providing treatment to minor child without written or document consent from parent — no
exceptions, $5,000 penalty.

S.1. 2023-105 — “An Act Making Administrative and Conforming Change to the Laws Governing
[TSERS, LGERS], Legislative Retirement System, Consolidated Judicial Retirement System,
Disability Income Plan, and other Related Statutes...” (eff. 7/14/23, without governor’s signature)
- among other things, allows extension of STD benefits for an additional 365 days if application
made for extension within 180 days after end of STD period, salary continuation payments, or
monthly WC payments (whichever is later); also authorizes TSERS and LGERS to offset
overpayments due to administrative errors by applying offsets

Related: S.L. 2023-89 (eff. 7/10/23) — also allows TSERS to withhold monthly retirement
benefits from member who is unable to make lump sum payment to repay retirement
benefits paid due to early or service retirement allowance who is reemployed within 6
months of retirement

S.L. 2023-103 - “An Act to Make Various Changes and Technical Corrections To the Laws Governing
the Administration of Justice....” (eff. 7/21/23) — among other things, at pp. 6-7:

(a) for courts participating in e-filing, allows the court to serve documents by directing the
recipient to the internet location where the document is available, and
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(b) allows attorneys to serve via the email address of record through the ecourt’s case
management system IF the recipient has consented to service via email and the consent
is filed with the court,

(c) requires all Bar Members to provide mailing address, phone number and email address
to the secretary-treasurer of the State Bar, which shall also be their contact information
of record with the court.

S.L. 2023-102 - “An Act To Make Various Changes to the Laws Concerning the University of North
Carolina” (eff. 7/14/23 without governor’s signature) -- among other things, amends NCGS 126-
1.1 definition of “Career State Employee” to include UNC employees who are exempt from FLSA
overtime/minimum wage and attain career status before 9/1/23 to either continue in same
position with career status or waive career status and continue as exempt employee under NCGS
126-5(c1)(8) — must provide written explanation of impact of election to waive career status, and
must employee must acknowledge election within 60 days of receiving the written explanation —
UNC probationary employees hired before 9/1/23 have option of continuing employment for time
period required to attain career status, or continue as an exempt employee under NCGS 126-
5(c1)(8) — must also receive written explanation of impact and have 60 days to make election —
broadens NCGS 126-5(c1)(8) to add pilots, and to allow the UNC Board of Governors to establish
additional positions exempt from Chapter without further review or approval by any other State
agency.

S.L. 2023-97 — “An Act Amending Rule 4 of the NC.R.Civ.P. ...” (eff. 12/1/23) — modifies N.C.R.Civ.P.
4(j5) to allow acceptance of service by completing a form (much like federal practice).

S.L. 2023-62 -- “An Act to Amend the State Human Resources Act to Prohibit Compelled Speech
When An Individual Seeks State Government or Community College Employment...” (eff. 6/27/23,
over governor’s veto) — prohibits any state entity or community college from

(a) soliciting or requiring applicant to endorse or opine about political affiliation or
contemporary political beliefs, ideals, principles as a condition of employment, or to
describe their actions in support/opposition to same — huge exception for “speech
protected by the First Amendment of the U.S. Constitution.”

(b) prohibits promotion of discriminatory/insurrectionist concepts in the workplace or
training programs based on sex/race (but also directed at critical race theory) — but
exception for private contractor who provides training, and speech protected by First
Amendment.
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S.L. 2023-14 — “An Act to Make Various Change to Health Care Laws ...” (eff. 5/16/23, over
governor’s veto) —
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(a) prohibits advising, procuring, or causing a miscarriage or abortion after 12 weeks,
and prohibits performing “a partial-birth abortion” at any time — exceptions for medical
emergency, rape/incest in weeks 12-20 at “suitable facility”, life-limiting anomaly
identified in first 24 weeks (but long lists of requirements for informed consent provided
at least 72 hours beforehand), and procedures in 1%t 12 weeks by licensed physician in
certified hospital, ambulatory surgical center or clinic;

(b) requires extensive physician documentation of procedures and reporting to DHHS;

(c) allows medical personnel to opt out of procedure based on moral, ethical or religious
grounds — can’t recover damages or impose discipline for refusal;

(d) requires annual inspections of facility performing abortions, and DHHS website
publication of results — can’t employ anyone under age 16 — exception for hospitals;

(e) imposes requirements on physicians prescribing abortion-inducing drugs, including
verifying pregnancy, verifying probable gestational age, determining blood type and
providing Rh immunoglobulin at time of abortion, perform other diagnostic tests for
potential complications, screen for coercion/abuse, inform patient that she has right to
view remains after abortion, schedule follow-up 7-14 days later, documentation, and
reporting to DHHS of everything as well as information re patient (but not name), and how
much was billed;

(f) creates private cause of action by patient, her parent or guardian (if she was a minor)
for violations of statute — 3 year SOL from violation, date of discovery of violation/harm,
or from date minor attains age of majority AND authorizes claim for injunctive relief
(preventing or inducing further abortions) against violator by patient and/or spouse,
parent, sibling, guardian or patient’s current health care provider — winning plaintiff
recovers attorneys’ fees, defendant awarded attorneys’ fees if suit frivolous or brought in
bad faith;

(g) requires discipline against physicians, pharmacists and other licensed health care
providers by their licensing agency or board — but patient who seeks abortion is not
subject to professional discipline for attempting to do so;

(h) makes it an infraction (S5K fine per violation) to mail, provide or supply abortion-
inducing drug directly to pregnant woman in violation of Act, or for manufacturer/supplier
to mail drug directly to pregnant, or to have internet website or service directed to
pregnant women to promote sale of abortion-inducing drugs;
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(i) imposes requirements on health care providers re care of “child” (undefined) who is
“born alive” (expulsion or extraction of any member of Homo Sapiens species at any stage
of development, who after expulsion/extraction breathes, has beating heart, pulsation of
umbilical cord, or definite movement of voluntary muscles, regardless of whether
umbilical cord has been cut and regardless of whether expulsion/extraction occurs as
result of natural or induced labor, c-section, or induced abortion) — class D felony for
violation, intentional overt act punished as murder, creates private cause of action by
pregnant woman against violator, including 3x cost of abortion, money damages, punitive
damages and mandatory atty’s fees to successful plaintiff; fees to defendant if lawsuit
frivolous or brought in bad faith;

(j) includes new provisions re midwifery;

(k) includes new immunity provisions and procedures for parents’ permanent, safe, good
faith surrender of infants younger than 30 days to on-duty health care provider, first
respondent, or on-duty social services worker — requires DSS report of neglect if parent
changes their mind;

(m) includes various revisions to criminal statutes and satellite-based monitoring re
violent and repeat sex offenders, creates new offense of misdemeanor domestic violence
covering current and former spouses, parents, guardians (or people who act in that
capacity), and persons in former or current dating relationships with victims;

(n) grants permanent, full-time State employees up to eight weeks of paid leave after
giving birth , and four weeks for placement by adoption, foster care or other legal
placement — part-time employees get 4/2 weeks (pro-rated basis, compared to FT
workers), respectively — don’t have to exhaust sick/vacation leave, is in addition to shared
leave or other leave, has no cash value on termination, is not used in calculating
retirement benefits — have to have worked for past 12 months for any public entity subject
to the leave requirement (per Budget Bill).



Cases?

APPELLATE - Writ of Certiorari

A Primer? - Cryan v. Nat’l Counsel of YMCAs of the U.S., No 424A21, 384 N.C. 569, 887 S.E.2d 848,
2023 N.C.LEXIS 428, 2023 WL 4037473 (N.C. 6/16/23) — Pegram pled guilty to multiple charges of
felony sexual assault committed while he was employed by Defendant YMCA in Kernersville.
Plaintiffs sued civilly under the SAFE Child Act, 2019 N.C. Sess. Law 1231, arguing that statute
revived their claims which had expired long ago under existing SOL statutes. The YMCA moved
to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6), arguing that the SAFE Child Act violated the NC Constitution as it
applied to defendants for whom the SOL had already expired prior to its enactment. The trial
court transferred the case to the 3-judge panel authorized under NCGS 1-267.1 and the YMCA
appealed and then, when Plaintiffs moved to dismiss the appeal as interlocutory, filed a petition
for writ of certiorari. The majority on the court of appeals granted the writ, vacated the order
transferring the case, and remanded for further proceedings. The dissent (Judge Carpenter)
found it improper to issue the writ and gave a list of reasons for his opinion. Plaintiffs filed an
appeal of right based on the dissent,* and the supreme court took the opportunity to reiterate
the test for granting a writ of certiorari: (1) the petition must show “merit or that error was
probably committed below,” and (2) extraordinary circumstances justify issuance of the writ,
including a showing of substantial harm, considerable waste of judicial resources, or wide-
reaching issues of justice and liberty at stake. Whether to grant the writ rests in the sound
discretion of the presiding court, and is reviewable only for abuse of discretion, examining
whether the decision was manifestly unsupported by reason, or so arbitrary that it could not have
been the result of a reasoned decision. In this case, the court of appeals’ grant of the writ was
well within its sound discretion: the court determined that the YMCA’s argument had merit,
judicial economy was served by granting the writ, particularly with respect to a recurring issue
concerning a relatively new statutory scheme with limited jurisprudence surrounding it, and it
involved a question of subject matter jurisdiction which could render future work in the case a
nullity.

2 All cases are available (for free!) at https://appellate.nccourts.org/opinion-filings/?c=coa or
https://appellate.nccourts.org/opinion-filings/?c=sc, according to the date of issue.

3 The red captions throughout this Paper were added to provide me with quick reminders of the facts/issues in the
case. They may or may not be accurate. Apologies.

4 This right no longer exists, with the General Assembly’s amendments in S.L. 2023-134, as set out above.

5 The supreme court also considered whether the dissent adequately set out its reasoning for purposes of the
supreme court’s review from a divided opinion, but that basis for appeal no longer exists so is not reported here.
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APPELLATE — Vacating and Unpublishing

Unpublishing — Mole’ v. City of Durham, No.394PA21, 384 N.C. 78, 894 S.E.2d 711, 2023 N.C.LEXIS
274, 2023 WL 2800409 (N.C. 4/6/23)(per curiam) — law enforcement officer fired after he
negotiated peaceful surrender of armed and barricaded (and potentially suicidal) suspect by
agreeing to allow suspect to smoke his own blunt once in custody, and then made good on that
promise — the court of appeals unanimously dismissed plaintiffs’ Article |, § 19 (due process) claim
but reversed trial court’s dismissal of plaintiff’s “colorable” Article I, § 1 (denial of fruits of his
labor by arbitrary failure to follow its own policies) claim — the supreme court ruled discretionary
review was improvidently allowed and court of appeals decision was undisturbed but would be
“unpublished” and stand without precedential value. However, Justice Dietz wrote a concurring
opinion to respond to the dissenters (pointing out that it was “nothing new” to unpublish a court
of appeals case, and the supreme court has often announced discretionary review improvidently
granted when the various justice’s views are so divergent that confusion would result from
publishing their respective minority opinions), and Justices Morgan and Earl dissented, pointing
out the importance of addressing the constitutional issues presented in the case, as urged by the
court of appeals itself, both parties, and the bevy of amici curiae participating in the case, as well
as the Court’s unprecedented action of effectively unpublishing and declaring a properly
published court of appeals decision without precedential value. As Justice Earls explained:

It is unwise for the Court to hand itself this new power without even publishing an
amendment to the Rules of Appellate Procedure to establish clear and fair
guidelines for taking such action. The court is making a hasty and unexamined, yet
fundamental and radically destabilizing shift in the authority to determine legal
precedent. It has far-reaching implications for the jurisprudence of this state.
“[T]he rules governing publication of and citation to judicial opinions are not only
central to the judiciary’s self-identity — they are also critical to lawyers and the
public, shaping how litigants’ cases are treated by the courts and how litigants
communicate with courts through their counsel.”

Vacating Mooted Case - Walker v. Wake Cnty Sheriff’s Dept., No. 279PA22, 890 S.E.2d 905, 2023
N.C.LEXIS 602, 2023 WL 5665577 (8/30/23)(Allen) (Dietz, concurring) (Earls, Morgan, concurring
in part dissenting in part) (Berger, dissenting) — Arrest warranted entered for CNA accused of
assault, a reporter asked the sheriff’s department whether the charge was “related to this guy’s
job. He lists his employer as Capital Nursing. I'm guessing it’s domestic but if it’s related to a
client from Capital Nursing I’'m interested in more details.” The Sheriff’s department responded,
“Related to his employer,” and later that night the reporter’s television station broadcast a report
that “a Wake County man who works for the elderly is facing an assault charge. Wesley Walker
works for Capital Nursing. According to the warrant Walker hit the victim in the face with a closed
fist. The Sheriff’s Office is telling us the charge is related to his job. ...” The CNA was then fired,
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and sued the television station and the Sheriff for defamation. Both the Sheriff’s Department and
the station moved to dismiss, and the superior court granted the motion, finding that the Sheriff’s
statements were protected by qualified privilege and dismissed under Rule 12(c), and the Plaintiff
failed to state a claim against the station under Rule 12(b)(6). The court of appeals unanimously
reversed the dismissal of the Sheriff’s department, but affirmed dismissal of the broadcast
station, ruling:

(1) the Sheriff’s department failed to show based on the pleadings and as a matter of law that
qualified privilege precluded liability (no showing it was made on a privileged occasion, or
was of sufficient public or social interest to warrant qualified privilege, or any context
showing propriety of manner of communication), and any such showing was rebutted by
Plaintiff’s allegation of actual malice;

(2) the pleadings did not support the Sheriff’s position that it was entitled to public official
immunity (there were no allegations supporting the conclusion that the officer who made
the statement was a “public official”);

(3) the station was entitled to the fair report privilege because they accurately reported,
almost verbatim, the information they received from the Sheriff’s Department.

284 N.C.App. 757, 877 S.E.2d 298, 2022 N.C.App. LEXIS 521 (Collins, Arrowood, Hampson)
(8/2/22). Plaintiffs petitioned for discretionary review, which was granted on March 1, 2023.
However, on August 14, 2023, the parties filed a Consent Motion to Dismiss Appeal, informing
the supreme court that they had fully settled the dispute and a controversy no longer existed.
Accordingly, on August 30, 2023, the supreme court granted the motion to dismiss the appeal,
but at the same time vacated the court of appeals’ opinion, citing State ex rel. Utilities Comm’n v.
S. Bell Tel. & Tel. Co., 289 N.C. 286, 298, 221 S.E.2d 322, 324-25 (1976) and N.C. Bowling
Proprietors Assoc., Inc. v. Cooper, 375 N.C. 374, 374, 845 S.E.2d 745, 746 (2020) and quoting S.
Bell in a parenthetical:

When a case becomes moot while on appeal, the usual disposition is simply to
dismiss the appeal. This procedure, however, leaves the decision of the Court of
Appeals undisturbed as a precedent when, but for intervening mootness, it might
not have remained so. While we express no opinion as to its correctness, the
better practice in this circumstance is to vacate the decision of the Court of
Appeals.

Justice Dietz issued a concurring opinion, characterizing the court’s action as “consistent with
precedent” and “a routine order that draws an exaggerated, hyperbolic dissent from one of my
colleagues,” (Earls), which he further described as “a bit unhinged,” “angry rhetoric,” and
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“needless, toxic disparagement,” while characterizing Justice Morgan’s and Berger’s® dissents as
“thoughtful.”

Justices Earls and Morgan agreed that the case should be dismissed but disagreed that the
previously published court of appeals’ decision should be vacated. Justice Earls wrote that the
majority’s approach “flouts basic principles of the judicial process, and ...signals to North
Carolinians that ‘[p]Jower, not reason, is the new currency of this Court’s decisionmaking.”” Justice
Earls distinguished the two cases cited by the majority (S.Bell was mooted by the Utilities
Commission’s replacement of the contested Order with a new Order; N.C. Bowling vacated a
preliminary injunction because the underlying Executive Order had expired), and concluded:

The action the Court takes today is not inconsequential, particularly in light of what
it telegraphs about our judicial system. The case was calendared for oral argument
at our November 2023 session. We have not heard oral arguments. We have not
deliberated as a body on the legal issues. And we have not written or exchanged
opinions on whether the Court of Appeals was correct. In short, this case has not
yet entered the crucible of our deliberative process.

Without any pretense of meaningful adjudication—without any semblance of
"careful consideration and input from stakeholders," this Court changes the law.

The upshot of that decision is clear. By its action in this case, the Court seems to
be sending the message that ordinary doctrines of mootness are no longer
operative. Moreover, the parties' oral arguments do not matter—we have not
heard them. Our deliberations do not matter—we have not engaged in them. And
our opinions do not matter—we have not written or exchanged any. All that
matters is to achieve a particular result, namely, to make sure that no future
litigants are bound by the legal rules articulated by the Court of Appeals in its
opinion in this case. But that is not how our judicial system is supposed to work.

The people of this state deserve more than "hasty and unexamined" jolts to the
law. ...And properly helmed, our judiciary curbs the arbitrary exercise of power by
promoting consistency and certainty. By continuing a trek down a different path,
the action taken with this Order disserves those values, injecting yet more
confusion, arbitrariness, and partisanship into North Carolina's legal system. This
radical approach allows the Court to brazenly warp the law to its policy preferences
unconstrained by the need to have a live controversy to decide through careful

51n Berger’s dissent, he pointed out that settlement does not reflexively render matters of law or legal inference
moot, and parties must obtain leave of the Court before dismissal is allowed. However, the parties in this case
made a consent motion to dismiss, which was allowed by the majority, so it’s not clear to me why he dissented?

281



deliberation; this is at the cost of the integrity of our justice system and our
citizens' faith in it.

(citations omitted). Justice Morgan joined Justice Earls, and separately added,

A majority of this Court once again chooses to pursue a newfound practice to
confound the orderly methodology of this Court and our judicial system. This
unfortunate overreach by a majority of this Court to deprive the Court of Appeals
opinion of its appropriate precedential value is a bewildering indication of the
extent to which this Court now goes in order to upend its institutionalized practices
to achieve its desired ends.

[Behind the scenes: On March 20, 2023, the NC Judicial Standards Commission opened an
investigation of Justice Earls based on her public comments at the NC General Assembly Courts
Commission and the NC Bar Association Board of Governors, regarding the supreme court’s
decisions to rescind rules re citation format, “unpublish” published Court of Appeals decision,
and the potential legislative change that eliminated a right of appeal to the supreme court based
on a dissent in the court of appeals (a legislative change that has now occurred). In May 2023,
the Commission dismissed the complaint against Justice Earls without further action.

However, in August 2023, the Judicial Standards Commission “reopened’ its investigation,
citing Justice Earls’responses to an interviewer s questions in a June 20, 2023 Law 360
interview, where she was asked to share her perspective as “a Black female Democrat on a state
Supreme Court that is largely white, male and, after last year's elections, Republican.”

On August 24, 2023, Justice Morgan — who faced re-election in 2024 -- announced he was
stepping down from the supreme court in early September; on September 12, 2023 he announced
he was running for governor.

On August 29, 2023, Justice Earls filed a federal lawsuit (MDNC) against the NC Judicial
Standards Commission, alleging a 42 U.S.C. § 1983 claim (I°' Amendment free speech) and
seeking declaratory and injunctive relief. A motion for preliminary injunction (to prohibit the
NC Judicial Standards Commission from undertaking any investigation or enforcement
regarding her speech on matters of public concern) is pending, Judge Osteen will hear this case.
A copy of the Complaint and accompanying Exhibits is attached at p. 31.

On September 11, 2023, Governor Cooper appointed Judge Allison Riggs (NC Court of Appeals)
to Justice Morgan's seat. (Justice Riggs was a civil rights litigator and held positions with the
Southern Coalition for Social Justice, serving as lead counsel in numerous voting rights cases.)
He then appointed Judge Carolyn Thompson (Dep. Commissioner of NCIC) to fill Judge Riggs’
spot on the court of appeals.]
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APPELLATE — Appellant Errors’

Content of Notice- Venters v. Lanier, No. COA22-854, 886 S.E.2d 188, 2023 N.C.App. LEXIS 201
(4/18/2023) (Arrowood, Murphy, Riggs) — because pro se defendant’s first notice of appeal was
defective,® the appellate court never acquired jurisdiction, and the superior court should have
ruled on defendant’s subsequent (lawyered) motions in the superior court to amend his
responses to requests for admission (by allowing him to deny) and defendant’s motion to
reconsider the grant of summary judgment in favor of plaintiff.

Untimely Service- Thiagarajan v. Jaganathan, No. COA22-745, 887 S.E.2d 473, 2023 N.C.App.
LEXIS 269 (5/16/23)(Zachary, Tyson, Gore) — the trial court entered its Order on equitable
distribution on Friday, February 4, 2022, and a copy of the Order was served upon defendant on
Wednesday, February 9, 2022, via 1%-class mail. Under Rule 58, the time for appeal runs from
the date that the Order was entered if served within 3 days of entry, or 30 days from the date of
service, if the 3-day window is not satisfied. The Court of Appeals ruled that only business days
were counted, pursuant to Rule 6(a), so that service was made within the 3-day rule, defendant’s
deadline ran from entry of the order, and was thus untimely, so had to be dismissed for lack of
jurisdiction, citing Magazian v. Creagh, 234 N.C.pp. 511 (2013).

Statement of Facts, Issues, Record references, Cert of Compliance- In re Estate of Patrick Lee Smith,
COA23-17, 887 S.E.2d 125, 2023 N.C.App. LEXIS 300, 2023 WL 3831569 (6/6/23) (Gore, Murphy,
Flood)(unpub.) — party appealed trial court’s order affirming clerk’s decision barring spousal rights
to estate. Court of Appeals dismissed based on noncompliance with Rules of Appellate
Procedure, including failure to include statement of facts or statement of issues for review, failure
to reference the Record on Appeal in her summary of the procedural history, and failure to include
a Certificate of Compliance.

File-stamped Order - City of Gastonia v. McDaniel, COA23-104, 2023 N.C.App. LEXIS 622 (10/3/23)
(Gore, Tyson, Carpenter) — defendants appealed from the superior court’s order on liability, but
the appeal was dismissed for lack of jurisdiction when defendants failed to include a file-stamped
copy of the order in its Record on Appeal, per N.C.R.App.P. 3.

7 These cases are reminders to always check (and comply with) the Rules. All but Venters were represented by
counsel when the errors were made.

8 The Record reflects two Notices of Appeal filed in the superior court — one captioned “DEFENDANT’S APPEAL OF
ORDER GRANTING MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT” that asserted two paragraphs denying liability (R pp. 87-
88), and one properly providing Notice from the superior court’s denial of defendant’s Motion for Reconsideration
of Summary Judgment and Motion for Leave to Amend Defendant’s Admissions (R p. 177).
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ARBITRATION

Choice of Venue and FAA Preemption - Earnhardt Plumbing, LLC v. Thomas Builders, Inc., No.
COA23-228, 2023 N.C.App.LEXIS 653 (10/17/23)(Hampson, Murphy, Wood) — Plaintiff (NC
company) and Defendants (NC and TN companies) entered into a subcontracting agreement for
Plaintiff to provide and installing plumbing/gas lines for a hotel under construction in Fayetteville,
NC. The agreement required arbitration of disputes, with the arbitration to be held “at the
discretion of the [Defendants] either at [Defendants’] principle [sic] place of business or where
the Project is located.” Plaintiff sued Defendants, claiming almost $160K owed for its work under
the contract. The superior court ordered arbitration but declined to compel a TN venue, ruling
that the Federal Arbitration Act did not preempt state law, and the forum selection clause was
unenforceable under NCGS § 22B-3 (declaring void and unenforceable as against public policy any
contract provision that requires arbitration of contract disputes in another state). The Court of
Appeals pointed to precedent® that the FAA preempted the NC statute where a dispute involved
interstate commerce, but the superior court did not include findings of fact supporting its
conclusion that there was no FAA preemption, so the panel vacated and remanded to the superior
court for further findings.

ATTORNEY-CLIENT PRIVILEGE

Rat-fink codefendant - Howard v lomaxis, LLC, No.64A22, 384 N.C. 576, 887 S.E.2d 853, 2023
N.C.LEXIS 426, 2023 WL 4037483 (6/16/2023)(Dietz) — all defendants (a parent corp and
subsidiary members) were represented by a single law firm. During a joint conference call with
counsel, one of the defendants, Hurysh, secretly recorded the conversation, and then after a
falling out among co-defendants sought to waive attorney-client privilege and disclose the
contents of the call. Parent corp moved for a protective order, arguing that it exclusively held the
privilege because the call was to discuss corporate matters and counsel on the call provided legal
advice to individual defendants solely in their roles as agents of the company, so that Hurysh had
no authority to waive the privilege. The business court rejected this argument and ruled that
Hurysh held the privilege individually and could waive it. The supreme court affirmed: the
business court made a factual finding that counsel was acting as joint defense counsel under a
written joint defense agreement at the time of the call (which specifically stated that it would not
protect information the parties shared with counsel if there was a later disagreement among
them), and this finding was supported by competence evidence in the record. Accordingly, the
trial court properly found that Hurysh jointly held the privilege and could opt to waive it. The
supreme court emphasized that each attorney-client privilege question is a fact-intensive inquiry

9 The panel cited Goldstein v. Am. Steel Span, Inc., 181 N.C.qpp. 534, 538 (2007) (when contract involves commerce
among the States, the FAA preempts NC’s statute and public policy re forum selection); Hobbs Staffing Servs., Inc. v.
Lumbermen’s Mut. Cas. Co., 168 N.C.App. 223, 226 (2005)(FAA applies if contract evidences transaction involving
interstate commerce).
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that must be resolved on a case-by-case basis. Additionally, the facts found by the business court
made it unnecessary to consider whether to apply the Bevill test,'° as urged by the Parent Corp,
because the advice had been given as joint defense counsel and not as corporate counsel.

Civil Procedure

12(b)(6), 12(c) and Attachments -- Knudson v. Lenovo, No. COA22-955, 2023 N.C.App.LEXIS 649
(N.C.App. 10/17/23) (Murphy, Hampson, Griffin)(unpub.) — plaintiff brought claims alleging
constructive fraud, UDTPA violation, unjust enrichment, and W&H violations after Lenovo failed
to pay him sums plaintiff alleged were owed under Lenovo’s Patent Program. Defendant filed a
Rule 12(b)(6) and 12(c) motion to dismiss, attaching a General Release Agreement signed by
plaintiff, as well as an agreement whereby plaintiff assigned his rights to intellectual property.
The superior court granted Lenovo’s motion, and the plaintiff appealed, arguing that it was
improper to consider attachments to the defendant’s motion. The court of appeals agreed that
the attached documents could not be considered for purposes of 12(b)(6) unless they were the
subject of the plaintiff’s action, as framed in the complaint. That analysis only permitted
application of the attachments to the plaintiff’s W&H claim, which — although sufficient on its face
for purposes of Rule 12(b)(6) -- was nevertheless barred because the General Release specifically
waived any and all claims for wages and benefits. As to the remaining claims, the panel
concluded the plaintiff’s allegations were insufficient on their face to establish the plaintiff’s
remaining claims under Rule 12(b)(6):

e the constructive fraud claim failed because there was no fiduciary relationship between
employer/employee,

e the UDTP claim did not sufficiently allege a continuing wrong and was thus time-barred
under the 4-year SOL,

e the unjust enrichment claim was likewise time-barred under the 3-year SOL, and the 10-
year SOL did not apply because there was no fiduciary relationship.

Motion to Strike, Pleading a Contract - Elwir v. The Boundary, LLC, No. COA22-961, 2023 N.C.App.
LEXIS 588, 2023 WL 6119970 (9/19/2023) (Griffin, Stroud, Wood)(unpub.) — plaintiff sued for
breach of contract related to the sale of the plaintiff’s business. Defendants moved for summary
judgment, arguing (a) there was no agreement because plaintiff signed in his own name and not
on behalf of the entity, (b) the agreement was rescinded when defendant could not get the

10 Under this test, corporate officers asserting personal privilege claims must show (1) they approached corporate
counsel for the purpose of seeking legal advice, (2) they made it clear to counsel they were seeking legal advice in
their individual capacities and not in their representative capacities, (3) counsel communicated with them in their
individual capacities knowing that a possible conflict could arise, (4) the conversation was confidential, and (5) the
substance of the conversation did not concern matters within the company or the general affairs of the company.

The test is based upon a 3™ Circuit case, In re Beville, Bresler & Schulman Asset Mgmt Corp., 805 F.2d 120, 123 (3™
Cir. 1986), and has been adopted by several state and federal courts, as cited in the NC Supreme Court’s opinion.
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required liquor license, and (c) any agreement failed for illegality. Plaintiff submitted an affidavit
in opposition, arguing that the parties entered into an oral agreement that was later memorialized
in the written document. The superior court granted defendant’s motion to strike as inconsistent
with the plaintiff’s pleadings, the plaintiff appealed, and the Court of Appeals affirmed, finding
no abuse of discretion or prejudice (both of which had to be shown) because plaintiff failed to
properly plead the existence of an oral contract,'! and any contrary deposition testimony would
not be admissible at trial.

Service, Petition for Judicial Review - N.C. State Board of Educ. v. Minick, COA22-303, 890 S.E.2d
193, 2023 N.C.App. LEXIS 343 (6/20/23) (Stroud, Murphy, Gore) — a teacher challenged his
suspension, printing his attorney’s name/address on the CCH Petition form. The ALJ reversed his
suspension, and the Board filed a petition for judicial review of the ALJ’s final decision, but served
it c/o the teacher’s attorney, and not to the teacher. The court of appeals agreed with the superior
court that sending the petition to the attorney failed to satisfy service requirements, so that the
superior court did not have personal jurisdiction under NCGS § 150B-46, and dismissal of the
Board'’s petition was appropriate.

Gamesmanship? Notice on MSJ = D.V. Shah Corp. v. Vroombrands, LLC, No. COA22-104, 286
N.C.App. 223, 881 S.E.2d 338, 2022 N.C.App. LEXIS 715 (11/1/22) (Jackson) (Dillon, concurring in
result) (Tyson, dissenting) — Defendant entered into a 5-year lease (2018-2023) of plaintiff’s gas
station, convenience store and tire shop, and defendant’s sole member and manager, Obaika,
gave an unconditional personal guaranty of the lease. One year later, in February 2019,
defendant stopped paying rent, and in October 2019 vacated the premises. Plaintiff filed a
complaint against defendant and Obaika the same month. Defendants filed an Answer and

11 The plaintiff’s Complaint alleged:

9. On or about February 8, 2017, Defendants Boundary and Boundary Holdings (together “Defendant Companies”)
and Plaintiffs entered into an agreement to buyout Plaintiffs’ sublease (the “Sublease).

10. The Sublease was for the operation of a general store located at 1000 Brookside Drive, Raleigh, NC 27601
(the “Premises”).

11. Plaintiffs and Defendant Companies also entered into a limited asset sale and transfer agreement for the
inventory held on the Premises at the time of the termination of the Sublease.

12. The agreements were memorialized in a contract attached as Exhibit A (the “Contract.”).

29. Plaintiff and Defendants entered into a Contract for Defendants to purchase inventory and for Defendants
to buy Plaintiff out of the value of its Sublease.

(emphasis by plaintiff on appeal). The Court of Appeals panel found this language only sufficient to allege one
contract (rejecting that the prior negotiations could themselves be considered an oral contract), and finding that a
reasonable defendant would not have understood these allegations to describe two contracts, notwithstanding
defendants’ rote assertion of statute of frauds as an affirmative defense.
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Counterclaim in June 2020. The trial court entered a scheduling order setting discovery to close
on 11/15/2020, and a dispositive motion deadline of 12/01/2020. On 9/15/2020, Plaintiff sent
its first set of interrogatories and requests for production. Defendant’s guarantor responded on
11/18/2020, making objections and offering to produce documents at a convenient time. Plaintiff
informed Defendant’s counsel, Copeland, that the discovery responses were inadequate and
Plaintiff would file a motion to compel if it did not receive supplementary responses and
production. Copeland responded a week later, and on 12/7/20 told Plaintiff’s counsel that
supplemental responses would be delayed due to a serious family medical issue. On 1/5/21,
Copeland moved to withdraw, with all parties’ consent, and the court granted the motion on
2/3/21. Plaintiff never moved to compel discovery. Instead, on April 29, 2021, Plaintiff filed a
motion for summary judgment on Plaintiff’s breach of contract claim — after the dispositive
motion deadline — but served it on Copeland, who had withdrawn. On May 7, 2021, Plaintiff
noticed the hearing for May 24, 2021, serving the notice and a copy of the motion on Defendants
(not counsel).’? On May 14, 2021, Obaika requested that Plaintiff’s affidavit in support of the
motion be shared, but the affidavit was not notarized until May 19, 2021 and was not served on
Defendants until May 20, 2021, when Plaintiff also served its brief which also sought summary
judgment on Defendants’ counterclaim and affirmative defenses. At the WebEx hearing on May
24, 2021, Obaika appeared pro se on his own behalf, but was not permitted to appear on behalf
of Defendant because Obaika was not a lawyer. Obaika objected that the motion was untimely
under the scheduling order and asked for a continuance until he and Defendant could retain
counsel, but a continuance was denied. After hearing — including questions about the lack of
notice re Plaintiff’s request for summary judgment on Defendants’ counterclaim — the superior
court granted summary judgment in favor of Plaintiff, and awarded $103K in back pay and front
pay and taxes, as well as $12,578 in attorneys’ fees. Judge Jackson wrote that the superior court
abused its discretion in denying Obaika’s motion for continuance and Judge Dillon concurred.
Judge Jackson cited Rules of Civil Procedure, General Rules of Practice and Local Rules which were
violated by Plaintiff’s failure to comply with the scheduling order, failure to confer with
Defendants regarding a hearing date, failure to serve its motion upon Defendants on April 29,
2021, failure to serve its supporting affidavit with its motion. Accordingly, Judge Jackson would
vacate and remand.

Judge Dillon agreed with Judge Tyson that Plaintiff’s verified Affidavit was sufficient to establish
its claim on summary judgment, so that Defendants were not prejudiced by the trial court’s
consideration of Plaintiff’s Affidavit, but pointed out that Mr. Obaika attempted to provide live

12| found Judge Jackson’s analysis perplexing (but I’'m old and tired, so that could just be me): Judge Jackson relied
on the file-stamp of the Notice of Hearing and Amended Certificate of Service (for the MSJ) for his assertion that
these documents were not timely served. He also referred to the lack of a file-stamp on the Plaintiff’s Brief, even
though parties are not permitted to file Briefs unless ordered by the court. See N.C.R.Civ.P. 5(d); Mecklenburg Co.
Local Rule 12.11(d), available at https://www.nccourts.gov/assets/documents/local-rules-forms/813.pdf.
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testimony at the hearing in rebuttal but the judge cut him off, saying his oral testimony could not
be accepted in the context of summary judgment — which was error. Additionally, the record
demonstrated prejudice and Defendants’ answer and counterclaims — if true -- created issues of
fact precluding summary judgment on Plaintiff’s claims. Finally, Plaintiff did not timely notice its
motion regarding Defendants’ counterclaims, so it was inappropriate to grant summary judgment
on them. Accordingly, he would also vacate and remand.

However, Judge Tyson dissented, focusing on the substantive issues and whether evidence was
presented regarding Defendants’ alleged breach, Plaintiff’s alleged failure to mitigate, and the
calculation of damages. Judge Tyson agreed that Plaintiff violated rules of procedure by failing to
timely serve its Affidavit with its Motion but found no prejudice to Defendants because the same
facts were set out in the verified Complaint. He also had no problem with the notice issues Judge
Jackson pointed out, instead finding fault with Defendants for not having obtained replacement
counsel in the three months after Copeland withdrew, and that Defendants waived the 10-day
notice required by Rule 56.

Not surprisingly, this case is currently on appeal to the N.C. Supreme Court.

DISCOVERY

More Sanctions - Abdo v. Jones, No. COA22-271, 286 N.C.App. 382, 881 S.E.2d 726, 2022 N.C.App.
L